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PREFACE 

The  present  volume,  '  A  Chapter  in  the  History 

of  the  Seven  Years'  War  ',  covers  only  a  year  of 
history  in  a  colony  which  contained  at  the  time  less 

than  one  hundred  thousand  Europeans.  It  would 

not  be  surprising  if  some  reader  were  to  ask  whether 

a  study  in  such  detail  was  worth  while.  It  may 

be  said,  however,  that  the  Seven  Years'  War  is  one 
of  the  most  important  struggles  in  the  history  of 

mankind,  and  that  the  topic  of  the  present  volume, 
the  transfer  of  Canada  from  French  to  British 

sovereignty,  was  a  vital  event  in  the  history  of  the 

British  Empire.  If  only  a  small  population  was 

directly  affected,  the  issues  were  none  the  less  far- 
reaching.  The  few  French  in  North  America  in 

1760  have  now  multiplied  into  nearly  three  million 

people,  scattered  over  both  Canada  and  the  United 

States.  Already  in  1760  they  had  developed  their 

own  type  of  social  life  ;  they  have  since  clung  to 

it  with  great  tenacity  ;  and  to-day  it  is  one  of  the 
factors  in  the  life  of  Canada  which  cannot  be  ignored. 

Such  a  study  seemed  a  necessary  beginning  for 

investigations  in  the  later  history  of  Canada  on 

which  the  author  has  been  engaged. 
A    2 
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His  chief  debt  in  respect  to  the  use  of  material 

is  to  Dr.  George  H.  Locke,  Librarian  of  the  Toronto 

pubhc  Library ;  to  the  Literary  and  Historical 

Society  of  Quebec  ;  and  to  Dr.  A.  G.  Doughty,  the 

Dominion  Archivist  at  Ottawa,  upon  whose  great 

stores  and  knowledge  he  has  drawn  so  freely  as  to 

make  adequate  recognition  impossible.  Two  descen- 
dants of  chief  actors  in  the  drama  on  opposing  sides 

have  rendered  kind  assistance  :  M.  Rene  de  Keral- 

lain,  great-grandson  of  Colonel  de  Bougainville,  has 
given  most  valuable  information  and  criticism,  and 

Major-General  R.  Mahon,  great-grandson  of  General 
Murray,  has  furnished  the  contemporary  print  of  his 

ancestor.  To  the  Rev.  Father  O'Leary  of  Quebec 
the  author  is  indebted  for  the  drawing  of  the  General 

Hospital.  He  has  received  much  help  from  the 

criticisms  of  Colonel  Wood  of  Quebec  and  Professor 

Egerton  of  Oxford. 

Toronto, 

July,  1 9 14. 
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CHAPTER  I 

THE  FALL  OF  QUEBEC 

Horace  Walpole  calls  the  year  1759  the  '  great  year  ', 
the  '  wonderful  year  ',  because  of  the  victories  which  it 
brought  to  his  country.  France  and  Britain  were  in  the 

midst  of  the  terrible  Seven  Years'  War,  which  involved 
the  loss  of  nearly  a  million  lives.  The  outcome  of  the 
war  was  still  uncertain.  During  the  summer  the  English 

people  had  been  uneasy.  France  was  known  to  be  making 
great  preparations  to  invade  Britain,  and  many  a  good 
citizen  went  to  bed  each  night  in  dread  lest  the  roar  of  the 
cannon  of  the  invader  might  be  in  his  ears  before  morning. 

Wolfe  had  just  led  a  great  expedition  to  Quebec,  but  already 

there  were  gloomy  forebodings  that  his  attempt  would  fail. 
News  travelled  slowly  in  those  days,  and  it  was  not  until 

the  early  autumn  that  good  tidings  arrived.  Word  then 
came  that  at  the  end  of  July  General  Amherst  had  captured 
Ticonderoga,  the  fort  which  commanded  the  entrance  to 

Canada  by  way  of  Lake  Champlain,  and  that  at  the  very 

same  time  Sir  William  Johnson  had  captured  Fort  Niagara, 

the  key  to  the  whole  commerce  of  the  region  beyond  Lake 
Ontario.  England  was  exultant.  Horace  Walpole  wrote  on 

September  13,  1759,  the  date,  though  he  did  not  yet  know 

it,  of  another  and  greater  victory  in  Canada  :  '  We  have 
taken  more  places  and  ships  in  a  week  than  would  have  set 
up  such  pedant  nations  as  Greece  and  Rome  to  all  futurity. 

If  we  did  but  call  Sir  William  Johnson  "  Gulielmus  John- 
sonus  Niagaricus "  and  Amherst  "  Galfridus  Amhersta 
Ticonderogicus  "  we  should  be  quoted  a  thousand  years 
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hence  as  the  patterns  of  valour,  virtue,  and  disinterested- 
ness ;  for  posterity  always  ascribes  all  manner  of  modesty 

and  self-denial  to  those  that  take  the  most  pains  to  pei- 

petuate  their  own  glory.' 
The  exultation  caused  by  the  fall  of  Ticonderoga  and 

Niagara  soon  gave  way  to  new  fears.  Word  came  from 
Wolfe  that  Amherst  had  failed  to  join  him  before  Quebec 
and  that  he  had  little  hope  of  capturing  the  fortress.  This 
news  was  made  public,  and,  of  course,  caused  gloom  and 
depression.  Almost  immediately  after  this  came,  however, 
the  tidings  that  Wolfe  had  won  a  great  victory  and  that 
Quebec  had  fallen.  Walpole  expresses  the  pride  and  joy 
of  the  time.  He  now  jested  at  the  fears  of  invasion  and 

at  the  weakness  of  the  French  navy  :  '  Can  the  lords  of 
America',  he  asked,  'be  afraid  of  half  a  dozen  canoes?  ' 
The  bells,  he  said,  were  being  worn  thin  with  ringing  for 
victories,  and  one  was  forced  to  ask  every  morning  what 

success  there  was  for  fear  of  missing  one.  '  I  don't  know 
a  word  of  news  less  than  the  Conquest  of  America,'  he 
writes  to  his  friend  Montague,  on  October  21  :  '  you  shall 
hear  from  me  again  if  we  take  Mexico  or  China  before 

Christmas.'  The  English,  he  added,  were  like  Alexander : 
they  had  no  more  worlds  left  to  conquer.  He  affected  to 
be  bored  by  meeting  so  many  people  who  had  won  military 

honours  ;  it  is  '  very  fatiguing  :  all  the  world  is  made 
knights  or  generals  '.  There  was  nothing  in  all  history, 
he  thought,  to  equal  the  victories  of  this  year. 

The  simple-minded  public,  which  received  this  joyful 
news,  now  assured  itself  that  the  struggle  was  over  and 
that  Canada  had  fallen.  It  dismissed  America  from  its 

thoughts.  The  newspapers  of  the  time  make  hardly  any 
reference  to  the  later  campaign  in  that  part  of  the  world. 

Only  when,  seven  months  after  the  September  day  of 

Wolfe's  victory,  the  British  met  with  bloody  defeat  on  the 
very  ground  where  he  had  triumphed,  did  the  nation  realize 
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that  France  still  fought  for  the  mastery  of  Canada.  '  Who 

the  deuce  was  thinking  of  Quebec  ?  '  wrote  Walpole  in 

June  1760  ;  '  America  was  like  a  book  one  has  read  and 
done  with  .  .  .  but  here  we  are  on  a  sudden  reading  our 

book  backwards.'  He  mourns  over  the  '  rueful  slaughter  ' 

of  brave  men  and  concludes  sadly  that  '  the  year  1760  is 

not  the  year  1759  '.  During  the  year  1760,  however,  British 
arms  were  to  achieve  the  final  conquests  in  both  India  and 

Canada  which  the  victories  of  1759  had  left  still  uncertain. 
In  Canada,  with  which  alone  we  are  here  concerned,  the 

struggle  carried  on  between  September  1759  and  September 

1760  lays  bare  the  condition  to  which  France's  great  colony 
had  been  brought.  We  find  in  a  survey  of  those  last  days 

of  New  France  much  that  helps  to  explain  the  later  history 

of  the  French  race  in  Canada.  We  therefore  take  up  the 

story  from  the  moment  on  September  13,  1759,  when 

Wolfe's  musketry  had  shattered  the  French  lines  on  the 
Plains  of  Abraham  and  when  the  fate  of  Quebec  was  still 
doubtful. 

The  game  of  war  has  never  been  played  in  surroundings 

more  striking  than  those  at  Quebec.  The  mighty  current 
of  the  St.  Lawrence,  contracted  here  to  a  breadth  of  about 

a  thousand  yards,  washes  the  base  of  the  high  cliffs  on 

which  the  stronghold  stands  and  then  broadens  into  a  great 
basin  four  or  five  miles  wide.  On  the  east  side  of  the  basin 

the  beautiful  island  of  Orleans  divides  the  river  into  two 

channels,  a  narrow  and  intricate  one  at  the  north,  a  broad 

one  at  the  south.  The  deep  blue  of  the  silent,  forest-clad 
mountains,  the  clear  air,  the  rushing  tide  of  the  spacious 

river,  are  all  elements  in  a  scene  of  entrancing  beauty. 

Quebec  stands  at  the  east  end  of  a  plateau  seven  or  eight 

miles  long  and  in  places  two  or  three  miles  wide.  Though 

the  fortifications  were  insignificant.  Nature  had  made  the 

place  almost  impregnable.  At  the  north  the  River  St.  Charles 

flows  into  the  St.  Lawrence  near  the  base  of  the  high  ground 
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and  constitutes  a  natural  and  difficult  ditch  for  the  assailant 

to  cross.  On  the  east  and  the  south  side  the  plateau  falls 
in  steep  cliffs  to  the  strand  of  the  St.  Lawrence.  On  the 

west  side  the  drop  to  the  valley  of  the  Cap  Rouge  River  is 
not  less  sheer. 

Wolfe's  problem  had  been  to  reach  Quebec  on  this  plateau, 
and  he  had  been  almost  baffled.  Soon  after  his  arrival  he 

had  taken  possession  of  the  Levis  shore  and,  across  the  mile 
of  river,  had  battered  many  houses  in  Quebec  to  fragments 
with  his  cannon.  Still  the  cliffs  remained  impregnable.  To 
attack  Quebec  from  the  front  promised  destruction.  On 
the  French  left  flank,  along  the  seven  miles  of  the  Beauport 
shore,  lay  entrenched  the  army  of  Montcalm,  and  here 
successful  attack  was  impossible,  as  one  attempt,  repulsed 
with  heavy  loss,  had  made  clear.  At  the  other  side  of 
Quebec  attack  seetned  equally  hopeless.  The  high  cliffs  at 

Cap  Rouge  could  be  easily  defended,  and  Colonel  de  Bougain- 
ville, one  of  the  best  officers  in  the  French  army,  had  been 

sent  there  with  some  two  thousand  men  to  watch  every 
movement  of  the  British  and  to  concentrate  his  force  rapidly 
at  any  threatened  point.  In  the  end  Wolfe  had  achieved 
what  seemed  impossible.  By  a  secret  movement  at  night 
he  had  landed  an  army  at  the  base  of  the  cliffs,  had  climbed 
the  steep  path  at  the  Anse  au  Foulon,  had  overpowered 
the  guard  which  had  been  left  criminally  weak,  and  at  eight 

o'clock  on  September  13  had  drawn  up  his  thin  red  line  on 
the  Plains  of  Abraham  a  mile  from  the  walls  of  Quebec. 

Here  Montcalm  had  attacked  him  promptly  on  the  same 
morning  and  the  battle  had  been  fought  which  meant,  in 
the  long  run,  the  ruin  of  French  power  in  America. 

This  momentous  battle  of  September  13  was  especially 
fatal  to  the  leaders  on  both  sides.  Not  only  was  Wolfe 
killed  ;  Monckton,  his  next  in  command,  was  shot  through 

the  body  and  disabled.  On  the  French  side,  to  the  loss  of 
the  Commander-in-Chief,  Montcalm,  was  added  that  of  the 
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officer  next  in  rank,  the  Brigadier  Senezergues.  Montcalm 
realized  on  his  death-bed  that  in  his  defeat  was  involved 

the  loss  of  Quebec,  One  of  the  last  acts  of  the  dying  leader 
was  to  write  to  Brigadier  Townshend,  for  the  time  the 
British  commander,  to  acknowledge  that  the  surrender  of 

the  fortress  must  follow.  '  Obliged  to  cede  Quebec  to  your 
arms,'  Montcalm  wrote,  '  I  have  the  honour  to  entreat 

your  Excellency's  kind  offices  for  our  sick  and  wounded.' 
Before  the  next  day  broke  he  was  dead. 

The  Governor  of  Canada,  the  Marquis  de  Vaudreuil,  in 
whom  resided  final  military  and  civil  authority,  was  with 
Montcalm  before  Quebec.  Though  vain  and  boastful,  he 

was  yet  well-meaning  and  devoted  to  the  interests  of  Canada, 
his  native  country.  To  be  a  Canadian  was  in  his  view  to 
be  a  member  of  a  superior  race  ;  a  single  Canadian,  he  once 
wrote  to  the  Home  Government,  was  a  match  for  from  three 

to  ten  Englishmen.  Vaudreuil  did  not  lack  a  certain  bom- 
bastic courage,  but  he  inspired  no  confidence  and  was  not 

the  man  to  lead  in  a  crisis.  Montcalm's  impulsive,  but 
probably  necessary,  march  to  meet  Wolfe  on  the  Plains  of 
Abraham  had  come  so  early  on  September  13  that  the  brief 
battle,  little  more  than  a  skirmish,  but  big  with  great 

issues,  had  been  lost  and  won  before  eleven  o'clock  in  the 
morning.  Vaudreuil  had  followed  the  rapid  march  of  Mont- 

calm from  the  camp  at  Beauport.  Before  he  could  reach 
the  field,  so  fatal  to  France,  crowds  of  fugitives  from  the 
broken  army  revealed  the  ill  fortune  of  the  day.  At  first 
Vaudreuil  would  not  believe  that  all  was  lost,  and  he  talked 

wildly  of  rallying  his  Canadians  and  of  marching  up  the 
steep  Cote  Ste  Genevieve  to  dispute  with  the  victors  their 
possession  of  the  Plains  of  Abraham.  Some  of  the  Canadians 
whom  he  sent  forward  apparently  did  useful  work  in  checking 
the  British  pursuit  of  the  beaten  army.  But,  for  the  time, 
nothing  more  could  be  done.  Cadet,  one  of  the  corrupt 
ring  who  were  making  vast  fortunes  by  robbing  New  France, 
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besought  the  Governor  not  to  risk  a  second  battle.  Con- 
vinced at  length  of  the  folly  of  this  plan,  Vaudreuil  took 

up  his  position  in  an  extensive  redoubt  on  the  left  bank 
of  the  St.  Charles  River.  It  was  reached  from  the  Quebec 

side  by  a  bridge  of  boats  which  could  be  easily  destroyed 

should  the  British  advance  so  far.  The  route  from  Quebec 

was  protected  in  some  degree  by  the  cannon  of  the  town. 

A  boom  of  logs  had  been  stretched  across  the  mouth  of 
the  St.  Charles  and  the  hulks  of  two  dismantled  French 

frigates  lay  there  in  shallow  water.  They  were  armed  with 

cannon  which  swept  the  approaches  by  water  to  the  bridge. 

To  this  bridge  now  came  crowding  the  disorganized  French 

soldiers,  unable  to  take  refuge  in  Quebec,  because  the  gates 
were  closed,  and  anxious  to  have  the  St.  Charles  River 

between  them  and  the  victorious  foe.  The  fragments  as  they 

arrived  Vaudreuil  sent  to  their  old  positions  at  Beauport. 

The  Chevalier  Johnstone,  a  Scots  Jacobite  serving  with  the 

French  and  a  close  friend  of  Montcalm,  tells  us  how  he 

made  his  way  at  this  time  to  the  redoubt.  He  found  there 

at  two  o'clock  in  the  afternoon,  four  hours  after  the  defeat 

of  Montcalm,  '  an  incredible  confusion  and  disorder  ;  a 
general  panic  and  consternation  ;  M.  de  Vaudreuil  listening  to 

every  one,  and  always  to  the  advice  of  him  who  spoke  to 

him  last  ;  not  an  order  given  with  reflection  or  coolness.' 
Two  captains  of  the  regiment  of  Beam  were  shouting  out 

that  the  redoubt  would  be  carried  in  an  instant,  that  they 

should  all  be  put  to  the  sword,  and  that  the  only  thing 

to  do  was  to  surrender  the  whole  colony  at  once.  Others 

were  protesting  against  this  course.  An  alarm  was  raised 

that  the  ships  of  the  British  fleet  were  edging  in  towards 

the  shore.  During  the  panic  some  one  gave  instructions 

to  cut  away  the  bridge  of  boats.  At  the  time  a  considerable 

part  of  the  French  army  was  still  crowding  the  road  leading 

from  Quebec  and  the  Royal  Roussillon  regiment  was  already 

on  that  side  of  the  bridge  waiting  to  cross.     Johnstone 
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says  that  he  and  a  colonial  officer  stopped  the  fatuous  work 
of  destroying  the  bridge  and  drove  away  the  soldiers  who 
had  their  axes  raised  to  hew  through  the  beams.  When 
a  council  of  war  met  in  a  house  near  the  redoubt,  Johnstone 
ventured  to  enter  the  room  where  seven  officers  sat  with 

Vaudreuil,  the  Governor,  and  Bigot,  the  Intendant.  The 
Intendant  was  at  the  table,  pen  in  hand.  Johnstone  heard 
nothing,  for  Vaudreuil  promptly  ordered  him  to  be  gone  as 
he  had  no  business  there.  He  went  off,  he  says,  in  deep 
dejection  at  the  loss  of  Montcalm,  and  very  tired,  but  not 
too  tired  to  stir  up  some  officers  whom  he  met  to  protest 
against  surrender. 

Various  courses  were  open  to  the  French.  They  might 
stay  where  they  were,  rally  their  strength,  and  attack  the 
foe  before  he  could  entrench  himself  or  force  Quebec  to 
surrender.  A  second  possibility  was  to  retire  beyond  the 
Jacques  Cartier  River,  thirty  miles  above  Quebec,  where 
the  army  would  be  in  touch  with  the  French  ships  which 
had  ascended  the  St.  Lawrence  to  escape  from  the  British 

fleet.  Here  they  might  await  the  arrival  of  Montcalm's 
successor,  the  Chevalier  de  Levis,  absent  at  Montreal.  Last 

of  all,  the  French  might  accept  counsels  of  despair  and  end 

the  struggle  by  surrendering  the  colony.  Before  the  Council 
met,  Vaudreuil  had  sent  a  hurried  request  to  Montcalm  for 
advice  and  had  received  a  message  naming  these  three 
alternatives.  Undoubtedly  some  of  the  French  officers  of 
the  regular  army  favoured  the  surrender  of  the  entire  colony 
and  talked  openly  before  their  men  in  this  sense.  Vaudreuil 
declares  that  the  Chevalier  de  Montreuil,  who  had  had 

a  long  experience  in  Canada  and  was  the  senior  officer 

present,  insisted  upon  retreat  to  Jacques  Cartier.  This  may 
well  be  :  Montreuil  was  an  officer  who  lacked  insight  and 

capacity.  It  seems  that  only  the  civilians  present  were  for 
immediate  fighting.  The  Intendant  Bigot  warned  the  officers 
that,  with  winter  coming  on,  it  was  folly  to  think  of  a  retreat 
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that  involved  the  abandonment  of  the  tents  and  other 

needed  suppHes  at  Beauport,  things  which  could  not  be 
replaced.  He  declares  that  he  and  Vaudreuil  stood  out  for 
attacking  the  British  forthwith,  but  that  the  officers  were 
unanimous  against  this  course. 

In  truth  the  soldiers  had  no  confidence  in  Vaudreuil  as 

a  leader.  During  the  absence  of  Levis  the  young  Colonel  de 
Bougainville  ranked  next  to  Vaudreuil,  but  he  was  posted 
at  Cap  Rouge  and  no  commander  was  present  who  could 
speak  with  authority.  It  is  true  that  Bougainville  was  only 
a  few  miles  away  and  that  his  opinion  might  have  been 
secured  without  much  delay.  Some  of  the  officers  present 
were,  however,  jealous  of  this  brilliant  young  friend  of 
Montcalm.  Most  of  them,  while  unwilling  to  fight,  were 
also  unwilling  to  surrender.  Their  great  fear  was  lest  the 
British  should  cut  off  the  possibility  of  retreat  up  the  river 
towards  Montreal.  To  prevent  this  it  was  quickly  decided 
that  immediately  after  nightfall  the  French  army  should 
withdraw  to  Jacques  Cartier.  After  the  council  Vaudreuil 

was  full  of  bustling  activity.  He  must  have  kept  his 

secretaries  busy.  At  half-past  four  in  the  afternoon  he  sent 
a  dispatch  to  Levis  at  Montreal  urging  him  to  join  the 
defeated  army  at  once.  To  M.  de  Ramezay,  in  command 
at  Quebec,  he  sent  elaborate  instructions  to  surrender  the 

town  rather  than  to  await  its  capture  by  assault,  and 

enclosed  a  draft  of  the  terms  to  ask.  At  six  o'clock,  with, 
as  he  said,  grief  in  his  heart  at  the  decision  to  retreat,  he 
sent  to  the  stricken  Montcalm  in  Quebec  a  report  of  what 

he  had  done,  courteous  regrets  at  Montcalm's  misfortune, 
and  hopes  for  his  recovery.  Thus,  even  in  a  moment  of 

supreme  excitement,  Vaudreuil  forgot  none  of  the  pro- 
prieties. But  he  hated  Montcalm  ;  he  was  glad  now  to  be 

rid  of  him  ;  and  soon,  to  draw  blame  away  from  himself, 
he  wrote  a  letter  to  the  French  Minister  of  War  full  of 

charges  blackening  the  mem.ory  of  the  dead  leader  :    '  If 
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I  had  been  sole  master,  Quebec  would  still  have  been  in 

the  King's  hands.'  About  ten  o'clock  on  the  night  of  the 
battle,  when  Vaudreuil  had  already  fled,  Montcalm  sent 

a  message  approving  of  what  he  had  done  and  of  the  terms 

proposed  for  the  surrender  of  Quebec.  Both  leaders  thus 

agreed  that  the  fortress  must  yield. 
Vaudreuil  and  his  officers  now  lost  their  heads  in  their 

deadly  fear  lest  the  British  should  occupy  the  lines  of  retreat 
towards  Montreal  and  divide  the  French  forces  in  Canada 

into  two  parts.  The  situation  of  the  French  was  by  no 

means  hopeless.  Between  the  Beauport  camp  and  the 

victorious  British  lay  a  considerable  river,  fordable  only  at 

one  place  and  at  low  tide  ;  a  little  west  of  the  Plains  of 

Abraham,  at  Cap  Rouge,  was  Bougainville  with  between 

two  and  three  thousand  men  in  an  excellent  position  to 

attack  the  enemy  in  the  rear  ;  in  Quebec  itself  were  as 

many  more  men  capable  of  bearing  arms  and  of  aiding  the 

troops  from  Beauport  to  attack  the  British  front.  The 

French  could,  indeed,  rally  something  like  10,000  men. 

But  confidence  in  Vaudreuil  as  a  soldier  was  impossible  ; 

no  commanding  personality  was  there  to  weld  together  the 

scattered  fragments  of  this  discouraged  host  ;  and,  lacking 
direction,  it  fled. 

Soon  after  nightfall  the  retreat  from  Beauport  began. 

Orders  were  given  that  the  army  should  break  into  three 

divisions  and  that  each  division  should  retire  as  silently  as 

possible  so  that  the  British  might  not  become  aware  of 

the  retreat.  There  was  grave  mismanagement  somewhere. 

Poulariez,  the  officer  commanding  the  eastern  wing  of  the 

army  at  Montmorency,  was  left  without  instructions.  After 

long  waiting,  he  sent  to  Vaudreuil's  head-quarters,  only  to 
find  that  the  Governor  had  run  away  and  that  he  himself 
was  left  to  follow  as  best  he  could.  The  French  marched 

by  way  of  Charlesbourg  and  Old  Lorette.  It  unfortunately 

happened  that  brandy  was  served  out  to  the  soldiers,  and 
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this  helped  to  destroy  any  semblance  of  order  in  the  retreat. 

'This  was  not',  says  the  Chevalier  Johnstone,  'a  retreat, 
but  a  flight  the  most  abominable  ;  a  rout  even  a  thousand 

times  worse  than  that  of  the  morning  on  the  Heights  of 
Abraham,  and  with  so  much  confusion  and  disorder  that, 

if  the  English  had  known  it,  it  would  not  have  required 

more  than  three  hundred  men  to  cut  in  pieces  our  whole 

army.  Except  the  Royal  Regiment  of  Roussillon,  which 

M.  Poulariez  kept  ...  in  order,  I  did  not  see  thirty  men  of 

any  one  regiment  together  ;  all  the  troops  mixed  and 

interspersed  and  every  one  running  as  fast  as  his  legs  could 

carry  him  as  if  the  enemy  were  pursuing  them  close  at  their 

heels.'  Daine,  another  French  observer,  says  :  '  No  rout  was 
ever  more  complete  than  that  of  our  army.  Posterity  will 

hardly  believe  it.'  ̂   Not  only  the  Canadian  militia  but 
even  some  of  the  regulars  were  so  panic-stricken  that,  after 
calling  for  refreshments  at  the  houses  of  the  farmers,  they 

rushed  off,  too  fearful  of  pursuit  to  partake  of  what  was 

brought.  French  Canadian  peasants  told  the  British  at 
a  later  time  that  in  the  retreat  Vaudreuil  and  the  officers 

took  no  thought  for  their  men,  but  went  off  in  such  haste 

that  they  '  flew  through  the  air  like  a  cannon  ball '.  Though 
a  great  part  of  the  army  was  without  food,  Vaudreuil  took 

good  care  that  needed  supplies  and  excellent  cooks  should 

accompany  him  on  the  retreat.  Apart  from  a  little  ammuni- 
tion and  some  tents  and  camp  kettles,  the  French  abandoned 

their  cannon,  munitions  of  war,  provisions,  and  baggage. 

Since  there  were  few,  if  any,  wagons,  not  even  a  barrel  of 

powder  could  be  taken.  Officers  and  men  alike  lost  their 

personal  effects. 

At  daybreak  on  the  morning  of  the  14th,  Bougainville, 
now  at  Lorette,  was  first  made  aware  of  the  retreat  of  the 

French.     By  that   time   the   whole   host    had   swept   past, 

^  M.  Daine,  to  the  Minister  of  War,  October  9,  1759;  Evinements  de  Id 
Guerre,  28. 
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panic-stricken  and  convinced  that  it  would  be  safe  only 

beyond  the  river  at  Jacques  Cartier.  That  evening,  after 

a  long  and  weary  march,  the  fugitives  reached  Pointe  aux 

Trembles  and  there  rested.  By  daybreak  of  the  15th  they 

were  again  in  motion.  When  they  reached  the  Jacques 

Cartier  River  they  found  the  bridge  broken  down.  The 

army  was  intent  on  putting  the  river  between  itself  and 

pursuit.  It  managed  somehow  to  cross  and  that  night  the 

weary  men  were  lodged  in  the  barns  on  the  right  bank. 

They  were  now  thirty  miles  from  Quebec  and,  for  the  time 
at  least,  safe. 

Meanwhile,  neither  in  Quebec  nor  in  the  British  army 

had  the  retreat  become  known.  Before  leaving,  the  French 

had  broken  down  the  bridge  across  the  St.  Charles  so  that 

the  British  might  not  cross  easily  to  the  Beauport  side. 

The  tents  at  Beauport  remained  standing  and  the  British 

thought  that  they  were  still  occupied.  The  British  were 

themselves  busy  in  making  sure  of  their  own  defences  before 

Quebec.  Two  days  after  the  battle  a  French  officer  visited 

the  abandoned  camp,  found  it  undisturbed,  and,  to  the 
alarm  of  the  British,  fired  off  some  cannon  that  stood 

ready  charged.  Ramezay,  shut  up  in  Quebec,  sadly  needed 

the  provisions  left  at  Beauport  and  could  easily  have  secured 

them  ;  but  he  was  not  notified  of  the  French  retreat,  and 

in  the  end  the  provisions  were  carried  off  by  the  starving 

habitants  and  by  the  Indians. 

The  French  hopes  now  rested  in  the  successor  of  Mont- 
calm, the  Chevalier  de  Levis.  This  leader  of  a  lost  cause 

was  a  member  of  a  French  family  so  ancient  that  it  claimed 

descent  from  the  tribe  of  Levi  and  cousinship  with  the 

Virgin  Mary.  There  was  a  picture  in  the  Chateau  of  Levis 
in  which  a  member  of  the  family  was  represented  as 

addressing  the  Virgin  as  his  cousin.  The  Chevalier  was 

himself  destined  to  win  new  lustre  for  the  family  by  the 

high  position  to  which  in  later  years  he  attained  as  Duke 
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and  Marshal  of  France.  Montcalm  had  said  of  him  that, 

while  a  man  of  routine  and  not  very  able,  he  was  practical, 

sensible,  and  alert,  with  an  admirable  capacity  to  think  for 

himself  when  thrown  on  his  own  resources.  During  many 

days  while  the  French  had  steadily  baffled  Wolfe's  plans, 
Montcalm  and  Levis  had  been  constantly  together,  except 

when  the  tireless  energy  of  Levis  had  worn  out  Montcalm. 

Later,  with  great  regret,  Montcalm  had  been  obliged  to 

part  with  Levis  and  to  send  him  to  secure  the  approaches 
to  Montreal  from  the  south  and  the  west.  Thus  Levis 

had  not  fought  in  the  memorable  battle  of  September  13, 

But  the  evil  tidings  reached  him  quickly.  At  six  o'clock  on 
the  morning  of  the  15th  a  courier  arrived  at  Montreal  with 

the  news  of  the  defeat.  At  nine  o'clock  Levis  was  on  his 
way  to  Quebec.  He  received  on  the  road  a  letter  from  the 

Chevalier  de  Montreuil,  an  old  companion  in  arms,  begging 

him  to  use  all  diligence  and  saying  that  he  alone  could  save 

the  situation.  In  spite  of  a  storm  and  of  bad  roads  he  made 

rapid  progress.  When  he  arrived  at  Jacques  Cartier  on 

September  17  there  was  joy  in  the  French  camp.  It  was, 

however,  with  bitter  rage  that  Levis  saw  on  all  sides  the 

evidence  of  incompetence.  Panic  had  spread  everywhere. 

Officers  and  men  were  alike  disorganized.  '  I  never  saw 

anything  like  it,'  Levis  wrote,  '  absolutely  everything — 
tents,  kettles,  and  all  their  equipment,  they  had  left  behind 

at  Beauport.'  Many  Canadians  had  deserted  and,  in  disgust, 
the  Indian  allies  of  the  French  had  already  set  out  on  the 

return  journey  to  their  villages. 

The  task  of  Levis  was  assuredly  a  grave  one.  He  strongly 

condemned  the  retreat  to  Jacques  Cartier.  But  Quebec 
still  held  out,  and,  at  all  hazards,  he  said,  its  loss  must  be 

prevented  ;  rather  than  surrender  the  fortress  to  the  English, 

the  defenders  should  destroy  it  and  thus  leave  the  enemy 

no  stronghold  in  which  to  pass  the  winter.  The  first  task 

of  the  defeated  army  was  thus  to  rescue  Quebec,  and  Levis 
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gave  orders  at  once  that  the  march  back  should  begin. 
Vaudreuil  had  always  been  on  friendly  terms  with  Levis 

and  now  he  was  all  acquiescence.  '  As  soon  as  the  Chevalier 
de  Levis  arrived,'  he  wrote  on  October  5  to  the  French 
Minister  of  War,  '  I  conferred  with  him  and  was  charmed 

to  see  him  disposed  to  lead  the  army  back  towards  Quebec' 
Bougainville  still  kept  a  guard  at  Cap  Rouge  and  Old 
Lorette  ;  he  had  not  joined  the  flight  of  Vaudreuil  and 
now  stood  between  him  and  pursuit.  Levis  and  Vaudreuil 

quickly  sent  messages  to  Quebec  cancelling  the  instructions 
to  surrender.  Bigot,  all  energy  in  carrying  out  a  plan  of 
which  he  thoroughly  approved,  undertook  to  get  supplies 
of  food  into  Quebec.  One  plan  was  to  send  them  down 

by  way  of  the  river.  He  had  done  this  often  before,  in 

spite  of  the  presence  of  the  British  fleet,  and  he  could  do 
it  again.  Moreover  a  route  by  land  was  still  open.  The 
French  had  a  depot  of  provisions  at  Charlesbourg,  and, 

since  the  British  had  not  yet  occupied  the  camp  at  Beau- 
port,  the  path  to  Quebec  was  clear.  As  a  matter  of  fact, 

provisions  reached  Quebec  on  the  evening  of  the  17th  by 
both  these  routes. 

All  this  time,  however,  the  British  were  showing  great 

vigour.  Townshend,  now  in  command,  had  made  it  his 

first  duty  to  strengthen  his  own  camp,  and  by  five  o'clock 
on  the  day  of  the  battle  he  had  entrenchments  five  feet 

high  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham.  Late  that  night  he  occupied 
the  General  Hospital  on  the  banks  of  the  St.  Charles  River, 
crowded  now  with  from  twelve  hundred  to  fifteen  hundred 

of  the  wounded  of  both  sides.  On  the  14th  both  sides 

agreed  to  a  short  truce  for  the  burial  of  the  dead.  The 
season  was  late  ;  the  fleet  must  soon  depart  or  be  caught 
in  the  ice  ;  and  the  British  weU  understood  that  not 

a  moment  was  to  be  lost  in  taking  Quebec.  '  The  utmost 

diligence ',  says  Admiral  Holmes,  '  was  used  and  the  greatest 
fatigue  undergone,  with  Spirit  and  Cheerfulness  by  every 
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Body,  to  bring  the  Campaign  soon  to  an  End.'  Two 
thousand  men  were  already  busy  making  fascines  and 

gabions  to  protect  an  approach  to  the  walls.  By  the  evening 

of  the  13th,  many  of  the  trees  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham 

likely  to  protect  an  assailant  had  been  cut  down,  and  the 

houses  near  the  British  camp  had  all  been  fortified.  On 

that  night  the  British  slept  within  a  thousand  yards  of  the 

walls  of  Quebec.  In  a  few  days  most  of  the  underwood 

within  a  mile  of  their  flank  and  rear  had  been  cleared  away. 

For  a  day  or  two  they  were  aided  by  fine  weather.  They 

used  the  steep  road  from  the  strand  of  the  river  up  to  the 

heights  at  the  Anse  au  Foulon,  henceforth  to  be  called 

Wolfe's  Cove,  for  drawing  artillery  and  ammunition  to  the 
Plains  of  Abraham.  This  toilsome  task  was  carried  on 

with  much  energy.  Sailors  as  well  as  soldiers  showed  great 

alacrity  ;  in  this  work  on  land  the  word  of  command  was 

given  as  on  board  ship  :  '  It  was  really  diverting  ',  says  an 

eyewitness  who  saw  the  men  toiling  up  the  hill,  '  to  hear 

the  midshipmen  cry  out  "  Starboard,  starboard,  my  brave 

boys  ".'  1 
Tragedy  meanwhile  hovered  over  Quebec.  Montcalm  died 

early  on  the  morning  of  the  14th,  content,  as  he  said,  to 

leave  the  military  command  in  the  hands  of  Levis,  whose 

talents  and  capacity  he  had  always  valued.  Vaudreuil  had 

agreed  that  Quebec  must  surrender  ;  so  also  had  Montcalm  ; 
and  its  defenders  could  claim  the  warrant  of  both  leaders 

for  such  an  act.  Naturally  they  now  had  deep  searching 

of  heart.  For  a  day  or  two  Ramezay  kept  up  the  appearance 

of  a  resolution  to  hold  the  place.  His  shot  and  shell  greatly 

annoyed  the  British  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham  and  forced 

them  on  the  15th  to  change  their  line  of  encampment  ; 

even  after  this,  British  batteries  on  the  south  side  of  the 

river,  more  than  a  mile  away,  were  disturbed  by  Ramezay's 

*  Doughty,  iv.  295  ;    vi.  145. 
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ceaseless  fire,  as  were  also  the  boats  carrying  munitions  of 

war  from  the  Point  of  Levy  to  Wolfe's  Cove.  There  was, 
however,  no  heart  in  the  defence  of  Quebec.  Disorder  and 
riot  soon  broke  out.  Those  within  the  town  had  not  realized 

at  first  that  now  they  were  left  to  their  own  devices.  Across 

the  basin  they  could  see  the  white  tents  of  the  French  at 

Beauport,  and  since,  as  they  supposed,  the  French  army 

was  still  there,  rescue  seemed  not  impossible.  Disillusion 

came  with  the  news  of  the  headlong  flight  to  Jacques 

Cartier  and  not  unnaturally  it  produced  a  panic. 

The  Chevalier  de  Ramezay,  who  commanded  at  Quebec, 

was  a  Canadian  by  birth  and  had  spent  his  whole  life  in 

the  service  of  the  colony.  He  was  the  fifteenth  child  of 

Claude  de  Ramezay,  who  had  been  Governor  of  Montreal. 

Three  of  his  brothers  had  perished  in  the  service  of  the 

French  King.  As  early  as  in  1720  Ramezay  had  attained 

the  rank  of  ensign.  Later  he  had  seen  almost  every  variety 

of  service  in  the  country.  Since  he  was  only  a  colonial 

officer  he  was  rather  despised  by  the  officers  from  France. 

One  of  these,  Joannes,  town-major  of  Quebec,  declares,  for 

instance,  that,  as  Ramezay  had  only  known  rough  back- 
woods fighting,  he  had  no  conception  of  the  proper  way  to 

defend  a  fortress.  The  Governor,  Vaudreuil,  a  fellow 

Canadian,  did  not  like  Ramezay  and  had  mortified  him 

by  putting  another  officer,  the  Chevalier  de  Bernetz,  in 

command  of  the  Lower  Town.  The  courage  of  Ramezay 

is  not,  however,  to  be  doubted.  Now,  face  to  face  with 

a  difficult  problem,  he  required  both  courage  and  wisdom. 

Even  though  Montcalm  and  Vaudreuil  had  admitted  that 
the  fortress  must  surrender  and  had  outlined  the  terms  to 

be  demanded,  it  was  for  Rameza}^  himself  to  decide  when 

the  moment  to  yield  should  come.  As  Montcalm  lay  dying 

Ramezay  went  to  him  for  orders.  The  stricken  leader  was, 

however,  resolved  to  leave  such  decisions  to  those  who 

should  survive  to  see  the  future.     His  time  was  short,  he 
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said,  and  he  had  business  to  attend  to  of  more  moment 

than  the  affairs  of  a  ruined  colony. 

As,  a  few  months  later,  the  British  themselves  found, 

to  defend  Quebec  against  assault  would  not  be  easy.  The 

French  Government  had  always  shrunk  from  the  great  cost 

of  proper  fortifications,  and  the  strength  of  Quebec  was  due 

less  to  what  man  had  done  than  to  natural  position.  It 

had  been  hitherto  immune  from  assault  only  because  of  the 

difficulty  of  scaling  the  steep  heights  rising  from  the  river, 

but  now  these  heights  had  been  gained  by  a  triumphant 
foe.  Montcalm  himself  had  called  ridiculous  the  defences 

on  the  landward  side  before  which  the  British  were  en- 

trenched. The  wall,  not  yet  really  finished,  which  confronted 

the  British  encamped  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham,  was  com- 
manded by  high  ground  only  a  few  hundred  yards  away. 

It  was  better  fitted  for  defence  against  muskets  and  bows 

and  arrows  than  against  artillery.  For  fear  of  shaking  the 

rest  of  the  fortifications,  the  French  engineers  had  not  used 

the  necessary  explosives  to  make  excavations  in  the  rock. 
There  was  thus  no  ditch.  There  were  no  outworks.  The 

walls,  if  bombarded  by  the  powerful  batteries  which  the 

British  were  erecting,  could  probably  not  resist  a  cannonade 
for  two  hours.  To  meet  attack  from  this  side  the  defenders 

had  not  a  single  battery  capable  of  action. 

The  town  itself  was  a  ruin.  The  Lower  Town,  curving 

for  a  mile  or  two  along  the  strand  of  the  river  and  inhabited 

by  the  traders  and  poorer  classes,  was  a  dismal  sight.  No 

less  than  five  hundred  and  thirty-five  houses  had  been 
burned,  hardly  a  dozen  remained  standing,  and  some  of 

the  narrow  streets  were  impassable  owing  to  the  debris 

caused  by  the  British  bombardment.  The  part  of  the  city 

known  as  the  Upper  Town,  where  dwelt  the  Governor,  the 

Bishop  and  other  ecclesiastics,  and  the  leading  citizens, 

had  fared  somewhat  better.  Its  principal  buildings  were, 

however,  in  ruins.     The  Governor's  residence — the  Castle 
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of  St.  Louis — the  Bishop's  palace,  the  Cathedral,  the  Jesuits' 
College,  had  all  been  in  range  of  cannon  on  the  opposite 

shore,  and,  of  the  first  three,  at  least,  the  British  batteries 

had  left  little  but  the  walls.  In  the  Seminary,  a  college 

for  the  training  of  priests,  standing  near  the  Cathedral,  only 

the  kitchen  was  left,  and  here  the  Cure  of  Quebec  was  living 

as  best  he  could.  Wolfe's  guns  had  dismounted  some 
batteries  in  the  Upper  Town  and  these  were  now  filled 
with  debris.  Even  walls  six  feet  thick  had  not  withstood 

his  furious  bombardment. 

After  the  defeat  of  the  13th  of  September  Ramezay  had 

asked  that  a  French  engineer  should  be  sent  into  Quebec 

to  help  him  make  the  best  of  its  shattered  defences  ;  but 

the  disorganized  leaders  had  not  heeded  the  request.  During 

the  siege  no  stores  of  provisions  had  been  kept  in  Quebec, 

because  of  the  danger  from  the  British  fire.  Supplies  had 

been  brought  daily  from  the  camp  at  Beauport  and  from 

the  surrounding  country.  No  doubt  there  was  food  in 

private  houses,  but  most  of  it  was  now  kept  concealed  by 

the  owners.  With  supplies  for  only  a  few  days  in  sight, 

Quebec  seemed  on  the  verge  of  starvation.  There  were 

a  good  many  mouths  to  feed.  Among  the  civilians  were 
two  thousand  seven  hundred  women  and  children  and  a  host 

of  clerks,  workmen,  and  domestic  servants.  The  French, 

too,  must  feed  their  many  invalids  at  the  General  Hospital. 

In  addition  to  these  were  the  forces  in  the  town,  numbering 

perhaps  two  thousand  six  hundred.  About  eleven  hundred 

and  fifty  were  regular  soldiers  ;  the  rest  were  untrained 

militia — peasants,  mechanics,  and  merchants. 
As  early  as  on  the  morning  of  the  14th  the  citizens  of 

Quebec  held  a  meeting  to  consider  their  position.  Headed 

by  the  Mayor,  they  then  entreated  Ramezay  to  surrender. 

They  had  been  prepared,  they  said,  to  face  the  loss  of  their 

homes  and  their  property.  During  the  prolonged  bom- 
bardment they  had  not  murmured.     Now,  however,  the 
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British  had  won  a  signal  victory.  Quebec,  face  to  face 

with  famine,  could  no  longer  be  defended.  Under  the  rules 

of  war,  if  Ramezay  should  wait  till  it  was  taken  by  assault, 

not  only  men  but  helpless  women  and  children  would  be 

put  to  the  sword.  Some  there  were  who  opposed  these 

views  and  declared  that  the  citizens  of  Quebec  seemed  more 

anxious  to  save  their  goods  than  their  country.  But  the 
wish  to  surrender  was  not  confined  to  unarmed  citizens. 

Many  of  the  Canadian  militia,  an  amateur  soldiery,  were 

fearful  that,  if  found  fighting,  they  would  be  treated  with 

the  rigour  meted  out,  under  the  rules  of  war,  to  civilians 

in  arms  ;  or  that,  if  treated  as  soldiers,  they  would,  upon 

surrender,  be  transported  to  France.  They  now  declared 

that  they  would  no  longer  serve  and  that  they  looked  upon 

themselves  as  civilians  only.  When  the  drums  beat  for 

muster  they  refused  to  take  their  places,  much  to  the  wrath 

of  the  officers  of  the  regular  service.  They  abandoned  even 

the  exposed  posts  of  which  they  had  charge.  A  French 

ofiicer,  enraged,  proposed  to  fall  upon  them  sword  in  hand ; 

but  menaces,  promises,  even  the  experiment  of  serving  out 

brandy,  failed  to  inspire  them  with  courage.  They  deserted 

in  bands.  Flight  by  way  of  Beauport  was  still  possible. 

Within  a  day  or  two  some  nine  hundred  had  gone  off,  a  few 

to  the  British,  but  most  of  them  to  find  refuge  with  the 

inhabitants  of  the  surrounding  country.  The  spirit  of  the 

men  in  the  regular  force  was  nearly  as  bad  and  it  was  soon 

apparent  that  even  the  officers  were  almost  unanimous  in 

desiring  surrender. 

What  was  Ramezay  to  do  ?  On  the  15th  of  September 

he  called  a  council  of  war.  By  this  time  Vaudreuil's  flight 
to  Jacques  Cartier  had  become  known  to  all.  At  the  council 

of  war  Ramezay  read  the  instructions  in  regard  to  sur- 
render which  he  had  received  from  Vaudreuil  ;  he  made 

also  a  statement  as  to  the  famine  imminent  in  the  town. 

Then  he  asked  each  officer,  with  these  naked  facts  before 
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him,  to  give  in  writing  his  independent  view  of  what  should 

be  done.  Fifteen  ofificers  were  present  and  we  have  still 

the  record,  solemnly  made,  of  each  man's  opinion.  For 
continuing  the  fight  one  officer  alone  stood  out.  The 

Captain  of  the  town  artillery,  M.  Jacquot  de  Fiedmont, 

who  had  elsewhere  shown  conspicuous  courage,  wrote  his 

advice  '  to  put  the  garrison  on  still  shorter  rations  and 

push  the  defence  to  the  last  extremity  '.  All  the  others, 
however,  advised  an  opposite  course,  and  the  council  of 

war  decided  that  the  best  thing  to  be  hoped  for  was  an 

honourable  surrender,  and  that,  should  there  be  delay,  even 

this  might  not  be  possible.  The  hapless  commander,  with 

whom  rested  the  final  word,  may  well  have  been  perplexed 

as  to  his  duty.  Ill  health  did  not  make  his  burden  lighter. 

On  the  15th  he  asked  permission  from  the  British  to  send 

the  women  and  children  past  their  lines,  but  the  request 

met  with  a  stern  refusal.^  His  foe  would  not  allow  him  to 
be  relieved  even  of  this  difficulty. 

Scarcity  of  provisions  caused  the  most  serious  problem. 

Since  the  French  tents  were  still  standing  at  Beauport, 

Ramezay  sent  thither,  hoping  to  find  provisions  ;  but,  as 

we  have  seen,  the  inhabitants  and  the  Indians  had  already 

made  help  from  this  quarter  impossible.  What  portion  of 

the  abandoned  supplies  they  could  not  carry  off  they  had 

wasted,  and  Ramezay's  messengers  found  strewn  about  in 
the  wildest  disorder  flour  and  other  stores  that  might  have 

saved  Quebec.  Just  at  this  time  came  one  gleam  of  hope. 

News  arrived  from  the  defeated  French  army.  A  letter 

from  Vaudreuil,  which  must  have  been  written  during  his 

wild  retreat,  reached  Ramezay  with  the  tidings  that  he  was 

sending  into  Quebec  both  provisions  and  troops. 

The  hapless  commander  in  Quebec  had  to  ask  himself 

^  Townshend  Papers,  Doughty,  v.  269.  Knox  (ii.  81)  says  the  permission 
was  granted  and  that  the  women  were  sent  over  the  St.  Charles  into  the 
country.     Knox,  however,  is  often  inaccurate. 
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what  chance  there  was  that  such  a  promise  could  be  fulfilled. 

He  said  nothing  about  the  letter  but,  in  order  to  get  more 

light,  sent  out  two  officers,  Joannes,  of  the  French  regular 

service,  and  Magnan,  of  the  Canadian  militia,  to  learn  for 

themselves  what  the  prospect  of  succour  by  the  panic- 
stricken  French  army  really  was,  and,  if  possible,  to  see 

Vaudreuil  in  person.  By  this  time,  however,  the  Governor 

was  far  away.  Joannes  pledged  himself  to  go  out  and 

return  in  a  single  night,  that  of  the  15th.  He  went  some 

nine  or  ten  miles  towards  Jacques  Cartier  ;  and  then  sent 

forward  an  urgent  letter  to  Vaudreuil  to  say  that  there 

was  a  bad  state  of  feeling  in  Quebec  and  that,  if  no  word 

was  received  from  him  by  ten  o'clock  on  the  morning  of 
the  17th,  negotiations  for  surrender  would  be  opened.  What 

Joannes  saw  and  heard,  perhaps  from  Bougainville  at 

Lorette,  led  him  to  believe  that  rescue  was  by  no  means 

impossible,  and  he  returned  to  Quebec  convinced  that  the 

defenders  should  hold  out.  In  this  he  was  supported  by 

the  brave  Fiedmont.  But  Ramezay  was  of  stuff  less  stern. 

Levis  had  not  yet  arrived  at  Jacques  Cartier  and  a  dis- 
tressing account  of  the  lack  of  discipline  and  order  in  the 

French  army  had  reached  Ramezay.  Help  from  such  a  force 

was,  he  thought,  hardly  to  be  expected.  By  this  time, 

indeed,  he  had  decided  to  give  up  the  fight.  Vaudreuil 

charges  that  Ramezay  reached  this  decision  without  having 

informed  himself  of  the  conditions  in  Quebec,  and  declares 
that  there  were  cattle  and  horses  in  the  town  which  would 

have  prevented  famine. 

It  must  be  said  that  Ramezay  had  no  good  reason  to 

believe  that  the  demoralized  French  army  could  now  render 

effective  help.  It  is,  of  course,  easy  to  suggest  what  he  might 

have  done,  but  from  one  urgent  fact  he  could  not  escape  ; — 
about  him  were  women  and  children  now  in  panic  fear 
and  clamorous  for  food.  Vaudreuil  had  instructed  him  not 

to  hold  out  until  the  British  should  assault  Quebec.     Now, 
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because  the  foe  had  worked  with  fiery  energy,  this  assault 

was  imminent.  By  the  morning  of  the  17th  the  British 

had  a  hundred  and  eighteen  guns  mounted  in  their  batteries 

and  were  almost  ready  to  open  lire  upon  the  feeble  walls. 

Just  at  this  time,  too,  the  line-of-battle  ships  shifted  to 

a  position  nearer  the  town  and  prepared  for  a  bombard- 
ment, A  renewed  panic  followed  in  Quebec.  Ramezay 

himself  describes  his  situation  : 

'  It  was  no  longer  possible  for  me  to  hold  any  post  securely. 
The  batteries  had  been  abandoned  and  the  weak  points 
were  no  longer  guarded.  I  had  not  officers  enough  to  carry 
out  my  orders  ;  I  could  no  longer  count  upon  the  militia 
officers  since  the  request  [to  surrender]  which  they  had 
made.  My  situation  soon  became  only  too  clear.  On  the 
17th  .  .  .  there  was  an  alarm,  and  I  learned  that  an  English 
force  was  coming  in  small  boats  to  land  in  the  lower  town. 
At  the  same  time  we  saw  all  the  war-ships  get  under  sail 
to  come  nearer  the  shore.  A  strong  English  column  advanced 
[by  land]  towards  the  Palace  gate  where  the  entrance  was 
unguarded.  I  ordered  a  general  alarm  and  every  man  to 
take  his  place.  While  I  was  in  the  square  with  several 
officers,  an  officer  whom  I  had  sent  to  carry  out  my  orders 
returned  to  tell  me  that  none  of  the  militia  would  fight. 
At  the  same  moment  the  militia  officers  came  to  me.  They 
said  that  they  were  in  no  temper  to  sustain  an  assault  ; 
that  they  well  knew  I  had  orders  to  the  contrary  ;  and  that 
they  intended  to  replace  their  weapons  in  the  armoury,  so 
that,  when  the  enemy  entered  Quebec,  the  militia  should 
be  found  without  arms  and  should  not  be  put  to  the  sword. 
Henceforth,  they  said,  they  should  regard  themselves,  not 
as  soldiers  but  as  civilians.  If  the  army  had  not  abandoned 
them  they  would  have  continued  to  show  the  same  devotion 
that  they  had  shown  throughout  the  siege  ;  now,  however, 
with  no  further  resources  left,  they  did  not  feel  obliged  to 
face  a  useless  massacre  ;  such  a  sacrifice  would  not  delay 
by  one  hour  the  taking  of  the  town.  All  this  time  the  enemy 
drew  nearer  and  my  situation  was  cruel.  I  took  the  opinion 
of  several  officers  near  me,  and,  in  particular,  that  of  my 
second  in  command,  the  Chevalier  de  Bernetz.  By  their 
advice  I  raised  the  flag,  according  to  the  orders  I  had 

received,  and  sent  to  the  enemy's  camp  M.  de  Joannes, 
aide-major,  with  the  terms  of  capitulation  which  M.  de 
Vaudreuil  had  sent  to  me.' 
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Not  only  the  militia  had  fallen  into  a  state  of  abject 

terror.  '  To  my  great  regret ',  says  the  French  officer, 

Bernetz,  '  I  saw  this  same  unhappy  spirit  working  in  the 

hearts  of  the  regular  soldiers.  I  shed  tears  of  grief  over  it.' 
He  mourns,  indeed,  that  he  had  not  been  killed  earlier  in 

the  campaign,  instead  of  living  to  see  this  final  humiliation. 

At  three  o'clock  on  the  afternoon  of  the  17th,  in  pouring 
rain,  Joannes,  despite  his  vigorous  protests  against  sur- 

render, was  sent  to  the  British  general  to  ask  for  terms. 

Townshend  and  Admiral  Saunders  took  counsel  together, 

made  moderate  demands,  and  gave  Ramezay  the  four  hours 

from  seven  to  eleven  o'clock  of  that  night  for  consideration. 
Joannes  had  secured  as  long  a  time  as  possible,  in  order  to 

increase  the  chance  of  rescue,  and  now  he  and  Fiedmont, 

on  their  knees  even,  entreated  Ramezay  not  to  yield. 

They  begged  him,  if  he  could  do  no  more,  to  evacuate  the 

Lower  Town  and  concentrate  his  force  in  the  Upper  Town, 
where  he  would  be  almost  safe  from  the  fire  of  the  British 

ships.  It  was  too  late  ;  Ramezay's  spirit  was  gone.  His 
forces  were  utterly  discouraged.  Wholesale  desertion  was 

taking  place  and  starvation  seemed  imminent.  The  heavy 

rain  added  to  the  discouragement,  for  it  would  retard  any 

rescuing  movement.  Ramezay  reasoned,  moreover,  that 

even  if  the  British  were  in  Quebec,  they  would  still  be  as 

vulnerable  there  as  in  their  fortified  post  on  the  Plains  of 
Abraham.  In  fact,  when  seven  months  later  the  French 

attacked  Quebec,  the  British  preferred  to  fight  on  the  open 

plain. 

A  little  before  eleven  o'clock  at  night,  Joannes  was  sent 
out  again  to  the  British  camp  with  a  final  acceptance  of 
the  terms  offered,  terms,  it  should  be  noted,  better  than 

those  which  Vaudreuil  had  told  Ramezay  to  accept.  Each 

side  was  to  take  a  hostage  from  the  other  in  pledge  of  good 

faith.  While  this  arrangement  was  being  carried  out  a 

singular  thing  happened.     Ere  the  dejected  Joannes  had 
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left  Quebec  to  return  to  the  British  head-quarters  with  the 
final  surrender,  help  reached  Quebec.  A  force  of  fifty 

mounted  men,  under  Captain  de  la  Rochebeaucour,  sent  by 

Bougainville,  entered  the  town  from  the  side  towards  Beau- 

port,  and  brought  with  them  some  sacks  of  provisions  and 

the  news  that  other  supplies  were  coming  by  water  and 

that  rescue  was  near.  When  Ramezay  had  signed  the 

capitulation  he  had  not  been  aware  of  La  Rochebeaucour's 
arrival.  This  brave  officer  now  went  to  Ramezay  and,  like 

others,  begged  on  his  knees  for  delay.  Whether,  had 

Ramezay  known  sooner  of  this  succour,  he  would  have  drawn 

back,  and  whether  within  the  next  few  days  France  and 

England  would  again  have  grappled  in  deadly  strife  on  the 

Plains  of  Abraham,  who  can  say  ?  The  help  had  come  too 

late.  Ramezay  had  already  signed  the  capitulation  and 

would  not  draw  back.  La  Rochebeaucour  rode  off,  carrying 

with  him  some  of  the  provisions  that  he  had  brought  for 

the  relief  of  Quebec  and  bitterly  angry  at  the  conduct  of 
Ramezay. 

There  is  no  doubt  that,  had  the  surrender  been  delayed 

even  another  day,  the  British  would  have  been  in  a  dangerous 

situation.  Levis  was  marching  back  to  Quebec  with  an  army 

that  trusted  him  as  a  leader,  and  the  British  had  good 

reason  to  be  nervous  about  their  position.  They  were  thus 

eager  to  enter  the  town.  The  weather,  which  had  been 

delightful  for  a  day  or  two  after  the  battle,  was  now  cold 

and  wet.  Rain  had  made  the  roads  so  bad  that  only  with 

difficulty  could  the  troops  drag  up  further  artillery  to  the 
Plains  of  Abraham.  It  was  desirable  that  the  British 

should  occupy  Quebec  before  it  was  further  injured  by 

bombardment,  for  they  might  have  to  find  winter  quarters 

there.  Accordingly  they  were  ready  to  grant  easy  terms. 

On  one  thing  only  were  they  unbending  :  the  garrison  in 

Quebec  should  not  serve  longer  in  Canada.  When  Ramezay 

asked  leave  to  join  the  French  army  under  Levis,  Towns- 
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hend's  answer  was  that  all  but  the  militia  must  be  embarked 
at  once  for  France.  The  British  agreed  that  the  garrison, 

bearing  arms,  with  drums  beating  and  matches  lighted, 

should  march  to  the  ships  with  the  honours  of  war  ;  they 

agreed  further  to  respect  private  property,  to  leave  the 
inhabitants  of  Quebec  undisturbed  in  their  houses,  and  to 

permit  the  free  exercise  of  the  Roman  Catholic  faith,  until 

this  question  should  be  finally  determined  by  a  treaty  of 

peace. 
These  arrangements  were  completed  on  the  i8th.  Then 

the  grenadiers,  commanded  by  Lieutenant-Colonel  Murray, 
took  possession  of  the  gates  of  the  Upper  Town.  At  the 

same  time  a  naval  force,  under  Captain,  afterwards  Sir 

Hugh,  Palliser,  occupied  the  Lower  Town.  On  the  Grand 

Parade,  with  all  the  pomp  of  war,  Townshend  himself 

received  the  keys  of  the  fortress  from  its  former  masters 

and  the  British  flag  was  raised  over  Quebec.  The  French 

garrison  which  marched  out  made  a  brave  showing  and  left 

only  a  ruined  city  to  their  foes.  Since  the  day  of  the  battle 
the  numbers  in  the  French  ranks  had  declined  ;  now  rather 

less  than  two  thousand  men,  of  whom  more  than  nine 

hundred  were  militia,  surrendered.  All  but  the  militia  were 
to  be  taken  at  once  to  France. 

The  fatal  intelligence  of  the  surrender  of  Quebec  reached 

Bougainville  when  he  was  less  than  two  miles  away.  Levis 

heard  it  near  Cap  Rouge,  less  than  ten  miles  from  Quebec, 

when  his  army  had  already  covered  the  greater  part  of  the 

return  march.  '  The  news,'  he  writes,  '  which  rendered 
useless  all  that  I  had  done,  affected  me  infinitely.  It  is 

unheard  of  that  a  place  should  surrender  which  had  been 

neither  attacked  nor  invested.'  Bourlamaque,  in  command 
at  Isle  aux  Noix,  wrote  that  the  blow  was  incomprehensible, 

terrible.  The  fall  of  the  fortress  meant,  indeed,  as  time 

was  to  show,  the  loss  to  France  of  an  empire. 
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The  surrender  of  Quebec  caused  in  the  French  army  the 

natural  and  stern  resolve  that  before  spring  came  they  would 

recapture  the  fortress.  To  this  everything  else  must  give 

way.  Levis  would  have  wished  to  close  in  at  once  on 

Quebec  and  to  harass  the  victors  without  delay.  For  this 
task,  however,  his  resources  were  slender.  He  had  no 

artillery  and  but  little  ammunition.  Even  food  he  could 

get  only  with  great  difficulty.  Wolfe's  cruel  policy  of 
desolating  the  parishes  was  now  justified  ;  the  country 

about  Quebec  could  not  support  an  attacking  army.  Levis 

soon  resolved  that  for  the  moment  a  siege  was  impossible. 

To  be  safe  from  attack,  he  decided  to  return  to  Jacques 

Cartier,  whither  the  French  had  fled  so  precipitately  on  the 

night  of  the  13th.  With  the  river  of  that  name  as  his  frontal 

defence  against  a  further  British  advance,  he  could  make 

plans  in  some  security. 
Once  more,  therefore,  in  bad  weather  and  over  roads 

heavy  with  recent  rains,  the  discouraged  and  defeated 

French  army  dragged  itself  away  from  Quebec.  By  the 

24th  of  September  the  second  retreat  was  completed  and 

many  of  the  French  soldiers,  turning  their  swords  into 

pruning-hooks,  were  helping  the  Canadian  farmers  to  reap 
the  scanty  harvest.  A  high  bluff  on  the  right  bank  of  the 

Jacques  Cartier  River,  where  it  joins  the  St.  Lawrence, 
furnished  a  site  little  inferior  to  that  of  Quebec  for  a  fort. 

The  French  leaders  were  quickly  busy  with  plans.  By 

September  26  engineers  had  begun  to  lay  out  new  works. 

In  the  end,  the  works  proved  so  strong  that,  as  a  matter  of 

fact,  Jacques  Cartier  was  the  last  point  on  the  St.  Lawrence 

where  the  French  flag  was  lowered. 

For  the  time,  however,  little  more  could  be  done.  The 

foraging  parties  could  secure  little,  and  famine  was  imminent. 

When,  on  October  4,  some  Canadians  brought  in  twenty 

cattle  which  they  had  secured  in  the  neighbourhood  of 

Quebec,  the  rejoicing  was  great  over  what  proved,  after  all. 
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but  a  mouthful  for  so  considerable  an  army.  Levis  sent  to 

the  French  frigates  still  lying  in  the  river  some  distance 

above  Quebec  to  ask  for  food,  but  his  boats  returned  empty. 

By  October  15  the  army  at  Jacques  Cartier  had  in  sight 

provisions  for  only  nine  days.  With  such  scant  resources 

it  was  impossible  to  keep  a  great  force  at  that  point.  The 

French  quickly  found  that  they  could  not  hold  together 

their  Indian  allies,  unless  they  could  supply  them  with  food. 

Since  this  was  impossible,  the  Indians  soon  scattered  to 

their  own  villages.  For  the  moment  at  least  Quebec  was 

safe  in  the  possession  of  its  new  owners. 

With  the  fall  of  Quebec  the  outlook  for  France  in  North 

America  was  indeed  gloomy.  She  had  made  magnificent 

claims  to  hold  the  vast  region  stretching  from  the  mouth 

of  the  St.  Lawrence  to  the  mouth  of  the  Mississippi.  From 

the  early  days  of  discovery  the  sons  of  France,  more  imagina- 
tive than  their  English  rivals,  had  been  haunted  by  the 

mystery  of  the  interior.  While  the  English  had  rarely 

ventured  far  from  the  sea-coast,  the  French  pioneers  had 
pressed  inland.  Champlain  had  reached  the  Great  Lakes  ; 

La  Salle  had  linked  the  St.  Lawrence  with  the  Mississippi 

in  his  dream  of  a  far-reaching  French  Empire  ;  La  Verendrye 

had  gone  still  farther  afield  and  had  penetrated  to  the  foot- 

hills of  the  Rocky  Mountains.  Fur-traders  had  followed 
the  explorers.  To  this  day,  in  regions  far  remote,  regions 

which  have  passed  to  another  race,  French  geographical 

names  and  some  lingering  remnants  of  French  speech  often 

furnish  a  reminder  of  the  far-reaching  energies  of  the 
explorers  and  traders  of  New  France.  To  assert  her  claim 

and  to  protect  the  richest  fur-trade  in  the  world,  France 
had  built  forts  at  the  chief  points  of  vantage.  At  the  forks 

of  the  Ohio,  commanding  the  commerce  of  that  river,  the 

fieurs-de-lis  had  waved  over  Fort  Duquesne.  At  Niagara, 
commanding  the  passage  from  Lake  Ontario  to  Lake  Erie, 

stood  another  French  stronghold.     Fort   Frontenac  com- 
c  2 
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manded  the  point  where  Lake  Ontario  narrows  into  the 

River  St.  Lawrence.  These  were  the  chief  forts,  but  at 

many  other  places,  even  in  the  far  west  on  the  Red  River 

and  beyond  it,  the  energy  of  France  was  represented  by 
posts,  where  her  traders  gathered  the  harvest  of  furs  from 
half  a  continent. 

"^Now,  however,  this  fabric  which  France  had  reared  was 
tumbhng  down.  One  by  one  the  British  had  mastered  the 

vantage  points.  The  summer  of  1758  had  been  disastrous 

to  the  outposts  of  France.  With  the  fall  of  Louisbourg 
in  July  she  was  stripped  of  power  east  of  Quebec.  At  the 

end  of  August  in  that  year  the  British  had  captured  Fort 
Frontenac  at  the  head  of  the  St.  Lawrence  and  cut  off 

communications  between  Quebec  and  the  West.  A  little 

later,  in  bleak  November,  they  had  struck  a  vigorous  blow 

on  the  Ohio,  captured  Fort  Duquesne,  and  were  now  rear- 

ing in  its  place  Fort  Pitt,  named  after  the  great  minister. 

Niagara  had  still  held  out  defiantly,  but  in  the  summer  of 

1759  it  too  had  fallen.  Thus,  except  at  a  few  scattered 
points  where  surrender  must  come  whenever  the  British 

should  demand  it,  the  whole  power  of  France  in  the  interior 

had  fallen.  After  the  disaster  at  Quebec,  only  the  central 

region  about  Montreal  remained  to  her. 

This  place  was  now  the  point  of  danger.  Vaudreuil, 

though  vain  and  bombastic,  was  not  a  coward,  and  he  soon 

resolved  to  take  up  his  head-quarters  in  Montreal.  Accord- 
ingly, on  September  28,  he  issued  a  pompous  ordinance 

placing  Levis  in  command  on  the  lower  river,  and  then  set 

out  from  Jacques  Cartier.  On  the  first  of  October  he  arrived 

in  Montreal,  in  company  with  the  Bishop  of  Quebec,  and 

was  soon  planning  with  feverish  energy  to  meet  the  expected 
attack  on  this  last  foothold  of  France  in  Canada. 

It  seemed  possible  that  Montreal  might  be  won  by  the 

British  befpre  winter  set  in.  It  was  menaced  from  the 

west  and  from  the  south.    At  Oswego,  near  the  point  where 
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the  St.  Lawrence  River  flows  out  of  Lake  Ontario,  General 

Gage  had  gathered  an  army  to  descend  the  river  to  Montreal. 

His  path  was  not  clear,  for  the  French  had  a  fort  called 

La  Galette  at  La  Presentation,  some  seventy  miles  down 

the  river  from  Oswego,  at  a  point  commanding  the  St.  Law- 
rence and  near  the  Mohawk  Valley,  leading  to  the  heart  of 

the  colony  of  New  York.  The  fort  was  a  centre  from  which 
the  Indians  in  alliance  with  the  French  had  made  numerous 

forays  and  caused  much  trouble.  Its  defences  were,  how- 
ever, weak  and  Gage  could  easily  have  overpowered  it.  It 

was  not  this  problem  but  another  which  chiefly  troubled 

him.  If  he  descended  to  La  Galette,  could  he  winter  his 

force  there,  in  case  it  was  impossible  to  advance  to  Montreal  ? 

If  Gage  had  known  what  was  happening  at  Quebec,  he  would 

probably  have  made  a  start  for  Montreal.  Communications 

in  this  campaign  were,  however,  extremely  difficult.  It  is 

actually  true  that  the  news  of  the  fall  of  Quebec  reached 

England,  three  thousand  miles  away,  on  October  i6  and 

did  not  reach  General  Amherst,  who  was  on  Lake  Champlain, 

less  than  two  hundred  miles  away,  until  October  i8.  Gage 

heard  nothing  of  it  for  a  long  time,  and  in  the  end,  '  to  my 

great  concern,'  says  his  superior  officer,  Amherst,  decided 
not  to  make  any  advance  towards  Montreal  during  that 
season.  In  slow  deliberation  he  was  more  than  a  rival  of 

his  chief. 

Amherst  himself  was  approaching  Montreal  from  the 

south  along  the  war-worn  route  by  Lake  George  and  Lake 
Champlain.  It  had  been  hitherto  a  line  of  advance  fatal 

to  British  arms.  In  1757  Montcalm  had  captured  a  British 

army  at  Fort  William  Henry  at  the  foot  of  Lake  George. 

In  the  next  year  at  Ticonderoga  Montcalm  had  again  inflicted 

a  bloody  defeat  on  the  British  trying  to  advance  by  this 

route  into  Canada.  Now  Amherst  himself,  the  Commander- 

in-Chief,  was  using  it  for  his  advance.  He  had  set  out 
from  Fort  William  Henry  at  the  south  end  of  the  lake  on 

I 
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July  21,  1759.  The  French  did  not  try  to  check  his  progress 

up  Lake  George  and  Lake  Champlain.  Ticonderoga,  where 

the  British  had  been  beaten  with  such  heavy  loss  in  the 

previous  year,  the  French  blew  up  at  Amherst's  advance  ; 
Crown  Point,  on  Lake  Champlain,  they  also  abandoned. 

All  this  had  been  done  by  August  i,  and  it  was  the  news 

of  these  successes  which  had  led  to  an  outburst  of  rejoicing 

in  England  and  to  the  humorous  suggestion  by  Horace 

Walpole  that  Amherst  should  be  given  the  title  of  Ticon- 
derogicus.  But,  having  done  so  much  in  the  face  of  a  fleeing 

enemy,  Amherst  paused  to  make  sure  of  his  ground.  At 

Crown  Point  he  found  what  he  thought  the  best  situation 
in  America  for  a  fort,  and  he  decided  to  build  there  a  massive 

structure  which  might  defy  the  enemies  of  Britain  for  all 

time.  Soon  he  had  three  thousand  men  engaged  in  the 

task.  He  worked  with  untiring  energy  and  all  that  he  did 

was  good.  But  during  these  weeks  after  August  i  the 

crisis  of  Wolfe's  attack  on  Quebec  had  come,  and  the  appear- 
ance of  Amherst  on  the  St.  Lawrence  would  have  been  of 

inestimable  service  to  the  despairing  British  leader.  Help 

did  not  appear.  What  Wolfe  achieved,  he  achieved  alone  ; 

Amherst  gave  him  no  aid. 

Without  doubt  Amherst  was  an  efficient  officer.  '  There 

does  not  exist ',  wrote  General  Yorke  in  this  year,  of  Am- 
herst, '  a  worthier  nor  a  more  modest  man  than  that  nor 

a  plainer  or  better  soldier.'  ̂   But,  he  added,  '  Wolfe  has 

more  fire,'  and  this  difference  really  explains  the  slow  policy 
of  Amherst.  He  would  run  no  risks.  Even  at  the  cost  of 

much  time,  he  must  be  secure  in  every  step  he  took.  To 

himself  the  reasons  for  not  advancing  at  once  from  Crown 

Point  were  all-sufficient.  His  scouts  reported  that  the 
French  had  three  or  four  armed  vessels  on  the  lake.  To 

take  forward  his  army  and  its  equipment  by  land  was 

impossible  because  of  bad  roads  and  of  the  danger  of  ambush 

^  Yorke,  Life  of  Lord  Chancellor  Hardwicke. 
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in  the  forest  ;  and  he  could  not  take  it  by  water  in  small 

boats  unless  he  was  able  to  drive  off  the  armed  ships  of  the 

French.  He  paused,  accordingly,  to  build  the  necessary 

vessels  and  a  floating  battery. 

The  military  task  before  him  was  formidable.  Montcalm 

had  sent  one  of  his  best  officers,  Bourlamaque,  to  guard 

this  route.  With  Bourlamaque  were  now  about  thirty-five 

hundred  men  in  a  strong  position.  Lake  Champlain  dis- 
charges its  waters  into  the  Richelieu  River.  A  few  miles 

after  leaving  Lake  Champlain  this  river  is  divided  by  an 
island  which  the  French  called  Isle  aux  Noix.  On  this 

island  they  had  built  a  strong  fort.  Its  cannon  swept  the 

approaches  by  way  of  the  river.  To  reach  the  St.  Lawrence 

Amherst  must  pass  this  fort.  If  he  attacked  it  from  the 

water,  the  French  cannon  could  demolish  his  small  vessels. 

If  he  advanced  to  the  attack  with  a  land  force,  he  would 

find  the  island  fort  protected  on  all  sides  by  the  river. 

Amherst's  problem  had  been  made  more  difficult  by  lack 
of  communication  with  the  British  before  Quebec,  Hardly 

any  news  trickled  through  the  French  lines.  As  early  as 

August  7  Amherst  had  sent  a  letter  to  Wolfe  by  way  of  Nova 

Scotia  and  the  Kennebec  River.  Since  it  would  be  long 

in  arriving,  he  had  made  next  day  a  more  direct  attempt. 

He  sent  Captain  Kennedy,  a  kinsman  of  General  Murray, 

with  some  companions  to  go  through  the  forest  to  the 

St.  Lawrence  by  way  of  the  Indian  settlements  on  the 

south  shore.  If  Kennedy  encountered  Indians  he  was  to 

promise  them  a  liberal  reward  for  bringing  him  to  General 

Wolfe.  Kennedy  encountered  the  Indians  of  St.  Francis, 

but,  instead  of  honouring  his  flag  of  truce  and  acting  as 

friendly  guides,  they  treated  him  and  his  party  as  spies, 

put  them  in  irons,  and  carried  them  to  the  French.  The 

first  news  that  reached  Amherst  came  on  September  lo  in 

the  form  of  a  letter  from  Montcalm  saying  that  they  were 

his  prisoners. 
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The  conduct  of  the  St.  Francis  Indians  to  CaptainKennedy 

brought  to  a  head  the  resolve  of  the  British  to  punish  these 

savages.  There  was  not  only  this  but  an  older  score  to 
settle  with  them.  For  wellnigh  a  century  they  had  been 

a  terror  to  the  people  of  New  England  and  had  carried 

on  murderous  warfare  against  the  helpless  frontier  settle- 
ments. Amherst  now  authorized  a  party  of  two  hundred 

and  twenty  picked  men,  called  in  frontier  warfare  '  Rangers  ', 
under  a  well-known  leader,  Major  Rogers,  to  go  by  forest 

pathways  to  the  head-quarters  of  the  savages  and  inflict 
on  them  summary  punishment. 

The  expedition  set  out  on  September  13,  the  very  day  of 

Wolfe's  great  victory.  '  Take  your  revenge,'  wrote  Amherst, 

'  but  don't  forget  that  though  these  villains  have  dastardly 
and  promiscuously  murdered  the  women  and  children  of  all 

ages,  it  is  my  orders  that  no  women  or  children  are  killed 

or  hurt.'  We  have  Rogers's  own  account  of  what  he  did. 
In  some  way  the  intrepid  ranger  managed  to  get  past  the 

French  armed  vessels  patrolling  Lake  Champlain.  He  hid 

his  boats  on  the  shores  of  its  northern  inlet,  Mississquoi 

Bay,  left  two  friendly  Indians  on  watch,  and  then  began 

a  long  and  painful  march  through  the  forest.  His  goal, 

St.  Francis,  was  distant  a  march  of  many  days.  When 

Rogers  had  been  out  two  days,  friendly  Indians  warned 

him  that  a  strong  party  of  the  enemy  had  found  his  boats 

and  was  pursuing  him.  Bourlamaque,  at  Isle  aux  Noix, 

had  in  fact  discerned  the  purpose  of  the  expedition  and  had 

sent  a  warning  to  the  priest  at  St.  Francis — a  warning 
apparently  not  heeded.  Rogers  pushed  forward,  hoping  to 

outdistance  his  pursuers,  who  moved  leisurely,  since  they 

thought  they  should  catch  him  on  his  return  journey.  On 

the  tenth  day  of  a  toilsome  progress  through  wet  spruce 

bog,  where  the  water  was  usually  about  a  foot  deep  and 

where  the  men  could  be  dry  at  night  only  by  swinging 
themselves  in  hammocks  made  of  the  branches  of  trees,  he 



42  THE  FALL  OF  QUEBEC 

reached  the  River  St.  Francis  about  fifteen  miles  above  the 

village.  Since  the  village  lay  on  the  opposite  bank  of  the 

river,  it  was  necessary  to  cross.  At  the  ford  the  water  was 

five  feet  deep  and  the  current  very  swift.  Rogers  put  the 

tallest  of  his  men  up  stream  and,  by  holding  on  to  each 

other,  they  crossed  over  with  the  loss  of  only  a  few  muskets. 

The  force  had  now  good  dry  ground  on  which  to  march 

and  it  crept  towards  the  village.  When  three  miles  distant, 

Rogers  halted  his  party  and  climbed  a  tree,  to  take  his 

bearings.  Then,  in  the  early  evening,  he  and  Lieutenant 

Turner  and  Ensign  Avery  went  farther  forward  to  recon- 
noitre. 

They  found  the  Indians  engaged  in  a  dance.  Rogers 

drew  his  force  nearer  to  the  village  until,  at  three  o'clock 
in  the  morning,  he  was  distant  but  five  hundred  yards. 

By  this  time  the  noisy  festivities  were  over  and  the  quiet 

of  night  and  of  sleep  had  settled  down  upon  the  savages. 

At  half  an  hour  before  sunrise  the  signal  for  attack  was 

given.  The  savages  had  no  time  to  take  arms  in  defence 

and  an  appalling  massacre  followed.  With  the  exception 

of  three  houses,  where  was  stored  corn  which  Rogers  reserved 

for  the  use  of  his  party,  all  the  houses  were  soon  on  fire. 

Many  Indians  who  had  concealed  themselves  in  the  cellars 
and  lofts  of  their  houses  were  burned  to  death.  Others 

who  tried  to  get  away  in  canoes  were  either  shot  or  died 

by  drowning.  Among  those  who  thus  perished  was  the 

priest.  By  seven  o'clock  in  the  morning  the  grim  work  was 
completed.  Some  two  hundred  Indians  had  been  killed, 

including,  it  should  seem,  a  good  many  women,  in  spite  of 

the  instructions  of  Amherst  to  the  contrary.  Rogers  him- 
self had  lost  but  one  man,  an  Indian  from  New  England. 

The  church,  a  fine  one  for  the  time,  was  burned  and  a 

rich  collection  of  manuscripts  relating  to  Indian  life  was 

destroyed.  One  ornament,  a  silver  statue,  was  carried  off 

by  the  victors  to  New  England. 
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There  is  no  doubt  that  the  massacre  was  looked  upon 

by  the  British  as  a  righteous  judgement.  These  savages, 

Rogers  says,  were  '  notoriously  attached  to  the  French  and 
had  for  nearly  a  century  past  harassed  the  frontiers  of 

New  England,  killing  people  of  all  ages  and  sexes  in  a  most 

barbarous  manner  .  .  .  and  to  my  own  knowledge  in  six 

years'  time,  carried  into  captivity  and  killed  on  the  before- 
mentioned  frontiers,  four  hundred  persons.  We  found  in 

the  town  hanging  on  poles  over  their  doors,  &c.,  about  six 

hundred  scalps,  mostly  English.'  Rogers  set  out  for  home  by 
a  circuitous  route.  He  met  with  terrible  hardships.  Some 

of  his  men  starved  to  death,  others  found  on  their  route 

corpses  of  their  own  countrymen  scalped  and  horribly 

mangled  by  the  enemy,  and  were  obliged  to  eat  this  ghastly 
food.  Ten,  it  is  said,  were  taken  and  carried  back  to 

St.  Francis,  where  they  were  tortured  to  death  by  furious 

Indian  women,  whose  lives  they  had  probably  spared.  For 

some  time  haggard  and  worn  men  continued  to  drift  into 

the  various  French  and  English  posts  half  dead  with  exhaus- 
tion. Rogers  himself  returned  in  the  end  to  Crown  Point 

and  made  his  triumphant  report  to  Amherst. 

The  savage  exploit  of  Rogers  was  only  side-play.  It  was 

still  Amherst's  intention  to  be  master  of  Montreal  before 
winter.  He  was  now  confronted  by  a  discouraged  enemy. 

The  news  of  the  death  of  Montcalm  had  reached  Bour- 

lamaque  at  Isle  aux  Noix  on  September  18.  He  managed 

to  keep  it  from  the  English  and  for  some  days  he  tried  to 

keep  it  even  from  his  own  men.  But  rumours  of  what  had 

happened  began  to  be  whispered  about.  When,  a  little 
later,  to  the  news  of  the  death  of  Montcalm  was  added  that 

of  the  fall  of  Quebec,  there  was  general  consternation. 

Bourlamaque  tried  to  restore  confidence  by  saying  that  the 

British,  few  in  number  and  with  winter  coming  on,  were 

themselves  in  an  untenable  position  and  could  take  no 

further  aggressive  action.     He  says  that  the  return  of  Vau- 
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dreiiil  to  Montreal  was  a  new  discouragement  to  the  French 

army  ;  we  are  left  to  conjecture  whether  it  was  the  impend- 
ing presence  of  the  volatile  governor  or  the  fact  that  he  was 

obliged  to  fall  back  from  Quebec  which  caused  this  feeling, 

Bourlamaque's  health  was  bad  ;  he  was  worn  out  by  the 
fatigues  of  the  campaign  of  the  summer  and  had  been  ill 

for  months  with  fever,  asthma,  and  other  ailments.  Now 

he  hardly  undressed  to  go  to  bed,  and  an  old  wound  kept 

him  from  sound  sleep.  During  each  night  he  made  four  or 

five  rounds  of  inspection.  The  tone  of  his  letters  is  naturally 

despondent.  But  he  writes  :  '  We  shall  fight  to  our  utmost, 
come  what  can.'  The  Canadians  were  now  discontented 
and  unwilling  to  serve.  When  enrolled,  they  deserted  by 

hundreds  ;  a  force  of  five  hundred  men  which  Levis  sent 

to  Bourlamaque  numbered  on  its  arrival  only  one  hundred 

and  twenty.  The  Indians  were  no  better.  They  had  little 

taste  for  the  operations  of  regular  war  and  went  off  to  their 

homes  regardless  of  the  fate  impending  over  New  France. 

Bourlamaque  says  that  even  the  offer  of  a  keg  of  brandy 

would  not  tempt  them  to  do  scouting  work  for  him. 

The  autumn  proved  stormy  and  the  gales  stirred  up 

heavy  seas  on  Lake  Champlain.  The  season  was  at  its 

worst  when,  at  last,  Amherst  began  his  advance  in  force. 

On  October  13,  he  embarked  his  army  in  whale-boats  and, 
defended  by  a  miniature  navy  consisting  of  a  brig,  a  sloop, 

and  a  floating  battery,  well  armed,  he  advanced  down  Lake 

Champlain.  The  array  of  about  seventy  boats  was  striking 

enough  to  have  attracted  attention ;  yet,  owing  to  what 

must  have  been  glaring  incompetence,  M.  de  Laubara,  the 

naval  officer  in  command  of  the  French  ships  on  the  lake, 

was  not  aware  of  the  approach  of  the  enemy  until  his  own 

retreat  by  the  river  to  Isle  aux  Noix  was  cut  off.  In  face 

of  the  overwhelming  superiority  of  the  English  he  fled 

down  Mississquoi  Bay  and,  when  night  came  on,  sank  two 

of  his  vessels,  stranded  a  third,  landed  his  force,  and  took 
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to  the  woods.  The  party  was  without  food  and,  in  the  end, 

the  men  were  reduced  to  eating  their  own  shoes.  The  sailors 

proved  helpless  on  shore  and  the  refugees  would  probably 

have  perished  in  the  wilds  had  it  not  been  for  some  Scottish 

prisoners  whom  they  had  with  them.  These  men,  at  home 

in  the  forest,  led  the  party  safely  to  Montreal.  The  fourth 

vessel  of  Laubara's  squadron  ultimately  reached  Isle  aux 
Noix,  but  the  loss  of  the  ships  took  from  the  French  any 

possibility  of  action  by  way  of  the  water. 

Had  Amherst  now  pressed  in  on  Isle  aux  Noix  it  would 

probably  have  yielded.  His  foe  was  delighted  at  his  in- 

activity. '  In  spite  of  my  belief,'  wrote  Bourlamaque,  '  that 
he  risks  his  head  by  doing  nothing,  I  begin  to  think  that  he 

will  make  no  movement  during  this  campaign.'  In  fact 
Amherst  had  delayed  too  long.  Gales  made  the  lake  no 

longer  navigable  to  his  whale-boats  loaded  down  with  men. 
He  was  forced  to  land  on  the  west  shore,  there  to  wait  for 

better  weather.  Just  at  this  time  news  reached  him  of  the 

fall  of  Quebec.  It  might  well  have  furnished  an  added 

inducement  to  press  forward.  But  he  did  not  see  it  in  this 

way.  Certain  now  that  Canada  must  yield,  in  any  case, 

he  turned  back  to  Crown  Point,  in  order  to  spare  his  men 

the  perils  of  a  needless  campaign.  It  was  a  thoughtfulness 

for  which  they  were  not  grateful,  for  it  robbed  them  of  the 

glory  of  the  final  conquest  of  Canada.  '  I  do  not  know  how 

he  will  be  able  to  save  his  head,'  Bourlamaque  wrote  to 

Levis  concerning  Amherst ;  '  assuredly  he  is  making  a  stupid 

campaign.'  Yet  he  had  done  something.  The  French  ships 
on  the  lake  had  been  destroyed  or  captured  and  the  English 

could  no  longer  be  kept  from  pressing  in  when  they  liked 

on  the  feeble  defences  at  Isle  aux  Noix.  Active  cam- 

paigning was  now  suspended  by  the  approach  of  winter. 

The  best  that  each  army  expected  to  do  was  to  hold  its 

own  during  that  season  and  to  be  ready  for  effective  work 

in  the  early  spring. 



CHAPTER  II 

QUEBEC  DURING  THE  WINTER  OF  1759-60 

At  Quebec  the  British  now  prepared  for  a  long  and 

stern  winter.  They  were  full  of  joy  and  thanksgiving  for 

their  great  success.  '  Let  us  now  Sing  unto  the  Lord  a  new 

Song,'  wrote  Quartermaster-Sergeant  Johnson,  '  for  he  has 
done  marvellous  things  for  us  this  day  :  his  Right  hand, 

and  his  holy  arm  hath  gotten  us  the  victory.  .  .  .  Let  us 

look  through  the  Annals  of  Antiquity  : — let  us  Search  the 
records  of  former  Ages,  and  see  whether  we  can  find  so 

great  a  Conquest  in  so  short  a  time,  by  so  small  a  number 

of  Men.'  On  the  23rd  the  field  of  battle  was  the  scene  of 
a  thanksgiving  service.  On  the  27th  the  Ursuline  Chapel, 

the  only  one  left  intact  in  Quebec,  was  used  for  a  similar 

purpose.  A  naval  chaplain,  the  Rev.  Elie  Dawson,  preached 

a  sermon  which  shows  how  the  glory  of  Wolfe  was  already 

regarded.  '  Ye  Mountains  of  Abraham,  decorated  with  his 
trophies,  tell  how  plainly  ye  opposed  him  when  he  mounted 

your  lofty  Heights  with  the  Strength  and  Swiftness  of  an 

eagle  :  Stand  fixed  upon  your  rocky  Base,  and  speak  his 

Name  and  Glory  to  all  future  generations  !  '  Again,  a  week 
later,  when  the  town  had  been  regularly  occupied,  the 

victors  offered  in  the  same  chapel  renewed  thanksgivings. 

With  fine  impartiality  some  of  the  French  inhabitants 

attended  this  service.  The  good  nuns  of  the  Ursuline 

Convent  must  have  been  shocked  at  the  desecration  by 

heretics  of  their  house  of  prayer  ;  but,  during  the  winter, 
Protestant  and  Roman  Catholic  services  continued  to  be 

held  in  the  same  structure.     In  England  a  special  form  of 
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prayer  and  thanksgiving  was  issued  for  use  in  the  churches 

with  the  petition  that  the  '  haughty  adversaries  '  might 

'  confess  and  amend  the  injurious  behaviour  of  which  they 

have  been  guilty  '.  '  The  Lord  God  of  Israel  fought  for 

Israel,'  said  a  preacher,  Mr.  Townley,  at  St.  Paul's.  To  him 
the  enemies  of  England  were  assuredly  the  enemies  of  the 

Lord.i 
Delighted  as  were  the  victors  with  their  conquest,  they 

still  had  doubts  whether  it  would  not  be  wise  to  destroy 

Quebec.  To  defend,  without  the  aid  of  a  fleet,  a  ruined 

fortress,  in  a  hostile  country,  and  in  face  of  the  rigours  of 

a  Canadian  winter,  was  assuredly  no  light  task.  The 

generals  and  the  admirals  debated  the  matter  in  a  council 
of  war  and  reached  the  conclusion  to  defend  to  the  last 

what  Wolfe  had  so  laboriously  won.  There  was  a  great 

extent  of  wall  to  be  protected  and  for  such  a  task  it  would 

be  necessary  to  leave  at  Quebec  every  available  soldier. 

On  September  24  the  British  muster  roll  showed  an  army 

of  8,504  men,  all  told,  but  of  these  only  5,707  were,  at  the 

moment,  fit  for  duty.  In  the  end  only  a  few  grenadiers, 

rangers,  and  artillery  men  were  sent  away,  and  Quebec  was 

left  with  7,313  defenders  of  all  ranks  to  face  the  winter 

and  the  enemy. ^ 
The  town  once  occupied,  not  a  moment  was  lost  in 

getting  ready  for  the  winter.  The  British  evacuated  the 

posts  at  the  Point  of  Levy  and  the  Island  of  Orleans,  which 

Wolfe  had  used  as  his  bases.  On  the  night  of  the  i8th,  not 

without  difficulty,  they  put  a  force  across  the  St.  Charles 

and  occupied  the  redoubt  where  a  few  days  before  the 

Chevalier  Johnstone  had  found  such  confusion  in  the  French 

counsels.     It  was  taken  with  the  exchange  of  only  a  few 

*  Pamphlets  in  the  Canadian  Archives. 

^  The  regiments  left  at  Quebec  were  the  15th,  28th,  35th,  43rd,  47th, 
48th,  58th,  60th,  and  78th.  In  addition  there  were  the  men  of  the  Royal 
Artillery.  The  60th  Regiment  contained  two  battalions  of  colonial  troops 
(Royal  Americans)  ;    there  were  besides  100  Colonial  Rangers. 
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shots.  The  victors  lost  no  time  in  sending  home  the  French 

troops  who  had  surrendered.  They  were  embarked  promptly 

in  four  ships  and,  a  few  days  after  the  fall  of  Quebec,  they 

set  sail  for  France,  no  doubt  much  to  their  joy.  To  some 

of  them,  because  of  their  sin  of  failure,  the  mother  country 

gave  a  stern  welcome.  Ramezay,  in  particular,  had  to 

meet  bitter  attacks  and  to  endure  shame  and  poverty  for 
the  loss  of  Quebec.  Vaudreuil,  who  had  instructed  him  to 

surrender  the  fortress,  sent  home  an  official  letter  blaming 

him  for  carrying  out  these  instructions. 

Since  there  seemed  to  be  no  anchorage  in  the  river  where, 

during  the  winter,  large  ships  would  be  safe  from  destruction 

by  ice,  Admiral  Saunders  made  ready  to  sail  away  with 

his  whole  fleet.  Before  departing  the  transports  unloaded 

vast  quantities  of  stores.  In  the  Lower  Town  the  Inten- 

dant's  Palace,  a  stately  building  which  greatly  impressed 
the  victors,  became  the  chief  depot  for  supplies,  while  in 

the  Upper  Town  the  large  Jesuits'  College  was  used  in  part 
for  a  similar  purpose.  The  Jesuits  remaining  in  the  place 

were  few  in  number.  At  first  the  British  took  three-fourths 

of  the  building  and  a  little  later  they  took  it  all.  The  task 

of  unloading  the  stores  involved  heavy  labour.  There  were 

almost  no  horses  in  Quebec,  and  to  reach  the  Upper  Town 

the  men  had  to  drag  the  casks  and  bags  up  a  very  steep 

hill.  In  addition,  since  the  cannon  found  at  Quebec  were 

worn  out  and  almost  useless,  the  victors  had  to  disembark 

artillery  and  place  it  in  proper  position.  Some  of  the 

streets  were  so  nearly  impassable  from  the  debris  of  fallen 

houses  that  it  was  a  heavy  preliminary  labour  to  clear  them 

for  traffic.  There  was  '  not  a  man  ',  writes  General  Murray, 

'  but  was  constantly  employed.' 
Until  the  preliminary  work  was  done  the  army  remained 

on  the  Plains  of  Abraham.  On  September  29,  however, 

the  troops  marched  into  Quebec.  The  officers  drew  lots  for 

quarters  in  the  ruined  houses  and  the  accommodation  was 
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primitive  enough.  Captain  Knox  tells  us  that  to  him  fell 

a  shed  used  as  a  cart-house  and  stable  ;  for  ceihng  he  had 

only  a  few  loose  boards  and  above  him  was  a  hay-loft  ; 
but  a  little  carpentry  wrought  wonders,  and  with  a  good 

stove  he  was  able,  as  winter  advanced,  to  fight  the  cold 

successfully.  He  thought,  however,  that  he  would  have 

been  more  comfortable  in  a  tent.  Captain  John  Montresor 

secured  a  roofless  house  and  at  first  had  not  a  single  board 

for  the  needed  repairs.  But  he  could  look  after  himself  ; 

he  took  what  timber  he  needed  from  a  house  too  far  gone 

to  be  lived  in,  and  a  couple  of  carpenters  soon  gave  him 

a  roof  over  his  head.  If  officers  were  lodged  so  ill  the  lot 

of  the  private  soldier  was  hard  indeed.  His  quarters  were 

bad  ;  so  also  was  his  bedding  ;  and  for  food  he  soon  had 

little  but  salted  provisions.  Moreover,  since  the  Govern- 
ment had  failed  to  send  out  money  with  which  to  pay  the 

army,  the  private  soldier  had  no  means  to  purchase  small 
additions  to  his  comfort.  For  him,  as  chill  winter  drew  on, 

the  outlook  was  grim  and  the  result  was  to  prove  tragic. 

Monckton,  disabled  by  his  wound,  was  ordered  to  a  milder 

climate  ;  Townshend  went  home  ;  and  the  command  at 

Quebec  devolved  on  Brigadier-General  Murray,  with  Colonel 
Burton  as  his  second  in  command.  In  the  early  days  of 

October  the  preparations  for  the  sailing  of  the  fleet  were 

completed.  When,  on  the  loth,  a  portion  of  it  was  ready, 

the  departing  ships  saluted  the  garrison  with  twenty-one 

guns,  return  courtesies  boomed  out  from  the  batteries  on 

the  shore,  and  the  squadron  proceeded  on  its  homeward 

way.  The  other  ships  soon  followed.  A  part  of  the  fleet 
was  to  remain  at  Halifax  under  Lord  Colville  for  the  winter. 

Two  sloops  of  war,  the  Racehorse  and  the  Porcupine,  and 

three  small  armed  vessels  remained  at  Quebec,  puny  evidence 

of  Britain's  might  upon  the  sea.  For  the  time  the  naval 
strength  of  France  on  the  St.  Lawrence  was  greater  than 

that  of  Britain.    The  few  French  frigates,  which  had  reached 
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Canada  in  the  spring  early  enough  to  avoid  the  British 

fleet,  had  gone  up  the  river  beyond  Quebec.  Saunders,  to 

his  great  regret,  had  been  unable  to  reach  them  and  they 

remained  a  source  of  considerable  anxiety  to  the  British. 

It  was  no  doubt  with  many  misgivings  that  Murray  saw 

the  British  ships  disappear  behind  the  Island  of  Orleans. 

Colville  was  to  come  back  at  the  first  possible  moment  in 

the  spring,  but  for  six  months  Murray  would  be  cut  off  from 

succour  by  the  sea.  Between  him  and  any  chance  of  aid 

by  land  from  England's  American  colonies  lay  many  miles 
of  wellnigh  virgin  forest,  the  water  pathways  of  which 

would  soon  be  held  in  the  iron  grasp  of  winter. 

James  Murray,  the  officer  now  left  to  defend  Quebec,  was 

the  fifth  and  youngest  son  of  a  Scottish  peer,  the  fourth 
Lord  Elibank.  The  first  bearer  of  the  title  had  held  to 

Charles  I  during  the  Civil  War  and  the  Scottish  peerage  of 

Elibank  was  his  reward.  A  few  years  later  this  ancestor 

had  been  one  of  the  Scottish  peers  who  opposed  the  sur- 
render of  Charles  by  the  Scots  to  the  English  Parliament. 

The  loyalty  of  the  Murrays  to  the  Stuarts  in  the  seventeenth 

century  was  continued  in  the  eighteenth.  Long  after  the 

defeat  of  the  second  Pretender  the  family  was  supposed  to 

be  tainted  with  Jacobitism,  and  Horace  Walpole  declared 

that  if  a  Stuart  could  have  displaced  George  III  in  England 

the  then  Lord  Elibank  would  have  won  prompt  recognition 

for  services  in  a  second  Restoration.  Perhaps  the  know- 
ledge of  this  suspicion  helped  to  make  James  Murray 

especially  zealous.  The  date  of  his  birth  is  uncertain,  but 

he  was  now  about  forty  years  old.  His  father  had  wished 

him  to  be  an  advocate,  but  he  had  run  away  from  home 

and  had  enlisted  in  the  Scots-Dutch  brigade  in  Holland. 
For  the  time  his  family  lost  sight  of  him.  It  happened, 

however,  a  few  years  later,  that  a  friend  of  the  family,  who 

saw  the  changing  of  the  guard  at  Bergen-op-Zoom,  was 

astonished  when  he  recognized  in  a  smart-looking  young 
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non-commissioned  officer  the  missing  member  of  the  house 

of  Murray.  He  soon  returned  to  England  and  entered  the 

army,  this  time  as  an  officer.  When,  long  after,  he  reached 

the  rank  of  General,  he  was  able  to  say  that  he  had  served 

in  every  degree  in  the  army  but  that  of  drummer.  In  spite 

of  his  own  complaints  to  the  contrary,  he  had  made  a  fairly 

rapid  advance.  Wolfe,  under  whom  he  had  served  as 

a  Brigadier,  was,  however,  his  junior  in  years.  Murray  was 

keen — too  keen  as  the  event  proved — to  win  by  daring 

service  fame  like  that  which  made  Wolfe's  name  for  ever 
glorious. 

In  Murray's  family  there  was  both  wit  and  resolution. 
The  resolution  was  mingled  sometimes  with  the  bravado 

that  gained  for  them  the  nick-name  of  '  The  Windy 

Murrays  '.  James  Murray's  brother  Patrick,  Lord  Elibank, 
transformed,  by  a  fortunate  marriage,  from  a  poor  into 

a  rich  Scottish  peer,  was  among  those  who  welcomed 

Dr.  Johnson  on  his  famous  Scottish  journey.  To  Johnson's 

insolent  note  in  his  dictionary  that  oats  is  '  a  grain,  which 
in  England  is  generally  given  to  horses,  but  in  Scotland 

supports  the  people  ',  Elibank  made  the  well-known  retort  : 

*  And  where  will  you  find  such  men  and  such  horses  ?  ' 
Elibank  moved  in  the  literary  society  of  the  time  at  Edin- 

burgh ;  he  was  the  patron  of  the  historian  Robertson  and 

of  the  poet  Home,  and  was  regarded  as  a  choice  spirit  by 

men  like  David  Hume,  Adam  Smith,  and  Adam  Fergusson. 

Johnson  once  said,  '  I  never  was  in  Lord  Elibank's  company 

without  learning  something  '.  At  the  '  Select  Society  '  in 
Edinburgh  he  met  in  debate  on  equal  terms  the  brilliant 

Charles  Townshend,  brother  of  Townshend,  the  General  who 

commanded  at  Quebec  after  Wolfe's  fall.  Alexander 
Murray,  another  brother,  took  up  the  role  of  a  political 

agitator  and,  having  attacked  the  Government  in  the  spirit 

that,  a  little  later,  made  John  Wilkes  famous,  was  ordered 

in  1751,  by  the  House  of  Commons,  to  kneel  at  the  bar 
D   2 
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to  receive  censure  for  inciting  to  riot  in  London.  He 

answered  defiantly,  '  I  beg  to  be  excused  ;  I  never  kneel 

but  to  God.'  When  the  Speaker  pressed  him,  he  answered 

firmly,  '  Sir,  I  am  sorry  I  cannot  comply  with  your  request. 

I  would  do  anything  else.'  For  his  inflexible  pride  in 
defying  the  House  he  was  committed  to  Newgate,  and, 

though  his  physician  declared  that  the  confinement  im- 
perilled his  life,  he  refused  to  accept  the  partial  release  of 

going  out  in  the  custody  of  the  sergeant-at-arms  ;  his 
brother,  who  had  petitioned  for  his  freedom,  he  declared 

to  be  a  mean  and  paltry  puppy.  Alexander  Murray's  tough 
nature  survived  the  poisonous  air  of  Newgate,  and  when, 

on  the  adjournment  of  the  House,  the  Sheriffs  of  London 

released  him,  he  was  escorted  by  a  great  concourse  of  people 

through  the  streets  under  a  banner  inscribed,  '  Murray  and 

Liberty  '.  The  House  pursued  him  still  and  he  spent  many 
years  in  exile.  Amid  the  heated  passions  of  the  time  such 

an  obstreperous  and  defiant  brother  can  have  done  no  good 

to  the  military  prospects  of  the  commander  at  Quebec. 

James  Murray  was,  however,  well  able  to  take  care  of 

himself.  In  1759  he  was  a  tried  soldier,  who  had  seen 

service  in  Europe,  in  the  West  Indies,  and,  with  distinction, 

in  the  previous  year  at  Louisbourg.  He  was  ardent,  high- 
spirited,  and  fearless  ;  he  had  a  thorough  knowledge  of  the 

art  of  war  and  the  ability  and  good  sense  to  use  his  knowledge 

well.  He  possessed  a  fine  courtesy  of  manner.  The  French 

ofiicers,  his  foes,  thought  him  an  agreeable  companion  ; 

'  although  he  is  our  enemy,  I  am  unable  to  speak  too  well 

of  him,'  wrote  Malartic,  a  French  ofiicer,  to  his  leader  Levis. 
Murray  was  always  paying  gracious  compliments  to  the 

courage  of  his  opponents.  For  the  hardships  of  his  own 

troops  he  showed  a  manly  sympathy,  and  the  Canadians 

found  the  stern  resolution  of  the  soldier  in  harrying  their 

villages  tempered  by  the  humane  regret  of  the  man  who 

felt  for  their  sufferings.     His  '  military  talents,  added  to 
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his  intrepid  courage  and  resolution,  made  him  both  feared 

and  admired  ',  wrote  Johnson,  one  of  his  non-commissioned 
officers.  Murray  was  impatient  of  opposition  and  quick- 

tempered, but  quick  also  to  regret  the  hasty  action  or  words 

of  a  moment  of  anger.  While  an  impulsive  generosity  was 

one  of  his  most  striking  characteristics,  the  thirst  to  emulate 

the  glory  of  Wolfe  was  one  of  his  chief  failings.  There  were 

no  chances  that  he  would  not  take  to  win  fame.  He  pos- 
sessed, says  Lieutenant  Malcolm  Fraser,  one  of  his  officers, 

all  the  military  virtues  except  prudence. 

Murray  tried  to  draw  the  French  into  making  a  truce 

for  the  winter,  but  against  this  they  were  firm.^  To  consent 
to  such  an  agreement,  with  the  British  in  possession  of  the 

strongest  position  in  the  country,  would  have  enabled  this 

enemy  to  draw  support  from  the  inhabitants,  and  would 

have  been  regarded  by  the  world  at  large  as  only  preliminary 

to  final  surrender.  The  defeated  army  hoped,  not  without 

reason,  that  isolation  in  a  hostile  country,  the  rigour  of  the 

coming  winter,  disease,  and  the  absence  of  a  fleet  would  so 

weaken  the  British  as  to  make  their  destruction  possible 

before  reinforcements  should  come  in  the  spring.  The 

French  counted  upon  their  Indian  allies  to  help  make  life 
a  burden  to  the  British.  Some  French  officers  still  had 

high  hopes  of  success.  Letters  sent  to  Quebec  on  the  chance 

that  they  might  in  some  way  be  forwarded  to  France  were 

intercepted  by  Murray,  and  one  evening  at  dinner,  much 

to  the  chagrin  of  a  French  officer  who  was  present,  he  read 

aloud  one  of  these  epistles.  '  Quebec  has  indeed  fallen,'  it 

said,  '  but  we  have  excellent  means  for  retaking  it  this 
winter — the  cold,  the  Canadians,  and  the  Indians.' 

It  seemed  probable  that  if  the  French  campaign  should 

resolve  itself  into  a  siege  of  Quebec  the  fortress  would  fall. 

It  was  in  no  condition  to  withstand  a  vigorous  attack. 

'  Monckton  wrote  to  Pitt  on  October  8,  1759,  that  the  French  wished 
a  truce,  but  this  must  have  been  a  mistake. 
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Wolfe  had,  indeed,  found  to  his  cost  that  Quebec  was  strong 

on  the  side  of  the  river.  To  try  to  scale  the  heights,  in 

face  of  a  defending  force,  was,  as  Major  Mackellar,  the  chief 

of  the  engineer  corps,  had  proved  to  Wolfe,  to  invite 

destruction,  for  the  ascent  of  the  cliff  could  easily  be  so 

guarded  that  probably  not  a  single  assailant  would  escape. 

None  the  less,  Quebec  was  really  weak  ;  but  the  danger 

came  from  the  landward  side.  Long  after,  when  Murray 

had  had  the  experience  of  three  years  in  defending  Quebec, 

he  declared  that  it  was  badly  placed,  that  the  situation 

never  could  be  strong,  and  that  the  attempt  to  make  it 

so  would  cost  an  immense  sum.^ 

A  high  ridge  on  the  adjacent  Plains  of  Abraham  swept 

the  whole  line  of  defence.  A  thin  wall,  built  for  protection 

against  attack  by  Indians,  stretched  inward  from  Cape 

Diamond,  the  cliff  overlooking  the  St.  Lawrence,  to  the 

suburb  of  St.  Roch.  This  wall,  as  we  have  seen,  was 

too  weak  to  withstand  a  vigorous  cannonade.  Already 

there  were  many  breaches  in  the  feeble  defences.  Mont- 

calm had  preferred  to  fight  in  front  of  rather  than  behind 

the  walls.  Murray  now  repaired  the  breaches,  opened 

embrasures,  and  mounted  some  guns.  His  men  were  soon 

busy  erecting  a  row  of  block-houses  at  the  distance  of 

a  musket-shot  outside  the  walls,  both  to  keep  an  enemy 
from  occupying  the  high  ground  which  commanded  them 

and  to  prevent  surprise.  But  Murray  had  no  confidence  in 

these  defences  except  as  against  light  field  artillery  and 

musketry.  Major  Mackellar  indeed  advised  him  to  throw 

up  entrenchments  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham  and  to  trust 
to  them  rather  than  to  the  walls  until  reinforcements  should 

arrive  in  the  spring.  It  was  Murray's  fixed  resolve,  if  a 
French  force  should  attack  Quebec,  to  carry  out  this  policy, 

and  not  to  stay  behind  the  walls.  Nothing  could  indicate 

more  clearly  his  conviction  that  Quebec  was  really  weak. 

^  Murray's  Report,  1762,  printed  in  Authorities,  No.  5. 



WINTER  OF  1759-60  55 

When  the  British  were  once  securely  in  Quebec  the 

Canadians  accepted  the  inevitable  with  cheerfulness.  On 

September  21,  in  obedience  to  a  military  order,  the 
farmers  and  other  inhabitants  within  a  radius  of  nine  miles 

of  the  fortress  flocked  to  the  town  to  take  an  oath  to  be 

faithful  to  King  George,  and  not  to  arm  against  him  or  to 

be  a  party  to  anything  that  might  injure  him.  On  the  next 

day,  September  22,  Murray  issued  a  manifesto  telling  the 
inhabitants  that  the  British  had  come  not  to  ruin  them 

but  to  give  them  mild  and  just  government.  They  should 

be  secure,  he  promised,  in  their  property  and  in  the  exercise 

of  their  religion.  As  far  as  possible  he  disarmed  the  inhabi- 
tants of  the  parishes.  So  docile  were  they  that  they  seemed 

to  him  pleased  with  the  change  of  rulers.  Levis  wrote  in 

his  journal  with  a  touch  of  bitterness  :  '  The  inhabitants 
of  the  Government  of  Quebec  appear  to  accommodate  them- 

selves to  the  English.'  Murray  reported  on  January  30, 
1760,  that  six  thousand  Canadians  had  taken  the  oath  of 

fidelity  and  brought  in  their  arms.  As  there  were  only 

about  sixty  or  seventy  thousand  Canadians  of  all  ages  and 

of  both  sexes  in  the  country,  these  six  thousand  must  have 

included  nearly  the  whole  adult  male  population  in  the 

district  of  Quebec.  Murray  employed  some  of  them  with 

their  horses  and  sleighs  to  bring  in  wood  ;  others  he  employed 

as  artificers.     All  were  paid  for  their  work. 

Though  some  of  the  Canadians  near  Quebec  were  in 

a  half-starving  condition,  they  still  had  fresh  vegetables  ; 
the  English,  on  the  other  hand,  had  an  abundance  of 

biscuit  and  of  salt  meat ;  and  exchanges  were  effected 

with  mutual  advantage.  The  British  soldiers  were  soon  on 

friendly  terms  with  the  habitants,  and  shared  their  pro- 
visions and  even  their  slender  allowance  of  rum  with  their 

new  friends.  It  was  the  season  of  the  harvest,  and  Captain 

Knox  writes  that  on  one  day  he  saw  more  than  twenty 

soldiers  assisting  the  French  in  the  labours  of  the  harvest- 
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field  near  Quebec.  The  work  was  done  with  no  thought  of 

reward  ;  when  asked  what  pay  was  expected,  one  of  the 

soldiers  said  :  '  It  would  be  rank  murder  to  take  anything 

from  the  poor  devils,  for  they  have  lost  enough  already.' 
This  pitying  attitude  softened  the  asperities  of  war.  As 

a  military  measure  the  British  had  ruthlessly  destroyed 

houses  and  villages  in  the  territory  which  they  held  ;  and, 

not  without  reason,  the  Canadians  had  been  taught  to  look 

upon  them  as  barbarians.  Now  they  found  generous  traits 
in  the  new-comers  who  were  to  remain  the  masters  of 
Canada. 

All  the  British  soldiers,  it  is  true,  were  not  conspicuous 

for  humanity  and  generosity.  On  the  day  of  the  surrender 

of  Quebec  reports  of  outrages  on  the  Canadians  reached 

Townshend.  He  promptly  offered  a  reward  of  five  guineas 

for  the  discovery  of  the  offenders.  A  few  days  later,  when 

some  women  at  the  Point  of  Levy  complained  of  robbery 

and  outrage  by  soldiers  encamped  there,  the  several  detach- 
ments were  paraded  that  the  women  might  identify  the 

offenders.  They  declared  that  it  was  not  those  wearing 

the  ordinary  military  dress,  but  les  gens  sans  culottes  who 

were  guilty.  This  pointed  to  the  Highlanders,  and  the 

offenders  were  promptly  detected  and  punished.  The 

incident  was  unusual  ;  during  the  operations  in  Canada 

the  Highlanders  had  been  remarkable  for  humanity  and 

steadiness.  Their  strange  appearance  and  dress,  however, 

frightened  the  French,  who  nicknamed  them  les  sauvages 

d'J^cosse — the  Scotch  savages. 
Murray  soon  found  that  to  make  an  effective  defence  he 

must  do  more  than  hold  Quebec.  To  ensure  the  health  of 

his  troops  he  required  access  to  the  supplies  of  fresh  pro- 
visions in  the  neighbouring  villages.  Moreover,  a  large 

quantity  of  fire-wood  would  be  necessary  during  the  winter 
and,  in  consequence,  the  British  must  control  some  areas 

of  forest.     Above  all,  the  Canadians  and  also  the  Indians 
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must  be  kept  as  far  from  Quebec  as  possible,  for  they  were 

dangerous  neighbours.  When  the  British  first  occupied  the 

town  the  French  sent  in  hostile  scouting  parties,  which 

made  the  roads  unsafe.  Bands  of  savages,  disguised  some- 
times as  wild  animals,  came  up  almost  to  the  walls,  and 

committed  numerous  outrages.  To  ensure  safety  the  British 

found  it  necessary  to  occupy  all  the  approaches  to  Quebec. 

Murray  planned,  indeed,  to  extend  his  outposts  so  as  to 

keep  the  French  army  beyond  the  River  Jacques  Cartier. 

He  was  forced,  however,  to  adopt  a  course  less  ambitious, 

and  to  place  his  farthest  outpost  at  Lorette,  not  on  the 

plateau  but  in  the  valley,  some  eight  miles  to  the  west. 

There  he  fortified  the  church,  and  by  holding  this  place  he 

cut  off  the  enemy  from  the  most  important  road  to  Quebec, 

the  one  which  led  through  Charlesbourg.  The  church  at 

Ste  Foy,  on  the  plateau  some  five  miles  from  Quebec,  and 

commanding  a  more  southerly  road  from  the  west,  he  also 

fortified.  At  both  Lorette  and  Ste  Foy  he  stationed  field- 
pieces,  and  he  surrounded  the  positions  with  entrenchments 

and  stout  picket-work.  He  held  himself  ready  also  to 

place  a  force  at  Cap  Rouge.  These  posts  meant  the  control 

of  the  parishes  in  the  immediate  neighbourhood  of  Quebec, 

and  he  provided  for  the  administration  of  justice  in  these 

parishes  by  appointing  a  Canadian  magistrate. 
It  was  desirable  also  to  control  the  south  side  of  the 

St.  Lawrence.  For  some  time  Murray  was  unable  to  throw 

a  force  across  the  river  ;  on  November  30,  however,  he  sent 

one  Captain  Leslie,  with  a  detachment  of  two  hundred  men 
to  disarm  the  inhabitants.  Not  until  three  weeks  later,  on 

Christmas  Day,  did  Captain  Leslie  return.  Then  he  reported 

that  every  officer  and  soldier  in  his  party  had  been  frost- 
bitten. Though  he  had  achieved  less  than  he  had  hoped, 

he  had  disarmed  the  inhabitants  in  a  considerable  area  and 

had  taken  from  them  an  oath  of  fidelity.  Murray,  in 

summing  up  his  work  in  the  last  days  of  1759,  could  say 
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that  the  sway  of  George  II  was  recognized  everywhere 
eastward  of  Cap  Rouge  on  the  northern  bank  of  the 
St.  Lawrence  and  eastward  of  the  River  Chaudiere  on  the 
southern  bank. 

The  British  complained  bitterly  that  the  French  did  not 

play  the  game  of  war  as  it  was  played  in  Europe.  The 

savage  allies  of  the  French  insisted  on  fighting  in  their  own 

way.  Should  a  soldier  be  missing  it  was  as  likely  as  not 

that  his  body  would  be  found  outside  the  walls,  scalped  and 

mutilated.  The  Indians,  indeed,  scalped  not  only  the  dead 

but  the  wounded.  Similar  outrages  there  had  been  in  the 

course  of  the  war  on  the  British  side.  Malcolm  Eraser, 

a  Highland  officer,  describes  his  horror  at  the  brutal  savagery 

of  the  Colonial  Rangers.  But  these  methods  were  firmly 

checked  by  the  leaders  when  present.  Generals  like  Amherst 

restrained  sternly  their  Indian  allies,  always  restlessly  eager 
for  massacre  and  scalps.  Without  doubt  the  Erench  leaders, 

though  they  disliked  the  methods  of  the  Indians,  had  shown, 

in  this  respect,  less  strength  than  the  British.  They  had, 

it  is  true,  urged  moderation  on  the  savages,  and  to  save 

prisoners  from  torture  they  had  sometimes  paid  ransoms 

to  their  Indian  captors.  They  did  not,  however — perhaps 

they  dared  not  with  their  weaker  forces — punish,  as  Amherst 
punished,  those  who  were  guilty  of  outrage. 

Now  the  outrages  were  nearly  all  on  the  Erench  side,  and 

the  belief  sank  deeply  into  the  hearts  of  the  British  forces 

that  it  was  a  regular  Erench  practice  to  permit  Indians  to 

scalp  and  murder  the  wounded  left  on  the  battle-field.  It 

was  stated  and  believed  that  even  Montcalm,  after  enter- 

taining a  British  officer  at  his  table,  had  then  permitted 

the  savages  to  torture  him.  The  Canadians,  it  was  said, 

were  now  told  to  make  no  prisoners,  but  to  bring  in  scalps 
as  trophies  of  their  prowess  and  to  receive  a  handsome 

reward.  Levis  was  not  chiefly  blamed  for  this  conduct. 

He  was  looked  upon  as  an  honourable  soldier.     It  was 
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against  Vaudreuil  that  the  rage  of  the  British  turned.  He 
told  the  Canadians  that  the  British  did  not  keep  faith  and 

that,  in  turn,  no  promises  made  to  them  were  binding  ; 

thus,  he  said,  the  inhabitants  might  ignore  the  solemn  oath 

of  neutrality  which  they  had  given  to  the  British  victor. 

'  It  is  impossible  to  describe  the  impression  which  the  English 
have  of  M.  de  Vaudreuil  or  of  the  council  which  controls 

him,'  Bernier,  the  French  commissary,  sent  to  Quebec  after 

the  surrender,  reported  to  Levis  ;  '  prudence  and  modesty 
forbid  my  repeating  what  they  say.  They  consider  him  as 

blood-thirsty,  deceitful,  a  wanton  liar,  who  wishes  the  ruin 

of  the  country.'  Many  horrors  attributed  to  Vaudreuil 
were  described  in  England — a  country,  says  Bernier, 

*  where  everything  is  printed  '  {dans  un  pays  oil  tout  s'im- 
frime) — and  made  a  great  impression.  Horace  Walpole 

echoes  the  general  sentiment  :  '  Had  he  fallen  into  our 
hands  our  men  were  determined  to  scalp  him,  he  having 
been  the  chief  and  blackest  author  of  the  cruelties  exercised 

on  our  countrymen.'  Though  happily  this  stern  vengeance 
found  no  place,  the  time  was  to  come  when,  on  account 

of  such  practices,  a  deep  humiliation  should  be  exacted 

from  the  defeated  French  army. 

Since  the  French  had  a  few  frigates  and  other  ships  in 

the  river  above  Quebec,  the  British  were  always  on  the 

watch  lest  these  should  pass  down  and  get  away  to  France. 

It  was,  indeed,  vital  to  the  French  that  they  should  escape, 

for  only  by  them  could  Vaudreuil  send  home  a  statement 

of  his  needs  and  a  request  for  prompt  help  in  the  early 

spring.  On  November  22  the  French  fleet  dropped  down 

the  river  and  anchored  above  Quebec  off  Sillery.  Voices 
of  those  on  board  reached  the  shore  and  the  British  were 

convinced  from  the  continual  chattering  that  the  ships 

were  crowded  with  families  returning  to  France.  The 

intention  of  the  French  was  to  pass  Quebec  that  night 
when  it  was  dark.     The  wind,  however,  failed  them,  and 
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when  the  British  opened  fire  the  French  ships  retired  out 

of  range.  A  day  or  two  later  they  had  better  luck.  On 

a  very  dark  night  and  with  a  fresh  and  favourable  wind 

they  repeated  the  attempt  to  get  away.  The  British  gunners 

fired  a  vast  quantity  of  shot  and  shell  at  the  passing  ships, 

silent  and  dim  in  the  gloom.  The  fire  was  not  entirely 

effective.  Some  of  the  ships  sailed  past  and  continued  their 

voyage.  It  was  found,  however,  when  morning  broke,  that, 

owing  less  to  the  British  fire  than  to  bad  seamanship,  five  of 

the  ships  had  run  aground.  Four  were  set  on  fire  by  their 

crews  ;  one  lay  stranded  and  abandoned  on  the  south  shore. 

A  tragedy  followed.  Without  Murray's  knowledge  Captain 
Miller  of  the  sloop  Racehorse,  left  at  Quebec  for  the  winter, 

went  in  a  schooner  to  survey  the  wrecks.  Accompanied 

by  a  lieutenant  and  thirty  or  forty  men  he  boarded  the 

stranded  ship  lying  near  the  mouth  of  the  River  Etchemin. 

The  French,  whether  by  accident  or  design,  had  left  powder 

lying  about  loose.  Unhappily  some  one  lighted  a  fire  and 

there  was  a  terrible  explosion.  Most  of  the  British  were 

killed  outright  ;  those  not  killed  were  left  so  deplorably 

injured  that  no  one  of  them  could  help  the  others.  The 

schooner  in  which  they  had  crossed  the  river  was  soon 

boarded  by  crews  which  had  escaped  from  the  French 

ships  and  it  was  taken  after  a  sharp  fight.  The  victors 

hurried  away  ;  but,  a  little  later,  a  Canadian  ventured  to 

board  the  stranded  ship  in  search  of  plunder.  To  his  horror 

he  found  many  dead  bodies  ;  he  also  found  Captain  Miller, 

the  lieutenant,  and  two  seamen  still  alive  but  dreadfully 

burned  and  in  great  agony.  He  cared  for  them  as  best  he 

could  and  in  the  end  they  were  taken  for  treatment  to  the 

Ursuline  Convent  at  Quebec.  To  the  great  grief  of  the 

garrison,  Miller  and  the  lieutenant  died  within  a  few  days 

and  Murray  had  to  deplore  the  useless  loss  of  brave  men. 

The  ship-carpenters  taken  prisoners  in  the  schooner  by  the 

French   could    be    ill-spared.      Murray   was   building    flat- 
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bottomed  boats  for  the  river  campaign  of  the  coming 

summer  and  was  sorely  in  need  of  men  skilled  to  do  this 
work. 

When  it  was  evident  that  Quebec  must  be  prepared  to 

stand  a  siege,  Murray  gave  permission  to  the  French  inhabi- 
tants to  withdraw  if  they  wished  to  do  so.  The  cost  of 

living  in  a  besieged  city  would  be  great,  he  pointed  out, 

and  he  asked  those  to  go  away  who  had  riot  adequate  means. 

Many  families,  even  the  Bishop  of  Quebec  himself,  removed 

to  Montreal.  Some  of  the  inhabitants  went  only  as  far  as 

Three  Rivers  or  to  neighbouring  villages,  while  still  others 

departed  to  live  in  the  woods  in  Indian  style.  Those, 

however,  who  wished  to  do  so  had  the  right  under  the 

capitulation  to  remain  in  their  own  houses,  and  this  a  good 

many  of  the  obscurer  sort  did.  The  English  found  that 

these  humble  people  did  not  hesitate  to  call  down  male- 
dictions upon  Vaudreuil  for  their  misfortunes.  The  women 

were  specially  vehement  ;  their  bitter  invectives  involved 

the  wish  '  that  he  may  be  brought  to  as  miserable  and 
barbarous  an  exit  as  ever  a  European  suffered  under 

savages  '.  When  Captain  Knox  heard  these  imprecations 
he  slyly  suggested  that  they  should  ask  for  an  exit  as 

barbarous  '  as  ever  an  Englishman  suffered  under  savages 

by  his  orders  '.  The  revilers  of  Vaudreuil  assented  to  this, 
though  in  calmer  moments  they  would  deny  that  any  of 

the  French  leaders  had  approved  of  such  outrages.  This 

was  not  true.  At  this  very  time  Vaudreuil  was  inciting 

the  savages  to  commit  outrages  on  the  Canadians  who 

accepted  British  rule.  At  last,  in  November,  Murray  issued 

a  proclamation  denouncing  the  Governor's  conduct  and  in 
turn  menacing  the  Canadians  with  all  the  rigours  that  the 

rules  of  war  would  allow,  if  they  should  prove  unfaithful 

to  their  new  oath  of  allegiance. 

Over  the  French  who  remained  in  Quebec  Murray  estab- 

lished a  '  stern  but  just '  rule.     They  were  guaranteed,  for 



62  QUEBEC  DURING  THE 

the  time  being,  the  full  rights  of  their  religion.  During 

the  winter,  multitudes  thronged  to  the  Ursuline  Chapel,  and 

Captain  Knox  describes  how  he  was  '  agreeably  entertained  ' 
at  this  chapel  by  high  mass  celebrated  with  great  pomp  of 

vestments.  But  his  Protestant  soul  was  vexed  by  another 

ceremony  and  one  that  it  is  not  now  easy  to  identify. 

*  I  cannot  omit ',  he  writes  in  December,  '  taking  notice  of 
an  incident  that  happened  here  yesterday.  Passing  in  the 

evening  through  one  of  the  streets,  before  it  was  dark,  I  met 

a  crowd  of  French  people,  of  both  sexes,  with  staves  and 

lanthorns,  and  seemingly  in  great  haste  ;  upon  inquiry 

I  found  that  it  was  one  of  the  Popish  ceremonies.  These 

deluded  creatures  were  going  in  quest  of  Barrabbas,  the 

robber,  who  was  released  at  the  crucifixion  of  the  Saviour 

of  the  world  ;  and,  having,  after  a  long  search,  discovered 

a  man  who  was  to  personate  him,  being  concealed  for  that 

purpose,  they  bound  him  like  a  thief,  and  whipped  him 

before  them,  with  shouts  and  menaces,  until  they  arrived 

at  one  of  their  churches,  where  it  was  pretended  he  was 

to  suffer  as  Christ  did,  in  commemoration  of  His  passion.' 
In  spite  of  Protestant  critics  like  Knox,  Murray  ordered 

that  '  the  compliment  of  the  hat  '  should  be  paid  by  the 
officers  to  religious  processions  as  they  passed  through  the 

streets  ;  any  one  whose  conscience  would  be  compromised 

by  such  recognition  was  asked  to  go  out  of  his  way  to  avoid 

meeting  processions.  Some  of  the  corner  houses  in  Quebec 

had  niches  in  the  walls,  with  statues,  as  large  as  life,  of 

St.  Joseph,  Ste  Ursule,  and  other  saints.  From  the  first 

days  of  the  occupation  any  injury  to  such  property  was 

strictly  forbidden  and  plundering  was  to  meet  with  the 

penalty  of  death.  Though  religious  gatherings  were  per- 
mitted, all  other  meetings  were  forbidden.  Lights  in  the 

houses  must  be  put  out  at  ten.  The  inhabitants  must  give 

up  their  arms.  They  must  report  promptly  to  the  authorities 

any  persons  newly  arrived  whom  they  sheltered.     If  they 
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went  out  after  dark  they  must  carry  lanterns  to  show  that 

their  errand  was  legitimate  and  that  they  were  not  trying 

to  conceal  it.  British  soldiers  might  not  intermarry  with 

the  French  or  work  for  them.  On  penalty  of  death  the 

Canadians  might  not,  unknown  to  Murray,  enter  into  corre- 
spondence with  people  of  the  adjoining  country.  It  is 

necessary  to  add  that,  in  spite  of  such  precautions,  the 

French  leaders  at  Montreal  were  kept  well  informed  as  to 

what  was  happening  at  Quebec. 

Murray  enforced  his  regulations  with  considerable  rigour. 

For  being  out  after  dark  without  a  lantern  two  citizens  of 

Quebec  were  flogged.  When  a  former  inhabitant  of  the 

city  arrived  from  Montreal  and  did  not  at  once  report  his 

coming  to  the  Governor,  both  he  and  the  friend  in  whose 

house  he  was  concealed  were  thrown  into  prison.  A  promi- 
nent citizen,  accused  of  corresponding  with  the  enemy,  was 

arrested,  confronted  with  two  intercepted  letters  directed 

to  him,  and  threatened  that  if  he  did  not  confess  he  should 
receive  a  hundred  lashes  and  be  drummed  out  of  the  town 

with  a  halter  round  his  neck.  The  man  protested  his 

innocence  so  earnestly  that  punishment  was  postponed. 
Then  it  was  found  that  he  was  the  victim  of  a  malicious 

trick.  It  had  become  known  that  he  had  taken  the  oath 

of  fidelity  to  the  sovereign  of  Great  Britain  and,  in  resent- 
ment at  this  desertion  of  the  French  cause,  a  former  business 

partner  had  sent  the  letters  from  Montreal,  knowing  that 

they  would  fall  into  the  hands  of  the  British.  In  November 
a  similar  outburst  of  resentment  overtook  a  Canadian 

who  was  bringing  provisions  from  the  Point  of  Levy  to 

Quebec.  Some  French  light  horse  seized  and  plundered 

him,  beat  him  inhumanly,  wounded  him  with  their  sabres, 

and  then  sent  him  over  to  Quebec  with  the  message  :  *  Now 
go  and  tell  your  fine  English  Governor  how  we  have  treated 

you,  and  we  hope  soon  to  serve  him,  and  his  valiant  troops, 

in  the  same  manner.' 
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It  was  of  the  priests  and  especially  of  the  Jesuits  that 

the  British  were  the  most  suspicious.  We  know,  indeed, 

that  the  French  army  counted  upon  these  allies  for  help 

against  Quebec. ^  Murray  learned  that  some  priests,  taking 
advantage  of  the  hardships  endured  by  his  soldiers,  had 
incited  them  to  discontent  and  desertion.  He  banished 

a  priest  whom  he  found  in  the  act  of  giving  what  may  well 

have  been  innocent  instruction  to  some  of  his  men  laid  up 

in  hospital.  A  soldier  who  had  been  condemned  to  death 

for  desertion  Murray  pardoned,  when  it  became  known  that 

the  man  had  been  incited  by  a  priest  to  commit  the  offence. 

At  first  Murray  had  left  to  the  Jesuits,  now  few  in  number, 

a  part  of  their  fine  building,  taking  the  rest  as  a  depot  for 

provisions.  Everywhere  at  that  time  Jesuits  were  under 

a  cloud  of  suspicion,  a  state  of  opinion  that  led  a  few  years 

later  to  the  abolition  of  the  order  by  the  Pope.  Rumours 

of  intrigue  by  the  Jesuits  reached  Murray.  He  welcomed 
this  excuse,  since  he  wished  to  use  the  remainder  of  their 

building,  and  on  October  26  he  gave  them  notice  that  they 

must  leave  Quebec  as  soon  as  possible.  Shortly  after  this 

a  barrel  of  gunpowder  and  a  cask  of  15,000  cartridges  were 

found  to  have  been  '  artfully  concealed  '  by  a  Jesuit's  valet. 
He  and  his  master  were  arrested  and  confined  separately. 

When  the  valet  admitted  his  guilt,  the  Jesuit  pleaded  that 

his  servant  was  an  idiot  whose  testimony  should  not  be 
heeded.  To  this  the  retort  was  that  it  would  have  been 

an  act  of  folly  if  the  powder  had  been  concealed  a  little 

earlier  when  the  weather  was  so  damp  as  to  destroy  it,  but 
that  the  offender  had  waited  until  there  had  been  a  hard 

frost ;  and,  in  short,  '  if  the  fellow  is  an  idiot  his  abettors 

and  accomplices  are  no  fools.'  Murray  turned  the  Jesuits 
out  of  their  building,  in  spite  of  murmurs  from  some  of  the 

inhabitants,  who  claimed  that  to  dispossess  the  Jesuits  of 

their  property  was  to  violate  the  conditions  of  surrender. 
1  Levis  MSS.,  x. 
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A  few  of  the  priests  and  Jesuits  most  suspected  Murray 

kept  in  confinement.  Naturally  some  of  the  suspicions 

proved  unjust.  Captain  Knox  was  sent  to  arrest  a  suspected 

priest.  He  writes  :  '  I  found  him  in  his  house,  and  arrested 
him  in  the  name  of  his  Britannic  Majesty  ;  the  poor  old 

man  was  greatly  terrified,  and  entreated  me  earnestly  to 

tell  him  his  crime  :  but  I  made  no  other  delay  than  to 

post  a  centinel,  whom  I  had  taken  with  me,  in  the 

apartment  with  this  ancient  father.'  It  turned  out  that 
the  priest  had  been  quite  guiltless  of  what  was  suspected. 

Among  his  own  people  Murray  had  difficult  problems  of 

government.  The  British  private  soldier  of  the  time  was, 

in  any  case,  too  often  ignorant,  degraded,  and  drunken. 

The  recent  desolation  of  the  surrounding  country  had 

involved  a  kind  of  plundering  warfare  which  had  debauched 

the  soldiers  and,  at  first,  great  rigour  was  necessary  to 

restore  good  habits.  There  was  much  theft,  robbery,  and 

desertion,  the  last  offence  being  caused,  no  doubt,  by  the 

desire  to  escape  from  possible  punishment  for  the  other 
crimes.  To  check  this  the  sentence  of  death  was  often 

passed.  On  October  28  a  soldier  was  shot  on  the  Grand 

Parade  for  desertion.  A  fortnight  later  a  soldier  of  the 

48th  regiment  was  executed  for  robbing  a  Quebec  citizen. 

At  the  same  time  an  inhabitant,  formerly  a  drummer  in 

the  French  service,  who  was  caught  in  the  act  of  enticing 

some  soldiers  of  the  Royal  American  regiment  to  desert, 

was  hanged.  When,  at  another  time,  a  court  martial  con- 
demned two  men  to  death  for  robbery,  Murray  decided 

that  the  death  of  one  would  suffice  to  teach  the  needed 

lesson  and  ordered  lots  to  be  cast  as  to  which  should  die. 

We  can  picture  the  torrent  of  emotions  linked  with  such 
a  cast,  but  the  man  who  made  the  fortunate  throw  showed 

outwardly  no  satisfaction,  while,  says  Captain  Knox,  '  the 
other  poor  fellow  was  instantly  executed,  and  behaved  quite 

undaunted,  though  with  great  decency.'    With  similar  vigour 
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Murray  checked  the  vice  of  drunkenness.  He  ordered  that 

no  liquor  should  be  sold,  so  that  the  men  might  have  only 

the  allowance  served  out  regularly.  Then,  any  soldier  found 

drunk  was  to  receive  twenty  lashes  a  day  until  he  should 

tell  where  he  had  secured  the  liquor  and  his  allowance  of 

rum  was  to  be  stopped  for  six  weeks.  Others  than  soldiers 

met  with  similar  severity.  More  than  once  women  were 

whipped  through  the  streets  for  the  offence  of  selling  rum. 

In  the  Orders  of  the  day  we  get  an  excellent  picture  of 

the  military  discipline  of  the  time,  and  it  commands  admira- 
tion for  its  efficiency.  As  so  often  in  the  subsequent  history 

of  the  army,  some  of  the  younger  officers  were  prone  to 

a  contented  ignorance  in  regard  to  their  duty.  Men  of  this 

type  Murray  took  sharply  to  task.  He  ruled  with  something 

like  iron  rigour.  The  sentences  of  a  single  court  martial 

show  how  stern  was  the  discipline  enforced.  '  One  soldier 
was  sentenced  to  receive  a  thousand  lashes,  for  absenting 

his  duty  [sic],  and  using  expressions  tending  to  excite 

mutiny  and  desertion.  A  second,  for  being  disguised,  with 

an  intention  to  desert,  and  being  out  of  his  quarters  at  an 

undue  time  of  night, — to  receive  three  hundred.  A  third, 
for  an  intention  to  desert, — one  thousand.  And  a  fourth, 

for  desertion,  and  endeavouring  to  inveigle  others  to  desert, 

— to  suffer  death.' 
In  spite  of  occasional  blackguardism  the  spirit  of  the  men 

was  excellent.  For  the  most  part  they  were  cheerful  and 

ready  for  hard  service.  They  were  always  quick  to  volunteer 

for  any  difficult  duty  and  in  this  respect  were  better  than 
their  officers  ;  in  November,  when  officers  and  men  were 

invited  to  volunteer  for  a  special  scouting  service,  no  officer 

came  forward  though  the  men  were  ready.  Officers  and 

men,  alike,  however,  were  prepared  for  any  service  to  which 

they  were  ordered.  The  tasks  before  the  defenders  of 

Quebec  were  heavy.  They  had  to  repair  a  great  number 

of  houses  within  the  walls,  to  build  the  line  of  block-houses 
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as  outer  defences  of  the  walls,  to  strengthen  the  walls 

themselves,  to  open  embrasures,  to  drag  cannon  into  posi- 
tion, to  store  away  an  inconceivable  quantity  of  ammunition, 

to  cut  and  put  into  magazines  thousands  of  fascines,  and  to 

perform  a  hundred  other  exhausting  labours.  In  their  tasks 
the  men  took  the  cheery  humorous  view  of  life  that  has 

helped  to  carry  the  British  arms  through  so  many  crises. 

'  Their  daily  allowance  of  rum ',  writes  Captain  Knox,  '  con- 
tributes not  a  little  to  exhilarate  them  under  their  present 

harrowing  circumstances.'  For  the  hardships  of  even  the 
lower  animals  they  showed  sympathy.  The  Canadians  used 

dogs  as  beasts  of  burden  to  haul  wood  and  water,  and  these 

beasts  sometimes  dragged  great  loads  on  the  light  sleighs 

to  which  they  were  harnessed.  One  day  a  band  of  soldiers, 

straining  in  the  street  at  their  own  load  of  wood,  met 

a  peasant  and  two  dogs  dragging  a  similar  burden.  The 

men  instantly  hailed  the  dogs  as  fellow-workers,  called  them 

comrade  and  yoke-mate,  and  invited  both  the  man  and  his 
animals  to  share  their  scanty  meal.  When  Murray  heard 

the  story  '  he  expressed  himself  like  a  tender  parent  towards 
his  brave  soldiers  for  their  immense  yet  unavoidable  hard- 

ships '  and  laughed  at  the  humour  with  which  they  bore 
the  stern  exigencies  of  war. 

The  effect  of  this  spirit  was  that  every  soldier  tried  to 

outdo  his  fellows  in  zeal.  Murray  had  no  money  with 

which  to  pay  them,  for  the  Hunter  sloop  of  war,  sent  from 

Halifax  with  £20,000  on  board,  had  set  out  too  late  in  the 

season  to  reach  Quebec  and  had  turned  back.  The  result 

was  that  the  pay  of  the  troops  remained  in  arrears  from 

October  24,  1759.  Murray  declined  to  issue  a  paper  currency 
and  he  forbade  the  circulation  of  the  discredited  French 

paper  money  with  which  the  Canadians,  to  their  sorrow, 

were  so  familiar.  The  officers  of  the  fleet,  before  going 

away,  had  collected  £4,000,  which  they  lent  to  the  army. 

When  this  supply  was  exhausted,  Murray  issued  his  own 
E  2 
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and  Colonel  Burton's  notes  at  six  months  for  £8,000  and 
asked  the  garrison  to  volunteer  advances  of  cash  on  the 

security  thus  offered.  The  sum  was  promptly  made  up, 

the  sober  and  frugal  men  of  Eraser's  Highlanders  con- 
tributing no  less  than  ;£2,ooo.  Murray  complains  of  the 

'  villainy  '  of  the  English  traders  who,  unlike  the  soldiers, 
hoarded  all  the  specie  paid  in  to  them. 

In  Quebec  were  three  communities  of  women,  the  Ursu- 
line  Nuns,  devoted  chiefly  to  education,  the  Nuns  of  the 

General  Hospital,  whose  special  task  was  the  care  of  the 

old  and  the  indigent,  and  the  Nuns  of  the  Hotel  Dieu, 

whose  work  was  to  nurse  the  sick.  For  these  nuns,  helpless 

women  as  they  were,  the  conquerors  showed  every  con- 
sideration. It  was  necessary  to  use  their  extensive  houses 

as  hospitals,  and,  in  consequence,  they  themselves  were 

huddled  into  rather  narrow  quarters.  The  Ursuline  Nuns 

were  obliged  to  give  up  two  of  the  three  floors  of  their  fine 

building  to  wounded  officers  and  soldiers.  In  the  wing  of 

the  Holy  Family,  Murray  held  meetings  of  his  council ; 

even  the  chapel,  as  we  have  seen,  was  used  twice  a  week 

for  Protestant  services.  The  nuns  lived  in  the  top  flat  and 

were  carefully  protected.  The  British  repaired  their  build- 
ing, which  had  suffered  during  the  siege.  A  sentry  stood 

night  and  day  before  the  door  of  the  convent  ;  the  nuns 

drew  daily  supplies  from  the  commissariat  department 

established  in  the  neighbouring  Jesuits'  College  ;  and  con- 
valescent soldiers  cut  wood,  carried  water,  and  cleared  the 

paths  of  snow  for  them. 
In  return  for  this  special  protection  the  ladies  were 

unsparing  of  courtesies  to  the  British.  They  furnished 

delicacies  for  the  wounded.  Even  in  those  troubled  days 

they  found  leisure  for  fine  needlework,  and  on  St.  Andrew's 

Day,  in  compliment  to  Murray's  Scottish  nationality,  they 
presented  to  him  and  some  other  officers  a  set  of  crosses 

of  St.  Andrew  curiously  worked  :    '  In  a  corner  of  the  field 
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of  each  cross  was  wrought  an  emblematical  heart  expressive 

of  that  attachment  and  affection  which  every  good  man 

naturally  bears  to  his  native  country.'  For  Scots  of  humbler 
rank  the  kind-hearted  nuns  were  not  less  solicitous.  The 

bare  legs  of  the  men  in  kilts  aroused  their  special  com- 
passion in  the  severe  weather,  and  they  worked  long  woollen 

hose  '  to  cover  the  limbs  of  the  poor  strangers  '.  Murray 
marked  the  doors  in  the  Ursuline  Convent  beyond  which 

no  soldier  might  pass.  From  their  quarters  in  the  top  flat 

the  nuns  descended  at  regular  intervals  for  prayers  in  the 

chapel,  where,  as  a  cloistered  community,  they  were  strictly 

guarded  from  intrusion.  But  one  evening  a  sister  descending 

to  ring  the  angelus  bell  saw  a  soldier  in  the  chapel.  She 

cried  out,  the  sentry  came  running  in  to  seek  the  cause  of 

the  noise,  and  the  man  was  seized.  He  protested  that  he 

had  wished  only  to  see  the  procession  of  nuns  file  past  to 

their  prayers,  but  he  was  haled  before  a  court  martial  which 

pronounced  a  heavy  sentence.  Then  the  venerable  mother- 

superior,  now  seventy-five  years  old,  wrote  a  touching  letter 
to  Murray,  asking  pardon  for  the  offender,  and  the  general 

could  not  refuse  the  humane  request. 

Since  Wolfe's  victory  the  General  Hospital  at  Quebec, 
lying  outside  the  walls  across  the  meadows  near  the  bank 

of  the  St.  Charles  River,  had  been  a  centre  of  great  interest 

for  the  victors.  At  its  head  was  Madame  Sainte-Claude, 
the  sister  of  Ramezay,  the  last  French  defender  of  Quebec. 
Before  the  surrender  of  the  fortress  the  convents  in  the  town 

had  found  their  position  dangerous  from  the  incessant  bom- 
bardment and,  in  the  end,  their  inmates  had  decided  to 

take  refuge  in  the  General  Hospital,  which  lay  beyond  the 

range  of  the  British  fire.  Here  they  proved  of  great  service 

in  helping  to  nurse  the  sick.  It  was  the  mother-superior 
of  the  Hotel  Dieu  and  her  nuns  who  had  first  wended  their 

way  to  this  refuge.  The  next  day  the  nuns  of  the  Ursuline 

Convent,  flying  from  the  bombs  and  bullets  which  were 
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piercing  the  walls  of  their  house,  had  found  safety  across 

the  meadows  in  the  same  haven.  A  good  many  refugees 

from  the  suburbs  of  Quebec  sought  there,  too,  a  temporary 

abiding  place,  and  the  ladies  of  the  Hospital  had  their 

hands  full.  On  the  memorable  13th  of  September  the 

trembling  nuns  had  looked  out  from  the  windows  on  dire 

slaughter  ;  and  soon  the  wounded  were  being  brought  to 
them  until  between  twelve  and  fifteen  hundred  had  been 

laid  on  the  beds  and  floors  of  the  large  building.  Late  that 

night,  when  as  many  members  of  the  three  communities  as 

could  be  spared  were  prostrate  before  the  altar  to  implore 

the  mercy  of  God  amid  these  troubled  scenes,  their  fears 

had  been  aroused  anew  by  repeated  and  violent  knocking 

at  the  outer  doors.  A  British  officer,  said,  probably  incor- 
rectly, to  have  been  General  Townshend  himself,  with 

a  guard  of  two  hundred  men,  had  come  to  take  possession. 

The  officer  reassured  the  nuns  and  they  received  every 

courtesy  from  the  British.  After  the  British  occupation 
most  of  the  Ursulines  and  the  nuns  of  the  Hotel  Dieu 

returned  to  their  convents  in  Quebec,  where  they  showed 

great  devotion  in  nursing  the  sick.  The  British  had  urged 

that  the  French  army  should  furnish  support  to  their  own 

wounded  in  the  Hospital,  but  this  Vaudreuil  protested  the 
French  were  unable  to  do.  When  the  limited  resources  of 

the  nuns  of  the  General  Hospital  became  exhausted,  Murray 

ordered  the  inhabitants  of  the  surrounding  villages  to  bring 

them  supplies. 

During  the  hard  winter  in  Quebec  the  pity  of  the  nuns 

of  the  General  Hospital  knew  no  distinctions  of  race.  In 

going  about  their  duties  among  officers  and  men  they  were, 

says  Captain  Knox,  '  exceedingly  humane  and  tender.  .  .  . 
When  our  poor  fellows  were  ill,  and  ordered  to  be  removed 

from  their  own  odious  regimental  hospitals  to  this  general 

receptacle,  they  were  indeed  rendered  inexpressibly  happy  ; 

each  patient  had  his  bed  with  curtains  allotted  to  him  and 
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a  nurse  to  attend  him  ;  sometimes  she  will  take  two,  three, 

or  more,  under  her  care,  according  to  the  number  of  sick 

or  wounded  in  the  house.  .  .  .  Every  Officer  has  an  apart- 
ment to  himself,  and  is  attended  by  one  of  those  religious 

sisters,  who,  in  general,  are  young,  handsome,  and  fair  ; 

courteous,  rigidly  reserved,  and  very  respectful.  .  .  .  Their 

office  of  nursing  the  sick  furnishes  them  with  opportunities 

of  taking  great  latitudes,  if  they  are  so  disposed  ;  but 

I  never  heard  any  of  them  charged  with  the  least  levity.' 
Thirty  years  earlier,  in  1733,  some  Canadian  nuns  had  been 

less  demure  and  a  French  Minister  of  State,  M.  de  Maurepas, 

had  sent  out  a  letter  to  rebuke  them  for  their  worldly 

conduct  in  going  out  into  society  and  attending  dinners  and 

suppers.  The  Minister  intended  that  the  standard  for 

Canada,  if  not  for  France,  should  be  austere.^ 
At  the  General  Hospital  were  gathered  a  considerable 

number  of  French  officers,  most  of  them  convalescent. 

Under  the  terms  of  the  Cartel  agreed  to  by  the  belligerents, 

they  were  not  prisoners  and  they  had  their  own  table  as 

in  the  days  before  the  capitulation.  The  French  commissary 

in  Quebec,  M.  Bernier,  did  not  think  highly  of  these  gentle- 

men. 'Their  pretensions',  he  says,  'are  so  extravagant  in 

all  things  that  it  is  impossible  to  satisfy  them.'  Because 
he  had  been  placed  in  charge  of  the  arrangements  affecting 

them  they  looked  upon  him  as  a  valet  at  their  beck  and 

call.  But  he  makes  allowances  ;  they  are  ill  and  idle  and, 

he  says  sententiously,  '  Idleness  is  a  great  vice  and  illness 

makes  us  fretful.'  Captain  Knox  saw  much  of  these  officers. 
He  spent  a  week  in  command  of  the  small  garrison  which 

held  the  Hospital  and,  compared  with  the  stable  which 

constituted  his  quarters  in  Quebec,  he  found  it  an  oasis  in 

the  desert.  The  General  Hospital  still  exists,  little  changed 

from  what  it  was  when  Knox  thought  it  a  '  very  stately 

building  ',  having  '  two  great  wings,  one  fronting  the  north, 
'  Smith,  History  of  Canada,  i.  194. 
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and  the  other  the  south  ',  with  a  '  superb  church  '  in  the 

south  wing  and  '  a  very  neat  chapel  '  in  the  other,  '  I  have 

lived  here ',  he  says,  '  at  the  French  King's  table,  with  an 
agreeable  polite  society.  .  .  .  Some  of  the  gentlemen  were 

married,  and  their  ladies  honoured  us  with  their  company  ; 

they  were  generally  chearful,  except  when  we  discoursed 

upon  the  late  revolution,  and  the  affairs  of  the  campaign ; 

then  they  seemingly  gave  way  to  grief  uttered  by  profound 

sighs,  and  followed  by  an  "  0,  mon  Dieu  ".'  The  men 
seemed  less  depressed.  In  fine  weather  Knox  sometimes 

walked  with  them  in  the  garden  ;  at  other  times  he  played 
picquet.  When  the  French  officers  discovered  that  he 

understood  French  better  than  he  could  speak  it,  they  would, 

in  defiance  of  manners,  converse  among  themselves  in  Latin. 

We  may  believe  that  its  range  was  limited  and  Knox  knew 

that  language  better  than  his  French  companions.  Their 

phrases  usually  wound  up  with  a  rapturous  and  theatrically 

spoken  declamation  from  Virgil  in  regard  to  their  own 
hardships : 

Per  mare,  per  terras,  per  tot  discrimina  rerum 
and 

A^os  patriam  fugimus,  nos  dulcia  linquimus  arva.'^ 
Knox  racked  his  brains  for  an  appropriate  rebuke  and  at 

length   hit   upon  a  neat  citation,  also  from  Virgil,  which 

summed  up  the  British  point  of  view  : 

0  Meliboee,  Deus  nobis  haec  otia  fecitr 

After  this  there  was  no  more  spouting  of  tragic  phrases. 

'  We  dined,  every  day,'  he  says,  '  between  eleven  and 
twelve,  and  afterwards  were  respectively  served  with  a  cup 

of  laced  coffee  [coffee  with  spirits  added]  ;  our  dinners  were 

generally  indifferent  but  our  suppers  (what  they  called  their 

^  The  lines,  very  incorrectly  quoted  from  Book  I  of  the  Aeneid,  may 
be  rendered  :  On  sea  and  land,  in  many  crises  of  events,  we  have  left 

behind  our  country  and  relinquished  her  pleasant  pastures. 

"  O  MeUboeus,  it  is  God  who  has  given  to  us  these  tranquil  clays. 
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grand  repas,  or  best  meal)  were  plentiful  and  elegant.  I  was 

at  a  loss,  the  first  day,  as  every  person  was  obliged  to  use 

his  own  knife  and  wine,  there  being  only  a  spoon  and 

a  four-pronged  fork  laid  with  each  napkin  and  plate.  .  .  . 
Each  person  here  produces  an  ordinary  clasped  knife  from 

his  pocket,  which  serves  him  for  every  use  ;  and,  when 

they  have  dined  or  supped,  they  wipe  and  return  it  :  the 

one  I  had,  before  I  was  provided  with  my  own,  was  lent 

me  by  the  Frenchman  who  stood  at  my  chair,  and  it  gave 

my  meat  a  strong  flavour  of  tobacco,  which,  though  it 

might  have  supplied  the  want  of  garlic  to  the  owner,  or 

his  countrymen,  was  so  exceedingly  disgustful  to  me,  that 

I  was  obliged  to  change  my  plate,  and  it  was  with  difficulty 

I  could  eat  any  more.' 
Dining  so  early  Knox  did  not  trouble  about  breakfast, 

but,  after  he  had  been  at  the  Hospital  two  or  three  days, 

a  nun  brought  him  a  polite  note  from  Madame  Sainte-Claude 

inviting  him  to  an  English  breakfast.  He  found  her  sur- 
rounded by  nuns  engaged  in  needlework.  On  a  table  in 

the  middle  of  the  room  was  a  plentiful  supply  of  tea,  milk, 

and  slices  of  bread  an  inch  thick  '  covered  with  a  profusion 

of  butter  '.  A  beverage  black  as  ink  was  offered  to  Knox, 
the  hostess  assuring  him  that,  to  suit  the  supposed  English 

taste,  half  a  pint  of  tea  had  been  put  in  the  pot  and  then 

well  boiled  with  the  water.  To  the  good  lady's  obvious 

distress,  Knox  declared  that  he  preferred  milk  ;  '  she  had 

heard  the  English  always  preferred  tea  for  breakfast.'  Con- 

versation did  not  flag  and  Knox  says  that  he  '  passed  near 
two  hours  most  agreeably,  in  the  society  of  this  ancient 

Lady  and  her  virginal  sisters  '. 
The  ancient  lady,  who  was  of  great  stature,  proved  less 

innocent  than  she  seemed.  As  the  winter  wore  on  Murray 
found  that  rumours  of  British  defeats  and  of  the  conclusion 

of  a  peace  favourable  to  France  were  emanating  from  the 

General  Hospital.     They  were  circulated  in  the  hope  of 
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discouraging  the  British  soldiers.  Murray,  though  usually 

friendly  to  the  nuns,  is  said  by  Knox  to  have  sent  an  officer 

to  reproach  Madame  Sainte-Claude  for  conduct  unfitting 

one  who  had  turned  from  the  world,  and  to  say  that  '  if 
she  is  tired  of  living  out  of  the  world,  and  will  change  her 

habit  for  that  of  a  man,  she  being  of  a  proper  stature,  his 

Excellency  will  inrol  her  as  a  grenadier  and  upon  her  good 

behaviour,  will  duly  promote,  and  grant  her  every  farther 

indulgence  in  his  power  ', 
Murray  found  that  another  community  of  nuns,  those 

of  the  Hotel  Dieu,  also  sent  to  the  French  army  news  of 

what  was  taking  place  in  Quebec.  At  the  intercession  of  the 

Duchess  d'Aiguillon  Pitt  had  written  to  ask  for  special  care 
of  these  nuns.  Murray,  however,  had  at  length  to  warn 

them  that  if  they  did  not  mend  their  ways  their  house 

would  be  converted  into  a  barracks  for  troops  and  they 

themselves  would  be  banished  from  Quebec.  The  nuns 
showed  so  strenuous  a  zeal  for  the  conversion  of  the  heretics 

to  whom  they  ministered  that  the  Bishop  of  Quebec, 

Mgr.  Pontbriand,  a  saintly  man,  quietly  told  them  that 

their  own  piety  and  modesty  rather  than  their  words  were 

likely  to  touch  the  hearts  of  their  patients.  He  told  them, 

too,  that  they  had  a  duty  to  the  conqueror,  since  '  according 

to  the  teaching  of  St.  Paul ',  they  owed  obedience  to  the 
King  of  England,  for  the  time  the  ruler  of  Quebec. ^ 

Until  the  late  autumn,  the  serene  atmosphere  and  the 

bright  sky  at  Quebec  were  very  agreeable,  but  '  hoary 

winter  '  soon  appeared,  as  Knox  says,  '  with  hasty  strides.' 
The  cold  was  to  prove  the  great  enemy.  The  rigours  of 

a  Canadian  winter  are  not  really  difficult  to  combat,  but 

the  British  in  Quebec  were  wholly  without  experience  in 

fighting  them.  This  winter  of  1759-60  appears  to  have 
been  unusually  severe  ;    by  February,  even  spirits  stored 

*  Letters  to  Mother  St.  Helen,  Montreal,  October  28  and  December  31, 
1759  (Canadian  Archives). 
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in  cellars  were  found  frozen.  Adequate  clothing  had  not 

been  provided  for  the  soldiers,  and  the  Highlanders  in  par- 
ticular, with  their  bare  legs,  suffered  severely  until,  with 

the  assistance  of  the  good  nuns  and  by  other  strenuous 

efforts,  most,  if  not  all,  of  them  had  been  furnished  with 

trousers  or  with  long  knit  hose.  Sentries  at  their  posts 

were  often  severely  frost-bitten.  In  the  Orders  the  men 
were  warned  when  this  happened  to  avoid  going  near  a  fire 

and  to  rub  the  frost-bitten  part  with  snow.  Sentries  on 

duty  in  the  open  air  were  sometimes  quickly  deprived  by 

the  cold  of  the  power  of  speech.  The  guard  was  changed 

in  severe  weather  every  half-hour  or  even  oftener.  Men 
who  underwent  the  prolonged  exposure  of  winter  expeditions 

suffered  terribly  ;  much  farther  south  than  Quebec,  at 

Crown  Point,  during  this  winter  a  British  surgeon  amputated 

in  a  single  day  no  less  than  one  hundred  toes,  frozen  in 

a  march  from  Ticonderoga. 

For  protection  from  the  cold  the  men  at  Quebec  cut  up 

blankets  to  make  socks  and  gloves.  In  order  to  replenish 

the  supply,  Murray  seized  blankets  from  the  Canadians, 

with  the  promise  to  pay  for  them  on  the  arrival  of  the 

ships  in  the  spring.  The  soldiers  wore  anything  they  could 

get  which  promised  warmth,  even  the  French  uniforms  found 

in  the  stores  at  Quebec.  Mocassins  proved  warmer  than 

boots  and  were  less  likely  to  cause  slipping.  Accordingly 

the  soldiers  appeared  on  parade  in  mocassins.  '  Our  guards, 

on  the  Grande  Parade,'  says  Knox,  '  made  a  most  grotesque 
appearance  in  their  different  dresses  ;  and  our  inventions 

to  guard  us  against  the  extreme  rigour  of  this  climate  are 

various  beyond  imagination  :  the  uniformity,  as  well  as  the 

nicety,  of  the  clean  methodical  soldier,  is  buried  in  the 

rough  fur-wrought  garb  of  the  frozen  Laplander  ;  and  we 

rather  resemble  a  masquerade  than  a  body  of  regular  troops  ; 

insomuch  that  I  have  frequently  been  accosted  by  my 

acquaintances,  who,  though  familiar  their  voices  were  to 
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me,  I  could  not  discover  or  conceive  who  they  were  ;  besides, 

every  man  seems  to  be  in  a  continual  hurry  ;  for,  instead  of 

walking  soberly  through  the  streets,  we  are  obliged  to 

observe  a  running  or  trotting  pace.'  When  the  weather  was 
cold  no  one  stirred  out  unless  absolutely  obliged  to  do  so. 

Persons  going  out  covered  everything  but  the  eyes.  The 
appreciation  of  the  attractions  of  a  Canadian  winter,  now 

so  general,  is  apparently  the  result  of  education. 

Sometimes  the  snow  was  so  deep  that  it  blocked  the 

streets.  It  lodged  in  such  a  mass  under  the  walls  of  Quebec 
that  assailants  could  almost  have  walked  into  the  town  over 

the  snow  banks.  To  avert  this  danger,  after  each  snowfall 

the  British  soldiers  dug  the  snow  away  from  the  wall  and 

piled  it  so  as  to  form  a  second  outer  defence.  A  line  of 

barrels  filled  with  snow  frozen  into  solid  ice  helped  to  make 

a  glacis  of  this  outer  defence  and  a  kind  of  ditch  separated 
it  from  the  stone  wall.  Even  when  snow  did  not  block  the 

streets  of  Quebec  there  was  another  difficulty,  for  ice  often 

made  them  extremely  slippery.  Mountain  Street,  the 

descent  of  the  steep  cliff  separating  the  Upper  from  the 
Lower  Town,  became  a  sheet  of  ice,  and  soldiers  found  it 

safer  to  sit  down  and  slide  to  the  bottom  than  to  try  to 

walk.  '  Creepers  '  to  make  the  footing  secure  were  in  great 
demand,  as  also,  when  snow  had  fallen,  were  snow-shoes. 

Taught  by  some  of  the  Rangers  from  New  England,  the 

light  infantry  practised  walking  on  snow-shoes  and,  though 
the  practice  was  at  first  fatiguing,  it  was  not  difficult  to 

learn.  So  useful  did  the  snow-shoes  prove  that  Murray 
required  the  people  of  the  surrounding  country  and  of 

Quebec  to  hand  over  the  snow-shoes  which  they  possessed. 

In  mid-winter,  soldiers  mounting  guard  were  ordered  always 

to  bring  snow-shoes  with  them  in  order  that,  if  necessary, 
they  might  be  able  to  pursue  the  enemy  over  the  snow. 

The  St.  Lawrence,  when  first  frozen  over,  was,  for  a  time, 

without  a  covering  of  snow  and  furnished  a  great  expanse 
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of  smooth  ice.  One  day  a  French  prisoner  saw  his  oppor- 
tunity. Going  with  a  soldier  to  bring  a  bucket  of  water 

from  the  river,  he  shpped  off  his  shoes  and  ran  away  in  his 

stockings  on  the  ice.  The  soldier,  armed  with  a  bayonet 

only,  and  wearing  boots  without  '  creepers  ',  cut  a  ridiculous 
figure  as  he  slipped  on  the  ice  in  his  vain  efforts  to  pursue 

the  fugitive.  The  British,  always  athletic,  could  not  resist 

the  temptation  to  skate  on  this  sea  of  glass  which  lay  before 

Quebec,  and  a  French  officer,  writing  in  February,  notes 

grimly  that  this  practice  gave  the  hostile  Indians  great 

pleasure  and  that  they  had  already  captured  six  of  the 

defenders  of  Quebec. 

The  visitors  had  been  in  Quebec  only  a  few  days  when 

they  saw  that  one  of  their  chief  problems  would  be  to 

secure  fire-wood.  The  supply  from  ruined  houses  and  old 
fences  was  soon  exhausted.  Not  less  than  twenty  thousand 

cords  of  wood  were  needed  and  only  about  a  thousand 

cords  were  on  hand.  At  first,  on  chill  nights,  the  soldiers 

upon  guard  had  been  permitted  to  have  fires  in  the  open 
air,  but  this  was  soon  forbidden,  in  order  to  save  wood. 

A  few  days  after  the  surrender  two  frigates  were  sent  about 

four  miles  up  the  river  to  procure  some  wood  which  the 

Canadians  had  piled  on  the  heights.  A  body  of  Rangers 
kept  off  assailants  while  the  wood  was  thrown  over  the 

precipice  and  secured  by  the  sailors.  By  order  of  Levis 

the  French  burned  all  the  firewood  which  they  could  find 

on  the  south  bank  of  the  river  as  far  as  the  Point  of  Levy, 

so  that  it  might  not  fall  into  Murray's  hands.  The  British 
were  soon  repenting  bitterly  that,  in  the  course  of  their 

siege  of  Quebec,  they  had  destroyed  quantities  of  wood. 

Murray  ordered  the  Canadians  to  bring  in  wood,  and  offered 

them  five  shillings  for  each  cord.  But  they  supplied  it  only 

slowly  and  reluctantly.  As  the  winter  advanced,  he  was 

obliged  to  seize  what  sleighs  he  could  and  to  require  the 
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service  from  his  own  men,  paying  them,  however,  the  price 
he  had  offered  to  the  Canadians. 

This  cutting  of  wood  proved  the  most  severe  task  of  the 

army.  For  a  time  fuel  was  brought  by  water  from  Isle 
Madame  and  the  Island  of  Orleans,  but,  on  account  both  of 

the  distance  and  of  the  difficulty  in  winter  of  navigating 

the  river,  filled  with  floes  of  ice,  Murray  was  obliged  to 

look  for  his  chief  supply  to  the  forests  at  Ste  Foy,  five 

miles  away.  From  two  hundred  and  fifty  to  three  hundred 

men  were  kept  busy  at  this  work.  It  was  especially  trying 

because  of  the  inexperience  of  the  men  in  handling  the  axe. 

They  also  suffered  terribly  from  frost-bites.  Since  almost 
no  horses  were  available  in  Quebec  the  soldiers  had  to  do 

the  work  of  horses.  In  teams  of  eight,  yoked  in  couples 

like  beasts  of  burden,  and  with  a  ninth  man  to  guide  the 

sleigh,  they  dragged  wood  four  or  five  miles  to  the  town, 

through  snow  so  deep,  at  times,  that  it  was  necessary  to 

mark  the  road  by  beacons.  The  service  was  dangerous  as 

well  as  difficult ;  Indians  were  lurking  in  the  neighbourhood 

to  cut  off  stragglers,  and  to  be  captured  meant  death  by 

scalping  and  also  barbarous  mutilation.  The  sleighing  parties 

were  obliged  to  carry  arms  and  ammunition,  and  by  practice 

the  men  were  able  so  to  carry  their  weapons  that  they 

could  get  at  them  easily  even  while  drawing  the  sleighs. 

It  was  this  service  more  than  anything  else  which  wore 

down  the  strength  of  the  troops  in  the  course  of  the  winter. 

Unsalted  food  was  always  a  pressing  need.  There  was 
an  abundance  of  fish  in  the  river,  and  the  soldiers  learned 

from  the  Canadians  how  to  take  fish  through  holes  in  the 

ice.  The  garrison  was  ready  either  to  buy  outright  from 

the  Canadians  fresh  meat  and  vegetables  or  to  give  in 

exchange  for  them  wine,  biscuits,  and  salted  provisions, 

while  these  things  lasted.  Extravagant  prices  were  some- 
times asked  by  the  Canadians.  At  length,  on  the  request 

of  the  British  and  French  traders  in  Quebec,  a  maximum 
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price  for  bread  and  meat  was  fixed  by  Colonel  Young, 

whom  Murray  had  appointed  to  act  as  a  magistrate  in  civil 

affairs,  with  the  aid  of  some  of  the  principal  inhabitants. 

All  butchers  must  have  licences  and  they  were  not  to  charge 

more  than  6d.  a  pound  for  mutton  and  5^.  for  beef.  When 

the  men  grumbled  about  the  food,  Murray  ordered  that  any 

one  complaining  of  his  allowance  should  be  brought  to  trial 

for  sedition.  Though  the  exchange  of  provisions  with  the 

Canadians  had  been  brisk  for  a  time,  the  supplies,  on  both 
sides,  were  soon  exhausted  and  there  remained  little  to 

exchange.  Murray  levied  a  contribution  of  three  hundred 

cattle  on  the  inhabitants  of  the  subdued  country,  but  this 

resource  was  not  adequate.  Even  salted  provisions  became 

in  time  scarce.  It  had  been  supposed  that  supplies  for 

a  year  had  been  left  at  Quebec  by  the  fleet,  but,  towards 

the  spring,  the  garrison  found  itself  face  to  face  with  famine. 

The  unfortunate  Canadians  remaining  in  Quebec  were  then, 

of  course,  even  worse  off  than  the  soldiers.  Murray  at  last 

ordered  that  in  each  week  the  provisions  for  one  day  allotted 
to  the  officers  and  men  should  be  handed  over  to  the 

inhabitants.  The  soldiers  accepted  this  plan  without  a  mur- 
mur, though  they  themselves  were  being  reduced  to  mere 

skeletons  from  lack  of  food. 

Disease  aided  famine  in  Quebec.  Almost  from  the  first 

the  health  of  the  troops  suffered.  Since  there  was  a  suspicion 

that  this  might  be  due  to  the  poisoning  of  the  wells  with  dead 

dogs  and  cats,  the  men  were  ordered  to  drink  only  the  water 

from  the  river.  But  the  real  tragedy  was  caused  by  a  deadly 

outbreak  of  scurvy,  which  was  believed  to  follow  upon  an 

exclusive  diet  of  salted  meat  and  upon  the  absence  of  vege- 

tables.' Our  brave  soldiers  are  growing  sickly,'  wrote  Knox 

as  early  as  November  ;  '  their  disorders  are  chiefly  scorbutic, 

with  fevers  and  dysenteries.'  Every  available  remedy 
was  tried.  In  the  barrack-rooms  regulations  were  posted 
for  the  preserving  of  health  against  scurvy.    The  men  were 



8o  QUEBEC  DURING  THE 

ordered  to  boil  their  pork  in  fresh  water,  and  in  no  case 

to  eat  uncooked  meat.  Murray  had  found  a  good  supply 
of  wine  in  the  French  stores,  and,  since  it  was  deemed  a  cure 

for  scurvy,  he  encouraged  the  men  to  buy  it  out  of  their 

scanty  resources.  Ginger  and  vinegar,  tar-water,  and  other 
remedies  were  tried.  Perhaps  the  best  one  was  a  liquor 

made  from  the  spruce  tree,  and  Murray  gave  orders  that 

every  day  the  men  should  drink  some  of  this  mixed  with 
their  allowance  of  rum. 

Yet  hundreds  died.  Daily,  as  the  winter  wore  on,  there 
were  not  less  than  two  or  three  funerals,  and  sometimes 

there  were  half  a  dozen.  '  The  men  grow  more  unhealthy 
as  the  winter  advances,  and  scarce  a  day  passes  without 

two  or  three  funerals,'  wrote  Knox  in  January.  In  February 

he  repeats  :  '  Our  soldiers  grow  more  sickly,  and  many  of 
them  are  daily  carried  off  by  the  inveteracy  of  their  dis- 

orders '  ;  and  in  March  :  '  our  forces  are  now  reduced  to 
three  thousand  fit  for  duty  ;  our  sick,  lame,  and  convales- 

cents amount  to  nineteen  hundred.'  In  April  the  troops 
were  stricken  with  the  disease  at  the  rate  of  two  hundred 

a  week,  and  most  of  the  men  had  become  little  more  than 

skeletons,  hobbling  about  with  the  aid  of  crutches.  Before 

the  end  of  April  two  thousand  men  were  unfit  for  any 

service  and  about  a  thousand  had  died.  The  ground  was  so 

hard  frozen  that  final  burial  was  impossible,  and  the  bodies 

of  many  hundreds  of  British  soldiers  were  laid  away  in  the 

snow,  to  be  preserved  by  the  intense  cold  until  spring 

should  permit  their  committal  to  mother  earth.  There 

were  in  Quebec  five  hundred  and  sixty-seven  women  camp- 

followers,  the  invariable  and  usually  disreputable  accom- 
paniment of  the  armies  of  the  time.  While  disease  was 

carrying  off  its  sadly  numerous  victims,  these  women 

remained  perfectly  healthy,  and  they  rendered  useful  service 

in  nursing  the  sick  soldiers  and  in  washing  and  mending. 
The  Canadian  inhabitants  were  not  as  fortunate  as  the 
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women  ;  though  they  suffered  less  than  the  soldiers,  about 

a  hundred  and  twenty  died  during  the  winter.  No  doubt 

the  Canadians  were  the  more  liable  to  disease  because  they 

were  underfed.  What  money  they  had  was  the  paper 

money  issued  in  Canada  by  the  French,  and  this  the  English 

traders  in  Quebec  would  not  accept. 

Behind  everything  was  the  great  military  problem  of 

defending  the  fortress.  Gossip  was  always  busy  as  to  the 

designs  and  the  successes  of  the  enemy.  Towards  the  end 

of  November  it  was  rumoured  in  Quebec  that  a  ship  from 

France  had  passed  up  unobserved,  in  the  night,  and  had 

brought  news  that  the  French  had  destroyed  Halifax,  had 

retaken  Louisbourg,  and  had  put  two-thirds  of  the  garrisons 
to  the  sword.  It  was  added  that  a  fleet  carrying  troops 

would  arrive  in  the  early  spring  from  France  to  perform 

similar  feats  at  Quebec.  Later  came  a  rumour  that  the 

French  had  destroyed  the  greatest  fleet  which  had  ever 

sailed  from  the  shores  of  England  ;  that  they  had  conquered 

Ireland,  and  had  massacred  troops  and  natives  alike  when 

found  in  arms  ;  and  that  they  would  soon  make  a  trium- 

phant peace  and  re-occupy  Quebec.  Usually,  the  day  of 
vengeance  was  not  postponed  so  indefinitely.  At  first 

rumour  said  that  Levis  was  resolved  to  spend  Christmas  in 

Quebec  ;  he  would  set  its  roofs  on  fire  by  a  shower  of  hot 

arrows  and,  in  the  confusion,  carry  the  place  by  storm.  It 
was  this  threatened  assault  before  Christmas  which  led 

Murray,  always  nervous  about  the  strength  of  his  walls, 

to  build  the  block-houses  on  the  side  towards  the  Plains  of 

Abraham  and  to  drill  his  men  in  the  use  of  snow-shoes,  appa- 
rently with  the  intention  of  fighting  on  the  snow  outside 

the  walls.  Christmas  passed,  and  then  it  was  in  February 

that  dire  things  were  to  happen.  At  one  time  the  French 

general,  in  sporting  humour,  wrote  to  propose  a  wager  with 

Murray  that  help  from  France  would  arrive  before  the 

British  could  receive  aid  from  England.     Murray's  answer 
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was  spirited  and  prophetic  ;  '  I  have  not  the  least  incHna- 
tion  to  win  your  money,  for,  I  am  very  certain,  I  shall  have 

the  honour  to  embark  your  Excellency  and  the  remains  of 

your  half-starved  army,  for  Europe,  in  British  bottoms, 

before  the  expiration  of  the  ensuing  summer.'  The  fulfil- 
ment of  this  prophecy  was  to  become  a  grim  reality  for 

the  French. 

Other  rumours  pointed  to  a  British  success.  With  some 

truth  the  French  army  was  reported  by  deserters  to  be 

half  starved.  It  was  said  that  the  Canadians  had  grown 
anxious  for  final  surrender  to  the  British.  The  Indian 

allies  of  the  French  were  also  reported  to  be  discontented 

and  arrogant  ;  to  have  threatened  to  stone  Vaudreuil  to 

death  for  his  incompetence  ;  and  to  have  refused  to  fight 

unless  given  permission  to  scalp  the  dead  and  wounded  on 

the  field.  There  was  a  report  of  a  great  British  success 

near  Chambly,  and  of  the  cutting  to  pieces  at  that  point 
of  the  French  Regiment  de  la  Reine.  Some  one  had  seen 

great  fires  near  Montreal  and  had  taken  it  as  evidence  of 

a  British  camp  in  that  neighbourhood.  On  one  occasion 

a  French  deserter  who  had  spread  such  rumours  was  brought 

before  Murray.  A  French  officer,  a  prisoner  on  parole,  was 

present.  The  deserter  declared  that  the  French  army  was 

in  such  distress  and  disorganization  that  it  had  become 

a  mere  rabble.  Murray  handed  the  man  a  silver  dollar. 

In  Canada,  discredited  paper  money  had  long  been  almost 

the  only  currency.  The  man  looked  at  the  dollar :  '  This 

is  no  French  money  !  '  he  said,  and  then  added  :  '  A  few 
of  these  properly  appHed  would  induce  even  the  Officers, 

as  well  as  soldiers,  of  the  miserable  French  army  to  follow 

my  example.'  At  this  the  French  officer  flew  into  a  rage 
so  violent  that  Murray  threatened  him  with  imprisonment. 

When  Murray's  soldiers  were  discouraged  by  rumours  of 
reverses  in  the  outside  world  he  resorted  to  a  stratagem  to 

counteract  these  reports.     On  April  3,  after  long  waiting 
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for  news,  he  sent  a  sergeant  and  four  rangers  across  the 

river  with  instructions  to  come  in  on  the  British  outpost  at 

the  Point  of  Levy  as  if  they  were  an  express  from  General 

Amherst.  Of  course,  only  good  news  could  come  by  such 

means,  and,  without  saying  anything  definite,  Murray 

was  able  greatly  to  encourage  the  garrison.  He  adds 

that  the  device  '  visibly  affected  the  French  inhabitants ', 
who,  however,  were  well  able  to  keep  their  own  counsel. 

Captain  Knox  says  that  they  showed  no  concern  or 

discomposure  at  unacceptable  news,  but  only  the  more 

sedulously  whispered  reports  of  French  victories. 

F    '2. 



CHAPTER  III 

MONTREAL  DURING  THE  WINTER  OF  1759-60 

The  distresses  of  the  British  in  Quebec  during  this  winter 

were  surpassed  by  those  of  the  French  in  Montreal.  In 

this  little  town,  which  was  almost  the  extreme  outpost  in 

New  France  of  European  civilization,  the  defenders  had 

gathered  for  the  final  rally  against  the  invaders.  Usually 

the  town  contained  from  eight  to  nine  thousand  inhabitants  ; 

now,  however,  its  population  was  greatly  increased  by 

refugees  from  all  parts  of  Canada.  Many  of  these  refugees 

had  come  because  they  feared  not  only  the  British  but 

also  their  own  Indians,  likely  at  any  time  to  go  over  to  the 

enemy  and  to  commit  brutal  outrages  against  their  former 

friends.  The  savages  were,  it  was  said,  particularly  incensed 

a^gainstJVaudreuil,  as  the  cause  of  the  misfortunes  in  which 
they  found  themselves  included,  and  threatened  to  kill  him. 

Leading  citizens  from  Quebec  were  now  in  Montreal,  and 

the  Bishop  of  Quebec  ruled  his  church  from  that  place.  In 

Montreal  was  also  what  remained  in  Canada  of  a  Court, 

which  once  had  imitated  Versailles.  An  appearance  of  old- 

world  luxury  marked  this  town  on  the  edge  of  the  wilder- 

ness. '  From  the  number  of  silk  robes,  laced  coats,  and ' 
powdered  heads  of  both  sexes,  and  almost  of  all  ages,  that 

are  perambulating  the  streets  from  morning  till  night,'  says 
Captain  Knox,  who  saw  the  place  in  the  autumn  of  1760, 

'  a  stranger  would  be  induced  to  believe  that  Montreal  is 
intirely  inhabited  by  people  of  independent  and  plentiful 

fortunes.'  Some  years  earlier,  the  Swedish  traveller  Kalm 
had  described  the  inhabitants  of  Montreal  as  '  well-bred  and 
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courteous,  with  an  innocent  and  becoming  freedom  '  ;  to 
Knox,  who  saw  them  under  the  shadow  of  defeat,  they 

appeared  cheerful  and  sprightly.  Their  town  stretched  in 

a  thin  line  for  two  and  a  half  miles  along  the  river  front, 

'  For  delightfulness  of  situation,'  says  Knox,  '  I  think  I  never 

saw  any  town  to  equal  it.'  Its  few  streets  were  regular, 
though  narrow,  and  its  houses  were  well  constructed.  Knox 

could  find  it  in  his  heart  to  describe  the  public  buildings 
as  beautiful  and  commodious,  and  one  of  them  at  least  as 

'  extremely  magnificent  '.  He  thought  Montreal  '  infinitely 

preferable  to  Quebec  '.  Quebec,  however,  was  now  asso- 
ciated in  his  mind  with  pestilence  and  famine.  The  Chevalier 

Johnstone,  who  served  on  the  defeated  side,  thought  Mon- 
treal a  dismal  place. 

The  picture  that  we  get  of  the  social  life  of  the  colony 

at  this  time  is  not  edifying.  In  New  England  Puritanism 

was  still  a  living  force,  manners  were  grave,  life  was  simple, 

and  the  tone  of  society  was  pure  and  restrained.  In  New 

France,  on  the  other  hand,  reckless  extravagance,  corrup- 
tion in  business  methods  and  immoral  licence  in  social  life 

had  long  been  characteristics  of  the  upper  class  of  society. 
The  men  who  held  office  in  Canada  were  nominees  of  the 

French  Court,  and  some  of  them  reflected  in  the  distant 

colony  the  abandoned  tone  of  the  worst  circles  at  Versailles. 

In  Canada,  as  in  France,  there  were  not  wanting  voices  of 

protest.  The  Roman  Catholic  Church  in  Canada  had  always 

stood  for  an  austere  view  of  life,  and,  with  hardly  an  excep- 

tion, her  priests  had  supported  it  by  their  example  and  by 

their  discipline  over  their  flocks.  At  Montreal  the  priests 

of  the  Sulpitian  Seminary  were  a  powerful  corporation, 

lords  of  the  whole  island  under  feudal  tenure,  and  they 

showed  a  desire  to  keep  up  a  censorship  of  morals.  A  hostile 

critic  says  that  they  asserted  a  right  to  supervise  what  was 

done  in  private  houses,  and  that  even  the  French  generals 

trembled  under  their  authority  for  fear  of  reports  which 
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might  be  sent  to  France.^  The  Bishop  of  Quebec,  Monsignor 
Pontbriand,  now  Hving  at  Montreal,  was  a  high-minded  and 
holy  man.  In  this  crisis  he  exhorted  Canadian  society  to 
consider  its  misfortunes  as  a  call  to  prayer  and  to  repentance 
for  its  sins.  There  is,  however,  no  evidence  that  the  call 
to  greater  seriousness  was  heeded.  In  time  of  disaster  men 

are  as  likely  to  fall  into  reckless  licence  as  to  reform  them- 

selves. Montreal  during  this  winter  of  1759-60  had  the 
same  surface  gaiety,  the  display,  and,  beneath  all,  the  ugly 
self-seeking  and  corruption  which  were  gnawing  at  the  heart 
of  the  older  society  and  leading  to  revolution. 

The  real  business  man  in  the  administration  of  Canada 

was  the  Intendant,  Frangois  Bigot.  Under  the  system 
which  had  developed  in  France,  each  French  province  had 
two  high  officials,  the  Governor  and  the  Intendant,  the 

Governor  representing  the  dignity  and  the  military  power 
of  the  Crown,  the  Intendant  discharging  the  sober  details 
of  civil  business.  A  similar  system  prevailed  in  Canada. 
The  dozen  or  so  Intendants  who  had  held  the  office  had  been 

on  the  whole  competent  and  honest  men  ;  Bigot,  the  last 
of  them,  was  surpassed  by  none  in  competence  but  he  was 
wholly  wanting  in  conscience,  and  his  career  in  Canada  was 

marked  by  unscrupulous  pillage  of  the  King,  his  master, 
and  by  lavish  expenditure,  on  a  scale  that  seems  hardly 
credible  when  we  consider  the  poverty  of  the  colony. 

Bigot  had  attractive  qualities.  He  was  able  and  assiduous 

in  the  discharge  of  his  official  duties,  and  during  this  winter, 
when,  in  some  degree,  he  was  forced  to  make  bricks  without 

straw,  he  performed  wonders  in  securing  provisions  for  the 

army.  '  No  one  shows  more  foresight  and  ingenuity  than 
you  to  find  resources,'  Levis  once  wrote  to  him.  But  while 
a  keen  man  of  business  he  had  also  the  tastes  and  ambitions 

of  a  man  of  fashion,  and  he  made  both  Quebec  and  Montreal 
scenes  of  social  dissipation,  more  suited  to  the  life  of  a 

^  Mdmoires  sur  le  Canada,  1749-60. 
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European  capital  than  to  that  of  a  town  in  a  poverty- 
stricken  colony.  He  belonged  to  a  family  of  Guienne,  not, 

it  is  true,  ranking  among  the  nobility  of  France,  but  con- 
spicuous in  what  had  almost  become  another  nobility,  the 

men  of  the  robe,  the  class  from  which  the  judges,  the 

lawyers,  and  officials  like  the  Intendants  were  drawn.  He 

had  at  court  powerful  relations  who  held  high  official  posi- 

tion— the  Marquis  de  Puysieux,  the  Marechal  d'Estrees,  and 
apparently,  too,  the  Comte  de  Maurepas,  a  former  Minister 

of  Marine.  He  loved  pomp  and  it  had  been  his  ambition  to 

retire  to  France  to  live  in  luxury  and  ease  for  the  remainder 

of  his  life.  Already  he  had  bought  land  ;  he  had  grand 

ideas  of  the  style  in  which  he  should  live,  and  had  purchased 

furnishings  for  his  house  and  table  on  a  lavish  scale.  When 
misfortune  overtook  him  and  his  effects  in  France  were 

seized  by  the  King,  great  nobles  like  the  Marechal  de 

Richelieu  were  eager  to  become  possessors  of  the  plate  and 

other  articles  in  which  he  had  invested  some  of  his  ill-gotten 

gains.  ̂ 
In  physique  nature  had  not  fitted  Bigot  for  the  role  of 

social  leader  which  he  aspired  to  fill.  He  was  small  and 

fat,  with  reddish  hair  and  a  pimply  skin.  On  the  other  hand 

he  had  charming  manners  and  he  showed  a  marked  capacity 

for  making  himself  agreeable.  This  social  tact  was  one  of 

his  chief  gifts.  He  took  little  part  in  the  personal  quarrels 

that  had  raged  in  the  colony  between  Vaudreuil  and  Mont- 
calm ;  with  some  success,  indeed,  he  had  played  the  part 

of  a  mediator  who  invariably  showed  shrewd  common  sense 

in  trying  to  smooth  over  differences  and  in  advising  friendly 

co-operation.  The  villain  in  the  tragedy  of  the  declining 
years  of  New  France  Bigot  undoubtedly  is  ;  but  villains 

would  hardly  be  dangerous  did  they  not  possess  some 

semblance  of  virtue.  Bigot  was  loyal  and  devoted  to  those 

who  shared  in  his  pursuits.    '  He  had  great  wit  and  penetra- 
*  Papers  in  Report  on  Canadian  Archives,  1905,  i.  344-6. 
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tion,'  writes  a  contemporary ;  '  he  was  generous  and 
benevolent  and  capable  of  filling  a  more  eminent  position 

than  he  occupied  ;  when  he  had  once  given  his  confidence 

and  his  protection  it  was  not  easily  that  he  drew  back.  .  .  . 
His  manner  of  life  was  unaffected  and  full  of  consideration 

for  those  who  attended  upon  or  paid  court  to  him.  His 

table  was  richly  furnished  and  he  relieved  the  unfortunate 

with  a  generosity  that  approached  munificence.  His  love 

of  pleasure  did  not  keep  him  from  attention  to  his  duty. 

He  was  extremely  jealous  of  his  authority  and  supported 

too  keenly  those  who  had  his  confidence  and  who  unhappily 

were  neither  honest  nor  deserving.  To  them  only  would 

he  listen  ;  their  counsels  alone  would  he  follow,  and  they 

made  him  commit  stupendous  faults.'  ̂  
Some  of  the  associates  of  Bigot  were,  one  should  suppose, 

conspicuously  unfit  to  shine  in  that  social  world  which  it 

was  his  ambition  to  adorn.  Hardly  an  ornament  for  high 
social  circles  was  Cadet,  the  son  of  a  butcher,  and  himself, 

in  early  years,  first  a  cowherd  at  Charlesbourg  and  then 

a  butcher  at  Quebec.  His  early  advance  was  due  to  his 

striking,  if  unscrupulous,  business  capacity.  In  the  early 

stages  of  the  war  there  had  been  difficulties  in  the  com- 
missariat department  and  the  French  Court  had  then  decided 

that,  to  provide  adequate  control,  a  single  official  should  be 

given  the  contract  and  be  made  responsible  for  furnishing 

supplies  to  the  army.  Cadet's  abilities  qualified  him  to  fill 
this  office,  and  on  January  i,  1757,  he  entered  upon  its 

duties  with  the  title  of  Munitioner-General.  From  that 

time  he  had  full  control.  Canadian  society  was  astonished 

that  the  butcher-knife  should  have  given  place  so  quickly 
to  the  sword  which  it  appears  his  new  office  entitled  him 

to  wear.     No  one,  however,  could  sneer  at  his  capacity. 

*  MSmoires  sur  le  Canada,  1749-60,  p.  40.  The  writer  is  a  severe  critic 
of  the  dying  regime  in  Canada,  but  he  is  well  informed  and  apparently 
accurate. 
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In  spite  of  his  coarse  manners  he  was  generous  and  kindly 

and  so  prodigal  in  expenditure  that  he  made  many  friends. 

In  the  end  the  complaisant  Vaudreuil  recommended  him 

for  a  patent  of  nobility,  and  members  of  his  family  married 
into  some  of  the  most  ancient  families  in  France. 

Corruption  was  an  old  story  in  Canada.  The  French 

Court  paid  meagre  salaries  to  civil  and  military  officers  and 

it  was  a  common  practice,  hardly  censured  in  high  quarters, 

for  these  men  to  engage  in  trading  operations  in  order  to 

eke  out  a  livelihood.  Since  the  system  of  government  in 

Canada  was  completely  despotic,  officials  could  easily  be 

placed  in  a  privileged  position  in  regard  to  some  branches 
of  commerce.  Licences  to  trade  in  the  interior,  for  instance, 

were  issued  by  the  Government  at  its  discretion.  The 

Government  also  exercised  the  right  to  name  the  price  of 

wheat  and  other  staple  commodities.  Under  a  man  like 

Bigot  a  system  with  possibilities  of  fraud  was  sure  to  receive 

its  fullest  development.  His  secretary,  Deschenaux,  was 

the  son  of  a  shoemaker  at  Quebec.  In  some  way  he  made 

himself  indispensable  to  the  Intendant.  Bigot  gave  him  his 

confidence  and  clung  with  great  tenacity  to  this  vain, 

ambitious,  and  arrogant  parvenu.  So  greedy  was  he  for 

gain  that  he  declared  he  would  rob  even  the  altar  itself. 

As  secretary  to  the  Intendant,  and  to  such  an  Intendant, 

Deschenaux  could  easily  secure  official  sanction  for  his  many 

plans  to  defraud  the  Government  and  the  people.  He  and 

Cadet  worked  together,  and  their  rascalities  were  almost 
incredible. 

A  third  person  was  joined  with  Cadet  and  Deschenaux 

in  the  leadership  of  a  ring  which  planned  boldly  to  master 

for  its  profit  the  whole  resources  of  the  colony.  This  third 

person  was  Major  Pean,  a  Canadian  by  birth,  the  son  of 

a  military  officer  and  himself  an  officer.  In  his  case  no 

personal  quality  secured  the  favour  of  the  Intendant.  His 

merit  consisted  in  the  charms  of  his  wife.    Bigot  had  shown 
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openly  his  admiration  for  some  of  the  handsome  ladies  whom 

he  entertained  so  prodigally,  but  he  found  his  admiration 

discouraged  either  by  them  or  by  their  husbands.  Madame 

Pean  was  not  beautiful  but  she  was  young,  lively,  and  witty. 

When  she  received  the  Intendant's  advances,  he  vowed  to 
make  her  the  envy  of  the  other  women  in  Canada.  In  the 

end  the  pleasure-loving  Intendant  became  her  slave.  *  He 

went  regularly  to  spend  his  evenings  with  her,'  we  are  told,i 

'  and  she  formed  a  little  court  of  persons  of  her  own  stamp 
who  gained  her  protection  by  their  deference  and,  since  the 

Intendant  could  refuse  her  nothing,  made  fortunes.  This 

went  so  far  that  those  who  had  need  of  promotion  or  employ- 
ment could  get  what  they  desired  only  through  her. 

Domestics,  lackeys,  and  other  persons  of  no  account  became 

storekeepers  at  the  posts.  Ignorance  and  depravity  proved 

no  obstacle.  Employments  were,  in  brief,  given  to  those  she 
named,  without  discrimination,  and  her  recommendation 

was  worth  as  much  as  the  greatest  merit.'  It  would  not 
be  easy  to  find,  though  the  scale  is  smaller,  a  more  exact 

parallel  of  Madame  de  Pompadour  at  the  Court  of  Louis  XV 

than  this  of  Madame  Pean  at  the  Court  of  Bigot  on  the 
confines  of  the  Canadian  wilderness.  There  is  the  difference, 

however,  that  the  great  lady  in  the  Old  World  had  little 

part  in  vulgar  corruption  and  showed  sometimes  a  sense  of 

responsibility  in  the  use  of  power  which  her  copy  in  the 

New  World  lacked.  Pean  profited  by  his  own  complai- 
sance. Cadet  and  Deschenaux  found  it  wise  to  make  him 

the  third  member  of  the  triumvirate,  which  existed  for 

the  sake  of  plunder.  Among  other  things  Pean  was  given 

a  commission  to  buy  grain  for  the  King's  service.  Bigot 
lent  him  the  money  for  this  enterprise.  Pean  bought  the 

grain  at  a  low  price  for  ready  money,  A  little  later.  Bigot, 

using  his  authority,  issued  a  regulation  which  named  a  high 

^  Memoires  sur  le  Canada,  1749-60. 
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price  for  grain,  and  when  Pean  sold  his  supply  he  made 

a  great  profit. 

In  the  early  days  it  was  Bigot  who  led  in  the  frauds. 
At  that  time  he  and  one  Breard,  the  Controller  of  Marine 

at  Quebec,  had  worked  together  in  systematic  plunder. 

They  imported  goods  from  France  and  then  sold  them  to 

the  Government  at  a  very  extravagant  price.  Bigot  thus 

used  his  official  position  to  rob  the  King  whom  he  served. 

At  first  Cadet  was  Bigot's  pupil,  but  he  proved  to  be  a  pupil 
so  apt  that  he  soon  became  the  master.  It  may  be  that 

Bigot  drew  back  from  this  distorted  image  of  himself.  At 

any  rate  the  two  men  quarrelled.  Bigot  poured  contempt 

on  Cadet  as  base-born  and  at  last  denounced  him  as  a 

criminal.  Certainly  Cadet  plundered  on  a  colossal  scale 

and  Bigot's  achievements  in  fraud  pale  before  his.  When 
both  men  were  found  guilty,  Cadet  was  ordered  to  pay  back 

from  his  spoils  four  times  as  much  as  was  required  of  Bigot. 
If  Vaudreuil  was  not  in  collusion  with  the  thieves  he  was 

certainly  very  blind.  There  was,  at  times,  a  reckless  candour 

in  Bigot.  Himself  corrupt,  he  invited  corruption  in  others. 

Vergor,  an  army  captain,  bad  in  manners  as  well  as  in 

character,  dull  and  uneducated,  became  the  friend  of  Bigot, 

probably  by  sharing  some  of  his  vices.  Bigot  had  secured  for 

him  the  command  at  Fort  Beausejour,  and  this  is  the  style 

in  which  the  man  next  to  the  Governor  in  authority  wrote, 

on  leaving  for  France  in  1754,  to  an  officer  in  a  position 

of  trust  :  '  Profit,  my  dear  Vergor,'  wrote  Bigot,  '  by  your 
place  ;  trim,  lop  off ;  all  power  is  in  your  hands  ;  do  it 

so  that  you  may  be  able  soon  to  come  and  join  me  in 

France  and  buy  an  estate  near  mine.'  Villany  is  not  often 
as  refreshingly  frank  and  reckless  as  this  ;  we  almost  admire 

Bigot  for  his  occasional  candour.  To  Vaudreuil,  however, 

he  professed  to  be  a  model  of  virtue.  It  seems  certain  that 
Vaudreuil  himself  was  more  a  fool  than  a  knave.  His 

secretary,    St.    Sauveur,    was,    however,    a   rascal.      When 
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secretary  to  an  earlier  Governor,  St.  Sauveiir  had  begun  to 

amass  a  fortune  by  securing  a  monopoly  of  the  brandy 

trade  with  the  Indians.  Murray  spoke  of  him  as  a  swindler 

and  traitor,  who  abused  his  master's  confidence,  and 
wondered  that  Vaudreuil  could  be  so  blind.  Vaudreuil  was, 

indeed,  precisely  the  kind  of  man  whom  a  schemer  like 

St.  Sauveur  could  manage.  Whatever  the  limits  to 

Vaudreuil's  blame,  he  was,  no  more  than  Bigot,  a  check 
to  corruption  in  Canada.  He  must  at  least  have  seen  his 

own  relations  profiting  by  fraud.  It  is  specifically  charged 

that  he  made  a  large  fortune,  but  his  acquittal,  when  tried  in 

France  after  the  fall  of  Canada,  leaves  the  door  open  to  the 

belief  that  he  was  innocent  of  anything  but  incompetence. 

It  is  not  now  possible  to  fix  the  share  in  the  frauds  of 

each  of  the  persons  concerned.  Towards  the  end,  as  we 

have  seen.  Bigot  was  less  active  in  plunder  than  Cadet,  but 

he  must  have  known  what  Cadet  was  doing.  There  were 

other  great  thieves  and  lesser  thieves.  Some  members  of 

the  ring  formed  a  society  that  carried  on  extensive  trade. 

They  had  a  great  warehouse  at  Quebec  ;  there  was  a  similar 

warehouse  at  Montreal ;  and  in  both  places  the  people 
came,  in  the  end,  to  understand  what  these  warehouses 

stood  for  and  named  each  of  them  '  La  Friponne  ',  the 

swindle.  One  of  the  Intendant's  special  friends  was  Varin, 
a  vicious  libertine,  tiny  in  stature,  insignificant  in  appear- 

ance, but  perversely  ingenious  to  secure  dishonest  gain. 

He  was  an  official  in  the  Government  service  at  Moptreal 

and  the  chief  leader  in  fraud  at  that  place.  The  ring  had 

friends  and  accomplices  in  France.  Some  of  these  could 

meet  and  perhaps  silence  complaints  made  to  the  Court, 

others  could  assist  in  trading  operations  and  in  sending  out 

supplies.  They  did  some  swindling  on  their  own  account. 

Bigot  himself  complains  of  the  inferior  quality  of  goods 

which  they  sent  out  from  France. 

One  chief  source  of  Cadet's  profits  sprang  from  the  supply 
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of  rations  for  the  troops.  As  the  war  went  on  the  number 

of  regulaf  soldiers  in  the  service  tended  to  decline.  No 

considerable  reinforcements  arrived  from  France,  and  owing 

to  death,  illness,  and,  above  all,  desertion,  the  troops 

decreased  in  number  by  nearly  one-half.  Yet  Cadet 
continued  to  take  payment  for  rations  for  the  original 

number.  When  there  were  only  eight  thousand  men  in 

actual  service  he  was  paid  for  rations  for  thirteen  thousand. 

Moreover,  rations  charged  as  containing  two  pounds  of  food 

contained  only  a  pound  and  a  half.  As  long  ago  as  the 

time  when  the  Romans  conquered  and  plundered  Britain 
a  favourite  device  of  extortion  had  been  to  secure  control 

of  the  food  supply  of  the  people,  then  to  enhance  the  price, 

and  finally  to  sell  the  needed  grain  at  a  great  profit.  The 

triumvirs  bought  up  as  much  grain  as  they  could  and  placed 

it  in  great  storehouses  on  Pean's  seigniory  of  St.  Michel  on 
the  river  a  few  leagues  below  Quebec.  To  make  sure  of 

scarcity  they  shipped  some  of  their  stores  to  other  countries. 

When  grain  was  already  becoming  scarce,  Cadet  secured  from 

Bigot  an  order  to  make  a  levy  on  the  farmers  of  grain  for 

the  King's  posts.  Bigot  fixed  the  amount  to  be  levied,  but 
the  ring  went  beyond  this  and  took  all  the  grain  they  could 

find.  An  army  of  Cadet's  employes  would  descend  upon 
the  parishes  in  turn.  They  made  each  habitant  surrender 

what  they  chose  to  take  of  his  grain  or  cattle  with  no  regard 

whatever  to  his  own  needs.  For  the  grain  he  would  receive 

the  low  price  named  by  the  Intendant.  For  the  cattle  he 

received  nothing  at  the  time.  The  clerks  merely  made 

a  note  of  what  they  took  and  the  Munitioner  fixed  the  price 

later,  usually  at  not  more  than  one-third  of  what  it  would 
cost  to  replace  the  animals.  Sometimes  the  clerks  failed 

to  make  a  note  of  all  they  had  taken  and  the  habitant 

found  redress  practically  impossible.  If  he  went  to  Quebec 

to  make  a  direct  appeal  to  the  Intendant — upon  whose  kind 

heart  his  distress  would  probably  have  had  some  effect — 
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he  would  find  it  impossible  to  see  Bigot  or  to  reach  him  in 

any  way  with  the  story  of  his  wrongs.  A  too  persistent 

complainant  might  find  himself  helpless  in  prison.  When, 

by  such  methods,  all  the  available  supplies  had  been  secured 

and  the  cry  of  scarcity  had  begun,  the  Intendant  would 

come  forward  as  the  champion  of  the  needy.  He  would 

issue  an  ordinance,  apparently  preventing  extortion  by 

naming  a  price  for  wheat,  but  fixing  a  price  much  higher 

than  that  paid  by  those  who  now  held  the  grain.  At  this 

price  the  Government  would  buy  what  it  required  ;  the 

wretched  inhabitants  would  be  obliged  to  do  the  same  ; 

and  the  conspirators  would  make  a  great  profit. 

Another  type  of  fraud  worked  equally  well.  Under  official 

pressure  the  import  trade  of  the  colony  was  easily  con- 

centrated in  the  hands  of  members  of  the  ring.  By  Bigot's 
influence  they  imported  their  goods  free  of  duty,  on  the 

ground  that  they  were  for  the  King's  service.  It  was 

Bigot's  custom  each  year  to  send  to  France  requisitions  for 
the  supplies  of  the  army  and  of  the  civil  government  in 

Canada.  The  Intendant  took  good  care  to  order  less  than 

was  needed,  and  when  the  inevitable  deficiency  in  supplies 

appeared  the  Government  was  obliged  to  buy  heavily  from 

the  swindlers,  and  it  bought,  of  course,  at  a  great  advance 

in  price.  But  this  was  not  all.  The  King  not  merely  paid 

high  prices  ;  he  paid  for  what  he  did  not  get.  Corrupt 

officials  certified  accounts  for  goods  which  were  never 

delivered,  and  these  accounts  were  paid  in  the  regulkr  way. 

The  King  paid,  too,  for  goods  which  were  delivered  but 

which  could  not  possibly  be  required  for  his  service.  Expen- 
sive silks  and  velvets,  mirrors  mounted  upon  morocco,  and 

similar  articles  were  included  in  the  commodities  said  to 

be  necessary  at  the  posts  in  the  far  interior.  They  were 

sold  to  the  King  by  the  corrupt  ring,  and  if  furnished  at 

all  were  no  doubt  used  by  the  plunderers  or  their  mistresses 
at  no  cost  to  themselves. 
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The  fur  trade  was  the  backbone  of  the  commercial  life 

of  Canada  and  its  profits  were  very  large.     Step  by  step, 

the  French  traders  had  penetrated  farther  and  farther  into 

the  interior  until,  about  twenty-five  years  before  the  fall  of 
Canada,  the  Canadian  brothers  La  Verendrye  had  actually 

reached  the  foot-hills  of  the  Rocky  Mountains.     The  fur- 
traders   needed   military   protection,    and   to   provide   this 

France  had  built  forts  and  trading  posts  on  the  chief  rivers 
and  on  the  Great  Lakes  as  centres  of  trade  with  the  Indians. 

The  forts  were  in  command  of  military  officers  and  were 

of  course   a  part   of  the   military   equipment   of  Canada, 

supported  by  the  Government.     To  them  supplies  were 

carried  at  the  King's  expense  ;    to  them  also  presents  were 
sent    for   the    Indians,    in    order    to    keep   them   friendly. 

Obviously  such  a  situation  furnished  the  opportunity  to 

plunder.    The  route  to  the  interior  was  at  best  difficult  and 

exposed  to  accident.     The  transport  was  by  canoes,  and 

those  who  set  out  from  Montreal  even  early  in  the  spring 

would  be  unlikely  to  make  the  long  journey  and  to  return 
to  Montreal  before  the  autumn.    The  rivers  and  lakes  were 

often  stormy.    Heavy  sacks  had  to  be  carried  across  portages 

on  men's  backs.     On  such  journeys,  even  with  an  honest 

accounting,  the  King's  stores  were  likely  to  suffer.     But 
there  was  not  an  honest  accounting.    What  was  easier  than 

that  kegs  of  brandy  should  become  more  than  half  water 

on  the  long  journey  ?     What  was  more  simple  than  to  sell 

a  keg  of  the  King's  brandy  or  a  package  of  the  King's  goods 
to  some  trader  met  by  the  way  and  then  to  report  that  it 

had  been  thrown  overboard  to  save  the  canoe  while  crossing 

a  stormy  lake  ?     In  the  hands  of  Cadet  and  his  friends  it 

was  sure  to  be  the  King's  goods  that  suffered  by  such 
mishaps. 

The  pillage  in  connexion  with  the  forts  and  posts  in  the 

interior  was  so  rich  that  positions  of  influence  at  these 

places  came  to  be  much  coveted.     An  unscrupulous  man 
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could  make  requisitions  and  certify  bills  for  many  times 

the  amount  of  the  goods  he  received,  and  he  and  the  officials 

at  Montreal  and  Quebec  would  share  in  the  profits  of  the 

robbery.  The  so-called  presents  for  the  Indians  were  in 
reality  sometimes  sold  to  them.  Goods  sent  as  supplies  for 

the  King's  troops  were  also  sold.  Furs  bought  with  the 

King's  money  and  worth  great  sums  were  appropriated  by 
dishonest  officials  and  sold  for  their  own  benefit.  It  is  clear 

that  some  of  the  military  officers  at  the  forts  took  part  in 

this  plunder.  But  the  officers  who  fell  were,  for  the  most 

part,  in  the  colonial  service  and  long  resident  in  the  colony  ; 

few  officers  of  the  regular  army  who  served  in  the  regiments 

of  Montcalm  and  Levis  were  involved.  Courage  and  honour 

were  not  passports  for  securing  or  holding  a  position  at 

a  fort  or  trading  post.  Those  who  would  not  lend  themselves 

to  the  plans  of  the  leaders  were  likely  to  be  turned  out  of 

their  places.  It  happened  that  men  too  persistently  honest 

were  imprisoned  onsome  trumped-up  charge,  A  year  or  two 
in  the  interior  gave  time  for  amassing  a  considerable  fortune. 

Another  opportunity  for  fraud  was  found  in  the  contracts 

for  transporting  supplies  to  the  forts  in  the  far  interior  or 

from  Quebec  and  Montreal  to  adjacent  points.  We  have 

details  of  what  happened  in  connexion  with  transport  from 

Montreal  to  St.  Johns  and  Chambly,  forts  not  many  miles 

away,  on  the  Richelieu  River.  In  the  name  of  persons 

who,  in  reality,  had  only  a  slight  interest  in  the  contract, 

Pean  and  others  undertook  this  work.  The  King  furnished 

the  boats  ;  they  were  taken  to  the  mouth  of  the  Richelieu 

River  at  Sorel  by  the  King's  soldiers,  and  from  there  up 
the  river  to  their  destination  by  habitants  impressed  in  the 

King's  name,  under  what  was  known  as  a  corvee.  For  such 
service  the  contractors  paid  out  almost  nothing,  but  they 

charged  the  King  a  high  price.  In  addition  to  this  their 

accounts  against  the  King  were  sometimes  paid  more  than 
once. 
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The  plunderers  made  profit  even  out  of  tlie  misfortunes 

of  the  Acadians,  people  of  their  own  blood.  These  had  been 

driven  from  their  homes  in  what  is  now  Nova  Scotia,  partly 

by  the  policy  of  the  French,  who  did  not  wish  them  to 
remain  and  accept  British  rule,  but  more  completely  by 

the  British,  who  expelled  them  from  their  farms  because 

they  would  not  take  the  oath  of  allegiance.  Those  who, 

helpless  and  poor,  found  refuge  within  the  frontier  of  Canada, 

were  in  an  especial  degree  the  wards  of  the  King  of  France. 

The  Court  was  ready  to  help  them  and  at  great  cost  sent 

food  and  supplies  for  this  purpose.  Here  was  an  unexpected 

opening  for  fraud.  These  supplies  were  forwarded  to  the 

Acadians  from  Quebec,  and  from  Louisbourg,  before  it  fell. 

The  King  paid  for  good  food  for  them  ;  but  they  were  fed 

with  bad  food  or  not  fed  at  all.  Some  goods  disappeared 

entirely  on  the  way.  With  what  seems  to  us  grim  humour 
these  starving  Acadians  were  supposed  to  need  for  their 

comfort  damasks,  satins,  and  other  articles  of  luxury.  These 

were  accordingly  bought  for  the  King  at  heavy  cost,  and  were 

then  sent  at  great  cost  to  points  far  remote,  there  to  be 

sold  at  a  low  price  to  the  Acadians  in  order  to  help  them. 

Not  the  Acadians,  however,  but  representatives  of  the  cor- 
rupt ring  bought  them,  for  almost  nothing,  and  sent  them 

back  to  Quebec  to  be  sold  at  their  real  value.  It  was,  we 

are  told,  '  a  pretty  woman  '  {une  jolie  femme),  to  whom  Bigot 
could  refuse  nothing,  who  managed  this  fraud.  Many  of 

the  unhappy  Acadians  were  brought  to  Quebec  in  the  year 

after  their  expulsion.  It  was  a  time  of  scarcity.  They 

were  denied  bread  and  were  fed  on  horse-flesh.  Many  of 
them  died.  These  homeless  people  were  not  allowed  to  go 

to  the  places  in  Canada  which  offered  the  best  chance  of 

success.  Those  who  were  willing  to  settle  near  Quebec  on 

Madame  Pean's  seigniory  and  also  on  Vaudreuil's  seigniory 
were  given  the  adequate  help  denied  to  others.  Misfortune 

was  no  protection  against  the  cruelty  of  the  plunderers. 
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When  the  Acadians  presented  paper  money  at  Quebec, 

Bigot's  secretary,  by  delay  in  redeeming  it,  forced  them  in 
the  end  to  accept  one-half  or  one-third  of  its  face  value. 
Later  he  himself  received  from  the  Government  the  full 
amount. 

It  must  not  be  supposed  that  no  voices  of  protest  were 

raised  against  this  system.  Montcalm  had  seen  what  was 

going  on.  Some  of  the  officers  in  the  French  service  were, 

he  said,  '  stealing  like  mandarins',  and  the  pettiest  ensign 

was  growing  rich.  The  mode  of  living  in  Canada  in  Bigot's 
circle  attracted  attention,  for  it  became  extravagant  beyond 

measure.  In  a  country  chiefly  remarkable  for  the  poverty 

and  want  of  its  people,  men  were  building  large  houses, 

driving  expensive  equipages,  and  gambling  for  excessive 

sums.  Cases  of  the  rapid  accumulation  of  a  fortune  were 
much  talked  of.  A  certain  Fillet  at  Lachine  made  600,000 

livres  in  a  single  year  by  transporting  the  King's  goods. 
Another  inhabitant  of  Lachine  made  a  fortune  out  of  charges 

for  storing  the  King's  goods  in  his  house  ;  needless  to  say, 

the  King's  goods  placed  in  his  custody  were  plundered. 
The  Church,  to  her  credit,  spoke  out  against  the  scandals. 

The  author  of  the  most  scathing  account  of  these  evils  ̂  
tells  us  that  he  was  himself  present  in  a  parish  church  when 

a  priest  described  and  attacked  the  frauds.  He  called  those 

who  received  the  stolen  goods  thieves,  blamed  the  Intendant 

and  the  Governor  for  what  was  going  on,  aild  demanded 
restitution  to  those  who  had  suffered.  A  whole  battalion 

of  troops  was  present  to  hear  this  sermon,  as  were  also 

many  of  the  inhabitants.  The  fact  that  those  who  shared 

in  the  frauds  were  either  natives  of  the  colony  or  had  been 

resident  in  it  for  some  time  is  best  explained  when  we 

remember  that  its  life  had  long  been  corrupted  by  this 

system  and  that  permanent  residents  in  the  country  were 

*  AHmoires  stir  le  Canada,  1749-60. 
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in  a  better  position  than  were  new-comers  to  share  in  the 

plunder. 
Very  little  gold  or  silver  was  in  circulation  in  Canada 

and  business  was  carried  on  with  the  medium  of  paper 

money.  A  part  of  this  was  in  the  form  of  cards  issued  by 

the  authority  of  the  French  Court.  But,  since  the  total 

amount  of  the  card  money  was  only  one  million  francs,  this 

was  not  enough  to  carry  on  the  business  of  the  country, 

and  the  Intendant  had  supplemented  it  by  a  system  of  his 

own.  As  occasion  arose  he  issued  what  were  called  ordi- 

nances. These  were  the  equivalent  of  the  modern  bank- 
notes and  ranged  in  amount  from  one  franc  to  a  hundred 

francs.  They  were  accepted  everywhere  for  purchases  by 

the  Government  and  they  formed  the  chief  currency  of  the 

colony.  If  a  holder  wished  to  have  his  ordinances  redeemed, 

all  he  had  to  do  was  to  present  them  in  October  at  the 

government  offices.  In  return  he  received  drafts  on  the 

royal  Treasury  in  France  which  were  duly  honoured.  As 

long  as  the  credit  of  France  was  good  and  it  was  certain 
that  the  drafts  would  be  met,  all  went  well.  Until  the 

autumn  of  1759  the  ordinances  seem  to  have  been  accepted 

everywhere  without  much  question. 

But  now  the  system  was  breaking  down.  In  October 

1759  France  herself  suspended  payment  for  a  time  on  no 

less  than  eleven  descriptions  of  stock,  and  Horace  Walpole 

says  that  on  the  list  of  bankrupts  drawn  up  in  all  seriousness 

in  England  was  the  French  King,  under  the  name  of  '  Louis 
le  Petit,  of  the  city  of  Paris,  peace  broker,  dealer,  and 

chapman  '.  The  drafts  from  Canada,  due  in  this  year, 
were  not  paid,  and  the  Government  announced  that  none 

would  be  paid  until  the  peace.  This  of  itself  would  have 
discredited  the  ordinances.  But  there  were  other  causes  of 

unrest.  For  some  years  the  French  Court  had  protested 

against  the  excessive  amount  of  the  drafts  of  Bigot.  Re- 
peated charges  of  corruption  had  already  been  made  against 

G  2 
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him,  and  an  official,  M.  Ouerdisien-Tremais,  was  now  in 
Canada  to  inquire  into  Canadian  finance.  Matters  had  gone 

beyond  the  Intendant's  control.  M.  Ouerdisien-Tremais 
wrote  to  the  Minister  on  September  22,  1759,  only  a  few 

days  after  the  fall  of  Quebec.  He  says  that  he  has  found 

it  difficult  to  get  information.  The  greatest  disorder  exists. 

Every  kind  of  officer  from  the  highest  to  the  lowest  engages 

in  trade,  and  the  greed  for  gain  is  insatiable.  Discipline 

in  the  army  is  relaxed  and  the  common  soldiers  are  given 

the  greatest  licence.^ 
Bigot  was  in  the  power  of  those  who  had  aided  him  in 

rearing  the  stupendous  fabric  of  fraud,  and  they  now  showed 

increased  eagerness  to  lay  hands  on  all  they  could  get  before 

the  final  collapse.  From  the  fall  of  Quebec  to  that  of 

Montreal  the  only  thought  was  of  brigandage.  There  was 

a  torrent  of  corruption.  When  Bigot  could  no  longer  gratify 

his  partners  in  dishonesty  they  began  to  abuse  him.  His 

generosity  had  made  for  him  not  friends  but  ingrates.  To 

keep  them  quiet,  the  Intendant  was  obliged  to  let  them  do 

what  they  liked,  and  he  found  their  demands  insatiable. 

In  this  autumn  of  1759  new  plunderers  were  sent  to  the 

interior  posts  to  make  what  they  could  while  yet  there  was 

time.  Soon  staggering  demands  came  in  from  the  posts — 
accounts  with  the  proper  amount  multiplied  by  five  or  six. 

Levis,  new  to  the  supreme  command,  received  invoices 

amounting  to  great  sums  for  supplies  for  the  King's  service. 
He  was  in  no  position  to  verify  them  and  he  let  them  pass. 

He  moved  freely,  too  freely  some  of  his  friends  thought, 

in  the  society  that  profited  by  fraud.  His  relations  indeed 
with  the  wife  of  one  of  the  chief  swindlers  were  such  as  to 

cause  scandal.  The  demands  upon  the  Treasury  became 

ever  more  excessive,  the  volume  of  outstanding  ordinances 

was   greatly   increased,    and   it    was    more   than    doubtful 

'  Manuscript  in  Canadian  Archives. 
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whether  the  Court  could  or  would  honour  the  drafts  now 

to  be  made  upon  it  to  redeem  the  ordinances. 

Bigot,  who,  after  the  fall  of  Quebec,  made  his  head- 
quarters at  Montreal,  was  in  a  desperate  position.  It  was 

October,  the  month  when  he  must  redeem  the  ordinances 
and  issue  the  drafts  on  France  for  sums  that  would  startle 

the  Court.  With  the  British  fleet  in  command  of  the  river 

it  was  very  doubtful  whether  any  communication  with 

France  was  possible.  Early  in  October,  using  what  was, 
in  the  circumstances,  not  an  invalid  excuse  for  haste,  the 

Intendant  sent  a  crier  through  the  streets  of  Montreal  to 

announce  that  only  three  days  would  be  allowed  for  pre- 
senting the  ordinances  at  the  Government  ofhces  and 

securing  drafts  on  France.  Of  course  those  who  did  not 

present  them  within  that  time  must  keep  them  for  at  least 

another  year,  and,  with  Quebec  in  the  hands  of  the  English, 

another  year  would  probably  see  the  entire  ruin  of  the 

colony.  The  Intendant's  plan  caused  commotion.  Many 
of  the  ordinances  were  held  outside  of  Montreal  and  it  was 

impossible  to  present  them  during  the  limited  time  that  had 

been  named.  After  some  days  Bigot's  house  was  assailed 
by  those  who  had  brought  their  paper  money,  only  to  find 

that  the  days  allowed  by  him  had  expired.  Vehement 

were  the  curses  upon  the  Intendant.  His  course  meant 

ruin  for  nearly  every  one  and  especially  for  those  who  held 

these  ordinances  as  their  only  pay  for  supplies  sold  to  the 

Government.  It  was  double  robbery  to  have  their  goods 

taken  at  a  low  price  and  to  be  paid  in  money  now  rendered 

worthless.  But  Bigot  persisted  ;  a  precipice  was  before 

him,  a  wolf  behind  ;  if  he  failed  to  take  up  the  ordinances 

in  Canada  the  Canadians  would  be  against  him  ;  but  if  he 

took  them  up  by  heavy  drafts  on  France  the  Court  would 

be  more  alarmed  than  ever  and  might  repudiate  him  entirely. 

His  action  in  demanding  the  sudden  presentation  of  the 

ordinances  made  worthless  those  that  remained,  and  specu- 
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lators  were  soon  able  to  buy  them  at  about  one-fifth  of 
their  face  value.  A  cynic  might  say,  indeed,  that  this 

collapse  hardly  mattered,  for  the  complete  ruin  of  the  colony 

was  imminent  in  any  case.  The  Government's  credit  was 
gone.  Since  no  one  would  take  the  paper  money,  Levis, 

when  he  needed  resources,  was  obliged  to  borrow  what  gold 

and  silver  his  officers  and  men  possessed.  This  left  them 

in  a  pitiable  plight.  Some  of  the  officers  sold  even  their 

clothes  to  supply  their  wants. 
In  such  a  situation  it  is  obvious  that  at  Montreal  in  the 

winter  of  1759-60  the  Gallic  gaiety  was  subjected  to  some 
strain.  Vaudreuil  was  already  there  when  Levis  arrived  in 

person  to  make  it  the  centre  of  his  plans  against  Quebec. 

Reports  reached  the  British  that  Montreal  was  facing  its 

tasks  cheerfully.  Dim  echoes  of  the  gossip  of  the  time 

reach  us.  Vaudreuil's  personal  conduct  appears  to  have 
been  immaculate  ;  in  regard  to  him  and  his  devout  wife 

scandal  is  silent.  Levis,  on  the  other  hand,  was  no  better, 

and  probably  no  worse,  than  the  average  courtier  of  his 

age.  His  favourite  saying  that  '  one  must  be  on  good 

terms  with  every  one  ',  shows  that  he  could  adjust  himself 
to  his  surroundings.  With  his  conspicuous  graces  of  person 

he  made  himself  agreeable  to  the  ladies  of  Montreal.  In 

spite  of  the  shadows  hanging  over  this  society,  it  managed  to 
amuse  itself.  The  Intendant,  the  officers,  and  the  ladies 

all  alike  gambled  with  a  passion  and  on  a  scale  startling 

even  to  those  familiar  with  gambling  scenes  in  France. 

They  danced  :  Montreal  was  as  gay  as  Versailles.  We  hear 

sometimes  of  bitterly  cold  weather,  but,  since  no  opposing 

army  was  near  to  cut  off  access  to  the  forests,  Montreal 

was  not  in  the  same  distressing  straits  for  firewood  as 

Quebec.  Prices  were,  however,  high.  A  cord  of  wood, 

which  usually  cost  as  little  as  six  livres,  was  now  sold  for 

from  eighty  to  a  hundred  livres.  Provisions  were  so  scarce 

that   even   persons   who  had  money  found   it   difficult   to 
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buy  what  they  needed.  When  Lent  drew  near  there  was 

unconscious  humour  in  the  Bishop's  permission  to  omit  the 
usual  Lenten  abstinence.  He  commanded  instead  prayers 

for  a  happy  issue  from  adversity  and  for  a  speedy  and 

enduring  peace  between  the  two  crowns. 

Perhaps  to  inspire  his  followers  Levis  professed  no  mis- 
givings about  the  future  ;  he  talked  as  if  he  had  only  to 

present  himself  before  Quebec  to  ensure  its  falling  into  his 

hands.  In  words  the  French  could  hardly  have  been  more 

certain  had  Quebec  already  fallen.  Any  one  expressing 

misgivings  was  denounced  as  '  English  '.  An  amusing  com- 
ment upon  this  gasconade  was  furnished  when  Montreal  fell 

into  a  panic  in  March  at  reported  traces  in  the  adjacent 

forest  of  an  English  camp.  The  alarm  was  needless.  What 

had  been  discovered  was  an  old  camp  abandoned  by  the 

French.  Sometimes  Levis  spoke  of  a  wild  scheme,  which 

Montcalm  had  also  cherished,  of  leaving  Canada  to  its  fate 

and  of  leading  his  forces  farther  into  the  interior,  past 
Lake  Ontario  and  Lake  Erie  and  down  the  Ohio  and  the 

Mississippi  to  Louisiana.  This  was,  however,  in  his  darker 

moments.  What  he  really  hoped  for  was  to  keep  up  the 

fight  until,  at  an  early  date,  as  he  expected,  peace  should 

be  concluded.  Meanwhile  he  faced  his  tasks  cheerfully 

enough. 

There  were  disagreements  with  the  British  over  the  effects 

which  the  French  officers  had  left  in  Quebec.  The  British 

had  agreed  that  these  should  be  returned  to  their  owners. 

Vaudreuil  sent  some  schooners  down  to  Quebec  bearing  his 

own  maitre  d'hotel,  Bigot's  valet,  and  other  servants  to 
recover  and  bring  back  the  numerous  trunks  and  packages. 

On  the  plea  that  these  servants  might  be  officers  in  disguise, 

who  would  take  military  notes,  the  British  refused  to  allow 

them  to  go  about  freely  in  the  town.  The  garrison  sent 

to  France  had  been  allowed  only  one  day  to  claim  their 

belongings,  and  the  British  at  first  insisted  that  only  this 
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time  could  now  be  allowed  for  the  later  claimants.  The 

effects  must,  they  said,  be  collected  in  the  morning  and 

examined  and  sealed  and  shipped  the  same  afternoon. 

M.  Bernier,  the  commissioner,  was  in  despair.  There  were 

not  fifteen  carters  in  the  whole  town.  '  One  might  as  well 

try  to  seize  the  moon  with  one's  teeth,'  he  said,  as  to  do 
what  was  required.  He  had  lost  his  horse  and  had  worn 

himself  out  going  on  foot  from  the  General  Hospital  to  the 
town.  In  the  end  the  British  relaxed  the  conditions  some- 

what. A  crier  went  through  the  town  to  order  those  who 

had  effects  to  embark  to  get  them  ready.  A  good  many 

people  had  requested  M.  Bernier  to  claim  their  property 

for  them.  In  some  cases  these  belongings  had  been  moved 

to  other  places.  It  happened,  too,  that  owners  had  given 

inadequate  directions.  '  I  should  have  needed  a  thousand 

legs  if  I  had  done  all  that  was  asked  of  me,'  Bernier  says. 

Two  British  officers  accompanied  him  from  eight  o'clock  in 

the  morning  until  five  in  the  evening,  '  I  did  nothing  but 
run  from  the  Upper  to  the  Lower  Town  with  the  two 

examiners,  going  from  house  to  house.'  He  put  his  seal  on 
not  less  than  three  hundred  trunks  and  felt,  he  declares, 
like  an  excise  officer.  He  admits  that  some  of  the  trunks 

thus  sealed  contained  merchandise  on  which  their  owners 

expected  to  make  a  profit  of  300  or  400  per  cent,  when  it 

was  sold  at  Montreal  and  other  points. 

Vaudreuil  was  fussily  busy  during  these  last  days  of  his 

rule.  He  must  have  kept  occupied  a  small  army  of  secretaries, 

for  he  wrote  interminable  letters  and  memoirs  full  of  petty 

comments  upon  events  from  day  to  day,  of  boastful  promises 

as  to  what  he  should  still  do  to  save  the  colony,  and  of 

efforts  to  prove  to  his  correspondents  his  own  competence. 

He  was  ignoble  enough  to  attack  in  a  scurrilous  way  the 

memory  of  the  dead  Montcalm.  So  jealous  was  he  of  his 

rival  that  he  did  not  shrink  from  planning  to  examine  his 

private  papers — a  proposal  which  Levis,  in  whose  custody 
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they  had  been  left,  checked  by  a  stern  letter.  Even  after 

this  Vaudreuil  did  not  hold  his  hand.  On  October  30,  1759, 

he  wrote  a  long  letter  to  the  Minister  piling  up  grave 

charges. 

'  From  the  moment  of  M.  de  Montcalm's  coming  to  the 
colony  until  his  death  he  did  not  cease  to  sacrifice  every- 

thing to  his  boundless  ambition.  .  ,  .  He  tolerated  among 
the  soldiers  every  kind  of  outrageous  talk  against  the 
Government  and  allied  himself  with  the  most  disreputable 
persons.  .  .  .  Upon  the  people  he  or  his  regular  troops  laid 
a  terrible  yoke.  He  abused  those  who  were  honest,  sup- 

ported insubordination,  and  shut  his  eyes  to  the  pillage 
which  the  soldiers  carried  on  ;  he  even  allowed  them  to 
sell  before  his  face  the  provisions  and  cattle  which  they 
had  stolen  from  the  habitants.  I  am  in  despair,  Monseigneur, 
to  be  obliged  to  paint  such  a  portrait  of  the  dead  Marquis 
de  Montcalm,  but  it  contains  only  the  exact  truth.  I  should 
have  said  nothing  had  I  remembered  only  his  personal  hate 
to  myself,  but  I  am  too  deeply  grieved  by  the  fall  of  Quebec 
to  conceal  from  you  the  cause  which  is  generally  recognized 

by  the  public' 

At  Montreal  Levis  had  taken  up  his  residence  in  the 

house  formerly  occupied  by  Montcalm.  The  officers  who 

surrounded  him  were  not  a  happy  family.  Adversity  had 

not  brought  them  to  sink  minor  differences.  Vaudreuil 

reports  to  the  Minister  on  November  9  a  case  in  which 

officers  came  to  blows.  There  were  keen  jealousies.  Vau- 

dreuil's  brother,  M.  Rigaud,  who  held  the  post  of  Governor 
of  Montreal,  was  bitterly  incensed  because  Levis  had  been 

placed  over  him  in  authority.  He  declared  that  it  had 

been  done  by  Vaudreuil  because  Levis,  unlike  himself, 

would  shut  his  eyes  to  Cadet's  frauds.  This  was  a  pretty 
family  quarrel  and,  in  the  end,  Rigaud  refused  any  longer 

to  remain  under  the  same  roof  with  Vaudreuil  and  sought 

quarters  elsewhere.  We  hear  echoes  of  spiteful  talk  about 

the  liaisons  of  Levis  ;  he  boasted  that  his  family  was  related 

to  the  Virgin  Mary,  and  he  relied  more  upon  that,  it  was 

said,  than  upon  attention  to  his  religious  duties.     It  was 
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an  old  story  that  Bougainville's  rapid  advancement  was 
attributed  to  the  favour  of  Madame  de  Pompadour  ;  and 

Vaudreuil's  pompous  ways  and  interminable  flow  of  words 
come  in  for  some  guarded  satire.  Many  of  the  officers 

were,  like  Vaudreuil,  inveterate  letter- writers,  and  their 
correspondence  shows  how  keen  were  their  discords.  Few 

of  them  had  any  interest  in  or  cared  about  Canada.  To 

them  the  '  wretched  colony  '  as  they  often  called  it,  meant 
nothing.  On  the  whole,  however,  these  officers  were  brave 

men  willing  to  do  a  soldier's  duty  wherever  they  were 
placed.  Their  letters  are  dignified  and  we  have  from  them 

no  real  complaints.  But  promotion  in  France  is  what  they 

were  always  aiming  at.  To  secure  it  they  prepared  inter- 

minable petitions.  One  of  the  chief  anxieties  of  Levis  him- 
self was  to  secure  not  merely  decorations  as  distinguished 

as  those  of  Montcalm  but  something  beyond  this — the 

cordon  bleu — and  his  keenest  hopes  at  this  time  are,  he  says, 
not  for  a  money  reward  but  for  this  honour.  Talk  as  he 

might,  he  had  little  real  hope  that  the  colony  could  be 

saved  by  anything  but  peace.  He  could  only  strive  that 

he  and  the  other  officers  should  win  glory  even  from 
disaster. 

Upon  the  Intendant  fell  the  responsibility  of  provisioning 

the  army  in  Canada,  and  he  gave  orders  to  Cadet  for  supplies 

which  that  clever  person,  now  at  war  with  Bigot,  declared 

he  could  not  possibly  fill.  It  was  at  best  'a  difficult  task 
to  feed  the  army  and  it  would  have  been  more  difficult 

had  all  the  troops  been  kept  at  Montreal.  They  were 

accordingly  distributed  to  different  points  and  a  good  many 

of  them  were  quartered  on  the  inhabitants.  These  were  to 

be  paid  fifteen  livres  a  month  for  each  soldier  whom  they 

received.  Cadet,  while  paying  this  price,  drew  from  the 

Government  much  larger  sums  than  he  paid  and  was  thus 

able  to  reap  a  corrupt  profit  for  his  comfort  in  a  time  of 

adversity.    Sometimes  with  pay,  but  also  sometimes  with- 
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out  it,  the  unfortunate  inhabitants  were  obliged  to  furnish 

whatever  they  had  that  the  army  desired.  Levis,  who 

admits  that  he  took  nearly  all  their  cattle,  at  the  same  time 

urged  his  men  to  treat  them  with  gentleness.  M.  Querdisien- 
Tremais  declares,  however,  that  the  French  soldiers  treated 

the  Canadians  with  great  brutality,  devastating  in  the  most 

deplorable  way  the  fields  in  which  their  crops  were  ripening, 

robbing  them  of  vegetables,  poultry,  and  cattle,  with  a  waste 

that  was  pitiable  in  view  of  the  impending  famine.  The 

Chevalier  Johnstone  says  that  the  Canadians  were  '  devoured 

by  rapacious  vultures  ',  who  fattened  while  their  victims 

starved.  '  The  gentlemen  and  officers  are  very  devils  at 

taking  the  cattle  of  the  inhabitants,'  Bigot  wrote.  Plunder- 
ing was  not  the  less  unwelcome  to  the  habitants  because  it 

was  done  by  nominal  friends.  When  their  cattle  were 

carried  off  in  the  name  of  the  King,  the  owners  received  so 

poor  a  price  that  the  seizure  amounted  to  confiscation.  On 

the  other  hand,  when  the  people  who  received  so  little 

wished  to  buy,  they  found  prices  excessive  ;  a  pound  of 

butter  cost  from  twelve  to  fifteen  livres  (the  livre  being 

substantially  the  equivalent  of  the  modern  franc),  a  pound 

of  mutton  three  livres,  a  hen  twelve  livres,  a  pair  of  woollen 

socks  sixty  livres,  a  pair  of  shoes  thirty  livres,  and  so  on. 

In  time  the  Canadians  must  have  learned,  in  some  districts, 

at  least,  to  conceal  their  cattle  from  the  plunderers,  for  the 

British  found  an  adequate  supply  in  the  country  in  the 

autumn  of  1760.  Murray  says,  indeed,  that  horse-flesh  was 
served  to  the  troops  in  Canada  when  cattle  were  not  scarce, 

because  the  supposed  famine  would  justify  the  charging  to 

the  King  of  great  sums  for  provisions.  At  Quebec,  compared 

with  Montreal,  provisions  seemed  abundant  and  cheap. 

Murray  was  quite  willing  that  Levis  and  his  officers  should 

be  supplied  with  wines,  coffee,  sugar,  and  other  luxuries 

from  Quebec.  Matters  went,  however,  far  beyond  this. 

Johnstone  says  that  French  officers  at  Montreal,  '  whom  one 
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would  have  taken  for  merchants  rather  than  for  mihtary  ', 
managed,  during  the  winter,  to  carry  on  an  extensive  trade 

with  the  British  at  Quebec.  These  ofificers  brought  pro- 
visions to  Montreal  and  sold  them  there  at  such  prices  as 

to  make  fortunes.  Murray  remarked  that  their  conduct 

gave  him  a  poor  opinion  of  their  characters.  The  French 

officer,  Malartic,  even  declared  that,  in  spite  of  famine  at 

Montreal,  provisions  were  sent  down  the  river  from  that 

place  in  exchange  for  large  quantities  of  wine  and  brandy. 

So  heavy  was  this  traffic  that,  while  food  remained  dear, 

wine  and  spirits  fell  in  Montreal  to  one-fourth  of  their 

former  price.  Careful  soldiers  saw  danger  to  French  interests 

in  the  visits  of  traders  to  Quebec.  They  would  divulge  the 

French  plans,  wrote  Colonel  Dumas,  since  the  terror  which 

General  Murray  inspired  would  make  the  best-intentioned 

tell  everything.^ 
It  is  not  easy  to  determine  what  were  the  wishes  and 

hopes  of  the  inhabitants  of  the  country  as  a  whole.  Already 

there  was  a  deep  cleavage  between  the  colony  and  the 

motherland,  and  probably  the  majority  of  the  Canadians 

would  have  seen  gladly  the  end  of  the  war,  even  at  the  cost 

of  conquest  by  the  British.  As  soon  as  Quebec  fell  the 

unwillingness  of  the  Canadians  to  serve  longer  became  very 
marked.  Nor  need  we  wonder  at  their  attitude.  About 

four  thousand  of  their  houses  had  already  been  burned  by 

the  British  enemy.  Now  a  more  savage  enemy  threatened 

them,  for,  as  long  as  the  war  endured,  every  village  had 

a  haunting  dread  of  the  Indians.  The  French  leaders  had 

never  checked  with  sufficient  rigour  these  uneasy  allies  and 

now  in  the  days  of  France's  adversity  they  were  likely  to 
commit  bloody  excesses.  A  fewoiitrag£s_did  occur.  The 

losses  which  they  caused  were,  however,  trifling  compared 

with  the  exactions  and  privations  which  the  Canadiansjiad 
to  bearat_the  hands  of  their  own  defenders.    The  Chevalier 

*  Levis  MSS.,  xi.  171. 
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Johnstone  wondered  indeed  at  the  brave  endurance  of  the 

people  who  '  suffered  their  oppressors  without  a  murmur  '. 
Vaudreuil  could  still  speak  of  their  goodwill  and  zeal.  Yet 

many  served  sullenly  enough.  Most  of  the  Canadians  had 
returned  to  their  homes  for  the  winter,  and  now  when 

summoned  for  any  special  service  they  employed  every 

device  to  escape  the  unwelcome  duty.  The  frequent  excuse 

was  that  they  were  ill.  If  these  answers  represent  the 

truth  we  must  conclude  that  during  the  winter  whole  villages 

were  stricken  simultaneously  with  some  malady.  '  All  the 

world  is  ill,'  wrote  Bigot  of  the  Canadians.  Famine  was 
indeed  a  universal  cause  of  illness.  The  Chevalier  Johnstone 

describes  the  wan  and  starving  appearance  of  villagers, 

whose  supplies  of  food  were  carried  off  without  payment 

to  the  owners.  At  the  military  centres  it  was  noticeable 

that  the  Canadian  soldiers  were  more  subject  to  illness  than 

the  French,  owing,  no  doubt,  to  inadequate  nourishment 

and  want  of  proper  clothing  to  meet  the  severe  weather. 

The  civilian  population  suffered  fearfully.  Those  who  dwelt 

in  Montreal  were  hardly  better  off  than  the  farmers  in  the 

outlying  villages.  Commerce  was  ruined,  and  the  daily 

auction  sales  of  personal  effects  showed  either  the  pressing 

need  of  money  or  the  desire  to  get  rid  of  encumbrances 

and  to  quit  the  distressful  land  as  soon  as  possible. 

In  spite,  however,  of  discouragements  we  still  find  in  this 

demoralized  community  the  supreme  desire  to  retake 

Quebec.  Every  one  had  a  plan,  including,  as  the  Chevalier 

Johnstone  says  contemptuously,  '  women,  priests,  and 

ignoramuses.'  Long  memoirs  on  the  all-important  subject 
were  prepared  and  submitted  to  the  leaders.  Even  the 

Bishop  of  Quebec  joined  in  showing  how  Quebec  could  be 

taken.  One  memoir  suggests  that,  since  exact  information 

of  what  is  being  done  in  Quebec  is  needed,  the  Jesuits 

should  be  asked  to  furnish  spies.  '  They  are  able  to  inspire 
the  necessary  zeal  to  risk  even  life  in  a  task  to  which  the 
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motive  of  religion  may  properly  be  related.'  All  the  plans 
agreed  on  the  main  points  that  a  large  force — not  less  than 

8,000  men — would  be  required  and  that  the  army  must  take 
with  it  a  supply  of  ladders  to  aid  in  scaling  the  walls  of 

Quebec.  The  writers  discuss  such  small  details  as  that 

the  ladders  must  be  sharp  at  the  bottom  in  order  to  hold  in 

the  frozen  ground,  and  that  they  must  have  hooks  at  the 

top  so  as  to  rest  firmly  on  the  walls  ;  their  exact  length  is 

also  to  be  prescribed.  Some  hoped  that  with  the  aid  of 

spies  Quebec  could  be  surprised  ;  others,  with  more  reason, 

despaired  of  this  and  thought  that  the  only  way  would  be 

to  attack  it  openly,  to  tire  out  the  garrison  by  repeated 

alarms  until  they  surrendered,  or  until,  with  the  aid  possibly 

of  a  snow-storm,  the  town  could  be  carried  by  assault. 
Should  this  happen,  the  garrison  must  be  put  to  the  sword 

since  there  were  not  provisions  to  feed  them  ;  the  French 

could  then  live  on  the  supplies  of  the  British  and  await  in 

security  the  arrival  of  succour  from  France. 

The  engineer  Pontleroy  criticized  adversely  these  plans 

for  attack.  He  thought  them  certain  to  fail.  After  this 

failure  would  come  famine  more  acute,  the  discouragement, 

perhaps  the  revolt,  of  the  Canadians,  and  desertion  among 

the  regular  troops.  The  British,  on  the  other  hand,  with 

their  confidence  revived,  would  be  more  aggressive  than  ever. 

Moreover,  if  peace  came,  as  he  expected,  during  the  winter, 

the  generals  would  have  vain  regrets  over  the  futile  sacrifice 

of  brave  men.  But  even  Pontleroy  saw  that  the  British 

must  be  kept  in  fear  of  imminent  attack.  Vaudreuil,  full 

of  bombastic  courage,  was  reported  to  have  said  that  if  Levis 
would  not  undertake  the  attack,  he  would  himself  execute 

it  '  at  the  head  of  his  brave  Canadians  '.  Reckless  self- 
confidence  led  some  to  offer  a  practical  demonstration  of 

the  way  to  take  Quebec.  In  one  district,  where  a  supply 

of  ladders  had  been  secured,  practice  in  escalade  was  made 

on  a  neighbouring  church.     People  flocked  from  the  parishes 
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to  see  the  gallant  performance.  But  the  would-be  assailants 
of  Quebec  were  too  impetuous.  They  rushed  headlong  to 

the  mock  attack  ;  some  ladders-  slipped,  others  gave  way, 

and  broken  heads,  broken  arms,  and  broken  legs  were 

numerous.  '  These  accidents  ',  writes  Captain  Knox, ' ...  so 
effectually  chilled  the  enterprising  natives,  who  were  the 

first  promoters  of  this  Quixotic  undertaking,  that  they 

positively  refused,  upon  the  ladders  being  replaced,  to  make 

further  trial,  concluding  it  would  be  impracticable  to  recover 

the  town  by  insult  or  escalade.' 
The  French  outposts  near  Quebec  had  some  trying 

experiences.  At  Jacques  Cartier  the  officer  whom  Levis 

had  placed  in  command.  Colonel  Dumas,  a  competent  man, 

but  timid  about  taking  responsibility,  spent  the  winter  in 

deadly  fear  that  Murray  would  advance  and  overwhelm 

him.  The  inhabitants  of  the  neighbourhood  circulated  wild 

rumours  which  changed  from  day  to  day.  When  he  called 

upon  the  people  for  service  he  found  that  every  one  was  ill. 

So  uncertain  was  he  of  his  own  men  that  he  lived  in  daily 
dread  lest  the  British  should  bribe  some  of  them  to  burn 

the  fort.  In  March  1760,  a  fire  did  break  out  in  the  bakery, 

by  accident  it  should  seem,  and  it  was  little  short  of  a  miracle 

that  the  flames  did  not  reach  and  explode  the  magazine. 
When  Dumas  tried  to  muster  the  inhabitants  for  an  attack 

on  Quebec,  only  four  came  from  a  village  which  had  been 

expected  to  furnish  fifteen.  To  his  comfort,  however,  the 

four  brought  with  them  provisions  to  last  ten  days.  When 

he  brought  in  the  few  cattle  that  his  district  furnished  the 

poor  creatures  were  so  lean  that  it  was  hardly  worth  while  to 
kill  them  for  food.  A  remnant  of  the  Indians  of  St.  Francis, 

who,  owing  to  absence  with  the  French,  had  escaped  the 

massacre  by  Rogers,  deserted  the  south  side  of  the  river 

and,  crossing  to  the  north,  reached  Dumas  at  Jacques  Cartier. 

When  he  rebuked  them  for  having  abandoned  M.  Hertel, 

who  was  trying  to  organize  the  French  forces  in  their  own 
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district,  they  went  off  in  a  rage,  killing  some  of  the  wretched 

inhabitants  as  they  went.  The  incident  is  characteristic 

of  the  slight  control  which  the  French  had  maintained  over 

their  savage  ahies  throughout  the  war.^ 

We  have  seen  Bourlamaque's  efforts  at  Isle  aux  Noix  to 
check  any  English  advance  from  the  south.  Far  up  on  the 

St.  Lawrence,  near  the  head  of  the  rapids,  the  French  still 
held  the  mission  station  known  as  La  Presentation.  No 

longer  did  they  rely,  however,  upon  its  weak  defences. 

During  the  autumn  and  winter  they  built  a  new  fort  on  an 

island  a  few  miles  below  the  place  which  Gage  had  feared 

to  attack  in  the  autumn  of  1759.  This  fort  was  named  Fort 

Levis,  in  honour  of  that  general.  The  officer  in  command 

at  Fort  Levis  found  it  almost  impossible  to  get  work  done 

on  the  defences.  By  the  end  of  October,  140  men  of  his 
small  force  had  deserted,  and  after  this  others  continued 

to  go  off  with  impunity.  Demoralization  was  general. 

The  workmen,  ready  to  do  everything  but  their  proper 

tasks,  spent  the  time  in  providing  for  their  own  comfort 

and  amusement  rather  than  in  building  the  fort.  Chimneys 

built  with  great  labour,  but  without  proper  mortar  or  other 

material,  came  clattering  down  when  a  fire  was  built,  and 

there  was  the  imminent  prospect  that  the  barracks  would 

be  without  heat  during  the  severe  winter.  Desandroiiins, 

the  engineer  in  charge,  was  so  inconsolable  at  this  disaster 

that,  for  a  time,  he  would  take  no  food  and  seemed  likely 

to  fall  ill.  A  great  need  of  the  builders  was  sawn  planks. 

A  Jesuit  at  a  neighbouring  Indian  settlement,  St.  Regis, 

said  that  if  men  and  supplies  of  food  were  given  him  he 

would  furnish  the  needed  planks.  When  seven  men  were 

sent  the  Jesuit  used  their  labour  for  his  own  purposes  and 

sent  them  back  empty-handed.  Later  he  had  the  temerity 
to  plead  that  twenty  men  were  really  necessary,  but  were 

^  Letters  of  Vaudreuil,  Levis,  and  Dumas,  Report  on  Canadian  Archives, 
1905. 
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not  supplied.  '  We  have  always  been  the  dupes  of  the 
Church,'  writes  a  French  officer  in  disgust  ;  '  now  we  must 

be  on  our  guard  against  her  seductions.'  ^  In  the  end, 
owing  to  scarcity  of  provisions,  Levis  was  forced  in  January 
to  withdraw  two-thirds  of  the  men  whom  he  had  sent  to  build 
the  new  fort. 

In  the  end  the  French  centred  their  hopes  in  two  designs  : 

they  would  attack  Quebec  while  the  frost  was  still  in  the 

ground  and  Murray  could  not  throw  up  defences  on  the 

Plains  of  Abraham  ;   and,  once  in  Quebec,  they  would  await 

the  succour  from  France  without  which  every  plan  must 

fail.     Upon  this  aid  from  France  all  hopes  centred.     After 

the  fall  of  Quebec  Vaudreuil  had  sent  Le  Mercier,  the  chief 

of   the    Colonial   Artillery,    as    an    envoy   to    France.     He 

succeeded  in  getting  away  in  one  of  the  French  ships  which 

were  able  to  leave  Canada  after  the  departure  of  the  British 

fleet.     Twenty  years  earlier  this  man  had  gone  to  Canada 

as  a  private  soldier.     He  was  suspected  of  sharing  Bigot's 
frauds  ;   certainly  he  had  secured  both  riches  and  promotion 

in    Canada,  and  he   was   not  likely  to  encourage  adverse 

inquiries  into  a  system  by  which  he  had  greatly  profited. 

He  must  have  carried  with  him  a  heavy  packet  of  dispatches, 
for  those  that  remain  to  us  are  voluminous.     He  took,  of 

course,  the  apologia  of  Vaudreuil  for  what  he  had  done. 

Both  the  Governor  and  Levis  wrote  that  the  prime  need  was* 

food  and  that  the  sheer  force  of  famine,  more  dangerous 

than  the  enemy,  must  compel  them  to  surrender  by  May  if  j 

help  were  not  forthcoming.     In  any  case  the  King  would 

lose  some  of  his  subjects  by  starvation  during  the  winter. 

The  fleet  for  Canada  should  set  out  not  later  than  In  February, 

so  that  it  might  be  waiting  at  the  mouth  of  the  St.  Lawrence 

to  ascend  the  river  at  the  first  moment  possible  after  the 

breaking  up  of  the  ice.     Ten  thousand  men,  provisioned  for 

two  years,  and  a  full  equipment  for  aggressive  war  would 
'  Levis  MSS.,  x.  187  sqq. 

1641  H 
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be  necessary  to  save  the  colony  ;  but,  with  such  aid,  Levis 

said  he  could  retake  Quebec.  He  now  based  his  plans  on 

the  expectation  that  Le  Mercier  would  succeed  and  that,  at 

the  proper  time,  the  required  help  from  France  would  be 
forthcoming. 

France,  however,  showed  no  resolve  to  aid  her  perishing 

colony.  The  nation  was  engaged  in  a  titanic  struggle  in 

Europe  not  only  against  the  genius  of  Frederick  the  Great, 

but  also  against  the  wise  recklessness  of  Pitt.  There  was 

bitter  irony  in  the  remark  of  'Junius  ',  that  England  owed 

more  to  Pitt  than  she  could  ever  repay,  '  for  to  him  we  owe 
the  greatest  part  of  our  national  debt,  and  that  I  am  sure 

we  can  never  repay.'  ̂   In  order  to  humble  France  Pitt 
spent  money  with  appalling  profusion  ;  in  1760  alone  he 

demanded  votes  for  £16,000,000.  Lord  Anson,  the  first 

Lord  of  the  Admiralty,  is  one  of  the  ablest  organizers  in  the 

whole  history  of  the  British  Navy.  To  Pitt's  impatience, 
however,  he  often  seemed  slow  and,  on  one  occasion,  Pitt 

had  threatened  to  impeach  him  if  his  action  was  not  more 

rapid.  With  Pitt  driving  Anson  something  was  certain  to 

be  done.  The  display  of  naval  force  in  America  was  to 

be  overwhelming.  Commodore  Lord  Colville  remained  at 

Halifax  during  the  winter  with  five  ships  of  the  line  and  four 

frigates.  In  the  early  spring  these  were  to  join  in  the 

St.  Lawrence  a  squadron  of  equal  strength  under  Commodore 

Swanton  sailing  from  England,  while,"  at  the  same  time, 
Captain  Byron  was  to  take  five  warships  to  Louisbourg. 

Such  vast  outlay  and  energy  France  could  not  rival. 

French  policy  was,  moreover,  becoming  adverse  to  adven- 
tures over  the  sea.  The  disastrous  defeats  of  1759  in  both 

Europe  and  America,  together  with  impending  defeat  in 

India,  may  well  have  led  France  to  conclude  that  she  was 

fighting  her  foes  on  too  extended  a  front.  Powerful  voices 
like  that  of  Voltaire  were  raised  for  the  abandonment  of 

1  Letter  XI. 
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Canada.  The  colony,  it  was  claimed,  cost  France  large 

sums  and  took  from  her,  to  plant  amid  harsh  conditions  and 

in  a  severe  climate,  people  whom  she  needed  at  home, 

Canada  would  be  ever  at  the  mercy  of  the  enemy.  England, 

with  a  large  population  in  her  colonies  in  America,  could 

always  seize  Canada  and  exact  from  France  sacrifices  in 

Europe  in  order  that  she  might  get  back  her  possessions  in 
America.  It  was  said,  moreover,  that  in  the  vast  spaces 

of  Canada  republics,  not  monarchies,  would  ultimately  be 

formed  and  these  would  prove  a  menace  to  the  monarchy  in 

France.  On  the  other  side,  the  devout  urged  that  if  France 

let  Canada  go  the  Protestant  heresy  would  prevail  every- 
where in  North  America  and  many  souls  would  be  lost. 

Moreover,  the  English  would  take  not  only  Canada ;  they 

would  become  undisputed  masters  of  the  sea  ;  they  would 

expel  France  from  the  chief  nursery  of  her  navy,  the  cod 

fisheries  ;  they  would  drive  her  from  the  West  Indies.  And 

it  was  not  merely  France  that  they  would  check ;  they  would 

seize  the  possessions  of  Spain  and  Portugal.  In  a  word,  if 

France  lost  her  footing  in  Canada  the  whole  world  would  be 

handed  over  to  the  Anglo-Saxon,  and  America  in  particular 

to  Republicanism  and  to  heresy.^ 
Such  arguments,  fervid  and  ingenious  as  they  were, 

proved  of  little  weight  to  secure  effective  help.  At  the 

ministry  of  war  was  the  Due  de  Belle-Isle,  Marshal  of 
France.  Born  in  1684,  he  was  a  veteran  who  had  frequented 
the  court  and  had  served  in  the  wars  of  Louis  XIV. 

Though  a  man  of  ability  and  decision,  he  was  now  seventy- 
six  years  of  age,  weary  of  the  tasks  from  which  death  was 

soon  to  call  him,  and  ineffective  compared  with  an  adversary 

possessing  the  fiery  energy  of  Pitt.  A  year  earlier,  in 

February  1759,  Belle-Isle  had  written  to  Montcalm  to 
show  that  France  was  on  the  horns  of  a  dilemma  which 

^  '  Est-il  important  de  conserver  le  Canada  ?  '  (Manuscript  in  Canadian 
Archives) . 
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made  help  impossible.  If  she  sent  aid  the  British  would 

either  capture  it  en  route  or  they  would  be  incited  by  France's 
efforts  to  greater  efforts  of  their  own.  So  Montcalm  was 
told  to  shift  for  himself.  Levis  now  fared  a  little  better. 

On  February  9,  1760,  Belle-Isle  wrote  to  say  that  the  King 
had  been  much  touched  by  the  death  of  Montcalm  but  that 

the  cause  of  France  was  in  good  hands  with  Levis  in  com- 
mand. Rescue,  in  the  shape  of  food,  munitions  of  war, 

and  men,  would  be  sent  so  that  Levis  should  be  in  a  position 

to  dispute  Canada  foot  by  foot  with  the  English. 

The  event  proved,  however,  that  France  could  do  little 

or  nothing  which  involved  the  power  to  cross  the  sea. 

From  the  first  her  policy  in  this  war  had  been  fatal  to  her 

best  interests.  Her  reasons  for  taking  so  fatuous  a  course  will 

probably  always  remain  something  of  a  mystery.  At  a  time 

when,  on  the  continent  of  Europe,  she  was  menaced  by  no 

dangers,  but  when,  across  the  sea,  she  was  in  vital  danger 

of  losing  all  her  possessions,  she  had  chosen  so  to  embroil 

herself  in  a  land  war  in  Europe  that  she  could  not  build  up 

her  navy.  Sometimes  the  weak  and  inefficient  Louis  XV, 

out  of  a  mere  love  of  secrecy,  would  himself  carry  on  impor- 
tant negotiations  without  the  knowledge  of  his  ministers. 

Perhaps  it  is  chiefly  to  this  that  we  owe  the  inept  policy 

of  France.  Austrian  policy  was  at  this  time  directed  by  an 

able  Minister,  Kaunitz,  and  in  some  way  he  had  lured 

France  from  her  real  interests.  For  generations  France  and 

Austria  had  been  enemies.  Suddenly,  with  nothing  to  gain 

by  her  course,  France  had  abandoned  her  old  alliances  and 

had  joined  Austria  in  an  attack  on  Prussia  ruled  by  the 

greatest  soldier  of  the  age,  Frederick  the  Great. 

Austria  had  demanded  ever  new  sacrifices  from  her  ally, 

and  France,  facing  eastward  to  help  Austria,  failed  to  meet 

the  attacks  of  her  one  dangerous  enemy,  Britain.  During 

this  war  Britain  kept  France  in  a  state  of  alarm  similar  to 

that  of  an  earlier  age  when  the  hardy  Norsemen  had  per- 
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petually  threatened  the  same  coasts.  Over  and  over  again 
the  British  landed  in  France  and  wrought  havoc.  At  last 

the  French  were  goaded  to  make  one  supreme  effort.  They 
would  land  a  force  in  Essex,  march  on  London,  and  dictate 

terms  of  peace  before  the  British  capital.  It  was  this  plan 

which  had  kept  the  Londoner  uneasy  during  the  summer  of 

1759.  But  his  peace  of  mind  was  to  return  to  him.  At 

Quiberon  Bay,  in  November,  Hawke  shattered  the  power  of 

the  French  fleet  at  the  very  moment  when  Saunders  was 

arriving  in  England  from  the  triumph  of  Quebec.  It  is 
true  that  even  after  Quiberon,  in  February  1760,  the  French 

privateer  Thurot  landed  near  Belfast  in  Ireland  and  made 

that  city  pay  an  indemnity.  This  was,  however,  merely  a 

flash  in  the  pan.  After  Quiberon  France  could  do  almost^ 

nothing  on  the  sea. 

It  is  thus  clear  that  the  hopes  of  Levis  for  rescue  by  a  fleet 

in  the  spring  of  1760  were  hardly,  in  any  case,  justified.  They 

were  rendered  less  likely  of  fulfilment  by  the  character  of 

Berryer,  the  Secretary  of  the  Navy  in  France.  French 

naval  policy  had  long  been  indecisive  in  character.  There 

were  five  secretaries  between  1749  and  1759,  each  with  a 

policy  of  his  own.  Under  Machault  (1754-7)  the  navy  was 
directed  with  vigour  and  success.  La  Galissonniere  defeated 

Byng  in  the  Mediterranean  in  1756  and,  as  a  result,  the 
French  took  Minorca.  But  Machault  was  so  incautious  as 

to  say  unflattering  things  about  Madame  de  Pompadour  and 

he  was  dismissed  in  1757.  In  1759  that  lady  was  able  to 

put  one  of  her  friends  in  charge  of  the  navy.  Berryer  had 
been  a  Lieutenant  of  Police  and  knew  nothing  about  naval 

matters.  The  Chevalier  de  Mirabeau,  vigorous  in  expres- 
sion after  the  manner  of  his  famous  family,  once  declared 

in  a  rage  that  Berryer  was  the  enemy  of  all  that  was  honest 
and  as  black  in  soul  as  he  was  in  skin.  The  words  call  up 

a  physical  as  well  as  a  moral  image  and  are  probably  not 

too  just.     Certainly,  however,  Berryer  was  coarse,  brutal, 
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and  incapable.  Belle-Isle,  competent  even  in  his  extreme 
old  age  to  plan  for  the  army,  hoped  to  find  Berryer  an 
effective  colleague  in  the  navy.  He  supported  his  appoint- 

ment but  soon  learned  his  mistake.  Berryer  would  take 
no  advice  and  was  too  strong  in  favour  at  Court  to  be  dis- 

missed. His  one  idea  of  naval  policy  was  to  reduce  expen- 
diture. Since  Britain,  with  her  life  dependent  on  sea  power, 

would  use  her  whole  resources  to  maintain  her  fleet,  France, 
said  Berryer,  could  not  rival  her  and  need  not  try  to  keep 
up  a  navy.  He  sold  to  private  shipping  interests  some  of 
the  naval  stores  in  the  arsenals.  His  taste  for  detail  was 

such  that  we  find  him  inquiring  why  twelve  sous  are  charged 
a  day  for  feeding  cats  to  kill  rats  in  the  arsenal  at  Toulon. 

Since  money  would  be  saved  he  saw  no  reason,  he  said,  why 
officials  who  had  served  even  as  long  as  thirty  years  should 
not  be  summarily  dismissed  without  a  pension.  Though 
we  are  tempted  to  admire  any  one  who  practised  economy 
in  these  extravagant  days  at  the  French  Court,  the  economy 
of  Berryer  was  misplaced.  He  reduced  expenditure  on 
the  navy  with  such  effect  that  the  navy  almost  ceased  to 

exist.  ̂  

When,  therefore,  early  in  1760,  Berryer  wrote  to  Levis 

words  of  pious  exhortation  we  know  that  Levis  had  not 

much  to  expect  that  would  be  effective.  The  King,  said 
Berryer,  counted  on  the  courage,  zeal,  and  experience  of 
Levis,  and  was  sure  he  would  do  his  best.  This  was  less 

encouraging  than  the  positive  promises  now  made  by  Belle- 
Isle.  The  words  of  Berryer  were  written  six  months  before 

Levis  received  them,  but  they  show  that  he  was  justified  in 

expecting  adequate  and  prompt  help.  Yet,  in  reality,  while 
Pitt  was  moving  Heaven  and  earth  to  make  sure  that  his 

next  blow  should  be  final,  France  did  very  little,  and  this  ̂  
little  came  too  late.     Berryer  was  so  indifferent  to  the  real 

^  Lacour-Gayet,   La    Marine  militaire   de  la   France   sous  le   regne    de 
Louis  XV,  Paris,  1902. 
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nature  of  the  crisis  that  the  scale  of  his  preparations  was 

ludicrously  inadequate.  We  see  to  what  depths  France's 
naval  power  had  fallen  when  we  learn  that  she  had  no 

frigate  of  her  own  to  send  to  Canada  and  that  she  was  J 

obliged  to  purchase  one  from  a  private  owner.  The  frigate 

was  the  Machault  (it  had,  at  least,  a  good  name),  the  private 

owner  was  Cadet,  the  high  priest  of  corruption  in  Canada  ; 

and  we  may  be  reasonably  certain  that  not  the  King  but 

Cadet  profited  by  the  deal.  Some  legal  obstacles  were  put 

in  the  way  of  securing  the  services  of  a  crew  for  the  frigate, 

and  there  was  interminable  delay.  As  late  as  on  April  4, 

1760,  long  after  Pitt  had  the  fleet  for  Canada  at  sea,  the 

President  of  the  Navy  Board  is  pained  to  hear  that  the 

Machault  with  the  unarmed  ships  that  were  to  accompany 

her  has  not  yet  sailed.  On  April  25  he  learns  that  the  con- 
voy had  left  Bordeaux  some  days  earlier.  Two  English 

frigates  encountered  the  Machault.  In  the  end  she  escaped 
from  them.  But  before  she  could  arrive  at  her  destination 

three  powerful  British  squadrons  were  already  in  Canadian 

waters  and  were  joyfully  looking  for  the  arrival  of  the 

French  squadron  as  their  prey. 



CHAPTER  IV 

THE  BATTLE  OF  SAINTE  FOY 

Rumours  of  the  plans  cherished  at  Montreal  reached 

Quebec,  and  Murray  was  nervously  awaiting  events. 

Throughout  the  winter  occasional  courtesies  passed  between 

the  leaders.  In  November,  when  there  was  an  exchange 

of  prisoners  with  Amherst  at  New  York,  and  the  French  who 

had  been  released  brought  European  newspapers  to  Montreal, 

Levis  sent  some  of  them  to  Murray  with  a  courteous  note. 

But  each  side  watched  the  other  closely.  The  St.  Lawrence 

was  later  than  usual  in  forming  its  covering  of  ice,  and  until 

the  ice  formed  it  was  not  easy  to  cross  the  wintry  flood 

from  Quebec  to  the  south  shore.  The  French  took  advantage 

of  this  to  send  a  captain  named  St,  Martin  to  occupy  the 

Point  of  Levy,  opposite  Quebec.  He  harassed  Murray  when 

he  could  and  drew  from  the  surrounding  country  provisions 

for  the  use  of  the  needy  garrisons  in  the  interior.  He 

established  his  force  in  the  church  and  in  the  priest's  house 
at  the  Point  of  Levy. 

Fancying  himself  secure,  St.  Martin  indulged  in  bravado 

by  sending  defiant  messages  across  the  river  to  Murray. 

One  day  a  peasant  made  his  way  across  the  icy  current  to 

bring  the  written  message  that  if  the  British  wished  to  have 
their  hair  dressed  and  would  honour  the  French  at  the  Point 

of  Levy  with  their  company  a  corps  of  experts  would  be  at 

their  service.  This  was  the  threat  of  scalping  which  the 

Indians,  if  not  the  French,  in  St.  Martin's  force  were  quite 
ready  to  carry  out.  Murray  answered  it  in  a  way  that 

St.  Martin  little  expected.  It  was  now  the  early  days  of 

February,  and  one  morning  the  British  found  to  their  joy 
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that  the  surface  of  the  river  was  frozen.  This  soon  made 

passage  to  the  south  shore  easy  and  gave  an  opening  to 

punish  the  gasconade  of  St.  Martin.  On  February  13,  in 

the  darkness  of  the  early  morning,  Major  DalUng  led  some 

light  infantry  across  the  river  on  the  ice.  His  cannon 

cleared  the  way  and  then,  with  his  men  on  snow-shoes,  he 

advanced  to  storm  the  church.  St.  Martin  kept  up  a  vigo- 
rous fire.  The  British  were  aided  by  the  deep  snow  which 

enabled  them  to  fire  down  on  their  foes  through  the  windows 

of  the  church.  They  drove  the  French  out  and  came  away, 

afterleavingasmall  garrison  at  the  Point  of  Levy.  The  French, 

still  aggressive,  thought  they  could  dislodge  this  weak  force 

from  the  church.  On  February  24  St.  Martin  returned  to 

the  attack.  Then,  to  rescue  the  garrison,  Murray  led  four 

regiments  across  the  river  on  the  ice.  The  French  again 

retired,  and  considerable  stores  of  bread,  meat,  flour,  and 

cheese  which  they  had  collected  at  the  Point  of  Levy  remained 

in  Murray's  hands. 
Some  Canadians  who  had  taken  the  oath  of  allegiance 

had  joined  St.  Martin,  and  this  led  Murray  to  chastise 

the  inhabitants  living  on  the  south  side  of  the  river.  On 

February  26  Major  Eliot  of  the  43rd  Regiment,  with  300 

soldiers  and  a  body  of  sailors,  began  at  the  west  side  of  the 

River  Etchemin  and  burnt  every  house  between  that  point 

and  the  River  Chaudiere,  a  distance  of  four  or  five  miles. 

The  helpless  Canadians  were  driven  from  their  homes  in  the 

severe  winter.  Murray  issued  a  proclamation,  expressing 

regret  at  the  necessity  of  the  step,  and  again  warning  the 

Canadians  of  what  they  must  expect  if  they  violated  their 

oath  to  do  nothing  against  King  George.  He  now  con- 

structed two  block-houses  near  the  Point  of  Levy,  one  to 

command  a  landing-place  opposite  Cape  Diamond,  the 
other  a  little  inland.  In  the  end  the  homeless  people  were 

allowed  to  take  possession  of  the  quarters  the  British  had 

occupied  in  the  church. 
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To  the  British  soldier  this  was,  indeed,  strange  warfare  in 

which  artillery  was  used  on  the  ice  and  soldiers  marched 

on  snow-shoes.  In  such  conditions  the  French  were  quite 
at  home  and  the  British  were  not.  This  did  not  keep  the 

British  from  making  enterprising  attacks.  Having  driven 

the  French  from  the  Point  of  Levy,  they  decided  to  attack 

the  most  advanced  French  outpost  west  of  Quebec.  At 

break  of  day  on  March  20  Captain  McDonald  of  Eraser's 
Highlanders,  guided  by  a  French  deserter,  led  five  hundred 

men  from  Old  Lorette  in  a  rapid  foray  on  the  entrenched 

French  camp  at  the  Calvaire,  near  St.  Augustin,  a  few  miles 

beyond  Cap  Rouge.  It  was  protected  by  an  abattis  of  felled 

trees  about  three  hundred  yards  wide.  Through  this  the 

British  pushed,  firing  briskly,  only  to  find,  on  reaching  the 

works,  that  the  defenders  had  fled  in  panic.  The  officer  in 

command,  M.  Herbin,  must  have  gone  off  very  hurriedly, 

for  he  left  behind  his  watch,  his  hat  and  feather,  and  also 

the  mistress  whom  he  had  with  him.  The  British  captured 

some  eighty  prisoners.  That  the  French  were  well  off  for 

luxuries  was  proved  by  a  cask  of  wine  and  a  small  trunk  of 

liqueurs  which  formed  part  of  M.  Herbin's  equipment,  and 
proved  welcome  to  the  victors  in  the  bitter  weather.  So 

severe  was  the  cold  on  this  expedition  that  nearly  a  hundred 

of  the  Highlanders  were  badly  frost-bitten  and  their  com- 
panions had  to  drag  them  back  to  Quebec  on  sleighs  ;  it  was 

these  sons  of  the  north  who  suffered  specially  from  the  cold. 

At  the  Calvaire  the  British  had  burned  mills,  granaries,  and 

houses,  property  belonging  to  the  nuns  of  the  Hotel  Dieu 

at  Quebec,  and  Murray  sent  an  officer  to  these  ladies  to  say 

that  they  were  justly  punished,  since  they  had  been  sending 

intelligence  of  British  movements  to  the  French.  A  few 

days  after  this  fight  at  the  Calvaire,  Captain  Hazen,  the 

leader  of  the  Rangers  recruited  in  the  American  colonies, 

was  attacked  near  Lorette  by  a  large  body  of  French  sent 

out  probably  to  avenge  the  defeat  at  the  Calvaire.     The 
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Colonials  were  eager  to  show  themselves  as  effective  as  the 

regulars  from  Europe  who  had  won  the  success  at  the 

Calvaire,  and  fought  with  such  spirit  that  they  drove  off 
their  assailants  with  considerable  loss. 

These  skirmishes  were  only  preliminary  to  the  renewed 

struggle  for  Canada  of  which  Quebec  was  destined  again  to 

be  the  centre.     The  opposing  forces  really  knew  very  little 

of    each    other's    doings.     Levis,    however,    owing    to    the 
friendly  offices  of  the  Canadian  peasantry,  was  kept  better 

informed    than    Murray    about    his    enemy.      When    April 
came  the  British  knew  that  the  long  expected  attack  on 

Quebec  was  near.     Murray  was  in  a  position  of  dangerous 

isolation  with  no  news  from  the  outside  world  and  no  pros- 

pect  of  help   until  May.     At   Christmas-time,   Lieutenant 

Butler,  of  the  Rangers,  had  tried  to  get  through  from  Quebec 

to  New  York.     He  was,  however,  closely  followed  by  a  body 

of  Indians.     Only  a  friendly  fall  of  snow,  which  covered  his 

tracks,  enabled  him  to  elude  his  pursuers  and  to  return  to 

Quebec.     A  little  later  Captain  Montresor  was  more  success- 
ful.    He  left  Quebec  on  the  26th  of  January  with  an  escort 

of  twelve  Rangers.     He  went  by  the  wilderness  route  along 

the  Chaudiere,  a  route  made  famous  sixteen  years  later  by 

Benedict  Arnold's  terrible  march  through  its  remote  regions 

to  attack  Quebec.     One  of  Montresor's  men  perished  from 
the  cold.     Twelve  days  before  he  reached  the  first  New 

England  settlement  his  supply  of  provisions  gave  out,  and 

his  men  survived  only  by  eating  the  spare  leather  of  their 

shoes  and  equipment.     The  hardships  of  this  terrible  journey 

show  that  it  was  a  far  cry  indeed  from  Quebec  to  the  nearest 

English  colony.     The  leaders  could  not  communicate  with 
each  other  so  as  to  make  concerted  action  effective,  and 

Murray  had  to  depend  on  himself  alone.     As  the  spring 

approached,  a  persistent  rumour  that  Amherst  had  taken 

and  burnt  Chambly,  near  Montreal,  and  was  likely  to  cap- 
ture Montreal,  led  Murray  to  hope  that  he  himself  might  soon 
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advance  up  the  river  from  Quebec  to  aid  in  the  final  con- 
quest. In  reality  this  rumour  was  false,  like  Tnany  others  ; 

Murray's  real  task  was  to  cling  to  what  he  already  held.  His 
enemy  was  only  waiting  for  the  time  when  the  bteaking-up 
of  the  ice  should  make  possible  a  descent  upon  Quebec  with 

a  force  superior  to  any  which  the  defenders  could  rally. 

It  thus  happened  that  in  April  every  one,  both  at  Quebec 

and  at  Montreal,  was  watching  the  river.  Much  depended, 

of  course,  upon  the  weather.  Early  in  April  there  were 

violent  winds  which  promised  the  speedy  breaking-up  of  the 
ice.  The  winter  had  been  unusually  severe  and  the  frozen 

surface  which  linked  Quebec  with  the  Point  of  Levy  still 

seemed  very  solid.  For  a  long  time  it  withstood  wind  and 

storm.  By  April  lo,  however,  a  change  came.  From  a  few 

miles  above  Quebec,  at  the  mouth  of  the  Chaudiere  River, 

all  the  way  to  Montreal  the  ice  was  now  breaking  ;  the 
swollen  river  was  dotted  with  scattered  floes.  It  seemed 

that  the  ice  opposite  Quebec  must  soon  give  way.  Not, 

however,  for  nearly  two  weeks  did  it  yield.  At  length,  on 

April  23,  it  broke  up.  The  river  was  now  open  and  great 

sheets  of  ice  floated  down  past  Quebec  and  up  again  with  the 

tide.  It  was  a  wild  scene,  and  the  navigation  of  the  angry 

waters  was  a  task  not  lightly  to  be  undertaken.  But,  though 

the  danger  to  small  boats  was  extreme,  this  stormy  highway 

was  the  readiest  means  of  approach  to  Quebec,  and  Murray 

knew  that  now  at  any  moment  he  might"  be  assailed  by  way of  the  river. 

He  was  ignorant  of  the  plans  of  his  foes,  and  could  only 

keep  watch  with  all  possible  alertness.  He  armed  even  the 

English  traders  at  Quebec  and  their  servants,  placing 

Lieutenant  Grant,  of  the  58th,  in  command  of  the  hundred 

men  thus  secured.  In  order  to  avoid  the  necessity  of 

watching  a  foe  within  as  well  as  without  the  walls,  he  thought 

it  wise  to  expel  the  French  inhabitants,  and  on  April  21, 

while  assuring  them  that  their  exile  would  not  be  long,  he 
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ordered  them  to  leave  the  town  within  three  days.  Only 

the  nuns  were  allowed  to  remain  for  the  task  of  nursing  the 

sick.  To  turn  out  helpless  civilians  in  the  raw  April  weather 
was  a  stern  measure  of  war  that  caused,  of  course,  great 

confusion  and  discontent.  Perhaps,  however,  it  was  not  as 

cruel  as  it  seemed,  for  famine  and  death  might  await  civilians 

in  a  beleaguered  town.  The  men  bore  their  fate  in  becoming 

silence.  The  women,  however,  protested  loudly  that  the 

terms  of  the  capitulation,  which  guaranteed  to  them  the 

use  of  their  property,  had  been  violated  ;  they  had  often 

heard,  they  said,  that  the  English  were  a  faithless  nation, 

and  now  they  saw  for  themselves  how  true  this  was.  Some 

added,  what  they  probably  knew  to  be  false,  that  there  was 

not  the  smallest  danger  of  an  attack  by  Levis.  Murray 

made  the  expulsion  as  lenient  as  possible.  He  allowed  the 

people  to  carry  away  what  property  they  could  and  to  store 

their  remaining  movables  at  the  monastery  of  the  Recollets, 

in  the  custody  of  the  friars  and  of  two  of  the  inhabitants. 

Since  other  calls  on  the  energies  of  the  army  made  it  difficult 

still  to  bring  wood  from  Ste  Foy,  he  used  as  fuel  the  timber 
of  some  of  the  abandoned  houses. 

Murray,  without  a  fleet,  was  helpless  on  the  water,  and  he 

heard,  therefore,  with  concern  that  the  French  frigates  in  the 

upper  river  would  attack  him  as  soon  as  the  ice  was  gone. 

He  prepared  some  floating  batteries  to  protect  the  town  on 
the  side  of  the  river.  The  Racehorse  and  the  Porcupine  had 

been  drawn  in  to  shore  for  the  winter.  When,  on  April  9, 

Murray  gave  orders  to  cut  them  out  he  found  the  ice  round 

their  hulks  no  less  than  fourteen  feet  thick.  By  the  17th 

the  two  ships  were  ready  for  service,  and,  as  soon  as  the 

ice  in  the  river  gave  way,  they  were  anchored  before  Quebec. 

At  the  same  time  Murray  made  ready  a  schooner  to  send 

down  the  river  to  meet  the  expected  fleet  under  Lord 

Colville,  who  had  wintered  at  Halifax.  She  carried  pilots 

for  his  ships  and  was  instructed  to  urge  prompt  help  for 
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Quebec.  By  April  20  she  was  ready,  and  soon,  amid  floes 
of  ice  and  between  banks  still  white  with  snow,  she  was 

speeding  on  her  errand. 
With  the  spring  thaw  the  roads  about  Quebec  became 

quagmires.  To  move  artillery  over  them  was  a  nearly 

impossible  task.  The  difficulty,  which  Murray  himself 

experienced,  would  be  worse  for  an  army  marching  on 

Quebec,  and  this  made  him  the  more  certain  that  his  real 

danger  lay  in  an  advance  of  Levis  by  the  river.  There  was 

a  persistent  report  that  Levis  would  try  to  land  his  artillery 

at  Cap  Rouge,  the  bold  cape  at  the  west  end  of  the  great 

plateau  on  which  Quebec  stands.  If  Murray  could  protect 

the  cape  and  the  shore  between  Cap  Rouge  and  Quebec,  a 

distance  of  eight  or  nine  miles,  Levis  would  be  forced  to 

disembark  above  Cap  Rouge.  He  would  have  to  march 

inland,  cross  the  River  of  Cap  Rouge  some  miles  from  the 

cape  itself,  and  approach  Quebec  from  the  north  by  way 

of  Lorette  and  Ste  Foy.  It  was  important,  therefore,  to 

make  sure  of  Cap  Rouge,  and  Murray  decided  to  entrench 

a  force  there.  On  April  18  he  sent  a  detachment  of  light 

infantry  to  Cap  Rouge  and  quartered  them  in  the  houses  of 

the  inhabitants.  The  ground  was  so  hard  frozen  that  the 

men  could  do  almost  nothing  in  the  way  of  throwing  up 

defences,  and  the  post  proved  strong  only  in  its  natural  posi- 
tion. Its  occupation  by  Murray  exercised,  however,  a 

decisive  influence,  as  we  shall  see. 

Lorette  also  Murray  made  strong,  as  it  was  a  menaced 

position.  On  April  19  and  20  his  men  were  busy  dragging 

thither,  over  roads  clogged  with  mud  and  half-melted  snow, 
two  heavy  fieldpieces.  Without  horses  it  would  have  been 

killing  work  at  any  time,  but  it  was  specially  so  when  almost 

every  one  of  the  men  was  weakened  by  scurvy.  '  I  was 

obliged ',  says  Murray, '  to  use  them  with  the  greatest  tender- 
ness.' After  all,  he  found  that  Lorette  was  too  remote  to 

be  safe,  and  he  decided  to  abandon  it.     Accordingly,  on  the 
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night  of  April  25,  he  issued  an  order  that  the  Lorette  garrison 
should  retire  and  that  all  the  bridges  over  the  Cap  Rouge 

River  should  be  destroyed  to  impede  the  enemy's  march. 
The  feeble  troops  had  then  the  weary  task  of  hauling  the 

guns  back  across  a  marsh  and  up  a  steep  hill  to  Ste  Foy. 

Murray  still  hoped  to  retain  his  outpost  at  Ste  Foy.  He 

had  no  thought  of  remaining  behind  the  walls  of  Quebec. 

Should  it  be  attacked,  he  was  assured  by  the  engineers  that 

a  force  could  fight  with  more  effect  entrenched  in  front  of 

the  fortress  than  behind  its  crazy  walls.  On  April  26  the 

engineers  marked  the  lines  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham  where 
the  British  intended  to  face  their  foe. 

The  French  descent  upon  Quebec  so  long  talked  of  was 

now  really  imminent.  Levis  could  carry  down  his  ammuni- 
tion and  supplies  only  by  means  of  the  river,  and  he  was 

therefore  obliged  to  wait  until  the  ice  should  break  up.  To 

delay  longer  than  this,  would,  he  thought,  be  dangerous, 

for  he  ought  to  arrive  at  Quebec  before  a  thaw  should 

enable  Murray  to  throw  up  entrenchments  outside  the 

walls.  Levis  expected  to  surprise  the  English  by  rapid 

action,  as  Wolfe  had  surprised  the  French  themselves. 

Though  Amherst  was  in  New  York  for  the  winter,  Levis  knew 

that  he  would  move  at  as  early  a  date  as  possible.  Quebec 

must,  therefore,  fall  quickly,  so  that  the  French,  with  their 

expected  reinforcements,  could  turn  back  to  meet  Amherst's 
advance. 

Early  in  March  preparations  were  going  on  busily  at 

Montreal.  Criers  went  through  the  streets  summoning  the 

merchants  to  turn  in  their  supplies  to  the  royal  magazines. 

The  Canadians  were  asked  to  send  muskets,  camp  kettles, 

and  clothing,  in  order  to  replenish  the  military  stores. 

So  scarce  was  ammunition  that  the  people  were  ordered  to 

bring  what  powder  they  had  to  the  magazines,  where  they 

should  be  paid  for  it  at  the  rate  of  three  livres  a  pound. 
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Under  threat  of  the  lash,  Levis  ordered  his  men  not  to  dis- 

pose of  any  of  the  suppHes  furnished  by  the  King  or  of  any 

part  of  their  equipment,  no  matter  how  worn  it  might  seem. 

Vaudreuil  instructed  the  householders  to  keep  constantly 

on  hand  provisions  for  six  weeks  for  themselves  and  for 

the  soldiers  quartered  in  their  houses.  He  declares  that  the 

inhabitants  showed  great  willingness  to  aid  his  plans. 

With  bad  ammunition,  but  little  artillery,  and  a  distressing 

scarcity  of  provisions,  the  French  general  had  no  easy  task 

in  equipping  his  army.  To  remedy  the  lack  of  bayonets 

he  collected  all  the  butcher's  knives  to  be  found  and  fitted 
them  with  handles  that  could  be  fastened  to  the  muskets. 

Some  of  the  officers  were  without  swords.  Coats,  trousers, 

and  warm  underclothing  were  lacking  in  the  stores.  Levis 

withdrew  what  artillery  he  dared  to  take  from  the  posts  at 

Isle  aux  Noix  and  St.  Johns,  but  even  then  he  had  a  pitiable 

equipment  for  battering  down  the  walls  of  a  fortress.  He 

took  for  his  cavalry  all  the  horses  in  Montreal  capable  of 

service.  The  work  went  on  cheerily.  In  spite  of  bad  equip- 

ment his  forces  were  eager  for  the  fight.  '  Ah,  how  I  long 

to  be  on  the  way  to  Quebec,'  wrote  Colonel  Dumas  at  Jacques 
Cartier  to  Vaudreuil  ;  '  I  am  anxious  about  the  passage  of 
the  army  at  this  point  ;  the  least  thing  may  delay  it  here, 

and  the  worry  this  causes  me  is  inexpressible  ;  but  still 

I  flatter  myself  that,  in  such  a  case,  you  and  the  Chevalier 

de  Levis  will  do  me  the  justice  to  believe  that  I  have  done 

my  very  best.' 
The  army  of  Levis  was  composed  of  varied  elements. 

Conditions  had  not  favoured  good  organization.  Many  of 

the  men,  scattered  for  the  winter  in  the  villages  and  living 

in  the  houses  of  the  French-Canadian  farmers,  had  grown 

slack  in  the  sense  of  discipline.  Levis  had  tried  to  place 
an  officer  at  each  centre  to  look  after  the  men,  but  the 

control  by  such  an  officer  must  have  been  slight.  The 

backbone  of  the  army  of  Levis  consisted  of  the  regulars 
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from  France.  These  troupes  de  terre  were  now  tried  veterans 

in  Canadian  warfare,  for  most  of  them  had  come  out  with 

Montcalm  in  1756.  There  were  eight  battahons  :  La  Reine, 

Languedoc,  La  Sarre,  Beam,  Royal  Roussillon  Guienne,  and 

two  battalions  of  Berry.  Though  numbers  were  now  depleted, 

Levis  still  had  about  five  thousand  of  these  regular  troops 

in  Canada,  and  of  these  three  thousand  were  available  for 

the  attack  on  Quebec.  There  was  another  small  force  of 

regulars  in  Canada  known  as  the  troupes  de  la  marine.  The 

marine  department  performed  the  duties  which,  under  the 

British  system,  would  now  pertain  to  the  Colonial  Office,  and 
it  recruited  a  small  force  for  service  in  the  colonies.  It  was 

expected  that  the  men  would  become  settlers  when  their 

term  of  service  had  expired.  These  colonial  regulars, 

having  served  long  in  Canada,  knew  the  country  better  than 

the  French  regulars.  They  were  an  efficient  force,  but  they 
numbered  rather  less  than  a  thousand.  Levis  took  them  all 

with  him  on  the  expedition  to  Quebec.  On  the  French  ships 
which  had  wintered  at  the  mouth  of  the  Richelieu  River 

were  a  few  hundred  sailors  under  the  lead  of  a  competent 

commander,  Vauquelain.  The  ships  were  to  accompany 

the  expedition,  and  proved  of  great  service  ;  but  they  added 

nothing  to  the  fighting  forces  on  land. 

The  Canadian  militia  played  a  considerable  part  through- 
out the  war,  and  still  had  some  fighting  zeal,  in  spite  of  the 

hard  treatment  of  the  Canadians  by  the  French,  which  has 

been  already  described.  Montcalm  had  said  that,  at  most, 

7,000  Canadians  could  be  mustered.  Their  situation  as 

a  people  was  isolated.  Unused  to  comparing  themselves 

with  others,  they  were  apt  to  swagger  and  to  boast  that  one 

Canadian  was  equal  to  three  Englishmen.  This  gasconade 

had  no  justification  in  fact.  The  Canadians  were,  in  some 

respects,  bad  soldiers.  They  were  badly  armed,  because 

the  discarded  arms  in  the  King's  arsenals  had  been  sent  to 
Canada.     They  were  badly  drilled  ;   even  some  of  their  best 

/ 
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ofificers,  among  them  Ramezay,  the  defender  of  Quebec, 

could  not  give  the  orders  usual  in  the  French  army.  Their 

discipline  was  so  bad  that  they  freely  went  off  to  their  homes 

without  leave.  This  practice  exasperated  Levis,  and  he 

threatened  to  hang  deserters  of  this  kind.  Vaudreuil,  how- 

ever, himself  born  in  Canada,  was  always  the  protector  and 
champion  of  the  Canadians.  He  restrained  Levis  and  said 

that  the  effect  of  severity  would  be  to  lose  what  help  the 

Canadians  might  give,  for  they  could  easily  manage  not 
to  be  found  in  their  villages  when  wanted.  In  their  own 

way  the  Canadians  were  not  ineffective  soldiers,  if  tactfully 

led  and  treated  with  firmness  and  justice.  Bourlamaque, 

himself  an  admirable  soldier,  said  that  Canada  possessed 

a  greater  number  of  naturally  brave  men  than  any  other 
country.  He  added,  however,  that  the  Canadian  was  the 

enemy  of  constraint,  and  that  he  was  better  in  guerrilla 

warfare  than  in  regular  operations  and  pitched  battles. 
Levis  mustered  in  his  force  a  few  hundred  Indians. 

During  the  war  both  sides  employed  these  allies,  but  it  is 

doubtful  whether  they  were  of  much  use.  They  may  have 
rendered  some  service  as  scouts,  but  the  reports  they  brought 
in  were  often  vague  and  exaggerated.  Scouting  work 
requires  a  hard  critical  faculty,  the  power  not  merely  to 
observe  trifles,  but  to  judge  accurately  their  meaning.  The 
Indian,  the  prey  of  childish  superstition  and  alarms,  gave 
heed  to  every  wild  rumour.  What  he  loved  best  was  the 

ignoble  warfare  now  known  as  sniping.  He  prowled  about 
the  outskirts  of  Quebec,  for  instance,  and  killed  and  scalped 
many  an  incautious  wayfarer.  He  was  always  an  uncertain 
ally.  Lurking  in  his  mind  was  the  sense  that  North  America 

belonged  to  him  and  not  to  either  of  the  intruding  European 
races,  and  he  was  suspicious  of  both  of  them.  The  only 
motive  certain  to  hold  him  in  obedience  was  fear.  As  the 

French  cause  declined,  this  motive  was  wanting  in  relation 
to  them,  but  it  operated  with  increasing  force  in  relation  to 
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the  British  as  their  superiority  over  their  enemy  became 
more  manifest.  From  Amherst  the  Indians  received  curt, 

sharp  words  of  command  when  they  seemed  restless,  and 

stern  punishment  when  they  failed  to  obey.  Though  they 

grumbled  and  threatened,  they  were  awed  and  they  sub- 
mitted. 

Vaudreuil,  on  the  other  hand,  had  always  seemed  more 

afraid  of  the  Indians  than  they  were  of  him.  He  inherited 
from  his  father,  who  had  been  Governor  of  Canada  in  the 

early  days  when  the  Indians  were  many  and  the  white  men 

few,  the  belief  that  these  allies  were  indispensable  and  must 

be  allowed  to  follow  their  own  customs.  '  Your  taste  is 

French,  mine  is  Indian  ;  this  is  good  food  for  me,'  said  an 
Indian  to  a  French  priest,  who  rebuked  a  party  of  savages 

sitting  about  a  fire  roasting  on  sticks  the  flesh  of  an  English- 

man. This  was  Vaudreuil's  point  of  view  ;  such  practices 
were  regrettable,  but  it  was  the  way  of  the  savages,  and  what 

could  one  do  ?  '  He  let  them  [the  Indians]  do  what  they 

liked,'  says  an  eyewitness  ;  '  one  saw  them  running  about 
in  Montreal,  knife  in  hand,  threatening  and  often  insulting 

those  they  met.  When  complaints  were  made  the  Governor 

said  nothing.  Indeed,  after  the  incident,  instead  of  re- 
proaching and  punishing  the  Indians,  he  loaded  them  with 

presents,  believing  that  in  this  way  their  cruelty  would  be 

softened.'  ̂   Unhappily  their  licence  tended  rather  to  grow 
with  indulgence.  Though  they  were  now  but  a  weak  factor 

in  the  French  army  they  caused  incessant  anxiety,  for  they 

were  ready  to  commit  barbarous  outrages  on  friend  and  foe 
alike. 

Levis  drew  up  on  April  17  the  lists  of  troops  for  his 

expedition.-  In  round  numbers  he  had  3,600  regulars,  in- 
cluding those  of  the  colonial  service,  2,800  Canadians,  and 

300    Indians.     His    fighting    force    thus    numbered    rather 

*  Mimoires  sur  le  Canada,  1749-60. 

*  Levis  MSS.,  Journal  of  Levis. 
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less  than  7,000.  350  non-combatants  were  to  accompany 
the  expedition.  Of  these  most  were  personal  servants,  and 

among  them  were  33  negroes.  Only  16  surgeons  were 

available.  The  numbers  stated  by  Levis  include  apparently 

the  troops  that  he  expected  to  take  from  the  garrisons 

between  Montreal  and  Quebec.  It  was  likely  that  more 

Indians  would  join  him,  especially  if  he  had  an  early  success. 

He  also  counted  upon  help  from  the  Canadians  who  lived  in 

the  district  of  Quebec.  This  was  under  Murray's  control  and 
the  inhabitants  had  declared  on  oath  that  they  would  take 

no  part  in  hostile  operations  against  the  British.  It  is 

true  that  Vaudreuil  issued  a  pontifical  pronouncement 

releasing  them  from  their  oath,  but  this  Murray  declared 

was  in  violation  of  the  law  of  nations.  The  unhappy  people 

were  certainly  on  the  horns  of  a  dilemma.  On  April  20, 

1760,  Levis  ordered  a  certain  Captain  Nadeau  in  the  Quebec 

district  to  join  him  with  his  militia  on  pain  of  death.  At 

a  later  time  Murray  hanged  this  captain  because  he  obeyed 

the  order.  As  a  rule  Levis  required  from  those  who  had 

taken  the  oath  only  the  service  of  helping  to  bring  up 

supplies. 
Vaudreuil  sent  his  secretary  to  make  a  tour  of  the  parishes 

and  to  warn  the  militia  to  be  ready.  He  issued  special 

letters  to  the  captains  of  militia  in  the  Quebec  district, 

reminding  them  of  the  cruel  and  unjust  treatment  which 

they  had  received  from  Murray.  '  You  know  too  well  by 
experience  the  aversion  of  the  English  for  everything 

Canadian.  You  have  had  the  saddest  proof  of  the  rigour 

of  their  government.  Now ',  he  added, '  you  are  approaching 
the  moment  of  triumph  over  this  enemy.  He  must  succumb 

to  the  efforts  of  our  army.'  A  condition  of  success  in  war  is 
to  hate  the  enemy,  and  the  Canadian  pulpits  were  to  be 
tuned  so  as  to  arouse  this  hate  ;  Vaudreuil  ordered  the 

cures  to  tell  the  Canadians  that  they  were  fighting  for  their 

religion  and  the  salvation  of  their  country  ;    upon  the  issue 
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depended  the  question  whether  they  should  be  free  men  or 

slaves  in  bondage  to  the  hard  and  exacting  English.  He 

added  that  powerful  aid  was  certain  to  come  from  France 

to  make  deliverance  sure.  In  the  certainty  of  this  aid 

Vaudreuil  himself  believed.  He  sent  pilots  to  points  on 

the  river  below  Quebec  that  they  might  aid  the  ascent  of 

the  expected  fleet,  and  he  issued  elaborate  instructions  for 

the  prompt  forwarding  overland  of  dispatches  which  it 

might  bring.  He  still  showed  a  naive  belief  in  the  zeal  of 

the  French  Court  and  was  apparently  as  eagerly  expectant 
as  a  child. 

On  the  loth  of  March  all  the  officers  were  ordered  to  join 

their  regiments,  and  Levis  gave  warning  that  the  army 

might  move  at  any  time.  The  rendezvous  was  to  be 
Pointe  aux  Trembles,  a  little  farther  down  the  river  than 

the  French  fortified  position  at  Jacques  Cartier,  and  the 

various  regiments  were  to  make  their  way  to  this  place. 

To  do  so  by  land  in  the  spring-time  over  the  roads  sodden 
with  melted  snow  would  be  a  slow  task  ;  by  water  the 

advance  would  be  rapid  when  the  ice  had  once  broken  up. 

Bourlamaque,  with  La  Pause,  a  capable  and  painstaking 

officer,  was  to  go  down  the  river  in  advance  of  the  main  army 

to  make  needed  preparations.  Bougainville  was  sent  to 

command  at  Isle  aux  Noix,  a  danger-point  which  required 
a  strong  man.  He  disliked  the  service,  for  he  would  have 

preferred  to  be  in  the  thick  of  the  fight  before  Quebec. 

'  Ah,  mon  general,'  he  wrote  to  Levis,  '  you  have  not  willed 

that  I  should  be  with  you.  It  is  to  me  a  mortal  grief.'  He 
had  with  him  the  competent  engineer  Lotbiniere. 

One  great  question  remained  :  Who  should  lead  the 

expedition  ?  For  a  time  Vaudreuil,  though  he  was  without 

real  military  experience,  seems  to  have  had  the  thought 

of  commanding  in  person,  and  in  April,  when  a  start  was 

almost  momentarily  expected,  it  was  still  uncertain  whether 

he  would  go.     Levis,  of  course,  wished  himself  to  command. 
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Gossip  was  busy  and  the  ladies  were  on  the  side  of  the 

gallant  Chevalier.  He,  they  said,  was  sure  to  succeed. 

In  the  end,  certainly  to  the  relief  of  every  one,  Vaudreuil 

named  Levis  to  the  supreme  command.  '  I  have  assembled 

an  army  for  the  siege  of  Quebec,'  he  announced,  '  and  I  have 
put  the  Chevalier  de  Levis,  major-general,  in  command  of 
the  expedition  with  authority  the  same  as  if  I  myself  were 

in  person  at  the  head  of  the  army.'  '  Nothing  can  equal 
the  ardour  of  the  troops,  of  the  Canadians,  and  of  the 

different  Indian  tribes,  whom  I  have  assigned  to  this  expe- 

dition,' he  wrote  further.  Levis  was  instructed  to  grant 
easy  terms  to  Quebec.  The  English  were  to  be  well  treated 

if  they  would  only  yield. 

When  all  were  eager  to  start,  the  ice,  as  Malartic  says, 

'  did  not  respond  to  their  desires  '  ;  the  river  was  still  held 
in  its  frozen  fetters.  By  April  4,  however,  there  were  signs 

that  the  ice  was  breaking,  and  then  the  excitement  and 

expectancy  were  great.  The  army  was  to  be  carried  in 

some  four  hundred  open  boats.  The  two  French  frigates, 
the  Atalante  and  the  Pomone,  which  had  remained  at  the 

mouth  of  the  Richelieu  River  during  the  winter,  were  to 

accompany  the  expedition.  There  were  ten  or  twelve 

transports  laden  with  artillery,  with  supplies  of  ammunition 

and  provisions,  and  with  quantities  of  fascines  to  assist  in 

the  task  of  throwing  up  entrenchments  before  Quebec.  To 

get  ready  the  ships  it  was  necessary  to  hew  them  out  of  the 

ice,  still  very  thick.  On  the  loth  of  April  the  ice  began  to 

break  up  and  soon  there  was  an  open  channel  in  the  middle 
of  the  river  at  Montreal.  To  this  the  small  boats  were 

dragged  over  the  ice.  The  embarking  of  stores,  horses,  and 

men,  in  these  conditions,  was  dangerous  work,  for  the  ice  was 

rotting  and  furnished  at  best  an  insecure  footing.  There 

were  accidents,  and  Montegrou,  a  guerrilla  leader,  was 

drowned.  But  the  affair  was  on  the  whole  ably  managed 

and  speaks  well  for  the  competence  of  the  French  officers. 
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By  the  20th  of  April  the  last  man  was  embarked.  Then 

the  numerous  flotilla,  with  the  frigates  and  the  transports 

under  sail,  and  the  hundreds  of  small  boats  propelled,  for 

the  most  part,  by  oars,  was  on  its  way  to  attack  Murray, 

Heavy  banks  of  ice  still  lined  the  shores  and  made  navigation 

and  landing  difficult  and  dangerous.  The  cold  spring  winds 

must  have  chilled  the  men  to  the  bone,  for  they  were  not 

only  ill-fed  but  also  in  many  cases  ill-clad.  At  night  the 
boats  were  dragged,  with  great  labour,  over  the  ice  to  the 

shore,  and  the  men  rested  as  best  they  could  in  the  cottages 

of  the  inhabitants.  Some  part  of  the  army,  probably  the 

companies  quartered  in  places  not  far  distant  from  the 

rendezvous,  marched  to  this  point  by  land  over  terrible 

roads.  Each  soldier  carried  with  him  provisions  for  eight 

days,  and  elaborate  instructions  had  been  given  to  those  in 

the  boats  that  this  precious  supply  should  be  stored  in  a  dry 

place.  Cleanliness,  too,  was  not  forgotten.  Each  man 

might  have  half  a  pound  of  soap  if  he  could  pay  for  it.  Levis 

had  warned  the  officers  that  when  a  force  thus  equipped 
set  out  officers  and  men  should  have  the  same  rations.  All 

must  share  alike  on  what  was  recognized  as  a  desperate 
venture. 

The  shivering  men  in  the  boats,  the  weary  men  marching 

heavily  by  land,  were  blind  and  dumb  creatures  of  a  relent- 
less fate.  The  French  soldier  cared  nothing  for  Canada  and 

the  Canadian  soldier  by  this  time  cared  little  for  France. 

Yet,  we  are  told,  not  a  word  of  complaint  was  heard  ;  the 

victims  of  war  usually  make  their  deep  sacrifices  willingly. 

Vaudreuil,  Bigot,  Bishop  Pontbriand,  and  others  remained 

at  Montreal,  to  watch  and  wait  and  some  of  them  to  pray. 

'Madame  de  Vaudreuil',  wrote  the  Governor  to  Levis,  'is 
continually  in  prayer  and  nothing  can  equal  her  solicitude 

until  we  have  news.  I  cannot  tell  you  how  much  you  are 

in  my  mind.  .  .  .  Madame  neither  thinks  nor  speaks  of 

any  one  but  you  ;    accept  from  her  a  thousand  and  again 

y 
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a  thousand  tender  things  ;  ...  in  her  ceaseless  prayers  she 

is  thinking  only  of  you.'  At  another  time  she  is  with  the 
Bishop  joining  her  prayers  to  his.  In  the  churches  too,  by 

order  of  the  Bishop,  prayers  were  offered  for  the  success  of 

the  expedition.^ 
For  some  time  all  communications  with  Quebec  had  been 

cut  off,  since  a  cardinal  part  of  the  plan  was  that  the  place 

should  be  surprised.  To  prevent  a  threatening  movement 

of  the  English  by  way  of  Lake  Champlain  it  was  necessary 

that  the  secret  should  also  be  kept  on  the  frontier  guarded 

by  Bougainville,  and  elaborate  precautions  to  effect  this 

were  taken.  The  efforts  at  secrecy  had  a  measure  of  suc- 
cess. Direct  information  of  what  the  French  were  doing 

did  not  reach  Murray  until  the  foe  was  almost  upon  him. 

The  army  arrived  at  Pointe  aux  Trembles  on  April  25. 

Landing  from  the  boats  proved  difficult.  Only  a  channel 

in  the  centre  of  the  river  was  open,  and  the  ice,  now  rotted 

by  the  spring  sun,  was  in  places  piled  high,  one  floe  upon 

another.  The  great  highway  by  land  from  Montreal  led 

straight  through  Pointe  aux  Trembles  to  the  gates  of  Quebec 

over  the  high  promontory  at  Cap  Rouge.  If  this  point  was 

undefended,  Levis  might  reach  the  Plains  of  Abraham  by 

a  rapid  night  march.  At  the  same  time  a  part  of  his  force 

could  drop  down  the  river  in  boats,  land  near  Sillery,  as 

Wolfe  had  done,  and  climb  to  the  Heights.  Levis  expected 

to  cut  off  the  outposts  of  Murray  at  Ste  Foy  and  Lorette,  and 

to  surprise  and  take  Quebec  by  a  sudden  attack.  Murray 

knew  that  a  force  was  gathering  at  Pointe  aux  Trembles, 

but  he  could  learn  few  details.  He  was,  however,  so  on  his 

guard  that  the  scouts  of  Levis  reported  discouraging  news. 

There  was  a  strong  guard  at  Cap  Rouge  so  that  advance  by 

the  direct  road  was  impossible.  Moreover,  the  heights  be- 
tween Cap  Rouge  and  Quebec  seemed  well  defended.  The 

news  made  inevitable  a  change  in  the  plans  of  Levis,  and 

^  Mandements  des  Aveques  de  Quebec,  ii.  145, 
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he  paused  for  a  day  at  Pointe  aux  Trembles  to  mature 

another  design.  This  was  to  land  at  St.  Augustin,  a  little 

above  Cap  Rouge,  and  march  rapidly  inland.  He  could  then 

cross  the  Cap  Rouge  River  a  few  miles  above  its  mouth  and 

reach  the  road  which  led  from  Lorette  up  to  Ste  Foy,  five 

miles  from  the  city  on  the  north  side  of  the  great  plateau 

of  Quebec.  From  Ste  Foy  to  Quebec  was  an  easy  march  and 

he  might  still  be  able  to  surprise  Murray  and  cut  off  the  out- 
post at  Cap  Rouge. 

The  26th  of  April  was  a  raw  day  with  a  north-east  wind. 

At  eight  o'clock  in  the  morning  the  army  embarked  at 
Pointe  aux  Trembles,  and  at  ten  it  was  at  St.  Augustin. 

Once  more  the  men  dragged  the  boats  over  the  ice  to  the 
shore  and  also  disembarked  three  cannon  to  be  hauled,  with 

incredible  labour,  for  many  miles,  up  steep  hills  and  over 

roads  deep  with  melting  snow  and  mire.  Levis  sent  Bourla- 
maque  in  advance  of  the  main  army  with  some  Indians  and 

grenadiers  to  clear  the  way,  to  reconstruct  the  bridges  across 

the  Cap  Rouge  River  which  Murray  had  destroyed,  and  to 

advance  by  Old  Lorette  to  a  point  as  near  Quebec  as  was 

consistent  with  safety.  When  Bourlamaque  reached  Old 

Lorette  he  found  that  the  English  had  abandoned  that 

place.  Between  it  and  Ste  Foy  stretched  a  marshy  plain 

called  La  Suette,  across  which  was  a  road  of  wooden  logs, 

the  '  corduroy  '  road  so  familiar  in  pioneer  days  in  Canada. 
Had  the  British  torn  up  this  road  it  would  at  least  have 

retarded  the  advance  of  the  French  ;  but  the  road  had  been 

left  intact.  The  British,  still  ignorant  apparently  of  the 

approach  of  the  enemy,  did  nothing  to  harass  Bourlamaque 

as  he  approached  Ste  Foy.  He  promptly  sent  his  Indians  to 

occupy  the  end  of  the  road  near  that  place,  and  on  the  night 

of  the  26th  the  advance  guard  of  the  French  army  lay  in  some 

houses  so  near  Ste  Foy  that  there  was  only  a  curtain  of  forest 

between  them  and  that  outpost.  It  looked  as  if  their  army 

could  easily  get  in  between  Quebec  and  Cap  Rouge. 
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But  Nature  did  not  favour  France.  The  worn  army, 

toiling  slowly  after  Bourlamaque's  scouting  party,  was  over- 
taken by  a  terrific  tempest  with  thunder,  lightning,  wind, 

and  rain,  more  violent  than  anything  seen  in  the  country 

for  years.  The  storm  helped,  in  a  singular  way,  to  warn 

the  British  at  Quebec.  With  the  wind  fierce  and  with  the 

river  full  of  great  floes  of  ice,  the  small  boats  carrying  the 

French  troops  were  in  imminent  danger.  At  St.  Augustin 

great  floes  of  ice  crushed  and  sank  one  of  the  boats  laden 

with  artillery.  Some  of  the  artillerymen  were  drowned, 

but  one,  after  struggling  for  some  time  in  the  icy  water, 

managed  with  great  difficulty  to  climb  out  half  dead  upon 

a  piece  of  ice  large  enough  to  support  him.  It  drifted 

rapidly  down  with  the  tide  past  Quebec  towards  the  Island 

of  Orleans,  bearing  its  human  burden,  and,  on  the  turn  of 

the  tide,  floated  back  again  up  the  river.  Though  frozen 

almost  into  unconsciousness,  the  man  still  groaned  loudly. 

Knox  tells  us  that  shortly  after  midnight  on  the  morning 

of  the  27th  the  watch  on  board  the  Racehorse,  one  of  the 

two  British  ships  anchored  before  Quebec,  with  his  senses 

alert  for  the  slightest  sound,  heard  the  groans  of  the  artillery- 
man. He  raised  an  alarm,  a  boat  was  lowered,  and  the  man 

was  found  and  taken  to  shore.  The  British  made  every 
effort  to  revive  him  and  so  far  succeeded  that  he  recovered 

consciousness.  Though  in  a  half-dazed  condition  and 
astonished  to  find  himself  among  the  British,  he  was  able  to 

tell  them  who  he  was — one  of  a  force  of,  as  he  thought, 

12,000  or  15,000  men,  only  a  few  leagues  from  Quebec  and 

now  advancing  by  land  to  attack  it.  At  first  the  British 
would  not  believe  that  Levis  was  so  near.  The  man  was 

carried  in  a  hammock  up  the  steep  ascent  from  the  Lower  to 

the  Upper  Town  and  about  three  o'clock  in  the  morning 
was  brought  to  Murray.  The  alarmed  general  credited  the 

tale.  He  now  realized  that  a  powerful  French  army  was 

almost  at  his  door.     In  addition,  as  the  man  said,  Levis  was 
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confident  that  a  fleet  and  an  army  from  France  were  near 

and  would  soon  join  in  the  attack  on  Quebec. 

The  news  aroused  Murray  to  a  new  alertness.  The  great 

danger  was  to  his  outposts.  The  guard  at  Lorette  had 

already  been  withdrawn,  and  he  ordered  the  one  at  Cap 

Rouge  to  retire.  He  himself  prepared  to  march  out  to  Ste 

Foy  with  a  considerable  force.  It  was  not  safe  even  to  hold 

the  post  on  the  south  side  of  the  river  at  the  Point  of  Levy, 
and  he  sent  orders  to  burn  the  block-houses  there.  This  work 

was  done  so  promptly  that,  with  the  provisions  destroyed, 

the  guns  spiked,  and  the  block-houses  on  fire,  the  garrison 
crossed  to  Quebec  a  few  hours  after  the  news  of  the  advance 

of  Levis  reached  Murray.  Quietly  and  almost  without  loss 

he  had  now  concentrated  in  or  near  Quebec  all  his  forces. 

'  What  a  remarkable  and  visible  instance  of  fortune  fighting 

for  the  English,'  says  the  Chevalier  Johnstone  ;  '  had  it  not 
been  for  this  unaccountable  accident  to  the  artilleryman, 

to  all  appearance  M.  de  Levis  would  have  captured  all  the 

English  advanced  posts  which  were  said  to  amount  to 

fifteen  hundred  men.'  ̂  
Meanwhile  Levis  was  marching  on  Ste  Foy  with  his  main 

army.  As  we  have  seen,  he  had  landed  at  St.  Augustin  a 
little  before  noon  on  the  morning  of  the  26th.  There  he  had 
rested  and  fed  his  men  and  at  three  in  the  afternoon  he  had 

set  out  on  his  march.  Bourlamaque  sent  back  word  that 

he  had  made  ready  two  bridges  across  the  Cap  Rouge  River. 

At  five  the  advancing  column  was  overtaken  by  the  frightful 

storm  of  wind  and  rain,  thunder  and  lightning,  which  helped 

to   give  Murray   warning.     Some   of   the   French  reached 

1  The  truth  of  the  story  of  the  dying  artilleryman  has  been  doubted 
(Kingsford,  History  of  Canada,  iv.  365),  but  Knox  and  Fraser,  officers  in 
Quebec,  tell  the  story,  and  Murray  mentions  that  he  was  aroused  at  three 

o'clock  in  the  morning.  On  the  French  side  the  story  is  also  told  by  the 
Chevalier  Johnstone,  by  Levis,  by  Malartic,  by  Bigot,  by  a  nun  of  the 

General  Hospital,  and  in  the  anonymous  Relation  de  l' Expedition  de  QuSbec 
(Levis  MSS.,  xi.  225).  It  is  hardly  to  be  doubted  that  the  first  alarm 
reached  Quebec  in  the  general  sense  indicated. 
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Lorette  before  dark  and  quartered  themselves  in  the  houses 

of  the  inhabitants.  But  the  greater  part  were  overtaken  by 

night  and  marched  in  the  darkness,  knee-deep  in  snow  and 
mud,  with  a  tempest  raging  about  them,  and  soaked  to  the 

skin  by  a  cold  rain.  '  It  was  a  most  frightful  night,'  says 
Levis,  '  the  storm  and  the  cold  were  alike  terrible,  and  the 
army  suffered  greatly.  .  .  .  Since  the  bridges  were  broken 
down  the  men  had  to  wade  in  the  water.  It  was  so 

dark  that  the  workmen  could  do  but  little  in  the  way  of 

repairs.  Had  it  not  been  for  the  flashes  of  lightning  we 

should  have  been  forced  by  the  darkness  to  halt.'  The 
men  marched  in  single  file  and  not  until  far  into  the  night 

did  they  reach  Lorette.  Before  the  day  broke  the  force 

of  Levis  was  scattered  in  the  adjoining  houses  of  the  inhabi- 
tants to  get  dry  and  warm  and  to  prepare  their  arms  for  the 

coming  struggle.  Levis  himself  had  gone  across  the  marshy 

La  Suette  to  join  Bourlamaque  and  to  gauge  the  prospects 

of  seizing  Ste  Foy  and  of  cutting  off  the  British  outpost  at 

Cap  Rouge. 

On  the  morning  of  April  27  cold  rain  was  still  falling. 

The  terrible  weather  and  the  broken  bridges  had  delayed 

the  bringing  up  of  the  three  cannon.  Levis  waited,  since 
he  wished  to  use  them  for  the  attack  on  the  fortified  church 

at  Ste  Foy.  It  was  now  clear  that  Murray  had  been  aroused 

and  that  the  delay  caused  by  the  tempest  had  ruined  any 

chance  of  taking  Quebec  by  surprise.  Not  until  ten  o'clock 
in  the  morning  was  the  main  body  of  the  French  army  ready 

to  leave  Lorette.  In  heavy  rain  and  under  a  dark  and 

threatening  sky  the  army  advanced  in  single  column  along 
the  narrow  road  across  the  marsh.  The  officers  marched  on 

foot  with  their  men,  and  in  places  the  water  was  up  to  their 

knees.  Progress  was  slow,  but  by  noon  they  had  passed 

the  trees  which  lined  their  route  and  were  in  sight  of  the 

church  at  Ste  Foy,  The  day  was  Sunday,  but  there  was 

no  mass  at  Ste  Foy ;   not  devout  Catholics  engaged  in  their 
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worship,  but  British  soldiers  busy  with  grim  war  filled  the 

church.  It  crowned  the  height  known  as  the  Cote  d'Abra- 
ham,  which  extends  to  Quebec  from  the  Cap  Rouge  River. 

The  British  had  built  a  block-house  at  the  point  where  the 
road  reaches  the  top  of  the  hill  and  had  turned  the  church 

itself  into  a  fortress.  It  was  admirably  situated  for  this 

purpose,  for  it  commanded  the  single  road  by  which  Quebec 

could  be  reached  along  the  edge  of  the  height.  As  the 

column  of  wet  and  weary  men  appeared  in  the  open  near 

the  top  of  the  hill,  the  British  opened  fire  upon  them  with  their 

cannon  and  did  some  execution.  Once  at  the  top,  the  French 

force  deployed  among  the  trees  at  their  right,  where  they 

could  watch  in  safety  the  operations  of  the  foe.  To  bring 

up  the  three  French  cannon  along  the  road,  in  face  of  the 

British  fire,  was  impossible,  and  Levis  hastily  decided  to 

wait,  if  necessary,  for  the  cover  of  night.  Then  he  would 

turn  the  English  left,  get  in  between  Ste  Foy  and  Quebec, 

and  cut  off  the  garrison  in  this  outpost  if  it  had  not  already 
retired. 

He  was  not  obliged  to  wait  so  long.  From  the  first, 

Murray  understood  the  danger  at  Ste  Foy,  and  he  decided 

to  withdraw  this  outpost  too.  Early  in  the  morning  of  the 

27th,  in  pelting  rain,  he  drew  up  his  force  in  Quebec  and, 

taking  those  most  fit  for  service,  passed  out  through  the 

St.  John  Gate  for  the  march  of  five  miles  to  Ste  Foy.  The 

regiments  which  remained  in  Quebec  stood  ready  to  advance 

in  his  support  should  this  prove  necessary.  Murray  was 

prepared  to  fight  his  foe  wherever  he  should  meet  him. 

He  found  that  Bourlamaque  held  already  the  head  of  the 

road  leading  across  the  marsh  and,  with  something  like 

dismay,  he  watched  the  French  working  round  to  his  left 

through  the  trees.  On  this  morning  of  surprises  he  had 

a  further  cause  of  disquiet.  There  had  been  a  persistent 

rumour,  and  the  dying  artilleryman  had  confirmed  it,  that 

French  ships  had  been  seen  coming  up  the  river.     It  was 
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even  said  that  they  were  already  at  the  Traverse,  the  lower 

end  of  the  Island  of  Orleans,  and  Murray  feared  that  at  any 

moment  he  might  be  attacked  by  water  as  well  as  by  land. 

He  was  thus  anxious  to  bring  on  an  action  at  once.  Levis 

was,  however,  too  wary  to  attack  at  a  disadvantage.  He 

sent  to  Murray  a  message  that  he  would  not  fight  that  day, 

but  that,  on  the  next  day,  he  should  be  ready  for  the  English 

as  early  as  they  liked. 

In  view  of  the  possible  arrival  of  the  French  ships  and  of 

the  danger  lest  he  should  be  outflanked  on  his  left,  Murray 

decided  to  retire.  At  two  o'clock  in  the  afternoon  the 
British  at  Ste  Foy  startled  the  French  assailants  watching 
them  from  the  cover  of  the  forest.  There  was  a  flash  and  a 

roar  and  then  the  French  saw  that  the  roof  of  the  church 

had  been  blown  off.  Since  the  roads  were  very  heavy  and 

Murray  besides  had  no  wagons,  he  was  unable  to  take  away 

the  provisions  and  ammunition  stored  in  the  church.  He 

disabled  two  eight een-pounders,  which  he  left  behind,  but 
withdrew  the  rest  of  his  artillery  and,  having  set  fire  to  the 

building,  marched  out.  The  rain  which  soaked  his  men  to 

the  skin  helped  to  put  out  the  fire.  The  French,  agreeably 

surprised  at  Murray's  retreat,  attempted  to  harass  his 
march.  Levis  pushed  forward  his  mounted  men  and  grena- 

diers. They  shouted  at  and  fired  upon  the  retiring  British, 

but  with  Httle  effect,  for,  in  the  marcli  to  Quebec,  Murray's 
only  casualties  were  the  slight  wounding  of  two  men. 

That  night  the  French  army,  thoroughly  worn  out  by  the 

wet  and  toilsome  marches  of  the  previous  two  days,  slept 
in  comparative  comfort  in  the  houses  which  stretched  from 

Ste  Foy  towards  Quebec.  The  British  still  held  Dumont's 
mill,  about  a  mile  and  a  half  from  the  walls  of  Quebec,  but 

this  was  now  their  farthest  outpost.  After  the  fatigues  of 

a  long  and  miserable  day,  Murray  gave  his  men  a  little 

added  comfort  by  serving  out  an  extra  gill  of  rum.  In  order 

to  dry  their  clothing,  they  tore  down  and  burnt  some  old 
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houses  at  St.  Roch.  Each  army  was  doing  what  it  could 
to  fit  itself  for  the  morrow. 

In  spite  of  the  challenge  to  Murray,  Levis  did  not  expect 

that  there  would  be  a  pitched  battle  on  the  next  day.  He 

had  forced  the  British  to  withdraw  into  Quebec  and  he 

thought  that  they  would  stay  there  until  attacked.  He  was 

now  situated  almost  exactly  as  Wolfe  himself  had  been 
situated  a  few  months  before.  There  was  no  barrier 

between  him  and  the  walls  of  Quebec.  His  boats,  with  the 

artillery  and  provisions  brought  from  Montreal,  were  now 

free  to  use  the  landing  which  Wolfe  had  used  at  the  Anse 

au  Foulon.  He  was  fortunate  in  having  horses  as  well  as 

men  to  do  the  work  of  dragging  supplies  to  the  heights 
which  Wolfe  had  climbed.  There  he  could  entrench  himself 

and  either  await  the  arrival  of  a  French  fleet  or  assault  the 

feeble  walls  of  Quebec  at  his  discretion.  He  expected  to 

spend  the  28th  in  bringing  up  his  forces  and  in  giving  his 

men  the  food  and  the  rest  which  they  sorely  needed.  He 

had  promptly  ordered  the  Canadian  militia  in  the  district 

of  Quebec  to  join  him  and  it  would  take  a  day  at  least  for 

them  to  come  in.     On  the  29th  he  would  attack  Quebec. 

His  enemy,  however,  did  not  wait  upon  his  plans.  Early 

on  the  morning  of  the  28th  Levis  was  abroad  with  Bourla- 
maque,  riding  over  the  ground  which  he  intended  to  occupy. 

He  found  that  the  British  had  thought  better  of  trying  to 

hold  even  Dumont's  mill,  and  that  they  had  withdrawn 
from  that  outpost  during  the  night.  At  break  of  day  the 

mill  was  occupied  by  five  companies  of  French  grenadiers, 

and  it  gave  Levis  an  excellent  rallying  point  on  his  extreme 

left.  Far  away  to  his  right,  near  the  edge  of  the  ascent  up 

which  Wolfe's  force  had  climbed  so  laboriously  on  the 
memorable  September  night  of  the  previous  autumn,  were 
two  redoubts.  These  also  the  British  had  abandoned,  and 

in  the  grey  of  the  early  morning  Levis  sent  a  few  dismounted 

men  to  occupy  them.     The  forest  of  Sillery  stretched  almost 
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from  the  Anse  au  Foulon  across  to  the  Ste  Foy  Road,  so 

that  the  French  could  bring  up  their  forces  from  Ste  Foy  and 
form  them  under  the  cover  of  the  trees  ;  these  trees  would 

also  prove  an  excellent  protection  should  the  French  be 

obliged  to  retreat.  The  undulating  plain  stretching  across 

to  the  walls  of  Quebec  was  dotted  with  a  few  bushes  left 

uncut  by  the  British  army  which  had  lain  there  for  two  weeks 

in  the  previous  September. 

While  the  trained  eye  of  Levis  was  surveying  the  chief 

features  of  the  position,  he  saw,  to  his  amazement,  as  he 

looked  across  to  Quebec,  less  than  two  miles  distant,  that 

Murray's  columns,  instead  of  doing  what  the  French  had 
expected,  and  waiting  behind  the  walls,  were  marching  out 

with  the  obvious  intention  of  meeting  him  in  the  open.  He 

t/was  all  unprepared  for  such  an  attack.  His  next  in  com- 
mand, Bourlamaque,  was,  it  is  true,  well  placed,  with  his 

grenadiers  holding  Dumont's  mill  on  the  extreme  left.  But 
the  great  mass  of  the  French  troops  were  coming  up  only 

leisurely  and  the  English  might  be  upon  them  before  they 

had  formed  their  line.  Levis  rode  back  quickly  to  hasten 

the  preparations  and  to  give  directions  for  meeting  the  new 
situation. 

In  Quebec  the  night  had  been  full  of  activity  and  excite- 

ment. Should  Murray  await  atta'ck  from  Levis  ?  Seven 
months  earlier,  when  Montcalm  had  realized  that  the  British 

were  about  to  attack  Quebec  from  the  Plains  of  Abraham, 

he  had  hurried  up  from  Beauport  to  meet  them  outside  the 

gates  and  had  not  relied  upon  the  weak  defences.  Murray  had 

always  intended,  as  we  have  seen,  to  adopt  a  similar  course, 

but  he  had  hoped  that  the  arrival  of  Levis  might  be  delayed 

until,  with  the  snow  gone  and  the  frost  out  of  the  ground, 
he  could  entrench  himself  outside  the  walls.  The  line  he 

had  chosen  was  on  the  Heights  of  Abraham,  at  a  point  known 

as  the  Buttes  a  Neveu,  about  eight  hundred  yards  from  the 
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walls.  These  Heights  commanded  the  walls.  An  enemy 

who  occupied  them  might  quickly  batter  down  the  defences 

of  Quebec.  On  the  other  hand,  a  defender  holding  the 

Buttes  a  Neveu  could  prevent  a  nearer  approach  to  Quebec. 

But  now  Levis  had  arrived  before  Murray  could  fortify  the 

Heights,  and  the  problem  for  the  British  was  whether  to  go 

out  and  still  try  to  entrench  themselves  or  to  stay  in  Quebec 

behind  their  walls.  Disease  had  sorely  crippled  Murray's 
force.  It  is  not  easy  to  make  out  the  exact  numbers,  but 

nearly  one  thousand  men  had  died  of  scurvy  and  two 

thousand  three  hundred  were  unfit  for  duty.  Murray,  with 

hardly  more  than  three  thousand  men  ready  for  action, 

believed  himself  greatly  outnumbered  by  the  French. 

Quartermaster-Sergeant  Johnson  declares  that  Levis  had 

not  less  than  twenty-five  thousand  men — an  absurd  exag- 

geration— but  even  Murray  himself  thought  that  the  dispro- 
portion was  as  four  to  one.  No  wonder  therefore  that  some 

thought  he  should  not  take  the  risk  of  meeting  the  enemy 

in  the  open.  Murray,  however,  feared  what  Montcalm  had 

feared,  that  he  might  be  caught  between  an  army  on  the 

one  side  and  a  fleet  on  the  other,  and  he  did  not  now  change 

the  opinion,  formed  months  earlier,  that  it  would  be  better 

to  fight  behind  entrenchments  on  the  Heights  of  Abraham 

than  behind  the  walls  of  Quebec,  He  had  unbounded  confi- 
dence in  his  men  ;  they  had  beaten  the  French  often,  he 

said.  Above  all,  he  wished  to  emulate  Wolfe,  and,  like  that 

hero,  to  win  undying  glory.  Even  the  French  understood 

that  he  had  a  passionate  desire  to  become  the  final  conqueror 

of  Canada  without  help  from  other  generals. 

Accordingly  Murray  now  resolved  to  march  out  in  the 

early  morning,  to  take  with  him  a  large  supply  of  entrenching 

tools,  to  fight  the  French  if  they  would  fight,  but,  in  any 

case,  to  throw  up  entrenchments  and  make  impossible  the 

enemy's  nearer  approach  to  Quebec.  With  the  ground  still 
frozen  and  with,  in  some  places,  but  a  scanty  soil  covering 
1641  K 



146  THE  BATTLE  OF  SAINTE  FOY 

the  surface  of  the  hard  rock,  entrenchments  would  be  nearly 

impossible,  and  it  was  assuredly  a  difficult  task  that  Murray 

set  for  his  men.  Johnson  says  that  his  general  was  too  full 

of  '  mad  enthusiastic  zeal  '.  None  the  less,  the  men  were 
as  eager  as  their  leader  to  go  out  to  meet  the  enemy. 

In  the  dark  of  the  early  morning  of  April  28  the  force 

began  to  muster  in  Quebec,  and  shortly  after  daybreak  the 

army  was  ready  to  march.  Each  man  carried,  in  addition  to 

his  weapons,  a  pick-axe  or  a  spade.  The  array  was  sorry 
enough.  Soldiers  who  had  long  been  crippled  in  the  hospital 

now  threw  aside  their  crutches  and  begged  for  a  place  in  the 

ranks.  One-third  of  Murray's  army  was  composed  of  men 

really  unfit  for  duty.  '  Any  man',  says  Johnson,  '  who  was 
the  least  acquainted  with  the  duty  we  were  going  on  would 

have  shuddered  at  the  sight  .  ,  .  such  a  poor  pitiful  handful  of 

half-starved  scorbutic  skeletons  ;  but  ',  he  adds,  '  they  went 

out  .  .  .  determined  to  a  Man  to  Conquer  or  Die.'  Some  of 
those  who  were  not  allowed  to  fall  in  dragged  themselves  after 

the  advancing  regiments  and  took  their  places  when  the 

army  halted  and  the  line  of  battle  was  formed.  There  were 

3,866  men  in  Murray's  whole  force. 

Murray's  army  marched  out  at  half-past  six  in  two  columns; 
one  by  the  St.  John  gate  along  the  Ste  Foy  road,  the  other 

by  the  St.' Louis  gate  along  the  road  to  Sillery.  The  rain 
of  the  previous  day  had  ceased  and  the  spring  air  was  mild 

and  pleasant.  On  the  slopes  exposed  to  the  sun  the  brown 

earth  was  bare  of  snow,  but  there  were  still  heavy  drifts  and 

these  made  passage  difficult.  The  water  lay  deep  in  the 

hollows,  for  the  frozen  ground  prevented  proper  drainage. 

Knowing  that  the  French  could  as  yet  bring  up  few,  if  any, 

cannon,  Murray  trusted  much  to  his  artillery  and  took 

with  him  twenty  field-pieces  and  two  howitzers.  Only  a  few 
horses  were  to  be  found  in  Quebec.  In  consequence,  the 

cannon  were  hauled  by  men,  themselves  weak  and  sickly. 

When  most  needed,  their  strength  was  to  prove  unequal 
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to  the  task  of  bringing  up  ammunition  and  of  dragging 

heavy  cannon  through  marshy  ground  cumbered  with  drifts 
of  snow. 

At  seven  o'clock  Bourlamaque,  looking  out  from  the  ex- 

treme left  of  the  French  position,  saw  that  Murray's  force 
had  already  covered  the  short  distance  to  the  Buttes  a  Neveu 

and  was  drawing  up  in  line  at  that  point  in  an  advantageous 

position.  To  him,  as  to  Levis,  Murray's  advance  was  a  com- 

plete surprise.  '  No  one  believed  that  the  enemy  would 

dare  to  advance,'  Bourlamaque  wrote,  '  and  the  army  was 
resting.  .  .  .  We  were  all  worn  out  and  wet.  We  had  no 

thought  of  moving  forward  until  daybreak  on  the  next 

morning  when  we  should  have  boats  at  the  Anse  au  Foulon 

to  support  our  advance  guard  on  the  right.'  ̂  

It  thus  happened  that  Murray's  march  out  of  Quebec, 
rash  as  to  some  it  appeared,  might  easily  have  proved 

disastrous  to  the  French.  To  make  his  scanty  force  seem 

the  more  formidable  he  drew  it  up,  as  Wolfe  had  done,  in 

a  line  only  two  deep.  His  artillery  was  soon  sending  bombs 

against  the  French,  and,  for  a  time  at  least,  this  caused 

dismay  and  something  like  confusion.  Bourlamaque  sent 

forward  support  for  the  advance  guard  in  Dumont's  mill  and 
he  hastily  drew  up  three  brigades  in  line.  Meanwhile  Levis 

was  trying  to  hurry  forward  the  other  brigades.  This 

seemed  to  Murray  to  be  his  opportunity.  A  critical  officer 

declares  that  his  leader's  passion  for  glory  now  got  the 
better  of  his  reason.  He  had  intended  to  entrench  his  force 

on  the  Buttes  a  Neveu  and  await  attack ;  now,  however,  he 

saw  a  chance  to  take  the  French  unprepared,  and  he  jumped 

at  it  with  his  usual  impulsiveness,  asking  no  advice  from  any 

one.  It  is  not  clear  that,  by  his  advance,  he  could  have 

struck  a  vital  blow,  for,  at  best,  he  could  only  have  driven 

the  French  back  to  the  edge  of  the  wood.  '  Upon  coming 

to  our  ground,'  says  Knox,  '  we  descried  the  enemy's  van  on 
'■  Bourlamaque  to  Bougainville,  May  3,  1760  ;    Kerallain,  p.  167. 
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the  eminences  of  the  woods  of  Sillery,  and  the  bulk  of  their 

army  to  the  right  marching  along  the  road  of  Ste  Foy,  in- 
clining, as  they  advanced,  in  order  to  conceal  themselves. 

Upon  this  discovery,  and  our  line  being  already  formed,  the 

troops  were  ordered  to  throw  down  their  intrenching  tools 

and  march  forward,  this  being  deemed  the  decisive  moment 

to  attack  them,  in  hopes  of  reaping  every  advantage  that 

could  be  expected  over  an  army  not  yet  thoroughly  arranged. 

.  .  .  Our  forces  advanced  with  great  alacrity.  .  .  .  Our  field- 
pieces  were  exceedingly  well  served,  and  did  amazing 

execution.'  Murray  would  have  been  well  advised  had  he 
stayed  where  he  was.  There  he  could  make  his  position 

secure,  and  batter  the  advancing  foe  with  his  artillery,  while 

keeping  open  a  safe  retreat  to  the  town  if  necessary.  But  he 

pushed  forward,  and  for  the  moment  with  apparent  success. 

If  we  may  credit  Bourlamaque,  Levis  was  stricken  with 

something  like  panic  at  this  movement.  Believing  that  his 

troops  would  not  have  time  to  form  to  meet  Murray's  attack, 

he  gave  orders  to  retire  from  Dumont's  mill  to  a  point  less 
advanced,  the  house  known  as  La  Fontaine.  As  Bourla- 

maque himself  rode  forward  to  carry  out  this  order,  the 

British  light  infantry  advanced  upon  the  mill  and  poured  in 

a  fire  so  deadly  that  in  drawing  off  the  grenadiers  Bourla- 

maque had 'his  horse,  or  rather  Bougainville's,  for  he  had 
borrowed  it  from  that  friend,  killed  under  him  and  was 

wounded  by  a  bullet  in  the  calf  of  the  leg.  The  British 

occupied  the  mill  and  drove  back  the  grenadiers  with  great 

loss.  Meanwhile,  on  the  right,  Levis  saw  that  until  more 

troops  arrived  his  men  could  not  support  their  advanced 

position.  He  therefore  ordered  them  back  to  the  edge  of 

the  wood.  The  British  took  this  for  a  general  retreat. 

They  pressed  in,  recaptured  the  redoubts  occupied  by 

Levis  in  the  early  morning,  and  poured  a  heavy  fire  of 

cannon  and  musketry  upon  the  retreating  French.  It 

looked  as  if  the  British  had  won  the  day. 
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They  were,  however,  too  confident.  The  main  French 

force  was  now  coming  up  rapidly,  and,  in  spite  of  the  severe 

British  fire,  the  columns  deployed  into  line  at  the  edge  of 

the  wood.  Levis  rode  along  in  front  of  his  army,  a  position 

greatly  exposed,  and  ordered  his  men  to  prepare  to  charge. 

By  word  and  gesture  he  cheered  them  on.  He  trusted 

much  to  his  superiority  of  numbers,  and  hoped  by  using 

this  superiority  to  outflank  the  British  and  to  get  between 

them  and  Quebec.  Meanwhile  the  British  were  in  trouble. 

When  they  pressed  forward  from  the  height  on  which  their 

line  had  been  drawn  up,  they  soon  found  themselves  in  low 

and  marshy  ground  where  they  had  to  fight  standing  knee- 

deep  in  snow  and  water.  Their  cannon  stuck  in  the  snow- 
drifts and  there  was  no  strength  in  the  enfeebled  men  to 

draw  them  out.  It  was  impossible  even  to  bring  up  supplies 

of  ammunition,  for  as  soon  as  the  ammunition  wagons  had 

passed  through  the  gates  of  Quebec  they  had  stuck  in 

deep  pits  of  snow.  The  inevitable  result  followed.  The 

artillery  fire  of  the  British  gradually  slackened.  In  time 

it  ceased  entirely  and  they  could  not  answer  the  effective 

fire  of  the  three  guns  which  Levis  had  brought  up  with  such 

great  labour. 
It  was  for  this  reason  that  the  tide  of  battle  now  turned. 

The  attention  of  Levis  was  chiefly  concentrated  on  his  right. 

On  the  left  Bourlamaque  was  wounded, — a  serious  loss  to 
the  French  side,  for  so  much  was  he  the  life  and  spirit  of  his 

troops  that  his  loss  earlier  in  the  day,  it  was  said,  would  have 

brought  a  complete  victory  to  the  British.  In  the  confusion 

after  his  loss,  the  brigades  on  the  left  were  without  orders. 

They  became  impatient  of  standing  in  the  wood  in  marshy 

land  with  snow  and  water  rising  sometimes  to  their  waists, 

and  they  advanced  on  their  own  account.  When  they  met 

the  British  light  infantry  pursuing  the  grenadiers  driven 

from  Dumont's  mill,  they  pressed  them  back  with  great  loss 
and    reoccupied    the  mill.     At   about   the  same   time  the 
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French  right  charged  on  the  two  redoubts  from  which  the 

British  had  driven  them  earlier  in  the  day.  The  redoubts 

were  no  longer  defended  by  artillery  fire  and  the  French 

quickly  recaptured  them.  After  this  the  battle  went  against 

the  British.  They  fought  with  determined  courage.  They 

even  recaptured  the  two  redoubts.  Once  more,  too,  on 

their  right  they  drove  the  French  out  of  Dumont's  mill. 
Here,  indeed,  took  place  the  most  murderous  conflict  of 

the  day.  It  was  a  hand-to-hand  struggle  between  the 
Highlanders  and  the  French  grenadiers.  The  Highlanders 

fought  with  their  dirks.  '  These  two  antagonists,'  says  the 

Chevalier  Johnstone,  '  worthy  the  one  of  the  other, '  were 
no  sooner  out  by  the  windows,  than  they  returned  to  the 

charge,  and  broke  open  the  doors.  .  .  .  The  grenadiers  were 

reduced  to  forty  men  per  company,  and  there  would  not 

have  remained  either  Highlander  or  grenadier  of  the  two 

armies,  if  they  had  not,  as  by  tacit  and  reciprocal  agreement, 

abandoned  the  desire  of  occupying  the  fort.' 
Outflanked  on  both  the  right  and  the  left,  the  British  were 

now  in  imminent  danger  of  being  cut  off  from  the  town. 

If  Murray  did  not  retire  quickly  the  French  would  get  in 

behind  his  force  and  surround  it.  He  had  time  to  spike  his 

guns  before  the  order  was  at  length  given  to  the  troops  to 

fall  back,  '  a  command ',  says  Captain  Knox,  '  they  were 

hitherto  unacquainted  with.'  '  Damn  it,  what  is  falling 

back  but  retreating  ?  '  some  of  the  men  cried  out  in  protest. 
Retreat  indeed  was  the  word,  and  it  was  necessary  to  act 

quickly.  The  French  '  advanced  .  .  .  like  a  hasty  torrent  from 

a  lofty  precipice',  says  Quartermaster-Sergeant  Johnson. 
The  British  left  cannon,  entrenching  tools,  and  apparently 

everything  that  could  be  dropped.  The  wounded  and 

dead  remained  lying  on  the  field.  '  Our  army  pursued  them 

hotly,'  says  the  Chevalier  Johnstone  on  the  French  side, 

'  and  if  the  cry  had  not  been  raised  among  our  forces  to 
stop,  it  would  have  possibly  happened  that  we  should  have 

I 
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entered  the  city  of  Quebec  pell-mell  with  them,  not  being 

at  any  distance  from  the  gates.'  In  fact  it  was  only  the  block- 
houses and  a  strong  redoubt  outside  the  walls  that  kept  the 

French  from  cutting  off  the  rear  of  the  retreating  British. 
It  was  fortunate  for  the  defeated  side  that  the  French  force 

was  worn  out  by  its  previous  fatigues.  The  weary  men 

who  had  been  exposed  to  rain  and  snow  for  days  were  in 

some  cases  so  weak  that  they  had  little  strength  to  use  their 

bayonets  when  they  overtook  the  British.  The  losses  on 

both  sides  were  heavy.  Murray's  casualties  were  about 
1,200 — one-third  of  his  force,  but  the  number  killed  was 

only  about  300.  The  French  had  about  200  killed  and  more 

than  600  wounded.  Levis  says  that  he  had  5,000  men  on 

the  field,  but  that  only  3,600  came  into  action.  It  was  the 

most  severely  contested  struggle  of  the  whole  war,  and  the 

last  battle  fought  between  French  and  British  for  Canada. 

When  Levis  saw  that  he  had  won  the  day,  his  first  care  was 

to  occupy  the  General  Hospital,  lying  on  the  banks  of  the 

St.  Charles  outside  the  walls  of  Quebec.  His  haste  was  due 
to  his  need  of  the  ministrations  of  the  nuns  for  the  wounded, 

but  also  in  part  to  the  fear  that  his  Indian  allies,  whom  he 

had  not  kept  well  in  hand,  might  make  a  dash  upon  the  place 

and  butcher  the  helpless  occupants.  To  avoid  the  rough 

and  almost  impassable  roads,  some  of  the  wounded  were  sent 

in  boats  past  Quebec  and  round  to  the  St.  Charles  River  where 

the  hospital  stands.  Much  to  the  indignation  of  Levis,  a 

boat  carrying  the  wounded  was  fired  on  from  Quebec  by 

mistake  and  one  man  was  killed.  At  the  hospital  itself 

there  were  ghastly  scenes.  '  Another  pen  than  mine  would 

be  necessary  ',  writes  a  nun,^ '  to  paint  the  horrors  of  sight  and 
sound  during  the  twenty-four  hours  in  which  the  wounded 

were  being  brought  in.'  The  nuns  prepared  five  hundred 
beds,  but  these  were  not  enough.     Then  they  filled  their 

*  '  Relation  de  ce  qui  s'est  passe  au  Sifege  de  Quebec ',  par  une  Religieuse 
de  I'Hopital  General. 
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stables  and  barns  with  the  wounded.  Of  seventy-two 

officers  brought  in  thirty-three  died.  '  We  saw  nothing  but 
torn  arms  and  legs,  and  to  add  to  the  woe  of  the  occasion 

the  supply  of  linen  gave  out,  so  that  we  were  obliged  to  use 

our  sheets  and  our  chemises.'  No  aid  from  the  sister  nuns  of 
Quebec  was  to  be  expected,  for  they  were  pressed  into  the 
service  of  the  needy  British. 

Horrors  more  grim  than  those  of  civilized  war  found  place 

after  the  battle.  The  Indians  serving  with  the  French  had 

behaved  badly  throughout  the  day.  They  had  taken  no 

part  in  the  fighting  but  had  skulked  in  the  woods  at  the  rear. 

They  had  even  pillaged  the  haversacks  and  other  equipment 
which  the  French  had  left  behind.  When  their  friends  were 

masters  of  the  field  these  dangerous  allies  came  forth  for  their 

own  savage  work,  and  they  were  not  checked.  The  battle- 
field was  strewn  with  the  dead  and  wounded.  For  the 

Indians  to  have  scalped  the  dead  would  have  been  bad 

enough.  They  did  this,  but  they  did  more.  Officers  and 

men,  sometimes  only  slightly  wounded  but  unable  to  join  the 

British  retreat,  fell  victims  to  the  ruthless  savages.  '  Of 

the  immense  number  of  wounded  men,'  says  Knox,  with 

pardonable  warmth,  '  who  were  unavoidably  left  on  the  field 
of  battle,  twenty-eight  only  were  sent  to  the  hospital, 
the  rest  being  given  up  as  victims  to  glut  the  rage  of  the 

savage  allies  [of  the  French]  and  to  prevent  their  forsaking 

them.'  '  All  the  wounded  men,'  we  are  told  in  another 

account,  '  and  several  of  the  wounded  officers  who  could  not 
get  off  the  field  was  [sic]  as  usual  every  one  Scalped  for  the 

entertainment  of  the  Conqueror.'  Malartic  says  that  the 
Indians  scalped  even  some  of  the  French.  It  is  incredible 

that,  as  the  British  charge,  the  French  officers  encouraged 

such  barbarities,  but  there  is  no  doubt  that  they  showed  too 

little  vigour  in  checking  the  savages.^ 

^  Knox,  ii.  317  ;    note  to  Mackellar's  Plan  of  the  battle  of   Ste  Foy, 
Report  on  Canadian  Archives,  1905,  vol.  ii ;   Malartic,  p.  369. 
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The  bad  news  caused  dismay  in  England.  Pitt  saw  in  it 

the  danger  of  final  failure  to  the  work  of  years.  He  wrote 

on  June  20  to  Amherst  trusting  that, '  in  the  Providence  of 

God  '  no  fatal  catastrophe  might  happen.  '  I  wish  you 

sorrow  of  the  battle  of  Quebec,'  wrote  Horace  Walpole  to 

his  friend  Conway  on  June  21  ;  '  I  thought  as  much  of  losing 

the  duchies  of  Aquitaine  and  Normandy  as  Canada.'  Nego- 
tiations for  peace  were  going  on  and  the  British  reverse 

stiffened  the  terms  of  the  French.  A  letter  of  an  English 

statesman  of  the  time  sums  up  the  prospect  as  the  British 
saw  it  : 

'  We  all  here  blame  Mr.  Murray,  and  are  not  at  all  satisfied 
with  the  reason  he  assigns  for  leaving  the  town  to  attack  the 
enemy.  He  says,  as  I  hear,  that  if  the  enemy  got  possession 
of  the  Heights  of  Abraham,  the  town  was  not  defensible  ;  but 
we  wonder  then,  why  he  did  not  entrench  himself  there, 
and  defend  it  by  the  force  of  his  artillery,  with  which  he 
was  very  well  supplied  and  the  French  very  ill ;  so  that  we 
cannot  conceive,  as  long  as  our  force  was  complete,  how  they 
could  have  any  hopes  of  taking  the  town.  As  it  is,  however, 
I  understand  that  there  are  no  expectations  that  it  can  be 
saved,  and,  indeed,  I  am  told  that  Murray  himself  gives  little 
reason  to  hope  it.  The  relief  from  Amherst  is  certainly 
impossible,  and  I  do  not  think  that  he  has  ever  shown 
activity  enough  to  make  one  hope  that  he  would  make  an 
attempt  vigorous  enough,  even  if  there  was  a  mere  chance 
of  success.  How  unexpected  and  unfortunate  all  this  is  ! 

and  how  it  has  marred  all  our  schemes  of  peace.'  ̂  

*  Jenkinson  to  Grenville,  London,  June  19,  1760  :  Grenvillc  Papers, 
i-  343- 



CHAPTER  V 

THE  RELIEF  OF  QUEBEC  BY  THE  FLEET 

It  was  natural  that  the  survivors  in  Quebec  after  the 

battle  of  Ste  Foy  should  be  dejected  and  disorganized.  One- 
third  of  those  who  had  gone  forth  with  such  elation  had  been 

killed  or  wounded.  The  defeated  army  now  expected  every 

moment  that  Levis  would  press  the  attack,  take  Quebec  by 

assault,  and  put  its  defenders  to  the  sword.  Panic  and 

despair  found  vent  in  reckless  lawlessness.  Then,  as  always, 
drink  was  the  snare  of  the  British  soldier,  and  to  get  drink 

the  men  broke  into  stores  and  dwelling-houses.  In  such 

conditions  an  assault  upon  Quebec  immediately  after  the 

battle  might  well  have  proved  successful.  The  English 

thought  that  Levis  lacked,  at  this  crisis,  the  insight  and 

promptness  of  a  great  leader.  Deserters  who  now  came  into 

the  British  camp  declared,  indeed,  that  the  success  of  the 

French  was  due  to  the  confidence  of  the  army,  not  in  Levis, 

but  in  Bourlamaque,  who,  they  said,  was  the  life  and  spirit 

of  the  troops.  The  British  undoubtedly  expected  a  prompt 

assault  on  Quebec,  and  a  day  or  two  later,  when  it  had  not 

taken  place.  Captain  Knox  wrote  :  '  They  have  let  slip 
a  golden  opportunity  ;  had  they  followed  their  blow  .  .  . 

before  the  soldiers  re-collected  themselves,  I  am  strongly 

inclined  to  think  .  .  .  Quebec  would  have  reverted  to  its  old 

masters.' 
^  Levis,  however,  delayed  and  hesitated.  '  The  enemy  is 

unmasking  many  embrasures,'  he  wrote  on  the  second  day 
after  the  battle ;  '  this  shows  that  they  can  keep  up  a  con- 

siderable fire.     All  this  would  be  nothing  if  we  had  the y 
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'/artillery  and  the  ammunition  to  answer  them.  We  can 

only  hope  that  some  aid  will  come  for  us  from  France.'  In 
spite  of  his  victory  he  was  not  as  strong  as  his  enemy  sup- 

posed. His  labours  were  incessant,  and  he  spoke  of  being 
worn  out.  A  rare  leader,  such  as  Napoleon,  would  probably 
have  followed  up  victory  at  once,  and  would  have  mastered 
Quebec  even  at  the  cost  of  dire  slaughter.  In  the  end, 
however,  Quebec  would  fall  to  the  power  which  could 
place  in  its  basin  the  stronger  fleet.  Levis  paused  to 

think  of  to-morrow,  and  perhaps  he  was  wise.  Certainly 
Vaudreuil  and  Bigot  at  Montreal  believed  that  he  was  the 
sole  hope  of  France.  Their  letters  breathe  an  unwavering 

confidence  in  his  skill  which  can  hardly  have  been  aroused 
except  by  really  strong  qualities. 

The  panic  in  Quebec  did  not  last  long.  To  check  drunken- 
ness Murray  promptly  ordered  all  the  spirits  in  the  Lower 

Town  other  than  those  of  the  King  to  be  spilled.  He  also 

weakened  with  water  the  daily  allowance  of  rum.  Lawless- 
ness he  discouraged  by  promptly  hanging  a  man  found 

breaking  into  a  house.  Stragglers  and  marauders  were 
warned  that  a  similar  fate  awaited  them.  In  the  crisis  \r 

Murray  showed  great  capacity.  His  redoubt  and  block- 
houses without  the  walls  remained  active.  Levis  held  the 

Buttes  a  Neveu  not  more  than  nine  hundred  yards  from  the 

walls.  The  British  expected  that  he  would  begin  a  bom- 
bardment, but  he  could  not  do  so  at  once.  His  only  cannon, 

for  a  time,  were  the  three  field-pieces  which  he  had  so 
laboriously  brought  with  him  over  hills  and  through  snow 
and  mud  from  St.  Augustin.  He  would,  of  course,  turn  the 
abandoned  British  cannon  against  their  former  owners, 
but  it  was  not  easy  to  bring  up  either  these  or  his  own 
cannon  at  the  Anse  au  Foulon.  Moreover,  he  had  little 

ammunition,  and  what  he  had  was  of  bad  quality.  Murray 

gave  orders  that  the  first  cannon-ball  which  the  French  fired 
into  Quebec  should  be  brought  to  him,  and  we  are  told  that 
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the  inspection  gave  him  pleasure,  for  it  proved  the  inferior 

quahty  of  their  powder. ^ 
Murray  had  thought  of  trying  to  take  his  army  in  boats 

to  the  island  of  Orleans,  there  to  await  the  arrival  of  a 

British  fleet,  but  he  promptly  abandoned  this  plan  and 

resolved  to  hold  Quebec.  When  the  first  panic  was  over,  he 

kept  up  a  vigorous  fire  at  the  French  whenever  they  appeared 

at  the  high  points  which  commanded  the  walls.  '  The  best 
we  could  do  was  to  endeavour  to  knock  their  works  to  pieces 

before  they  could  mount  their  cannon,'  he  wrote  in  his 
diary  on  the  day  after  the  battle,  and  he  carried  on  this  work 

with  untiring  energy.  A  dash  by  the  enemy  on  the  walls  of 

Quebec  under  cover  of  darkness  was  possible.  But  it  is 
more  than  doubtful  whether  it  would  have  succeeded, 

Superior  in  numbers  though  the  French  were,  the  British 

would  have  had  a  great  advantage  in  fighting  behind 

walls  to  meet  an  assault.  The  scaling-ladders  prepared  so 
laboriously  during  the  winter  would  have  been  of  great 

service  to  the  French.  But  they  had  little  stomach  for  such 

an  enterprise,  and  with  some  justice.  Their  regulars  now 

numbered  only  about  three  thousand  ;  their  Canadian  allies 

had  had  no  experience  of  this  type  of  warfare  ;  and  for  such 

an  attempt  the  Indians  were  useless.  In  truth,  Levis  had 

lost  a  great  opportunity  in  not  striking  the  British  when 

they  were  in  a  panic  after  the  battle.  A  similar  opening 
did  not  recur. 

Murray's  men  were  soon  confident  and  cheerful.  '  We 
no  longer  harbour  a  thought  of  visiting  France  or  England, 

or  of  falling  a  sacrifice  to  a  merciless  scalping-knife,'  wrote 

Captain  Knox  on  May  2.  '  We  are  roused  from  our  lethargy  ; 

we  have  recovered  our  good  humour.'  The  men  boasted 
that  if  the  French  tried  to  storm  the  walls  they  would  catch 

a  Tartar,  and  they  expressed  their  resolution  in  the  words 

with  which  the  English  soldier  of  an  earlier  time  is  said  to 
*  Malartic,  p.  369. 

y 
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have  awaited  the  French  foe  at  Crecy  :  '  Damn  them,  if 
they  do  come,  there  is  enough  of  them  to  fight,  enough  to  be 

killed,  and  enough  to  run  away.'  On  the  second  night  after 
the  battle  Ensign  Maw  led  twenty-two  men  in  a  sortie  in 
the  hope  of  taking  a  prisoner  who  could  be  forced  to  tell 

what  the  enemy  was  doing.  The  design  failed,  and  six  men 

were  killed.  The  incident  served  to  prove  that  the  spirit 
of  the  men  was  even  better  than  that  of  the  officers.  When, 

on  May  i,  Murray  asked  for  volunteers  to  make  a  second 

sortie,  some  non-commissioned  officers  and  men  came  for- 
ward, but  not  a  single  officer. 

Murray  tried  to  give  his  men  some  ground  for  good  cheer. 

Late  on  the  night  of  his  defeat  he  issued  to  the  army  an 

order  deploring  the  misfortunes  of  the  day  but  promising 

ultimate  success.  '  The  28th  of  April  has  been  unfortunate 
to  the  British  arms,  but  affairs  are  not  so  desperate  as  to  be 

irretrievable  .  .  .  The  fleet  may  be  hourly  expected,  reinforce- 
ments are  at  hand  ;  and  shall  we  lose,  in  one  moment,  the 

fruits  of  so  much  blood  and  treasure  ?  Both  Officers  and 

men  are  exhorted  patiently  to  undergo  the  fatigues  they  must 

suffer,  and  to  expose  themselves  chearfully  to  some  dangers  ; 

a  duty  they  own  to  their  King,  their  Country,  and  them- 

selves.' There  was  heavy  work  to  do,  and,  when  order  was  once 

restored,  Murray  allowed  the  men  a  double  supply  of  food 

and  also  of  rum.  Any  of  the  French  who  still  remained  in 

Quebec  were  sent  away.  Murray  named  '  alarm  posts  ' 
where  the  different  regiments  should  be  stationed.  The 

men  lived  in  what  tents  could  be  procured.  This  enabled 

them  to  be  always  on  hand  at  the  point  of  danger,  and  it  also 

avoided  the  peril  of  being  in  houses  which  might  be  knocked 

to  pieces  by  the  cannon  of  the  enemy.  Except  when  on 

duty  no  officer  or  man  was  allowed  to  stir  from  these  posts  ; 

for  days  Quebec  had  an  army  as  much  on  the  alert  as  if 

drawn  up  in  line  of  battle  face  to  face  with  the  enemy.     To 
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prevent  the  secret  approach  of  assailants,  companies  of 

rangers  lay  all  night  outside  the  walls,  half-way  between  the 
town  and  the  block-houses.  The  hour  just  before  day- 

break was  the  most  likely  time  for  an  assault,  and  each 

morning  at  this  time  the  garrison  was  drawn  up  under  arms 

until  daylight.  There  was  much  engineering  work  to  do, 

and  it  was  all  the  more  difficult  because  Major  Mackellar, 

the  chief  of  the  engineering  staff,  had  been  dangerously 

wounded  in  the  battle  of  April  28.  Within  the  walls,  the 

British  made  batteries  to  enfilade  the  roads  leading  to  the 

Lower  Town,  and  they  threw  up  barricades  in  different  parts 

of  the  city.  From  dark  until  daybreak  two  hundred  men 

worked  outside  the  St.  Louis  gate,  constructing  defences 

that  should  protect  that  gate  from  attack.  On  Cape 

Diamond,  Murray  caused  an  observation  tower  to  be  built. 

It  cost  much  labour,  but  from  this  high  point  within  the 

walls  he  could  survey  the  enemy's  works  and  throw  shot  and 
shell  into  the  vulnerable  parts  of  their  trenches.  Nor  while 

thus  alert  did  Murray  forget  to  urge  the  speedy  coming  of  out- 
side help.  On  the  30th  the  French  on  the  heights  saw  the  sloop 

of  war  Racehorse  draw  away  from  Quebec  and  hasten  on  her 

way  down  the  river.  They  flattered  themselves  that  the  ship 

carried  off  the  French  deserters,  so  that,  after  the  expected 

fall  of  the  town,  these  traitors  should  not  suffer  the  shameful 

execution  which  Levis  had  promised  if  he  caught  them  ;  but, 

in  fact,  she  was  speeding  away  to  meet  the  expected  British 

squadron  and  to  hasten  its  arrival. 

During  the  time  of  waiting,  every  one  in  Quebec  was 

obliged  to  work  ;  even  the  women  had  their  daily  labour, 

by  no  means  light.  Those  who  could  do  nothing  else  made 

wads  for  the  guns  ;  and  a  day's  task  of  100  was  required 
from  each  of  the  convalescents.  The  British  opened 

embrasures  in  the  walls,  and  they  covered  the  parapet  wall 

towards  the  enemy  with  bundles  of  wood,  and  rammed  down 

earth  between  this  lining  and  the  wall  of  masonry  ;  then  the 
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wall  could  not  be  shattered  by  cannon-balls.  They  planted 
artillery  not  only  upon  every  bastion  but  upon  the  rather 

flimsy  wall.  The  heaviest  labour  was  that  of  dragging  up 

the  cannon  from  the  Lower  Town  to  replace  what  Murray 

had  lost  in  the  battle,  and  to  strengthen  the  defences. 

Murray  aimed  to  use  one  hundred  and  forty  cannon,  and 

he  stripped  the  Lower  Town  of  guns,  planks,  and  platforms. 

The  officers  toiled  with  the  men.  *  None  but  those  who 

were  present  on  the  Spot ',  writes  Quartermaster-Sergeant 

Johnson,  '  can  imagine  the  grief  of  heart  the  Soldiers  felt,  to 
See  their  Officers  doing  the  common  labour  of  the  Soldier, 

equal  with  themselves  ;  to  see  them  yoked  in  the  harness 

dragging  up  Cannon  from  the  Lower  town  .  .  .  [and]  at  Work 

at  the  Batteries,  with  the  Barrow,  Pickax,  and  Spade,  with 

the  same  Ardour  as  themselves.'  At  all  hours  of  the  night 
Murray  and  the  Lieutenant-Governor,  Colonel  Burton,  paid 
surprise  visits  to  the  various  posts  to  make  sure  that  nothing 

was  neglected.  Even  with  the  best  vigilance  accidents 

sometimes  happened.  On  May  3  a  fire  broke  out  near  the 

Intendant's  palace  and  caused  some  destruction.  The 
French  supposed  that  the  English  were  purposely  destroying 

the  town  before  the  coming  evacuation.  Far  away  at 

Montreal,  Vaudreuil,  always  fluent  and  often  foolish,  wrote 

to  Levis  complaining  of  British  barbarity  in  thus  destroying 

Quebec  ! 
The  victory  of  Ste  Foy  had  sent  a  thrill  of  pride  and 

pleasure  throughout  New  France.  '  The  jubilation  here  is 

unparalleled,'  wrote  Bougainville  from  Isle  aux  Noix. 
Vaudreuil  and  Bigot  saw  in  it  the  beginning  of  the  end  of 

their  sorrow.  From  Montreal,  almost  daily,  Vaudreuil 

poured  forth  glowing  letters  full  of  hope.  It  was  almost 

unnecessary,  he  wrote  on  May  4,  to  send  Levis  a  further 

supply  of  powder,  for  he  would,  of  course,  have  taken  Quebec. 

On  May  5,  in  another  mood,  he  says  that  he  should  regard 

the  capture  of  Quebec  as  uncertain  if  any  one  but  Levis  was 
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besieging  the  place,  '  but  with  you  there  I  am  tranquil  con- 

cerning the  outcome.'  The  next  day,  when  a  north-east  wind 
is  blowing,  he  rejoices,  for  it  will  be  bringing  nearer  to  Quebec 
the  French  vessels  which  he  is  sure  are  in  the  river.  He 

bursts  into  praises  of  the  part  which  the  French-Canadians 
took  in  the  battle  of  Ste  Foy,  though  the  French  engineer 

Desandroiiins  says  that  three  hundred  of  them  deserted 

during  the  day.  Even  Bigot,  a  man  of  a  colder  temper, 

writes  to  tell  Levis  that  he  must  occupy  the  choicest  room 

in  the  Intendant's  palace  at  Quebec,  while  he  himself  will  be 
content  with  a  little  bed  in  a  smaller  chamber.  Bigot  has 

misgivings  on  May  9  when  the  north-east  wind  blows  :  '  If,  as 

seems  likely,  this  continues,  we  have  everything  to  fear.' 
Obviously  he,  unlike  Vaudreuil,  believed  that  it  was  a 
British  and  not  a  French  fleet  which  such  a  wind  would 

bring  up  the  river. 

Not  long,  however,  after  the  battle  of  Ste  Foy,  all  in  the 

French  camp  who  were  not  irresponsible  optimists  had 

begun  to  realize  the  almost  hopeless  nature  of  their  task. 

With  a  storm  of  shot  and  shell  sweeping  the  Buttes  a  Neveu, 

Levis  found  that  he  could  not  retain  his  camp  as  near 

Quebec  as  he  had  hoped,  and  he  lost  much  time  in  moving 

it  about  a  mile  further  back  and  in  taking  the  necessary 

precautions  for  safety.  The  British  fire  plunged  behind 

the  Buttes  a  Neveu  and  made  the  ground  look  like  a 
ploughed  field  for  two  miles  from  the  walls.  What  Levis 

aimed  at  was  to  get  his  guns  soon  in  position  and  then  to 

batter  the  walls  and  make  breaches.  This  done,  he  thought 

he  could  either  force  Quebec  to  surrender  or  carry  it  by 

assault.  Always  he  hoped  to  be  aided  by  the  expected  fleet . 
from  France. 

The  plan  of  Levis  was  not  easy  to  carry  out.  The  French 

could  approach  the  exposed  positions  only  by  trenches,  and 

to  make  these  in  the  frozen  ground  was  killing  work.  At 

some  points   where   they   wished   to   plant   batteries   they 
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found  only  about  six  inches  of  earth  covering  the  hard  rock. 

The  French  had  to  carry  much  material  needed  for 

entrenchments  in  sacks  for  long  distances  over  heavy  roads 

and  also  to  pass  along  narrow  trenches  to  the  exposed  places. 

They  brought  their  artillery  in  boats  to  the  Anse  au  Foulon, 

and  had  to  drag  it  up  the  steep  height.  Then  they  had  to 

take  the  guns  to  the  batteries  through  melting  snow  and 

through  mud,  in  face  of  the  plunging  British  fire  on  the 

Plains  of  Abraham.  In  the  same  way  they  had  to  carry 

with  heavy  labour  fascines  and  gabions — bundles  of  wood 

and  buckets  to  hold  the  earth  in  place  in  the  entrenchments — 
to  their  positions.  The  men  who  worked  in  the  trenches 

were  exposed  to  the  biting  cold  at  night  and  often  to  a  terrific 

fire.  Sometimes  the  British  brought  sixty  guns  to  bear  on 

a  single  point,  and  Knox  declares  that  the  enemy  could  never 

before  have  experienced  so  vigorous  a  bombardment.  It 

is  no  wonder  that  while,  on  the  British  side,  there  were  only 

thirty  casualties  during  the  siege,  there  were  two  hundred 

and  six  on  the  French  side,  and  of  these  seventy-three  were 
deaths.  Daily  three  or  four  men  were  killed  and  half  a  dozen 

wounded  ;  on  one  occasion  a  single  shot  from  Quebec  killed 

six  French  soldiers  at  work.  These  experiences  were  trying 

and  the  work  went  on  but  slowly.  In  answer  to  complaints 

Levis  gave  vigorous  and  menacing  orders  to  the  engineers 

to  get  the  artillery  in  place  more  quickly. 

The  work  carried  out  before  Quebec  was  done  at  needless 

cost.  Corruption  was  as  active  as  ever  in  the  French 

administration.  Cadet,  its  high  priest,  was  in  the  French 

camp,  busy,  efficient,  doing  wonders  in  the  way  of  securing 

supplies,  but  always  robbing  the  King,  his  master.  He 

went  about  now,  followed  by  a  staff  befitting  the  rank  of 

a  general,  and  carrying  himself  as  the  equal  of  Levis.  He 

was  treated  with  much  deference  by  the  General.  Levis 

declares  that  Cadet  had  gone  beyond  all  expectations  in 

furnishing  provisions  for  his  force,  and  that  he  was  zealous 
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and  entirely  devoted  to  the  service.  This  was  not  inconsis- 
tent, however,  with  the  pillage  which  he  and  others  carried 

on.  For  every  piece  of  cannon  brought  up  from  the  Foulon 
to  the  trenches  the  sum  of  i,8oo  livres  was  paid,  and  the 
same  account  was  often  rendered  twice  over.  In  the  name 

of  a  clerk  Cadet  sent  in  great  bills  for  supplies  which  in  some 
cases  were  not  required  and  in  others  were  not  delivered. 
Though  Bigot  had  now  broken  with  Cadet,  he  was  in  no 
position  to  check  the  brigandage  which  he  himself  had 
brought  into  being. 

The  preparations  to  bombard  Quebec  occupied  a  fortnight, 
and  during  that  time  the  fire  of  the  defenders  met  with  no 

reply  from  the  French  camp.  The  British,  looking  out  from 
Cape  Diamond,  could  see  horses  and  men  dragging  up  guns 
and  supplies.  They  could  follow  the  movements  in  the 
trenches  and  make  targets  of  the  human  occupants.  Deserters 
who  came  into  Quebec  said  that  the  French  were  keeping 

quiet  until  they  could  open  simultaneously  a  battery  of  forty 
pieces  on  Quebec.  Sometimes  courtesies  passed  between 
the  two  armies.  Murray  sent  to  ask  Levis  for  spruce  as 
medicine  for  his  men  sick  of  the  scurvy,  for  now  the  British 
had  no  access  to  the  neighbouring  forests.  At  first  Levis 
refused  to  send  what  might  help  to  turn  invalid  enemies  into 
combatants,  but  he  sent  Murray  a  supply  for  himself.  In 
return  Murray  sent  a  Cheshire  cheese  and  some  casks  of  wine 
for  the  use  of  the  sick  in  the  General  Hospital.  Then  Levis 
sent  a  present  of  partridges  and  snipe. 

The  keenest  hopes  of  each  side  were  for  succour  from 

Europe.  They  watched  the  river.  They  watched  the  weather 
and  were  dismayed  by  every  adverse  wind  which  might 
delay  the  arrival  of  vessels  under  sail.  The  ship  which 
Murray  had  sent  down  the  river  after  his  defeat  on  the  28th 

was  followed  by  a  French  ship  on  May  4.  When  she  passed 
Quebec  its  guns  were  turned  on  her,  but  she  went  on  her 

course  unharmed.    Four  days  later,  however,  on  the  night  of 



THE  RELIEF  OF  QUEBEC  BY  THE  FLEET   165 

the  8th,  when  what  Knox  calls  '  a  delightful  gale '  was  blowing 
from  the  east-south-east,  a  wind  well  fitted  to  speed  ships 

up  the  river,  she  was  seen  on  her  way  back.  Her  return 
was  taken  to  mean  that  she  had  met  a  British  force  and  was 

hurrying  to  escape  from  it.  The  defenders  did  not  now  fire 

as  she  passed  Quebec,  but  an  officer  called  out  to  her  from 

the  citadel  on  Cape  Diamond  to  ask  '  why  she  did  not  stay 

below  to  pilot  up  the  French  armada'. 
All  were  aroused  by  this  incident,  and  the  next  day  every 

eye  was  strained  to  watch  the  river.  Levis  had  good  reasons 

for  misgivings.  If  a  French  fleet  was  near,  word  of  its  ap- 
proach would  have  reached  him  by  land  as  Vaudreuil  had 

arranged  ;  and  he  had  heard  nothing.  At  eleven  o'clock 
on  the  morning  of  the  gth  the  watchers  in  Quebec  and  in  the 

French  camp  saw  a  ship  appear  round  the  Point  of  Levy. 

'  For  a  moment  we  hoped  she  was  French,'  writes  Malartic, 
and  in  the  French  camp  the  news  that  a  ship  was  in  sight 

received  welcoming  shouts  of  '  Vive  le  Roi '.  Among  the 
British  in  Quebec  all  eyes  were  fixed  upon  the  ship,  every 

mind  was  in  suspense.  To  check  the  premature  joy  which 

they  saw  about  them,  some  said  that  she  could  not  possibly 

be  British.  But  when  she  dropped  anchor  not  far  from 

the  Point  of  Levy,  and,  in  response  to  signals  from  Quebec, 

hoisted  the  British  colours  and  fired  a  salute  of  twenty-one 

guns,  her  identity  was  no  longer  doubtful ;  she  was  the 

British  frigate  Lowestoffe.  Quebec  went  mad  with  joy. 

Officers  and  soldiers  mounted  the  parapets  which  looked 

out  towards  the  French  camp,  threw  their  hats  in  the  air, 

and  shouted  in  the  face  of  the  enemy  for  wellnigh  an  hour. 

To  show  their  glee  the  gunners  fired  off  their  cannon  re- 

peatedly. '  The  general  satisfaction ',  writes  Knox,  '  is  not 
to  be  conceived,  and  to  form  a  lively  idea  of  it  is  impossible, 

except  by  a  person  who  had  suffered  the  extremities  of  a 

siege,  and  been  destined,  with  his  brave  friends  and  valiant 

countrymen,  to  the  scalping  knives  of  a  faithless  conqueror 



i66   THE  RELIEF  OF  QUEBEC  BY  THE  FLEET 

and  his  barbarous  allies.'  Some  of  those  in  Quebec  gave 
utterance  to  devout  praise.  '  Let  us  turn  ourselves ',  said 

Quartermaster-Sergeant  Johnson,  '  and  with  the  deepest 
humiliation  and  reverence  adore  that  All-Seeing  Providence 
whose  Piercing  Eye  Saw  our  distresses,  and  in  the  needful 

time  of  our  trouble  sent  us  comfort.' 
The  arrival  of  a  single  ship  did  not,  however,  necessarily 

mean  deliverance  for  Quebec.  Good  news  for  the  British 
she  indeed  brought.  She  was  one  of  a  considerable  fleet 

under  Commodore  Swanton  which  had  left  England  in 
March.  She  had  been  separated  from  the  fleet  at  sea,  and 

her  commander.  Captain  Deane,  confident  in  his  ship,  had 
decided  to  go  on  alone  to  Quebec.  Off  Newfoundland  he 
met  the  British  fleet  from  Halifax  under  Lord  Colville  on 

the  way  to  the  rendezvous  at  the  island  of  Bic,  in  the  St. 

Lawrence,  about  one  hundred  and  sixty  miles  below  Quebec, 
where  Colville  was  to  meet  Swanton.  It  would,  however, 

be  some  time  still  before  the  combined  squadrons  could  reach 
Quebec,  and  meanwhile  there  was  danger  that  the  imminence 
of  relief  might  induce  Levis  to  make  a  desperate  assault. 
Murray  received  word  that  such  was  his  intention,  and  the 

night  of  the  gth,  after  the  arrival  of  the  Lowestoffe,  was  one 
of  alarm  in  Quebec.  All  through  the  dark  hours  Murray 
kept  half  of  the  garrison  on  the  ramparts.  As  soon  as  he 
could,  he  sent  a  sloop  down  the  river  to  warn  the  approaching 
ships  of  the  acute  danger  and  of  the  need  of  haste.  He 
found  time  to  extend  a  courtesy  to  Levis  and  sent  him 

European  newspapers  which  the  Lowestoffe  had  brought. 

There  was  a  half-malicious  pleasure  in  the  attention,  for 
the  journals  contained  the  news  of  the  overwhelming  defeat 

of  the  French  fleet  at  Quiberon  Bay  in  November  1759 ; 
of  the  landing  of  the  privateer  Thurot  in  Ireland  in  February 
1760 ;  and  of  his  subsequent  defeat  and  death.  The 
newspapers  said  nothing,  however,  about  the  contending 

armies  in  America.     That  campaign  Europe  seemed  to  have 



THE  RELIEF  OF  QUEBEC  BY  THE  FLEET  167 

forgotten,  something  which  Levis  did  not  fail  to  note,  with 

misgivings,  only  too  well  founded,  that  his  own  country 

would  pay  but  little  heed  to  the  needs  of  her  half-strangled 
colony. 

Murray's  fear  of  an  assault  on  the  9th  proved  unfounded. 
The  night  of  the  loth  was  rainy,  but  again  all  was  quiet  in 

the  French  camp.  In  truth,  before  attempting  an  assault, 

Levis  wished  first  to  batter  the  walls  of  Quebec  with  his 

guns,  and  these  were  not  ready  until  the  nth.  On  that 

day  the  long  labours  of  the  French  were  crowned  with  a 
measure  of  success,  for  at  noon  Levis  unmasked  four  batteries 

and  began  firing  with  great  spirit.  Every  mortar  and  gun 
in  the  French  lines  was  active  without  intermission  ;  Levis 

declares  that  the  most  experienced  of  his  foes  could  never 

before  have  undergone  such  a  fire.  '  Our  French,  in  despair 

of  losing  us,  fired  on  us  like  very  devils,'  says  a  nun  of  the 
Ursuline  convent  in  Quebec.  This  fire  produced  a  consider- 

able effect  ;  within  a  short  time  the  French  had  dismounted 

or  disabled  five  of  Murray's  guns.  The  British  fear  that, 
under  artillery  fire,  the  walls  of  Quebec  would  prove  rotten 

and  easily  breached  was  fully  justified.  Murray  was 

dismayed  at  the  havoc  wrought  by  the  bombardment.  It 
added  to  his  concern  that  his  men  were  soon  worn  out  with 

the  hardships  of  remaining  under  arms  night  and  day.  By 

the  evening  of  the  12th  four  had  been  killed  and  nine 

wounded  by  the  French  fire.  '  Carcases  ' — iron  shells  filled 
with  inflammable  material,  and  intended  to  set  fire  to  the 

houses  in  Quebec — and  shot  and  shell  made  at  Three  Rivers 
during  the  winter  poured  into  Quebec.  In  fear  lest  the 

magazine  at  the  Jesuit  barracks  should  be  blown  up,  Murray 

scattered  his  supplies  to  various  parts  of  the  town. 

An  assault  under  cover  of  so  vigorous  a  fire  seemed  immi- 
nent. But  Levis  could  not  keep  up  a  strong  attack.  For 

only  a  day  or  two  was  he  able  to  make  his  fire  superior  to  that 

of  the  British.      To  his  great  disappointment,  his  cannon. 
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which  he  knew  to  be  weak  in  caUbre,  proved  also  poor 

inquaHty.  Owing  to  lack  of  proper  care  by  the  artillerymen, 
some  of  them  burst.  His  ammunition,  too,  was  bad,  the 

powder  especially  having  suffered  by  exposure  to  the  damp  ;  ,  V 

the  supply  also  was  small.  In  consequence  of  these  defects 

the  French  attack  soon  slackened.  The  order  was  given 

that  each  gun  should  fire  but  twenty  times  in  twenty-four 
hours.  The  bad  equipment  was  emphasized  by  the  policy 

of  the  French  engineer  Pontleroy.  Vaudreuil  declares  that 

he  was  capricious  and  self-willed.  At  any  rate  he  had 
placed  the  batteries  so  far  from  the  walls  of  Quebec,  no 

doubt  to  save  his  men  from  the  deadly  English  fire,  that 

many  of  the  guns  were  quite  ineffective. 
It  was  not  long  before  Levis  had  concluded  that  the 

attack  on  Quebec  could  not  be  pressed.  Talk  of  raising  the 

siege  was  soon  heard.  On  the  13th  the  French  leaders  held 

a  council  at  Bourlamaque's  quarters.  Failure  must  always 
find  a  scapegoat.  There  were  now  some  who  called  the 

whole  attempt  against  Quebec  '  the  folly  of  Levis  ',  while 
others  laid  all  the  blame  on  Pontleroy.  To  make  a  breach 

seemed  hopeless,  as  did  also  a  successful  assault  ;  and  the 

discouraged  officers  decided  that  the  only  thing  to  do  was 
to  hold  the  British  in  check  and  await  succour  from  France. 

Levis  tried  to  believe  that  such  succour  was  possible,  and 

he  declares  in  his  journal  that  Quebec  would  go  to  the  side 
whose  fleet  arrived  first.  He  did  not  know  that  succour 

left  France  only  on  April  12,  more  than  a  month  after  the 
British  fleet  had  set  out,  and  that  even  then  France  had  sent  \y 

help  so  slight  that  it  was  totally  inadequate  to  meet  the 

great  naval  force  which  Pitt  had  provided  to  ensure  the 

conquest  of  Canada. 

Again,  as  in  the  earlier  days  of  the  siege  of  Quebec,  every 

one  watched  the  weather.  '  Our  situation  is  most  dis- 

quieting,' Levis  wrote  to  Bigot  on  May  15  ;  'I  fear  that 
France  has  abandoned  us  ;  .  .  .  nothing  comes.  .  .  .    We  have 
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done  and  are  doing  what  we  can.  If  no  help  comes  the 

colony  is  hopelessly  lost.  We  trust  that  peace  may  be 
made  in  the  interval.  We  can  only  prolong  the  conflict. 

To  aid  this  you  ought  to  use  every  means  to  collect  all  the 

grain  to  be  had,  since,  if  we  are  forced  to  raise  the  siege  of 

Quebec,  we  must  expect  that  the  Canadians  will  wholly 

abandon  us  and  their  bad  feeling  will  be  such  that  we  shall 

get  nothing  except  by  the  use  of  force.'  He  adds  :  '  It  is 
no  fault  of  ours  ;  it  appears  that  God  has  abandoned  this 

wretched  colony.' 
The  despair  of  Levis  was  justified.  Far  down  the  river 

at  this  time  many  British  ships  were  threading  their  way, 

sometimes  among  floes  of  ice,  to  bring  rescue  to  Quebec. 

Two  great  squadrons  were  converging  on  this  point.  The 

squadron  under  Commodore  Swanton  had  set  out  from 

England  in  March.  The  other  squadron  under  Lord  Colville 

had  wintered  at  Halifax.  Though  Colville  had  been  anxious 

for  an  early  start  he  was  unable  to  get  out  of  Halifax  Harbour 

until  April  22.  Even  then  heavy  fog  and  great  fields  of  ice 

made  progress  difficult.  Colville,  sailing  near  the  shores  of 
the  Gulf  of  St.  Lawrence,  had  to  face  more  dangers  than 

Swanton  on  the  open  sea.  Off  Cape  Ray  and  St.  Paul's 
Island  he  was  delayed  for  twelve  days  by  gales,  fog,  and  ice. 

He  had  a  number  of  transports  in  his  convoy,  and  he  notes 

in  his  diary  his  special  fear  lest  he  should  lose  sight  of  one  of 

the  most  precious  of  them — that  laden  with  clothing  for  the 

needy  garrison  of  Quebec.^  Colville  arrived  at  the  rendez- 
vous at  the  island  of  Bic  on  May  16,  only  to  find  that  Swanton 

had  come  on  May  14  and  had  gone  on  without  a  moment's 
delay  because  of  an  urgent  summons  from  Murray  to  hasten 

to  his  rescue.  A  similar  message  awaited  Colville,  and  he 

followed  in  the  race  for  Quebec.  This  ascent  of  the  river 

by  a  squadron  in  the  spring  is  the  earliest  on  record.     The 

*  Manuscript  diary  of  Colville  lent  to  Colonel  William  Wood  of  Quebec 
by  the  present  Lord  Colville. 
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channel  was  difficult  and  there  were  no  pilots.  In  the 

previous  year,  however,  British  seamen  had  made  careful 

observations,  and  now  a  long  line  of  ships  of  war  and  trans- 
ports, stretched  out  for  miles  in  a  river  full  of  shoals  and,  at 

times,  tempestuous  like  the  sea,  went  on  its  way  in  confidence. 

The  word  was  to  make  haste.  Yet  the  ships  were  guided 
with  such  skill  that  not  a  serious  accident  occurred. 

At  Quebec,  meanwhile,  both  sides  were  longing  for  the 

help  which  could  come  only  by  the  river.  At  seven  o'clock 
on  the  evening  of  May  15  a  strong  north-east  wind  was 
blowing,  a  wind  that  would  speed  ships  on  their  way  to 

Quebec.  It  was  this  wind  which  fixed  the  moment  of  the 

final  crisis  in  the  struggle  for  Canada.  In  the  early  evening 

the  French,  looking  out  from  their  camp,  saw  three  ships 

come  round  the  head  of  the  island  of  Orleans.  Men  cling 

tenaciously  to  what  they  like  to  believe.  Levis,  who  had 

been  despondent,  now  felt  a  delighted  certainty  that  the 

ships  were  French.  He  clung  to  this  faith  even  when  the 

ships  answered  signals  from  Quebec  and  anchored  in  the 

basin  near  the  Lower  Town.  Late  that  night,  however, 

some  Indians  brought  to  him  an  English  prisoner  whom  they 

had  taken  while  prowling  near  the  walls  of  Quebec.  Only 

when  Levis  questioned  this  man  did  he  believe  the  unwel- 
come truth.  The  ships  were  British.  Swanton  himself  had 

arrived  in  the  Vanguard,  and  a  whole  fleet  was  following 
him.  It  was  a  bitter  moment  for  the  French  leader.  He 

now  saw  that  his  most  cherished  hopes  were  vain,  and  that 

there  would  be  no  rescue  from  France.  The  next  day  he 

ordered  the  withdrawal  of  the  artillery  from  the  trenches. 

The  whole  army  was  to  prepare  to  retire.  The  siege  of 

Quebec  was  to  be  raised. 
The  British  were  determined  to  strike  hard  and  at  once. 

Between  the  departure  of  Saunders  in  the  previous  year  and 
the  arrival  of  Swanton,  the  French  fleet  in  the  St.  Lawrence 

had  been  stronger  than  the  British,  and  a  source  of  incessant 
y 
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anxiety  to  Murray.  Until  it  was  destroyed  the  British  could 

not  use  the  water  route  to  Montreal.  In  charge  of  this 

small  fleet  was  Vauquelain,  a  seaman  of  great  capacity. 

He  was  not  a  regular  naval  officer.  His  father  had  been 

a  '  sea  wolf  '  in  the  merchant  service  and  he  himself  had  been 

brought  up  to  that  calling.  When  the  Seven  Years'  War 
broke  out,  good  officers  had  been  sorely  needed  in  the  French 

navy,  and  M.  de  Moras,  who  was  Secretary  of  the  Navy  in 

1757,  gave  commands  to  officers  in  the  merchant  service. 
This  course  met,  however,  with  determined  resistance  from 

the  regular  naval  officers.  They  were  all  of  noble  descent  ;  it 

was  a  tradition  that  only  men  of  noble  birth  should  become 

officers  in  the  royal  navy  ;  and  they  refused  to  co-operate 
with  plebeians  brought  in  from  the  merchant  service.  M.  de 

Moras  urged  that  France  could  not  do  without  such  men, 

that  heroes  in  French  naval  history  like  Du  Quay-Trouin 
and  Jean  Bart  had  come  from  this  class.  This  did  not 

soften  the  bitterness  of  the  opposition.  Officers  from  the 

merchant  service  continued,  however,  to  serve  during  the 

war,  chiefly  as  privateers,  and  inflicted  very  great  damage 

on  British  shipping.  Vauquelain  had  come  into  prominence 

during  the  siege  of  Louisbourg,  in  1758.  He  had  managed 

during  a  fog  to  sail  his  ship  past  the  blockading  British  fleet 

and  to  get  away  to  France  to  beg  for  help.  The  next  year, 

1759,  he  was  sent  to  the  St.  Lawrence  with  the  few  ships  that 
France  could  equip. 

Nothing  illustrates  the  spirit  of  the  old  regime  in  France 

better  than  the  savage  hostility  with  which  men  like 

Vauquelain  were  regarded.  Regular  naval  officers  would 
not  take  orders  from  them  and  went  so  far  as  to  refuse  to 

give  them  needed  help  in  naval  engagements  ;  patriotism 

was  sacrificed  to  pride.  In  spite  of  Vauquelain's  brilliant 
service  he  was  met  in  Canada  by  this  class  prejudice  even 

among  the  army  officers,  and  was  not  received  in  their  society. 

From  the  letters  of   Montcalm,   Levis,   Bourlamaque   and 
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others  we  should  hardly  gather  that  such  a  person  existed. 
Vaudreuil,  to  whose  orders  he  was  subject,  treated  him  coldly 
and  gave  the  corrupt  and  intriguing  Cadet  such  authority 
in  respect  to  the  ships  that  Vauquelain  protested  with 
warmth.  Cadet,  true  to  the  spirit  of  the  parvenu,  strutted 

and  swaggered,  and  spoke  of  '  my  fleet  ',  '  my  ships  ',  and 
'  my  captains  '.  He  did  what  he  liked  and  reaped  from  the 
navy  as  he  reaped  from  the  army  the  rewards  of  far-reaching 
corruption. 

Vauquelain  had  played  a  useful  part  in  the  attack  on 
Quebec.  By  noon  of  the  day  of  the  battle  of  Ste  Foy  he  had 
landed  supplies  at  the  Foulon.  A  little  later  Vaudreuil  had 
ordered  him  to  take  his  two  frigates,  the  Atalante  and  the 

Pomone,  down  the  river  and  to  attack  any  British  ships 
which  should  arrive.  The  difficulty  of  getting  past  the  guns 
of  Quebec  had  discouraged  this  enterprise,  and  the  frigates 
anchored  near  the  historic  spot  where  Wolfe  had  landed 

at  night.  Here  Vauquelain  could  help  Levis,  and  here  he 

would  remain  while  the  siege  went  on.  It  was  certain,  how- 
ever, that  he  would  retire  up  the  river  the  moment  he  was 

free  to  do  so.  When  he  had  done  this  in  the  previous  year, 
even  Saunders,  though  he  had  a  great  fleet,  had  been  unable 
to  touch  him.  If  now  he  did  it  again  he  might  defy  another 

British  fleet  and  help  to  keep  Montreal  secure  from  its  ap- 
proach. To  prevent  this  a  sudden  and  overwhelming  blow 

must  be  struck  at  once.  Accordingly,  the  moment  Captain 

Swanton  in  the  Vanguard  dropped  anchor  in  the  basin  of 

Quebec,  Murray  urged  prompt  action,  and  Swanton  decided 
to  go  up  the  river  and  attack  the  French  ships  with  the  first 
turn  of  the  tide. 

The  night  of  the  15th  was  stormy  and  the  strong  north- 
east wind  aided  the  British  plan  of  sailing  up  the  river. 

There  were  two  French  frigates,  and  in  all  six  ships.  Vauque- 
lain in  the  Atalante  was  prompt  to  see  his  danger.  On  the 

evening  of  the  15th  he  sent  an  officer  ashore  to  ask  Levis  for 
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instructions.  The  storm  raged  throughout  the  night. 

Vauquelain  watched  and  waited  in  vain  for  the  return  of  his 

messenger.  At  four  o'clock  in  the  morning,  though  it  was 
still  dark,  he  could  see  far  down  the  river  between  Quebec 

and  the  island  of  Orleans  the  shadowy  forms  of  two  of  the 

ships  which  had  arrived  on  the  previous  day.  The  wind 

was  still  strong,  the  sky  was  dark  and  clouded,  and  there 
were  troublesome  waves  on  the  broad  river.  Even  in  the 

darkness  Vauquelain  observed  that  the  ships  were  making 

preparations  to  sail.  He  signalled  to  his  own  vessels  to 

hoist  their  sails.  Only  when  day  was  breaking  did  his 

messenger  to  Levis  return.  He  had  been  kept  at  the 

General's  quarters  until  after  midnight,  and  had  then  been 
delayed  in  putting  off  from  shore,  apparently  because  he 

had  found  his  boat  injured.  He  now  brought  instructions 

that  if  Vauquelain  saw  any  movement  on  the  part  of  the 

British  to  ascend  the  river,  he  should  get  away  as  soon  as 

possible. 
Not  a  moment  was  to  be  lost.  The  British  ships  were 

already  moving.  The  other  French  frigate,  the  Pomone, 

cut  her  cable  and  set  sail,  and  the  transports  did  the  same* 

With  one  of  the  British  frigates  already  bearing  down  on  him 

in  the  Atalante,  Vauquelain  had  no  time  to  raise  his  own 

anchor.  So  he,  too,  cut  his  cable  and  headed  up  the  river. 

In  the  strong  wind  navigation  was  not  easy,  and  disaster 

quickly  overtook  the  Pomone.  She  could  not  clear  the  point 

of  the  Anse  au  Foulon  and  was  soon  aground.  Vauquelain 

held  on  to  protect  the  transports.  But  it  became  clear  that 

they  were  not  fast  enough  to  escape  the  pursuer.  Five  or 

six  miles  above  the  Anse  au  Foulon  the  Cap  Rouge  River 

enters  the  St.  Lawrence.  Vauquelain  now  signalled  to  the 

transports  to  make  for  the  mouth  of  this  river  and  there  run 

aground.  He  was  sure  that  the  British  frigates  would  con- 
tinue to  pursue  him  up  the  river,  and  hoped  that  at  least  the 

stores  in  the  transports  might  be  saved. 
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What  Vauquelain  had  hoped  for  took  place.  When  the 

transports  grounded,  the  Diana  and  the  Lowestoffc  held  on 

in  pursuit  of  the  Atalante.  Vauquelain  soon  perceived  that 

they  were  overhauling  him,  and  he  then  made  the  desperate 

resolve  of  running  his  ship  also  on  shore.  When  he  did  this 

at  Pointe  aux  Trembles,  his  two  pursuers  anchored  within 

short  range  and  began  a  furious  bombardment.  Vauquelain 

answered  with  vigour.  To  keep  up  his  fire  he  had  to  cut 

away  his  main-mast,  which  was  causing  the  ship  to  heel  over 

too  much.  From  half-past  seven  to  half-past  nine  in  the 

morning  the  fight  went  on,  and  Vauquelain,  though  out- 
classed, inflicted  heavy  damage  on  the  British  ships. 

The  falling  of  the  tide  caused  the  British,  fearful  of  running 

aground,  to  draw  off  a  little  and  to  slacken  their  fire  for  a  time. 

This  gave  the  French  some  chance  to  escape  to  the  shore. 

Vauquelain,  however,  had  lost  all  his  small  boats.  There 

were  people  on  the  shore  within  calling  distance,  and  he  cried 

out  to  them  to  send  off  a  boat.  Naturally,  in  view  of  the 

British  fire,  there  was  no  prompt  reply  to  this  request.  In 

the  end,  however,  a  boat  came  off.  Vauquelain  was  especially 

anxious  to  send  off  his  wounded.  He  put  as  many  as 

possible  into  the  boat  and  sent  it  to  the  shore.  To  bring  the 

boat  back  without  endangering  lives,  he  attached  to  it  a  long 

rope  by  which  it  could  be  drawn  to  the  ship.  But  the  men 

who  took  the  boat  to  the  shore  treacherously  cast  off  the 

rope  and  ran  away.  Then  the  French  on  the  ship  had  to 

rig  up  a  clumsy  raft  with  which  they  reached  the  shore  and 
secured  the  boat. 

By  this  time  the  powder  of  the  French  was  wet  and  their 

ship  had  heeled  over  so  that  the  guns  were,  in  any  case, 

useless.  The  work  of  landing  the  men  went  on.  At  half-past 

one  in  the  afternoon  only  a  boat-load  remained.  But,  with 
the  French  fire  silenced,  the  British  now  rowed  in  to  board 

the  enemy.  When  the  boarding  party  called  out  to  Vauque- 
lain to  lower  his  flag,  he  replied  fiercely  that  they  must  come 
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and  haul  it  down,  for  he  would  not.  He  was  himself 
wounded  and  so  were  most  of  the  five  officers  and  the  six 

men  still  with  him.  The  boarding  party  found  them  lying 

almost  helpless.  Of  the  original  ship's  company,  in  spite  of 
the  escape  of  some  to  land,  Vauquelain  lost  about  fifty, 

probably  one-third  of  the  whole  number,  either  killed  or 
severely  wounded.  The  British  had  one  man  killed  and 

five  wounded.  Vauquelain  had  won  their  respect,  and  Murray 

loaded  him  with  attentions  and  gave  him  quarters  at  the 

General  Hospital.  It  is  not  without  interest  that  Levis,  in 

describing  the  naval  battle  in  his  journal,  does  not  even 

mention  the  name  of  Vauquelain.  This  yawning  gulf 

between  the  classes  represented  by  the  high-born  Chevalier 
and  the  plebeian  sailor  was  not  to  be  bridged.  It  helps  to 

explain  the  bitter  hatreds  of  the  revolution  which  was  draw- 

ing so  near  in  France.^ 

On  this  disastrous  day  the  French  ships  were  nearly  all  [/^ 
destroyed.  The  French  themselves  set  the  Pomone  on  fire 

as  she  lay  stranded  off  the  Foulon.  They  were  able  to 

remove  the  equipment  from  the  transports  which  ran  ashore 

in  the  Cap  Rouge  River,  and  when  this  had  been  done  they 

burned  the  ships.  The  British  burned  the  Atalante.  Of  all 

the  French  ships,  only  one,  a  small  sloop  of  war,  the  Marie, 

escaped.  As  she  was  laden  with  wounded  officers  and  men, 

she  had  thrown  her  guns  overboard  and  hastened  up  the 

river  without  waiting  to  take  part  in  the  fight.  Nor  did  the 

British  themselves  wholly  avoid  disaster.  Their  ignorance 

of  the  river  above  Quebec  was  still  great,  and  the  Lowestoffe, 

the  arrival  of  which  on  May  9  had  caused  such  cheering  on 

the  ramparts  of  Quebec,  ran  aground  on  May  19  and  became 

a  total  wreck.     This  disaster,  however,  hardly  marred  the 

^  The  heroism  of  Vauquelain  has  been  a  favourite  topic  with  some 
French  writers.  Alfred  de  Vigny  wrote  a  spirited  poem  on  the  subject. 
The  statement  is  made  that  Vauquelain  nailed  his  flag  to  the  mast  and 
threw  his  sword  overboard,  but  I  am  not  aware  of  any  original  authority 
for  it.     His  own  narrative  is  in  the  Levis  MSS.,  vol.  xi. 
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complete  triumph  of  the  British.  Up  to  this  time  the  diffi- 
cult navigation  of  the  St.  Lawrence  and  the  menace  from  the 

French  ships  which  lay  there  had  kept  the  British  from 

advancing  for  more  than  a  few  miles  above  Quebec.  Now  / 

the  power  of  France  on  the  sea  in  America  was  wholly  shat- 
tered. She  still  had,  indeed,  one  or  two  vessels  far  up  on 

Lake  Ontario,  but  to  destroy  them  was  to  prove  no  hard  task. 

In  truth,  on  that  stormy  spring  day  of  1760,  France's  long 
naval  record  in  Canada  ended  in  final  disaster.  It  was 

French  seamen,  Cartier  and  Champlain,  who  had  first  told 
Europe  about  the  great  river.  In  the  days  of  Jean  Bart 
France  had  held  both  the  St.  Lawrence  and  the  Mississippi. 

Iberville  had  humbled  the  English  even  on  Hudson  Bay. 
It  was  the  white  flag  of  France  that  Vauquelain  had  refused 
to  pull  down.  Now  it  disappeared  almost  entirely  from  the 
river,  and  the  rival  power  that  was  to  become  mistress  of  the 

seas  at  Trafalgar  was  already  mistress  of  the  St.  Lawrence, 
On  the  i6th,  while  the  poor  remains  of  the  French  navy 

were  being  destroyed  in  the  river,  Levis  was  preparing  to 
withdraw  the  army  which  lay  on  the  Heights  before  Quebec. 

All  through  the  day  he  had  troublesome  evidence  of  Britain's 
sea-power.  The  Vanguard,  a  powerful  ship  of  war,  still 
continued  to  hover  about  the  Anse  au  Foulon  and  bom- 

barded the  French  positions  within  range.  When  night 
came  the  retreat  of  the  French  began.  Levis  issued  orders 

that  the  army  should  march  at  ten  o'clock  with  La  Pause  in 
charge.  The  men  were  to  march  in  silence,  no  weapons 

were  to  be  discharged,  no  fires  were  to  be  made.  One  of  the 
critics  of  Levis  says  that  he  lost  his  head,  and,  dazed  by  his 

position,  gave  contradictory  orders.  Once  more  we  see  / 
that  he  lacked  the  striking  vigour  and  decision  in  a  time  of 
crisis  which  are  indispensable  to  a  great  leader.  When 
officers  came  to  him  for  directions  he  would  look  at  them  / 

blankly  without  saying  a  word.^    There  was  much  confusion.  "^ 
^  Memoires  siir  le  Canada,  1749-60. 
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The  Indians,  always  troublesome,  were  now  completely  out 

of  hand.  In  search  of  pillage  and  mad  for  drink  they  attacked 

the  quarters  of  the  officers  and  killed  a  grenadier  on  guard. 

One  of  them  was  in  turn  killed  by  another  grenadier  whom 

he  tried  to  strangle.  The  Indians  were  soon  drunk  with  the 

liquor  thus  secured,  and  some  French  soldiers  also  got  drunk 

on  stolen  spirits.  Bourlamaque  wrote  to  Bougainville  that 

everything  fell  into  disorder.  Levis  could  not  take  away 

all  his  artillery,  and  most  of  it  he  frankly  abandoned.  He 

dragged  some  heavy  guns  to  the  edge  of  the  cliff  at  the 

Foulon  and  threw  them  down  to  the  strand  below,  in  the 

hope  that  the  French  might  be  able  to  get  them  away  in 

the  boats.  Some  light  artillery  and  field-pieces  he  sent  up 
the  river  by  land.  He  tried  to  load  his  small  boats  at  the 

Foulon,  but  most  of  these  were  either  sunk  by  the  Vanguard 

or  abandoned  by  their  crews.  In  them  were  the  personal 
effects  of  some  of  the  French  officers,  now,  of  course,  lost. 

Under  cover  of  night  Levis  marched  his  army  to  Cap 

Rouge  and  by  daybreak  of  the  17th  he  was  comparatively 

safe  beyond  the  river  of  Cap  Rouge.  It  was  here  that  the 

French  transports  had  run  aground.  They  were  laden  with 

provisions,  and  Levis  spent  the  17th  in  trying  to  withdraw 

from  them  supplies  which  he  sorely  needed.  Bourlamaque 

declares  that  the  whole  affair  was  badly  managed.  He  him- 
self, disabled  by  his  wound,  had  been  brought  in  a  litter  from 

the  General  Hospital.  Now,  surrounded  chiefly  by  men  also 

wounded,  he  tried  to  get  something  done.  At  Cap  Rouge  lay 

one  hundred  and  twenty  boats,  but  the  oars  had  been  left  be- 

hind at  the  Foulon,  and  all  day  long  Bourlamaque  attempted 

in  vain  to  have  the  oars  brought  up.  He  induced  thirty 

Canadians  to  help  him.  Something  was  done,  but,  if  we 

may  believe  the  chief  lieutenant  of  Levis,  there  was  a 

conspicuous  lack  of  competent  leadership  in  the  French 
army. 

On  the  i8th  the  army  marched  as  far  as  Pointe  aux 
1641  M 
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Trembles,  where,  with  something  like  dismay,  they  learned 

that  more  British  ships  had  arrived  at  Quebec.  This  pro- 
duced new  fears  and  the  resolve  to  press  on  farther  to  a  safer 

place.  The  next  day  the  army  reached  the  Jacques  Cartier 
River.  To  cross  was  not  easy,  for  there  were  no  bridges  or 

pontoons,  and  the  clumsy  bateaux  were  of  little  use  in  the 
swollen  spring  floods.  Not  until  far  into  the  night  of  the 

19th  was  the  task  accomplished.  Then  the  French  army 
had  the  swift  river  between  them  and  possible  pursuit  by 
land  from  Quebec.  At  this  point  eight  months  earlier  Levis 

had  taken  command  of  the  army  of  Vaudreuil,  worn  out 

after  a  panic-stricken  flight  from  Quebec.  It  must  have 
been  with  bitterness  of  heart  that  he  now  found  the  experi- 

ence of  panic  and  flight  repeated,  and,  this  time,  under  his 
own  leadership. 

Meanwhile  the  French  camp  lay  almost  deserted.  It  was 
not  long,  however,  before  some  inkling  reached  Quebec  of 
what  was  happening.  Deserters  came  in  to  say  that  the 
Canadian  militia  had  been  ordered  by  Levis  to  return  to  their 
parishes.  They  had  come  in  readily  after  the  victory  of 
Ste  Foy,  even  from  the  parishes  east  of  Quebec.  Now  from 
the  walls  the  British  could  see  large  parties  of  Canadians 
filing  off  towards  Charlesbourg  and  Beauport.  Others 
managed  to  cross  the  river  and  were  seen  going  to  the  south 
country.  A  few  of  them,  however,  still  stayed  in  the 
trenches,  by  command  of  Levis,  to  check  any  sally  from 

Quebec.  The  British  kept  up  a  fierce  artillery  fire.  '  I  be- 
lieve I  may  venture  to  advance,'  writes  Knox  on  May  16, 

'  that  there  never  was  such  tremendous  firing  heard  ...  as 

our  artillery  displayed  this  evening  for  near  two  hours.' 
Only  slowly  the  British  learned  what  had  really  taken  place. 
Early  on  the  morning  of  the  17th  the  Canadian  soldiers  left 
in  the  French  entrenchments  fired  a  volley  of  musketry  in 
order  to  keep  up  the  appearance  of  an  active  defence.  After 
this  they  all  retired.    They  had  deceived  the  British,  however. 
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for  it  was  not  until  the  evening  of  the  17th — nearly  a  whole 

day  after  Levis  had  begun  his  retreat — that  a  scouting  party 
found  the  trenches  abandoned.  Murray  pushed  forward 
light  infantry  and  grenadiers  in  the  hope  of  overtaking  the 
French  army.  But  Levis  was  well  away,  and  the  British, 
in  high  spirits,  could  only  take  possession  of  his  abandoned 
camp.  They  found  evidence  that  his  retreat  had  been 
precipitate,  for  not  only  heavy  articles  such  as  cannon  and 

mortars,  but  tents,  baggage,  fire-arms,  and  ammunition 
were  left  behind. 

Captain  Knox  calls  the  retreat  of  Levis  a '  shameful  flight  ', 
and  he  could  explain  it  only  by  panic  fear  that  the  French 
army  might  be  caught  between  two  forces.  In  spite  of  his 

haste  Levis  left  a  letter  recommending  to  Murray's  care  those 
lying  wounded  in  the  neighbouring  houses  and  in  the  General 
Hospital.  He  also  assured  Murray  that  he  had  not  required 
from  the  French-Canadians  who  had  taken  the  oath  to 

Geo»ge  II  any  military  service,  though  he  had  made  them 
work  for  his  army,  a  course  quite  proper  under  the  laws  of 
war.  Some  things  in  the  French  camp  filled  the  British 
with  rage.  Their  officers  and  men  who  had  been  killed  in  the 
battle  of  the  28th  had  not  been  buried  ;  perhaps  with  the 
scanty  and  frozen  soil  and  the  hard  rock  of  the  Plains  of 
Abraham  this  would  have  been  impossible.  But  the 
British  now  found  that  the  dead  had  been  treated  with 

great  indignity.  The  bodies  had  been  scalped  and  mangled, 
and  had  then  been  thrown  clear  of  the  camp  and  left  for 
ravenous  birds  and  wild  beasts.  Hanging  on  the  bushes  the 

victors  found  a  great  many  scalps  of  their  countrymen,  a  sight 
that  filled  them  with  fury. 

The  flight  of  Levis  made  the  end  of  the  long  struggle  hardly 
doubtful  and  relieved  a  tension  that  the  British  had  found 

very  real.  '  If  a  French  fleet  had  appeared  first  in  the  river, 
the  place  must  inevitably  have  fallen,'  wrote  Captain  Knox, 
and  his  words  reflect  the  opinion  in  Quebec  ;    but  he  adds 

M  2 
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that,  rather  than  surrender,  the  officers  had  resolved  to  die 

with  arms  in  their  hands,  and  that  the  men  would  follow 

their  example.  Levis  himself  wrote  to  Belle  -  Isle,  the 
French  Minister  of  War,  and  to  Berryer,  the  Minister  of 

Marine,  who  were  doing  so  little  to  help  him,  that  '  a  single 
frigate  would  have  involved  the  surrender  of  Quebec  and 

assured  us  the  possession  of  Canada  for  another  year  '. 
This  was  a  common  saying  on  the  French  side — that  a  single 
ship  would  have  saved  Canada.  But  even  the  recapture  of 

Quebec  would  have  only  delayed  the  final  climax.  France 

was  making  no  preparations  that  could  cope  with  the  might 

of  Britain  in  America.  While  the  French  Ministry  was  doing 

little  or  nothing  for  Canada,  and  was  supinely  hoping  that 

something  favourable  might  happen,  Pitt,  with  vast  resources, 

had  been  toiling  for  months  to  make  victory  certain.  On 

May  19  Lord  Colville's  fleet  from  Halifax,  composed  of  six 
ships  of  the  line  and  seven  frigates  and  sloops  of  war, 

arrived  at  Quebec  ;  and  after  that  date  ships  came  up  on 

every  tide  laden  with  stores  and  provisions.  The  puny 

efforts  of  France  stand  in  vivid  contrast  with  Pitt's  far-reach- 
ing plans.  At  that  moment  a  single  frigate  with  a  convoy 

of  transports  was  coming  from  France  to  the  rescue  of  Canada. 

She,  like  Canada,  was  only  hastening  to  her  doom.  France 
had  no  master  mind  to  rival  Pitt. 



CHAPTER  VI 

THE  ADVANCE  TO  MONTREAL 

If  the  British  supposed  that  an  overwhelming  naval  force 

at  Quebec  would  cause  the  French  to  lay  down  their  arms 

at  once  they  were  mistaken.  Levis  could  retreat  safely  to 

the  interior,  and  he  believed  that  the  difficult  navigation  of 

the  St.  Lawrence  would  protect  Montreal  from  attack  by  the 

fleet.  Since  the  incoming  ships  brought  no  strong  addition 

to  the  land  forces,  Levis  was  quite  able  to  cope  with  the 

army  at  Quebec.  Only  when  the  fleet  should  move  would 

he  be  in  real  danger.  He  found  it  impossible,  however,  to 

keep  his  army  together  at  one  point,  for  scarcity  of  provisions 

followed  by  desertion  would  then  be  inevitable.  Accordingly 

he  distributed  his  battalions  even  more  completely  than  they 

had  been  distributed  during  the  previous  winter.  He  kept 

a  force  of  400  men  at  Pointe  aux  Trembles  to  watch  the 

English,  300  at  Jacques  Cartier,  and  1,100  farther  up  the 

river  at  Deschambault.  Bougainville  remained  at  Isle  aux 

Noix  to  check  a  British  advance  on  Montreal  by  way  of  the 
Richelieu  River.  Far  above  Montreal  on  the  St.  Lawrence, 

Fort  Levis  would,  it  was  hoped,  block  the  advance  of  the 

British  down  the  river  should  they  try  to  come  by  that  route. 

In  the  losing  battle  now  to  be  fought  Levis  was  at  his  best. 

He  had  not  the  slightest  hope  of  succour.  His  own  military 

reputation,  however,  and  his  chances  of  promotion  in 

Europe  depended  on  his  holding  out  as  long  as  possible. 

The  army  was  only  half-fed  and  not  half-equipped.  Assuredly 
no  one  who  had  seen  its  panic  flight  on  May  17  would  have 

supposed  that  it  could  hold  out  for  nearly  four  months  still. 

The  officers  bore,  without  much  complaint  and  with  the 
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greatest  courage,  the  terrible  fatigues  and  the  starvation 
which  the  campaign  involved.  Their  only  hope  was  that 
peace  might  be  made  before  they  should  be  obliged  to  lay 
down  their  arms.  It  was  almost  a  matter  of  life  and  death 

to  them  that  this  should  be  the  course  of  events.  If  they 
surrendered,  the  conqueror  would  undoubtedly  insist  that 

they  should  not  serve  again  during  the.  war.  This  might 
mean  that  they  would  be  idle  for  years,  lose  all  chance  of 

promotion,  and  starve  on  the  slender  half-pay,  or  perhaps 
less,  which  they  would  receive  from  the  Court  of  France. 

Accordingly  the  French  longed  for  peace  and  made  them- 
selves believe  that  it  was  near.  Malartic,  the  French  officer 

who  remained  in  charge  of  the  French  sick  at  Quebec  after 
the  retreat  of  Levis,  offered  to  bet  Murray  that  peace  would 

be  made  by  August.  On  the  British  side  there  were  no  illu- 
sions as  to  the  imminence  of  peace,  and  Murray  told  Malartic 

that  he  would  lose,  since  peace  was  not  to  be  hoped  for  that 
year.  The  British  general  knew  something  of  the  resolve  of 
Pitt  to  bring  France  low  before  he  treated  with  her.  But 
the  French  leaders  thought  with  Malartic.  Their  letters 

at  this  period  are  full  of  assurances  that  peace  is  near.  Those 
of  Vaudreuil  glow  with  an  abounding  optimism  based 
chiefly  upon  his  own  predictions.  Writing  on  May  24,  1760, 
only  a  few  days  after  the  French  flight  from  Quebec,  he 
declares  that  the  bearing  of  the  British  shows  depression 
of  spirits,  and  that  this  must  be  due  to  some  disaster  to  their 
cause  in  Europe  which  they  are  concealing.  Still  whistling 
to  keep  up  his  own  courage,  he  wrote  on  June  i  to  Colonel 

Dumas  :  '  Canada  is  drawing  near  to  the  close  of  her  suffering 
and  misfortunes,  so  everything  calls  us  to  increase  our 
efforts  that  we  may  not  lose  the  fruit  of  the  negotiations 

which  are  certainly  under  way  to  effect  peace.'  On  June  3, 
to  make  public  these  cheering  hopes,  he  issued  a  proclamation 
to  the  Canadians  describing  recent,  but  imaginary,  French 
successes  in  Europe,  and  adding  that,  as  a  consequence  of  the 
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French  victory  at  Ste  Foy,  '  the  King  of  England  cannot 
possibly  avoid  acquiescing  in  such  terms  as  our  monarch 

shall  prescribe  to  him  ;  .  .  .  the  colony  is  nearing  the 

conclusion  of  its  distress  and  difficulties.'  Even  Bigot,  a 
keen  man  of  business,  tried  to  explain  the  absence  of  help 

from  France  as  wise  economy  ;  so  assured  was  an  early 

peace  that  the  French  Ministry  had  found  it  really  unneces- 
sary to  send  new  forces  to  Canada.  Levis  himself  felt  certain 

that  the  news  of  the  defeat  of  April  28  would  convince  the 

British  that  Quebec  had  fallen  and  would  lead  them  to  con- 
clude peace  at  once.  Little  did  the  French  understand 

either  the  character  or  the  resources  of  those  they  were 

fighting. 

If  the  French  leaders  were  still  optimists,  some  of  their 

men  were  not.  Levis,  indeed,  says  that  the  men  who  re- 
mained with  his  force  showed  a  cheerful  courage  ;  but  there 

were  many  who  did  not  remain.  Some  of  the  regulars  had 

married  in  Canada,  intending  to  settle  finally  in  the  country 

when  the  war  was  over.  Now,  despairing  of  the  lost  cause, 

a  good  many  of  these  men  deserted.  The  movement  to 

desert  was  much  more  general  among  the  Canadians. 

They  went  off  in  droves.  On  the  whole  they  had  fought 

well.  Some  of  the  French  officers,  indeed,  speak  ill  of  their 

Canadian  allies,  but  the  truth  seems  to  be  that  they  had 

been  useful  in  a  somewhat  irregular  way.  They  did  not 

fight  well  in  the  open.  But  their  patience,  their  activity, 
their  hardiness  made  an  officer  on  the  French  side  call  them 

the  best  militia  in  the  world.^  When,  however,  the  French 
had  retired  from  before  Quebec,  the  Canadians  seem  to  have 

concluded  that  the  cause  of  France  was  finally  lost.  They 

were  acute  enough  to  know  that,  if  the  struggle  was  to  be 

prolonged,  it  would  not  be  on  their  account,  but  on  that  of 

the  French  officers,  thinking  of  their  own  military  careers 

in    Europe.     Accordingly,    with    or    without    leave,    the 

*  Johnstone,  iii.  76. 
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Canadians  trooped  away  to  their  homes.  On  May  21,  Levis 
wrote  in  his  journal  that  nearly  all  the  Canadians  had  left 
him,  and  that  the  officers,  instead  of  checking  their  men,  had 
set  them  a  bad  example.  The  Canadian  militia  consisted 
chiefly  of  farmers.  They  were  sorely  needed  at  home  in 
the  month  of  May,  and  this  excuse  was  urged  on  their 
behalf.  When  the  French  officers  would  have  dealt  sternly 
with  the  deserters,  and  made  threats  of  wholesale  executions, 

Vaudreuil,  as  we  have  seen,  would  not  allow  this  severity. 

The  Governor's  boast  of  what  he  could  do  with  his  '  brave 

Canadians  '  had  become  a  byword  in  the  army.  He  was 
always  sure  that,  when  really  needed,  they  could  be  relied 
upon  ;  he  understood  the  difficulties  of  their  position  and 
protected  them  from  the  consequences  of  military  law. 

The  uncertainty  and  misery  of  a  hopeless  campaign  were 

prolonged  by  the  inactivity  of  the  British.  They  lingered 
at  Quebec  and  showed  no  signs  of  a  forward  movement. 
Murray  was,  in  truth,  waiting  for  more  troops  and  for  the 
development  of  the  campaign  against  Montreal  by  the 
deliberate  Amherst.  Meanwhile,  day  by  day,  the  forces  of 

Levis  in  the  interior  were  being  reduced  to  a  pitiable  con- 
dition. Perennial  famine  haunted  the  French  camps.  As 

the  summer  wore  on,  Levis  wrote  that  he  would  soon  have 

nothing  but  bread  for  the  troops,  and  that  it  would  not  be 
easy  to  get  even  bread.  He  cast  longing  eyes  on  the 
maturing  harvest,  but  he  could  not  forbear  asking  whether 
the  French  would  be  there  to  gather  it.  So  many  officers 
had  died,  or  had  been  wounded  or  made  prisoners,  that 
Levis  had  not  enough  to  do  the  necessary  work.  Daily  the 
equipment  of  the  army  grew  worse.  Little  powder  was  left, 
and  the  artillery  was  so  hopelessly  weak  that  it  was  impossible 
to  defend  effectively  points  on  the  river  where  otherwise  it 
would  have  been  easy  to  harass,  if  not  to  check,  the  advance 
of  the  British  ships.  The  army  was  short  of  both  muskets 

and  bayonets.     '  The  troops,  except  [the  regiments  of]  La 
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Sarre  and  Royal  Roussillon,  are  entirely  naked,'  wrote  Levis 
to  the  Minister  of  War  on  June  28.  Some  of  the  men,  of 

course,  marched  barefoot.  The  destruction  of  boats,  when 

Levis  began  his  retreat,  proved  a  disaster  of  great  moment, 

for,  though  urgent  efforts  were  made,  it  proved  impossible 

to  replace  them.  The  lack  of  boats  meant  that  the  return 

towards  Montreal  must  be  made  by  land  only,  and  this 

worked  a  double  evil.  It  led  the  troops  through  the  Cana- 
dian villages,  where  they  committed  depredations  on  the 

inhabitants,  and  it  added  to  the  difficulties  of  movement, 

for  there  were  few  bridges,  and  boats  were  necessary  to  cross 

the  rivers.  With  only  a  few  carpenters  left,  Levis  could 

build  hardly  any  new  boats.  To  take  their  place  his  men 

constructed  rafts  which  proved  an  unstable  means  of  trans- 
port for  troops  and  stores  across  the  swift  Canadian  streams. 

By  June  Levis  had  learned  that  France  had  refused  to 

honour  the  drafts  on  her  treasury  made  from  Canada  in 

1759.  This  spelled  ruin  for  nearly  every  one  concerned. 

Even  the  officers  of  the  regular  army  had  been  paid  in  these 

drafts.  They  had  borrowed  money  upon  them  and  would  now 

be  overwhelmed  with  debt.  Levis  issued  a  private  circular 

letter  to  the  commanders  of  battalions  telling  them  what  had 

happened  and  outlining  a  plan  for  appealing  to  the  King  to 

meet  at  least  the  drafts  for  the  pay  of  the  soldiers.  But  the 

Canadians,  too,  would  be  ruined  by  the  action  of  the  Court. 
Soon  the  French  leaders  found  that  the  failure  to  redeem 

the  ordinances  was  fatal.  France  had  no  longer  any  credit 

in  Canada.  Already  the  peasantry  had  more  than  enough 

of  nearly  worthless  paper,  and  yet  the  French  army  was  with- 
out other  money  for  purchases.  The  leaders  were  obliged 

to  pledge  their  own  credit  for  the  supplies  to  be  furnished 

to  the  troops.  But,  with  a  failing  cause,  this  still  proved  poor 

security,  and  usually  supplies  could  be  obtained  only  under 

compulsion.  When  this  failed,  even  officers  sold  their  cloth- 

ing   for    food.     Meanwhile    Vaudreuil's    wordy    optimism 
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never  slackened,  and  Bourlamaque  indulges  in  a  little  chaff 

at  '  the  long  and  fastidious  dissertations  of  the  personage', 
Levis  was  not  so  hopeful ;  he  admitted  that  he  had  no  means 

of  checking  a  fleet  of  frigates  and  transports  in  an  advance 
to  Montreal,  and  that  to  meet  this  advance  the  French  would 

have  to  abandon  their  frontiers.  But  he  wrote  simply  : 

'  We  shall  use  every  means  to  save  the  colony,  though  our 
situation  is  so  frightful  that  only  a  miracle  can  do  it.  .  .  . 

It  is  necessary  to  finish  this  business  with  honour  and  to 

delay  the  loss  of  the  colony  as  long  as  we  can.'  He  kept 
himself  busy  inspecting  the  danger-points,  and  his  observa- 

tions led  him  to  conclude  that  the  English  would  soon  have 
40,000  men  in  the  heart  of  Canada. 

A  momentary  gleam  of  hope  cheered  the  French  when 

news  came  that  their  fleet,  so  long  hoped  for,  had  reached 

America.  Protected  by  the  frigate  MachauU,  the  little 

convoy  had  left  Bordeaux  on  April  10,  and  had  taken  more 

than  a  month  to  cross  the  Atlantic.  On  May  14  the  MachauU 

captured,  in  the  Gulf  of  St,  Lawrence,  a  British  ship,  and 

learned  from  her  that  a  British  fleet  had  already  ascended 

the  river.  This  was  grave  news,  and  a  council  of  war  decided 

that  the  French  ships  should  take  refuge  far  up  the  Bay  of 

Chaleur  at  the  mouth  of  the  Restigouche  River.  Here  they 

would  have  the  help  of  about  fifteen  hundred  Acadians 

expelled  a  few  years  earlier  from  their  homes  in  Nova  Scotia. 

On  arrival  the  French  sent  word  at  once  to  Montreal.  '  In 

the  night ',  wrote  Levis  in  his  journal  on  June  13, '  we  received 
news  from  France  by  a  courier  sent  from  Restigouche  in 

Acadia  where  our  ships  destined  for  Quebec  had  stopped.' 
He  adds,  with  a  touch  of  bitterness,  '  They  started  .  .  .  just 

when  they  should  have  been  arriving.'  Vaudreuil  was 
highly  excited  by  the  long-looked-for  intelligence  which  had 

come,  of  course,  overland.  '  At  last ',  he  wrote,  '  we  have 
the  news  from  France  which  we  have  so  long  desired  ;  what 

a  pity  that  the  ships  which  brought  the  news  did  not  come 
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earlier  ;  we  should  now  have  been  entirely  at  our  ease.  .  .  . 
The  letters  which  I  have  received  from  the  Minister  assure 

me  ...  that  we  shall  have  peace  towards  the  middle  of  the 

campaign.'  He  concludes,  with  his  usual  irresponsible 
optimism,  that  the  British  cannot  possibly  send  any  further 
help  to  North  America,  and  that  France  is  about  to  make  in 

Europe  the  most  potent  efforts  to  crush  her  enemy.^ 
The  arrival  of  the  French  convoy  did  not  disturb  the 

plans  of  the  British  or  arouse  in  them  anything  but  exulta- 
tion. British  commerce  had  suffered  much  from  French 

privateers.  During  the  war  more  than  two  thousand 
British  ships  were  captured  by  the  French,  while  the  British 
took  less  than  half  that  number.  Even  in  the  year  1759,  so 
disastrous  to  French  power  on  the  sea,  the  French  had 
captured  812  British  vessels.  The  explanation  is  that  British 

prey  was  abundant,  for,  unlike  the  French,  the  British  had 

a  vast  sea-going  commerce  which  offered  easy  conquests  to 
privateers.  It  was  the  parallel  of  the  situation  during  the 
civil  war  in  the  United  States,  when  the  South,  with  almost 

no  ships  on  the  sea,  was  able,  by  means  of  a  single  privateer, 
the  Alabama,  to  inflict  ruinous  loss  on  the  extensive  shipping 
of  the  North.  The  French  had  managed  to  take  a  good 
many  vessels  laden  with  stores  for  Quebec.  Le  Blanc, 

a  much-dreaded  privateer,  had  haunted  the  waters  near  the 
mouth  of  the  St.  Lawrence  and  inflicted  heavy  loss  on  the 
trade  of  the  British  colonies.  Now  the  time  had  come  for 

the  British  to  ruin  what  remained  of  French  naval  power 
in  America. 

When  news  of  the  arrival  of  the  Machault  and  her  convoy 
reached  Halifax  and  Quebec,  a  squadron  set  out  from  each 
place  eager  to  be  the  first  to  deliver  the  crushing  blow. 
Captain  Wallis  left  Quebec,  with  five  ships  ;  Captain  Byron, 
grandfather  of  the  poet,  left  Halifax,  also  with  five  ships, 

^  Levis,  Journal,  290  ;  Vaudreuil  to  Dumas,  in  Report  on  Canadian 
Archives,  1905,  i.  46. 
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himself  leading  in  the  Fame.  Fortune  favoured  Byron's 
squadron.  The  Restigouche  River  empties  into  the  Bay  of 
Chaleur,  a  long  and  narrow  arm  of  the  sea.  The  upper 

waters  of  the  Bay  are  so  shallow  as  to  be  hardly  navigable 
for  large  ships.  The  French  convoy  consisted  of  the  frigate 

Machault,  of  thirty  guns,  two  large  store-ships,  and  some 
twenty  smaller  vessels,  most  of  them  prizes  taken  off  the 
coast  of  New  England  by  the  enterprising  Le  Blanc.  The 
French  had  pushed  up  the  Bay  to  a  point  where  the  shallow 
water  seemed  a  protection  against  the  great  British  fighting 
ships. 

Captain  Byron,  parted  from  his  other  ships  by  bad 
weather,  arrived  at  the  Bay  in  the  Fame  five  or  six  days 
before  they  came  up.  His  first  exploit  was  to  capture  an 

armed  schooner,  but  her  forty-seven  men  escaped  to  the 
shore.  Afraid  to  take  his  large  ship  up  the  Bay,  he  anchored 
and  sent  boats  some  dozen  miles  farther  to  learn  where  the 

French  lay.  Though  the  channel  proved  to  be  extremely 
narrow  and  difficult,  he  resolved,  in  the  end,  to  bring  up  his 

own  ship.  The  attempt  nearly  proved  fatal ;  he  ran 
aground  and  for  a  time  was  in  imminent  danger  of  being 

boarded  by  the  French.  But  after  nine  or  ten  hours  of 

hard  work  he  was  again  afloat.  His  other  ships  now  ap- 
peared, but  two  of  them  ran  aground  before  they  could  reach 

him.  The  Repulse  and  the  Scarborough  were,  however, 
able  to  come  on,  and  they  and  the  Fame  advanced  up  the 
narrow  channel  which  the  French  had  tried  to  block  by 

sinking  some  ships.  In  spite  of  grounding  a  dozen  times,  the 
Fame  at  length  opened  fire  on  a  shore  battery.  Its  defenders 
ran  away  at  once,  and  the  British  then  landed  and  not  only 
destroyed  the  battery  but  set  fire  to  the  adjacent  village  of 
Restigouche  containing  some  two  hundred  wooden  houses. 

The  French  frigate  and  transports  were  still  out  of  reach, 

pressing  farther  and  farther  up  the  Bay,  but,  as  the  British 

observed,  running  often  aground.     By  lightening  two  of  his 
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frigates  as  much  as  possible,  Byron  was  able  to  follow  the 
enemy,  and,  in  the  end,  he  came  within  range.  Then 
followed  a  duel  between  the  British  ships  and  the  French 
frigate,  which  lay  close  to  a  shore  battery.  The  duel 
lasted  for  two  or  three  hours.  The  French  fought  well 
and  were  determined  that  the  frigate  should  not  fall  into 
the  hands  of  the  British.  The  day  went  against  them. 
They  abandoned  the  Machault  after  taking  off  the  wounded 

and  setting  her  on  fire.  The  British  took,  in  all,  twenty- 
two  vessels,  laden  with  cargoes  valued  at  not  less  than  two 
hundred  thousand  pounds.  Even  in  these  ships  was  evidence 

of  the  profound  corruption  which  affected  Canada  :  horse- 
flesh and  putrid  meat  had  been  sent  out.  The  British 

removed  from  the  store-ships  wine,  brandy,  and  all  else  of 
value,  and  then  burned  the  whole  convoy.  It  was  a  disas- 

trous end  of  France's  effort  to  aid  her  perishing  colony. 
The  losses  on  the  British  side  were  only  four  killed  and  nine 
or  ten  wounded,  while  the  French  had  about  thirty  casualties. 
The  British  did  not  take  a  single  prisoner,  for  the  French 

crews  landed  and  escaped.  As  Byron's  victorious  squadron 
came  down  the  Bay,  he  met  Captain  Wallis,  just  arrived 
with  his  squadron  from  Quebec  and  eager  for  a  share  in  the 
struggle.  He  had,  however,  come  too  late  and  could  only 
turn  back  to  Quebec  with  the  news  of  one  more  British 

triumph  over  the  French  upon  the  sea.^ 
Meanwhile  Murray  had  been  making  himself  secure.  He 

obliged  the  Canadians  to  level  the  works  which  Levis  had 

raised  to  menace  Quebec,  and  he  warned  them  by  proclama- 
tion to  expect  rigorous  treatment  for  any  acts  hostile  to  the 

British.  It  was  no  empty  threat.  On  May  29  Murray 
seized,  in  the  parish  of  St.  Michel,  on  the  south  side  of  the 
river,  a  captain  of  militia  named  Nadeau.     After  taking 

^  Byron's  Report  to  Colville,  July  14,  1760  (Manuscript  in  Canadian 
Archives) ;  Relation  de  la  Navigation  de  la  petite  flotte  partie  de  Bordeaux 
pour  MontrSal  (Newcastle  Papers,  British  Museum,  vol.  226). 
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the  oath  exacted  by  Murray,  this  man  had  joined  and  induced 
others  to  join  the  army  of  Levis,  and  now  Murray  caused 

him  to  be  hanged  in  his  own  village.^ 
Soon  after  the  retreat  of  Levis,  Murray  drew  up  his 

army  outside  the  walls  of  Quebec.  It  was,  in  truth,  rather 
a  pitiable  array,  for  of  the  seven  thousand  left  in  the  previous 
autumn  only  about  fifteen  hundred  men  were  now  left  fit 
for  duty.  But  Murray  told  them  that  their  task  was  nothing 

less  than  the  total  conquest  of  Canada.  They  faced  it  cheer- 
fully enough.  Hundreds  of  worn,  sick  men  were  eager  to 

take  their  places  in  the  ranks  as  soon  as  possible.  Murray 
sent  invalid  soldiers  to  the  Island  of  Orleans  to  recuperate  ; 

for  invalid  sailors  the  church  at  the  Point  of  Levy  was 

turned  into  a  hospital. 
Great  tasks  still  awaited  the  army.  When,  on  May  30, 

the  British  had  held  a  solemn  thanksgiving  service  in  Quebec, 

their  gratitude  had  sprung  as  much  perhaps  from  a  lively 
sense  of  triumphs  to  come  as  of  those  already  attained.  But 
waiting  had  proved  necessary.  The  British  Ministry  had 
decided,  early  in  1760,  that  the  former  French  stronghold 
of  Louisbourg  in  Cape  Breton  should  be  totally  destroyed. 
Even  the  harbour  was  to  be  so  ruined  that  never  again 

could  it  be  useful  to  an  enemy.  The  destruction  would 
release  the  considerable  garrison  still  holding  Louisbourg, 

and  a  good  many  of  these  troops  were  to  be  sent  to  help 
Murray.  But  to  destroy  the  massive  works  at  Louisbourg 
took  time,  and  aid  to  Murray  was  long  in  coming.  Time 

was  also  required  for  the  recovery  of  the  sick  at  Quebec,  and 
for  the  deliberate  Amherst  to  begin  his  advance  on  Montreal. 

Murray  chafed  under  the  delay  and  cursed  Amherst's  slow- 
ness ;  Malartic,  who  sat  at  Murray's  table,  declares  that  he 

heard  Murray,  in  his  usual  impulsive  and  somewhat  extrava- 

1  It  is  characteristic  of  Murray's  tender  heart  that  he  is  said  to  have 

provided  at  a  later  time  at  his  own  expense  for  the  education  of  Nadeau's 
son. 
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gant  style,  threaten  to  hang  some  of  his  officers  who  were 

trying  to  justify  the  impassive  dehberation  of  the  Com- 
mander-in-Chief. Not  for  two  months  after  Levis  retired 

could  Murray  begin  to  advance  on  Montreal.  The  French 

thought  that  the  long  delay  was  part  of  a  deep-seated  plan 
to  advance  when  the  harvest  was  ripening  and  when  the 
Canadians  would  wish  to  remain  at  home  to  gather  it. 

Murray's  forces  were  in  motion  before  the  news  of  the 
destruction  of  the  French  squadron  reached  Quebec. 
Amherst  had  mapped  out  a  complete  plan  of  campaign,  and 
this  plan  Pitt  had  studied  and  approved.  We  know  that, 
during  these  strenuous  days  of  war,  Pitt  worked  with  fiery 
energy  and  so  devoted  himself  to  his  tasks  that  he  gave 
up  even  the  usual  attendance  at  Court.  Nothing  is  more 
striking  than  the  precision  in  regard  to  detail  of  this  great 

minister  who  was  carrying  on  a  world-wide  war  and  might 
well  have  left  detail  to  the  professional  military  man.  He 

knew,  however,  that  in  military  operations  detail  is  every- 
thing. He  must  have  studied  closely  the  existing  maps 

which  showed  the  situation  in  America.  The  generals  send 
him  diaries  of  their  doings  and  he  follows  their  movements. 

The  situation  of  every  obscure  post  is  clear  to  him.  He 
knows  where  boats  will  be  needed  and  writes  anxiously  to 
Amherst  to  make  sure  that  those  used  in  the  previous  year 

are  being  properly  cared  for  and  that  the  building  of  new 
ones  is  looked  after.  He  knows  what  dangers  lie  in  the 
path  of  British  success  and  points  them  out  clearly.  But  he 
rarely  finds  fault  and  he  never  scolds.  He  chose  men  whom 
he  could  trust  and  he  trusted  them.  He  was  not  superior 

to  the  popular  view  that  France  was  England's  natural 
enemy,  and  he  exulted  in  her  disasters.  When,  in  Novem- 

ber 1759,  Hawke  delivered  his  crushing  blow  to  the  naval 
power  of  France,  at  Quiberon  Bay,  Pitt  wrote  to  Amherst 

a  glowing  account  of  the  '  signal  and  glorious  success  '  and 
of  '  the  consternation  and  dejection  '  of  the  enemy.     He 
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was  resolved  so  to  prostrate  France  that  never  again  could 
she  assail  England.  British  defeats  and  victories  stirred 

his  deepest  emotions.  With  Wolfe's  victory  England,  as 
a  whole,  had  dismissed  Quebec  from  its  mind.  That  game 

it  thought  was  won.  But,  until  France's  power  in  America 
was  completely  crushed,  Pitt  was  anxious.  The  defeat 
of  Murray  on  April  28  filled  him  with  sadness,  the  retreat 

of  Levis,  not  many  days  later,  with  joy.  '  Join,  my  love,'  he 
then  wrote  to  his  sister  Hester,  '  with  me  in  most  humble 
and  grateful  thanks  to  the  Almighty.  The  siege  of  Quebec 

was  raised  on  the  17th  of  May,  with  every  happy  circum- 
stance. The  enemy  left  their  camp  standing,  abandoned 

forty  pieces  of  cannon,  &c.  Swanton  arrived  there  in  the 

Vanguard  on  the  15th,  and  destroyed  all  the  French  shipping, 
six  or  seven  in  number.  Happy,  happy  day  !  My  joy  and 

hurry  are  inexpressible.'  ̂  
With  such  a  leader  the  generals  in  America  were  bound 

to  plan  something  far-reaching.  All  through  the  winter, 
Amherst,  stationed  at  New  York,  had  been  busy  with  the 
bringing  together  of  an  army  so  great  that  the  result  could 
not  possibly  be  doubtful.  It  is  amazing  that  New  France, 
with  her  scanty  population,  should  so  long  have  fought  the 
British.  Her  peasantry,  however,  were  organized  into 
a  very  effective  militia,  they  were  accustomed  to  despotic 
leadership,  and  they  did  what  they  were  told.  New  France 
was  united.  The  British  colonies,  on  the  other  hand,  were 

divided.  They  were  jealous  of  each  other  and  of  their  own 

independence.  The  citizen  farmers  coming  together  in 
their  dozen  legislatures  were  somewhat  prone  to  stand  by 
their  own  views  of  the  problems  of  an  Empire  and  to  reject 
the  insistent  urgency  of  Pitt.  For  the  most  part  the  colonial 
levies  raised  for  the  campaign  of  1759  had  been  disbanded 
and  had  returned  to  their  homes.     To  secure  new  levies 

^  Chatham  Correspondence,  ii.  45. 
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Amherst  must  correspond  with  each  governor.  Each  gover- 

nor must,  in  turn,  lay  the  general's  demands  before  the 
legislature  of  his  province.  The  talk  of  peace  which  the 
French  so  persistently  indulged  in  was  common  also  among 
reluctant  legislators  as  an  excuse  for  inaction.  But  the 
zeal  in  some  quarters  was  admirable.  Massachusetts,  under 
her  enthusiastic  Governor,  Pownall,  one  of  the  most  ardent 

Imperialists  of  the  eighteenth  century,  led  the  van  and 
made  promise  of  help  so  generous  that  Pownall  was  able 

to  write  :  '  It  has  been  hitherto  the  Merit  of  this  Province 

to  stand  foremost  in  the  King's  Service  but  here  they  stand 

alone.'  Massachusetts  was  to  put  2,500  men  in  the  field, 
New  York  promised  2,680,  New  Hampshire  800,  and  so  on. 
The  remoter  colonies  were  less  zealous.  The  Legislature  of 
Pennsylvania  insisted  that,  whatever  the  menace  to  other 
colonies,  Pennsylvania  was  in  no  danger,  and,  in  spite  of 

Amherst's  protests,  the  colony  would  promise  only  150  men. 
In  1900,  when  the  British  colonies  sent  contingents  to 

South  Africa,  the  mother  country  paid  and  equipped  the 

regiments.  In  1760,  the  colonies  did  better,  for  they  under- 
took not  merely  to  muster  but  also  to  clothe  and  pay  their 

men.  Arms,  ammunition,  tents,  and  food  were,  however, 

to  be  supplied  by  Great  Britain.  Pitt  wrote  somewhat 

peremptorily  that  the  King  expects  and  requires  colonial 

help  ;  yet  he  promised  that  the  colonies  might  be  compen- 
sated by  the  British  Parliament  for  their  outlay.  In  the 

end  they  put  into  the  field  what  were  for  them  considerable 

armies,  and  to  do  so  they  incurred  heavy  financial  obliga- 
tions. But,  of  course,  they  were  carrying  on  a  war  at  their 

own  door  and  for  their  own  safety. 

Pitt  had  urged  Amherst  to  be  ready  by  the  first  of  May 
to  begin  his  campaign.  The  colonial  levies  were,  however, 
not  to  be  hurried.  Amherst  left  New  York  on  May  3  to 

proceed  up  the  Hudson  River,  and,  by  way  of  Albany  and 
Schenectady,  to  advance  ultimately  to  the  shores  of  Lake u^ 
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Ontario.  Three  armies  were  to  close  in  on  Montreal,  one 

from  the  east,  one  from  the  south,  and  one  from  the  west. 

The  French  could  not  break  through  the  cordon  which 

surrounded  them,  and  they  must  either  surrender  piecemeal 

or  be  driven  in  upon  Montreal.  We  may  surmise  that  a 

single  army  advancing  on  Montreal  in  great  force  by  way  of 

the  St.  Lawrence  would  not  have  proved  less  effective. 

A  slow  enveloping  movement  was,  however,  in  accordance 

with  Amherst's  deliberate  and  thorough  methods.  He  took 
one  great  chance — that  the  British  fleet  would  reach  Canada 
before  the  fleet  from  France.  Had  this  not  happened,  had 

the  French  recovered  Quebec  and  been  able  to  hold  it, 

Amherst's  attempt  on  Montreal  might  well  have  proved 
disastrous.  Bourlamaque,  perhaps  the  ablest  officer  on  the 

French  side,  calls  the  advance  by  way  of  Lake  Ontario  a 

foolish  chase,  and  says  that  Amherst  undertook  it  only  to 

prove  that  if  Montreal  had  not  fallen  in  the  previous  year  it 

was  not  his  fault  but  Gage's. 
Plans  on  paper,  made  remote  from  the  scene  of  action, 

can  very  rarely  be  carried  out.  This  plan,  however,  worked 

admirably.  Since  Amherst  had  blamed  Gage  for  his  failure 

to  clear  the  Upper  St.  Lawrence  of  the  French,  he  now 

undertook  this  task  himself.  His  delays  were  many.  Not, 

as  had  been  hoped,  in  May,  but  in  July,  some  ten  thousand 

men  were  laboriously  advancing  through  the  wilderness  from 

Albany  to  Oswego,  not  far  from  the  point  where  Lake  Ontario 

discharges  into  the  St.  Lawrence,  there  to  embark  and 

descend  the  great  river  to  Montreal.  At  the  same  time  more 

than  three  thousand  men,  under  Colonel  Haviland,  were  to 

advance  by  Lake  Champlain,  the  route  which  Amherst  him- 
self had  used  in  the  previous  autumn.  Haviland  was  to 

keep  the  French  at  Isle  aux  Noix  in  a  state  of  constant  alarm 

and  thus  conceal  the  chief  menace,  which  was  from  Amherst's 
overwhelming  force.  A  third  army,  under  Murray,  was  to 

advance  from  Quebec.     The  movements  were  so  planned 
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that  the  three  forces  should  arrive  before  Montreal  at  the 
same  time. 

It  was  Murray's  advance  that  the  French  leaders  watched 
most  anxiously.  The  really  decisive  movement  was,  indeed, 
that  of  Amherst  ;  but  Amherst,  far  up  in  the  wilderness  of  the 
interior,  could  not  be  watched,  and  only  vague  rumours  of 
what  he  was  doing  reached  the  French.  They  now  knew  that 
if  the  British  should  decide  to  take  a  fleet  up  the  river  they 
could  do  little  to  stop  them.  An  army  they  were  ready 
and  more  than  wilhng  to  fight,  but  a  fleet  they  could  only 
watch  impotently  from  the  shore.  Murray  intended  simply 
to  ignore  the  French  land  forces.  He  was  safe  on  the  ships. 

If  the  French  wished  to  remain  in  his  rear  they  were  free 
to  do  so,  for,  should  Montreal  fall,  any  further  efforts  to  hold 
Canada  must  collapse.  Murray  hoped  that  the  French 

would  surrender  to  him  before  the  advance  began.  '  He 
wished,  I  think,  to  pump  me  this  morning,'  wrote  Malartic 
to  Levis  on  May  26  ;  '  he  asked  me  what  you  intended  to 
do,  and  said  that  it  was  impossible  for  you  to  save  the 
colony.  You  would  only  ruin  it  by  holding  together  your 

army.'  Murray  told  Bellecombe,  a  French  officer  at  Quebec, 
that  he  would  grant  easy  terms  if  the  French  would  capitu- 

late. When  Bellecombe  answered  with  some  spirit  that 
the  English  would  have  to  do  some  more  fighting  before  they 
took  Canada,  Murray  retorted  that  the  French  army  could 
not  live  on  air.  The  French  were,  however,  able  to  keep 

up  a  long,  losing  campaign,  and  the  war  could  be  ended  only 
by  an  elaborate  campaign. 

Murray  managed  so  to  keep  in  touch  with  Amherst's  plans 
that  he  knew  the  proper  time  to  set  out.  In  the  end  he 

started  without  waiting  for  the  reinforcements  from  Louis- 
bourg.  They  would,  however,  follow  him  quickly.  Colonel 
Eraser  was  to  remain  in  command  at  Quebec,  and  both 

Murray  and  his  second  in  command,  Colonel  Burton,  were 
to  go  up  the  river  with  the  army.     Officers  and  men  who 
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had  gone  to  New  York  and  elsewhere  to  recruit  their  health 

now  returned.  Some  others  were  able  to  leave  the  hospitals 

at  Quebec.  But  three  thousand  sick  and  wounded  remained, 

and,  in  the  end,  Murray  could  array  for  active  service  only 

about  twenty-five  hundred  men  of  all  ranks.  Officers  and 
men,  really  too  ill  for  such  service,  none  the  less  begged  to 

be  allowed  a  share  in  the  final  glory  of  the  conquest  of 

Canada.  They  had  borne,  they  said,  the  burden  and  heat  of 

the  day,  and  now,  it  seemed,  they  were  to  be  left  at  Quebec 

and  deprived  of  their  reward  ;  the  glory,  due  to  them,  others 

would  secure.  But  Murray  was  firm  and  gave  strict  orders 

to  his  officers  not  to  take  with  them  any  one  unfit  for  full 

duty  in  the  field.  So  insignificant  seemed  the  French  power 

for  attack  that  Quebec  was  left  defended  by  only  1,700  men 

fit  for  duty  ;  but,  of  course,  some  ships  remained,  and,  in 

case  of  need,  others  could  hurry  down  the  river  to  the  rescue. 

On  July  II  the  baggage  of  the  troops  was  put  on  board 

the  transports.  Levis,  with  his  army  half  starving,  heard 

with  hungry  desire  that  the  British  were  taking  a  prodigious 

quantity  of  food  supplies.  On  the  12th  Murray  reviewed 

his  force.  Next  day  at  five  o'clock  in  the  morning  the  right 
brigade  embarked  and  at  five  in  the  afternoon  the  left  did 

the  same.  The  men  had  just  received  a  part  of  their  pay, 

long  overdue,  and  had  been  guilty  of  some  irregularities,  but, 

in  spite  of  this,  the  embarkation  was  made  in  good  order. 

At  three  o'clock  on  the  next  morning,  the  14th,  everything 
was  ready  ;  the  fleet  weighed  anchor  and  began  its  momen- 

tous advance.  The  array  on  the  St.  Lawrence  was  imposing. 

Four  British  men-of-war  provided  the  escort.  The  men-of- 
war,  floating  batteries,  and  transports,  made  up  a  fleet  of 

some  eighty  vessels.  Considerable  fleets  had  often  sailed 

up  as  far  as  Quebec,  but  this  was  the  first  time  that  one  had 

set  out  to  attack  Montreal.  The  array  made  a  profound 

impression  upon  the  people  who  surveyed  its  advance  from 

the  shore.     '  The  habitants  are  frightened  to  death  at  the 
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sight  of  the  fleet,'  wrote  Levis  on  August  7  ;  '  they  are  afraid 

that  their  houses  will  all  be  burned.'  Some  of  them  already 
knew  by  experience  what  the  British  could  do  in  this  respect. 

On  the  first  night  the  fleet  anchored  opposite  Pointe  aux 

Trembles.  On  the  15th  it  was  before  Jacques  Cartier,  the 

stronghold  which  the  French  had  held  during  the  winter. 
The  fort  stood  on  a  bold  eminence,  and  an  abattis  of  felled 

trees,  stretching  down  to  the  water,  made  assault  from  that 

side  almost  impossible.  The  garrison  fired  some  shot  and 

shell  at  the  ships.  But  the  channel  was  far  away,  near  the 

south  bank,  and  the  fleet  passed  on  untouched,  leaving  the 

fort  in  the  rear.  Murray  now  showed  that  he  intended  to 

do  precisely  what  Levis  most  dreaded — to  advance  to 
Montreal  without  attempting  to  fight  on  land.  Dumas, 

who  commanded  at  Jacques  Cartier,  was  instructed  to  follow 

Murray  up  the  river.  *  If  the  enemy ',  Vaudreuil  had  written, 

'  should  decide  to  penetrate  to  the  heart  of  the  colony  and 
to  leave  you  where  you  are,  you  will  not  hesitate,  in  such  a 

case,  to  withdraw  your  outposts,  to  summon  the  militia  of 

your  neighbourhood  .  .  .  and  to  proceed  to  join  M.  de  Lon- 
gueuil  and  the  forces  which  he  will  have  assembled  at  Three 

Rivers.'  ̂   Vaudreuil  added  that  if  the  British  should  try 
to  land  at  Three  Rivers  they  were,  in  his  accustomed  fine 

phrasing,  to  be  resisted  even  at  the  cost  of  the  total  annihila- 
tion of  the  French  defending  force. 

The  British  rarely  ventured  to  land  on  the  north  shore, 

but  on  the  south  they  repeatedly  threw  out  parties  of 

rangers.  This  was  a  challenge  to  the  Canadians.  However 

weary  they  might  be  of  the  contest,  they  could  not  refrain 

from  the  guerrilla  warfare  in  which  they  excelled.  Now  they 
had  an  occasional  brush  with  the  British.  Sometimes  the 

rangers  marched  on  shore  for  days  together,  advancing 

with   the   fleet.     On   leaving    Quebec    Murray   had   issued 

'  Vaudreuil  to  Dumas,  June  4,  1760  :  Report  on  Canadian  Archives, 
1905,  i.  43. 
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a  proclamation  saying  that  Canadians  who  laid  down  their 

arms  had  nothing  to  fear.  He  required  only  an  oath  of 

neutrality.  On  July  25  Captain  Knox  describes  a  scene  that 

was  often  duplicated  : 

'  The  parish  of  St.  Antoine  have  this  day  laid  down  their 
arms,  and  taken  the  oath  of  neutrality  ;  as  the  form  of 
swearing  is  solemn,  it  may  not  be  improper  to  particularize 
it.  The  men  stand  in  a  circle,  hold  up  their  right  hands, 
repeat  each  his  own  name,  and  then  say, — 

'  .  .  .  Do  severally  swear,  in  the  presence  of  Almighty  God, 
that  we  will  not  take  up  arms  against  George  the  Second, 
King  of  Great  Britain,  &c.,  &c.,  or  against  his  troops  or 
subjects ;  nor  give  any  intelligence  to  his  enemies,  directly 

or  indirectly  ;    So  Help  me  God.' 
The  oath  was  mild  enough  and  Murray  insisted  that  it 

should  be  scrupulously  observed.  From  time  to  time  he 
himself  went  ashore.  Since  he  knew  French  well  he  could 

speak  to  the  people  in  their  own  tongue.  He  told  them 

that,  while  the  cause  of  France  was  hopeless,  the  might  of 

Britain  as  shown  in  her  ships,  artillery,  and  other  equipment 

was  resistless.  He  added  that  he  would  in  no  way  molest 

the  persons  and  property  of  the  men  who  were  attending  to 
their  duties,  but  that  he  would  burn  all  the  houses  from 

which  the  men  were  absent.  This  resolution  caused  exten- 

sive desertions  from  the  French  army.  Many  of  the  militia 

returned  to  their  parishes  in  order  to  avert  the  destruction 

by  the  British  of  their  houses,  should  they  not  be  there.  In 

village  after  village  the  whole  male  population  took  the 

oath,  saying,  in  some  cases,  that  they  were  glad  to  have  the 

excuse  of  Murray's  demand  for  so  doing. 
Some  Canadians,  however,  showed  irreconcilable  hos- 

tility, and  Murray  blamed  the  clergy  for  this  attitude.  To 

a  priest  brought  before  him  he  said  :  '  The  Clergy  are  the 
source  of  all  the  mischiefs  that  have  befallen  the  poor 

Canadians,  whom  they  keep  in  ignorance,  and  excite  to 

wickedness  and  their  own  ruin.  No  doubt  you  have  heard 

that  I  hanged  a  Captain  of  Militia  ;  that  I  have  a  Priest  and 



200      THE  ADVANCE  TO  MONTREAL 

some  Jesuits  on  board  a  ship  of  war,  to  be  transmitted  to 
Great  Britain  :  beware  of  the  snare  they  have  fallen  into  ; 

preach  the  Gospel,  which  alone  is  your  province.'  Early  in 
the  advance  up  the  river  the  French  sent  a  party  of  Indians 
to  the  south  shore  to  harass  the  British  with  their  barbarous 
methods  of  warfare.  The  result  was  a  stern  message  from 
Murray,  sent  under  a  flag  of  truce  to  the  officer  commanding 
at  Deschambault,  that  if  the  savages  were  not  instantly 
recalled,  and  if  they  committed  any  barbarities,  no  quarter 
would  be  given  even  to  regulars  and  that  the  country  would 
undergo  military  execution  wherever  the  British  landed. 

Along  the  river  the  houses  were  numerous.  '  From  the 

Island  of  Coudre,'  says  Captain  Knox, '  below  Quebec,  to  that 
of  Montreal,  the  country  on  both  sides  of  this  river  is  so  well 
settled,  and  closely  inhabited,  as  to  resemble  almost  one 
continual  village  ;  the  habitations  appear  extremely  neat, 
with  sashed  windows,  and,  in  general,  washed  on  the  outside 
with  lime,  as  are  likewise  their  churches,  which  are  all 
constructed  upon  one  uniform  plan,  and  have  an  agreeable 

effect  upon  the  traveUer.'  When  the  British  landed  and 
entered  the  houses  which,  from  the  river,  looked  so  charming, 
they  suffered  disillusion,  for  the  peasantry  were,  Knox 

declares,  '  intolerably  dirty '.  As  the  fleet  advanced 
farther  from  the  regions  about  Quebec  desolated  by  war,  the 

condition  of  the  people  improved.  '  I  have  been  in  a  great 
many  farm-houses  since  I  embarked  on  this  expedition,' 

says  Knox,  '  and  I  may  venture  to  advance,  that  in  every 
one  of  them  I  have  seen  a  good  loaf,  two,  or  three,  according 
to  the  number  of  the  family,  of  excellent  wheaten  bread  ; 
and  such  of  the  inhabitants  as  came  on  board  our  ships,  from 
time  to  time,  in  order  to  traffick  disdained  our  biscuits, 
upon  being  offered  refreshments.  .  .  .  Notwithstanding  all 
that  has  been  said  of  the  immense  distresses  and  starving 
condition  of  the  Canadians,  I  do  not  find  that  there  is  any 

real  want.' 
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Black  cattle,  sheep,  and  pigs  seemed  numerous,  and 

sometimes  this  plenty  was  too  great  a  temptation  to  the 

British  seamen  allowed  to  go  on  shore.  On  one  occasion 

they  pillaged  houses  and  offered  violence  to  some  Canadian 

women.  The  result  was  a  stern  threat  from  Murray  that 

death  by  hanging  would  be  the  penalty  for  a  repetition  of 

the  offence.  The  men  had  more  innocent  diversion  in  fishing 

and  in  paddling  the  Canadian  canoes.  To  the  British  sailor 

these  were  a  great  novelty.  He  knew  little  of  their  use  and 

would  sometimes  stand  up  in  them  to  fish,  with  the  inevitable 

result  of  an  upset.  The  current  was  very  swift  and  a  good 

many  soldiers  and  sailors  were  drowned  as  a  result  of  their 
own  carelessness. 

The  point  on  the  river  probably  most  easy  of  defence  was 

Deschambault,  some  nine  or  ten  miles  above  Jacques  Cartier, 

There  the  Richelieu  Rapids  made  passage  difficult,  for  the 
channel  was  shallow  and  full  of  rocks,  which  at  low  tide 

appeared  above  the  surface.  Powerful  batteries  at  this 

point  could  have  checked  an  ascending  fleet.  Murray  had, 

indeed,  planned  to  seize  this  place  in  the  spring  so  as  to  make 

impossible  the  further  ascent  of  French  ships  which  might 

reach  Quebec.^  The  French  had  placed  a  battery  in  the 
church  at  Deschambault,  and  this  began  to  play  on  the 

British  ships  as  they  tried  to  work  their  way  up  the  channel. 

Adverse  winds  helped  the  French  to  delay  for  about  ten  days 

a  part  of  the  fleet.  A  lieutenant  and  three  privates  were 

killed  by  their  fire.  But,  owing  to  bad  powder  and  to  bad 

guns,  the  resistance  was  really  weak,  and  when,  on  the  26th, 
there  was  a  favourable  wind,  the  fleet  sailed  on  without 

further  injury.  At  no  other  point  on  the  river  had  the 

French  the  slightest  chance  of  retarding  the  British  advance. 

Indeed,  though  the  ascent  of  the  St.  Lawrence  involved 

difficult  and  intricate  navigation  which  taxed  the  skill  of 

^  Murray  to  Amherst,  by  Lieutenant  Montresor  as  messenger,  March  3, 
1760  (Canadian  Archives). 
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Captain  Deane,  the  officer  in  command,  not  a  single  ship 

was  lost  or  even  damaged  during  the  entire  journey. 

Day  by  day  as  the  fleet  advanced  it  was  '  politely  attended ', 
as  Knox  expresses  it,  by  a  French  force  which  marched 

along  the  north  shore  abreast  of  the  ships.  The  French 

feared  that  the  British  would  try  to  land  at  Three  Rivers,  the 

most  important  place  in  Canada,  after  Quebec  and  Montreal. 

Here  M.  de  Longueuil  was  in  command,  and  he  with  Pontle- 

roy,  the  engineer,  had  long  been  busy  preparing  for  defence. 

It  was  the  capital  of  one  of  the  three  subdivisions  of  Canada, 

and  the  French  considered  it  a  garrison  town  of  great 

importance.  Knox,  however,  calls  this  '  open  straggling 

village  '  a  '  wretched  place  ',  and  notes  with  satisfaction 
that  part  of  it  lay  so  low  on  the  north  shore  as  to  be  an 

admirable  object  for  bombardment.  He  saw  what  strikes 

visitors  to  French  Canada  to  this  day  :  the  poor  wooden 
houses  of  the  inhabitants  in  vivid  contrast  with  the  massive 

stone  church  and  convent  buildings.  The  place  was 

defended  by  extensive  entrenchments  and  redoubts,  '  indi- 

cating ',  as  Knox  says,  *  an  intention  to  have  disputed  every 
inch  of  ground  with  us,  if  we  had  made  a  descent  there, 

which  it  may  be  presumed  they  expected.'  It  was  here 
indeed,  that  Vaudreuil  had  said  that  rather  than  let  the 
British  land  the  French  must  die  to  the  last  man.  But  the 

British  had  no  thought  of  landing.  The  Canadians,  as 

distinguished  from  the  French,  invited  them  to  do  so  in 

what  seemed  no  unfriendly  way.  When  some  armed  British 
boats  went  forward  to  examine  the  channel  before  the 

town,  a  body  of  Canadians  drawn  up  on  the  bank  called 

out  to  them,  '  What  water  have  you,  Englishmen  ?  '  The 

reply  was  given  with  true  British  brusqueness  :  '  Sufficient 
to  bring  up  our  ships,  and  knock  you  and  your  houses  to 

pieces.'  The  answer  of  the  Canadians  showed  the  temper 

to  which  some  o'  these  unfortunate  people  had  now  come. 
A  man,  supposed  by  the  British  to  be  an  officer,  called  out 
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that  the  Canadians,  if  left  alone,  would  offer  the  British  no 

annoyance,  and  ended  by  inviting  the  officers  to  come 
ashore  and  refresh  themselves. 

Two  channels  led  past  Three  Rivers,  that  near  the  north 

shore  commanded  by  the  batteries  of  the  town,  that  on  the 

south  side  out  of  range.  The  ships  passed  quite  safely  by 

the  south  channel.  The  day — the  8th  of  August — was  clear 
and  pleasant,  and  Captain  Knox,  who  had  an  eye  for  beauty, 

thought  that  the  '  situation  on  the  banks  of  a  delightful 
river,  our  fleet  sailing  triumphantly  before  them,  in  line 

of  battle,  the  country  on  both  sides  interspersed  with 

neat  settlements,  together  with  the  verdure  of  the  fields  and 

trees,  afforded,  with  the  addition  of  clear  pleasant  weather, 

as  agreeable  a  prospect  as  the  most  lively  imagination  can 

conceive '.  The  French  troops,  who  seemed  to  number 
about  two  thousand,  lined  the  works  as  the  British  ships 

filed  past.  '  Their  light  cavalry,  who  paraded  along  shore, 
seemed  to  be  well  appointed,  clothed  in  blue,  faced  with 

scarlet  ;  but  their  officers  had  white  uniforms.'  Knox, 
aided  by  a  glass,  discerned  among  the  troops  fifty  naked 

savages  with  painted  faces.  Even  at  this,  the  most  carefully 

defended  spot  on  the  river,  the  French  could  only  stand 

impotent  on  the  bank  and  see  the  hostile  fleet  pass.  It 

mattered  nothing  to  the  British  that  Three  Rivers,  like 

Jacques  Cartier,  was  left  in  their  rear,  untaken.  Even  its 

defenders  soon  abandoned  it  to  march  along  the  north 

shore  in  the  wake  of  the  advancing  fleet. 
When  the  fleet  reached  Sorel  at  the  mouth  of  the  Richelieu 

River,  a  new  embarrassment  appeared  for  the  French 

defenders.  Haviland  was  advancing  down  Lake  Champlain 

to  the  head  of  this  river.  Would  Murray  try  to  ascend  the 
river  and  catch  as  in  a  vice  the  fort  at  Isle  aux  Noix,  which 

would  be  assailed  at  the  same  time  by  Haviland  from  the 
south  ?  This  was  what  the  French  most  dreaded  and  what 

they  were  resolved,  if  possible,  to  prevent.     Bourlamaque, 
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now  in  command  at  Sorcl,  was  puzzled.  Levis  was  moving 

from  post  to  post  and  the  couriers  were  kept  busy.  Even 

though  paper  was  now  hardly  to  be  had,  Bourlamaque 

sometimes  sent  to  his  leader  three  letters  in  a  single  day. 

On  August  12,  impotent  on  the  shore  at  Sorel,  Bourlamaque 

watched  the  long  array  of  ships  file  past.  It  was  useless  to 

fire  upon  them,  he  said,  as  he  could  do  no  real  damage. 

He  could  only  count  the  ships,  and  write  to  Levis  how  many 

there  were  :  five  ships  with  three  masts,  nineteen  with  two, 

ten  with  one  mast,  twenty-one  armed  bateaux,  and  a 
seemingly  endless  number  of  smaller  craft.  What  should 

he  do  ?  he  asked.  He  could  not  for  ever  keep  marching  his 

barefooted  men  along  the  shore  to  points  where  the  English 

might  possibly  land.  He  had  only  seven  hundred  troops, 

and  three  hundred  and  fifty  of  them  were  militia,  not  well- 
disposed.  He  had  no  one  to  look  after  the  stores,  no 

secretary  even  for  the  necessary  clerical  work,  no  smith  to 

repair  damaged  muskets.  If  he  had  had  one  or  two  naval 

officers  they  could  have  told  him  what  to  expect  from  the 

movements  of  the  British  ships.  '  I  am  worn  out,  I  have 

no  one  on  whom  I  can  depend,  I  can  get  no  sleep,'  he  wrote. 
It  is  interesting  to  contrast  with  this  despairing  utterance 

the  thoughts  of  the  British  officer.  Captain  Knox.  On  this 

same  day,  August  12,  Knox  describes  in  glowing  terms  the 

scene  which  he  surveyed  as  the  ship  approached  Sorel  : 

'  I  think  nothing  could  equal  the  beauties  of  our  naviga- 
tion this  morning,  with  which  I  was  exceedingly  charmed  ; 

the  meandering  course  of  the  channel,  so  narrow  that  an  active 

person  might  have  stepped  a-shore  from  our  transports, 
either  to  the  right  or  left  ;  the  awfulness  and  solemnity  of 
the  dark  forests  with  which  these  islands  are  covered, 
together  with  the  fragrancy  of  the  spontaneous  fruits, 
shrubs,  and  flowers  ;  the  verdure  of  the  water  by  the 
reflection  of  the  neighbouring  woods,  the  wild  chirping  notes 
of  the  feathered  inhabitants,  the  masts  and  sails  of  ships 

appearing  as  if  among  the  trees,  both  a-head  and  a-stern 

.  .  .  formed,  all  together,  ...  an  enchanting  diversity.' 
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There  were  other  things  to  please  a  British  officer,  for 

while  the  fleet  lay  before  Sorel  it  was  joined  by  a  second 

squadron  bringing  two  regiments  from  Louisbourg,  long 

expected  by  Murray.  Lord  Rollo,  its  leader,  had  not 

tarried  at  Quebec,  but  had  hurried  up  the  river  to  join 

Murray's  expedition.  Opposite  Sorel  is  the  island  of  St. 
Ignace,  and  here  the  troops  were  landed  that  the  transports 

might  be  cleaned  and  aired.  The  strip  of  water  separating 

them  from  the  mainland  was  an  adequate  protection  from 
attack.  Since  the  male  Canadians  seemed  to  be  absent 

serving  with  the  French  army,  the  British  took  freely  as 

the  spoils  of  war  what  provisions  they  could  find  in  the  houses. 

The  Canadians  in  this  district  had  seen  as  yet  no  real 

war,  and  they  had  not  learned,  what  those  near  Quebec 

had  learned,  how  sternly  the  British  would  punish  acts  of 

hostility  on  the  part  of  the  civil  population.  A  church  at 
Sorel  had  been  fortified  under  the  direction  of  the  cure, 

and  many  of  the  male  inhabitants  in  the  neighbourhood 

were  in  arms.  A  stern  lesson  seemed  necessary.  Accordingly, 

on  August  22,  about  two  in  the  morning,  a  British  force 

under  Lord  Rollo  dropped  down  the  river  from  the  island  of 

St.  Ignace,  and,  landing  a  little  below  Sorel,  began  the  work 

of  devastation.  They  burned  the  houses  of  the  men  who 

were  absent  from  home,  but  spared  the  others.  This  des- 
truction was  the  result  of  the  same  policy  that  Wolfe  had 

carried  out  near  Quebec.  '  I  was  .  .  .  under  the  cruel  neces- 
sity of  burning  the  greatest  part  of  these  poor  unhappy 

people's  houses,'  Murray  wrote  to  Pitt ;  *  I  pray  God  this 
example  may  suffice,  for  my  nature  revolts,  when  this 

becomes  a  necessary  part  of  my  duty.'  It  was  effective. 
Bourlamaque  wrote  to  Levis  at  six  in  the  evening  of  that 

very  day  :  '  Protests  and  menaces  are  unavailing  to  keep 
the  inhabitants  of  this  parish  from  giving  up  their  arms  to 

the  English.  At  this  moment  they  tell  me  that  twenty 

men  of  the  company  of  Cormier  are  going  off  with  their 
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muskets.  I  am  writing  to  M.  Denos  to  try  to  stop  this  by 
announcing  that  I  will  burn  down  the  house  of  the  first  man 

who  does  it.'  Fifty  or  sixty  Canadians,  sent  from  Montreal 
to  take  some  vessels  down  the  river,  abandoned  them  and 

ran  off  to  their  homes,  and  a  company  of  militia  broke  out 

into  open  piUage  in  their  own  camp.  They  declared,  says 
Rocquemaure,  in  command  at  St.  Johns,  that  they  would  stay 
with  the  French  army  as  long  as  it  suited  them,  some  until 
Tuesday,  some  until  Friday,  and  that  then  they  should  go 
home.  Since  whole  companies  were  guilty,  punishment 
was  really  impossible.  It  was  useless,  Bourlamaque  says 
bitterly,  to  write  to  Vaudreuil  about  any  misdoings  of  the 
Canadians.  The  Governor  gave  no  heed,  and  would  probably 
write  to  the  Court  that  Bourlamaque  had  two  or  three 

thousand  Canadians  who  were  doing  wonders.  These  poor 

people  had  meanwhile  a  hard  fate.  If  they  went  away 

from  home  the  English  burned  their  houses,  on  the  supposi- 
tion that  they  were  serving  with  the  French  ;  if  they  stayed 

at  home  the  French  threatened  to  do  the  same  thing,  on  the 

supposition  that  they  were  not  fighting  for  their  country. 

By  this  time  Isle  aux  Noix  had  become  untenable.  Al- 

ready, on  August  2,  Bougainville,  in  command  there,  wrote  : 

'  I  expect  the  enemy  to  unmask  to-morrow  a  great  devil 
of  a  battery,  which  is  hardly  a  musket-shot  from  us.  They 

have  made  immense  abattis  ...  It  doesn't  matter  :  we  shall 

do  our  best.'  On  August  9,  three  vessels,  representing  the 

vanguard  of  Haviland's  force,  appeared  before  the  place,  and 
soon  shot  and  shell  were  pouring  into  it  pitilessly.  Bougain- 

ville had  done  what  he  could  ;  he  had  made  elaborate  works 
and  entrenchments  and  had  stretched  booms  across  the 

two  branches  of  the  river  enclosing  the  island.  But  the 

British  carried  on  a  furious  bombardment,  and  they  managed 
to  work  round  with  some  mortars  and  cannon  so  as  to  attack 

the  fort  from  the  rear.  They  pushed  up  their  works  so  close 

that  they  were  able  to  kill  soldiers  on  the  ramparts  with 
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muskets.  Moreover  Bougainville  was  likely  before  long  to 

be  face  to  face  with  famine.  The  seven  or  eight  oxen  which 

he  had  were  killed  by  the  British  fire.  The  river  was  full  of 

fish,  but  the  British  fire  made  it  impossible  to  resort  to  this 

source  of  supply. 

Bourlamaque  thought  that  Isle  aux  Noix  should  be  aban- 
doned ;  so  did  Vaudreuil ;  but  Levis,  who  wished  to  prolong 

the  fight  and  to  delay  surrender,  opposed  retreat  until  the 

very  last  moment.  He  ordered  La  Pause,  an  able  and 

tactful  officer,  to  send  forward,  if  possible,  help  to  Bougain- 
ville from  St.  Johns,  a  few  miles  lower  down  the  river  towards 

the  St.  Lawrence.  On  August  3  La  Pause  could  hear  firing 

at  the  distant  fort.  It  was  raining  heavily.  The  Canadian 

scouts  would  not  volunteer  to  carry  dispatches  to  Bougain- 
ville, and,  in  the  end,  Nogueres,  an  officer  of  the  Royal 

Roussillon  Regiment,  was  obliged  himself  to  undertake  the 

task,  and  but  one  Canadian  could  be  induced  to  accompany 

him.  On  August  25  a  critical  event  happened.  The  British 

suddenly  pushed  forward  some  cannon  and  opened  a  hot 

fire  on  the  five  French  ships  which  lay  at  the  foot  of  the 

island.  The  ships  were  riddled  by  the  fire.  Some  of  the 

sailors  escaped  by  swimming  to  shore,  the  rest  surrendered. 

After  the  protecting  ships  had  been  captured,  the  British 

would  soon  break  the  boom,  or  at  least  carry  across  boats 

so  as  to  attack  the  fort  from  points  below  as  well  as  above 

the  island.  They  could  also  go  down  the  river  and  attack 

St.  Johns  and  other  places.  Levis  was  still  most  anxious 

to  hold  the  fort.  '  I  count  much  on  your  post ',  he  had 

written  on  August  19  to  Bougainville,  '  to  prolong  our  de- 
fence and  to  do  honour  to  our  arms.  The  place  could  not 

be  in  better  hands.'  Later  he  sent  a  verbal  message  through 
La  Pause,  at  St.  Johns,  that  Bougainville  should  hold  out. 

But  Vaudreuil  was  of  a  different  mind.  On  August  26,  when 

the  news  of  the  capture  of  the  ships  reached  him,  he  wrote 

to  say  that  if  Bougainville  could  not  check  the  advance  of 
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the  British  down  the  river,  or  was  in  danger  of  being  captured, 

he  should  spike  his  cannon  and  retire.  Levis,  he  said,  knew 

the  purport  of  his  letter.  Bougainville  was  sorely  puzzled 
what  to  do.  He  held  a  council  of  war  on  August  27,  and 

they  reached  a  unanimous  decision  to  retire. 

This  had  become  no  easy  task,  for  the  British  were  now 

encamped  above  and  below  the  fort  on  both  banks  of  the 

river.  Bougainville  planned  a  ruse.  While  withdrawing 

his  men  he  would  keep  up  the  appearance  of  strenuous 

defence.  Some  forty  invalids,  under  a  colonial  officer,  La 

Borgne,  were  to  continue  firing  the  seven  or  eight  pieces  of 

cannon  as  long  as  ammunition  lasted..  Meanwhile  the 

retreat  would  be  effected.  At  ten  o'clock  at  night  all  the 
available  boats  were  gathered  at  the  chosen  point  and 

silently  the  garrison  crossed  to  the  mainland.  The  plan 
succeeded.  The  British  did  not  learn  of  the  retreat  until 

noon  the  next  day.  Then  La  Borgne,  who  kept  up 

a  vigorous  fire,  had  no  more  ammunition,  and  he  raised  the 

white  flag.  Meanwhile  Bougainville  was  marching  through 

the  forest  towards  Montreal,  as  he  thought.  He  had  counted 

on  Indians  as  guides,  but  they  had  deserted  a  losing  cause, 

and,  without  guides,  he  lost  his  way.  From  midnight  to 

midday  the  army  toiled  through  frightful  swamps,  only  to 
find  in  the  end  that  it  was  still  near  the  British  camp  before 

Isle  aux  Noix.  Bougainville  now  tried  to  reach  St.  Johns, 
a  few  miles  down  the  river  from  Isle  aux  Noix,  and  at  four 

in  the  afternoon  his  bedraggled  force  arrived  at  a  clearing 

not  far  from  that  place.  '  I  was  so  overcome  with  fatigue,' 
writes  the  Chevalier  Johnstone,  who  took  part  in  this 

terrible  march,  '  and  so  totally  exhausted,  not  being  able 
but  with  the  greatest  pain  to  trail  my  legs,  that  I  thought 

a  thousand  times  of  lying  down  to  finish  my  days  ;  but  the 

fear  of  falling  into  the  hands  of  savages  connected  with  the 

English,  and  the  idea  of  the  cruelties  and  torments  which 

they  exercised  over  their  prisoners,  making  them  die  under 
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the  cruellest  sufferings,  at  a  small  jfire,  .  .  .  the  terror  of 

that  gave  me  from  time  to  time  new  strength.  ...  I  have 

very  often  found  myself  in  .  .  .  painful  and  fatiguing  posi- 
tions but  never  in  any  where  I  experienced  so  much  suffering 

as  in  this  cruel  journey.'  The  weather  was  very  hot,  and 
when  he  reached  the  river  and  had  sufficiently  recovered, 

he  plunged  in,  still  wearing  his  uniform,  and  remained  for 

more  than  an  hour  with  only  his  head  above  water.  The 

French  lost  twenty-four  men  on  the  march. 
La  Pause,  at  St.  Johns,  was  distressed  when  he  heard  of 

Bougainville's  retreat.  Since  but  few  men  had  been  lost 
at  Isle  aux  Noix,  he  thought  that  greater  sacrifices  should 

have  been  made  to  support  the  glory  of  the  French  arms. 

Bougainville's  answer  to  these  reflections  was  a  demand  to 
be  judged  by  a  council  of  war.  La  Pause  himself  had  now 

to  retire,  for  no  one  at  St.  Johns,  not  even  the  officers,  wished 

to  fight.  He  postponed  his  retreat  to  the  last  moment,  that 

he  might  help  to  rescue  the  poor  fellows  lost  in  the  woods. 

But  when,  on  the  night  of  the  29th,  the  British  began  an 

advance  in  force  on  St.  Johns,  the  French  set  it  on  fire  and 

marched  the  dozen  miles  to  La  Prairie,  opposite  Montreal. 

Misfortunes  did  not  come  singly.  Just  at  the  same  time 

word  was  received  that  Fort  Levis,  far  up  on  the  St.  Lawrence, 
had  fallen  to  Amherst. 

The  Indians,  alert  to  see  how  the  wind  was  blowing, 

were  now  treating  independently  with  the  British  and 

deserting  the  cause  on  which  their  own  misdeeds  had 

brought  such  discredit.  On  September  2,  Levis  met  some 

of  them  at  La  Prairie,  opposite  Montreal,  on  the  south 

side  of  the  river.  While  he  was  haranguing  them  a  messen- 

ger arrived  to  say  that  the  Indian  tribes  had  made  peace 

with  the  British.  At  once  the  savage  audience  ran  off  with- 
out listening  further.  The  moment  the  Indians  who  had 

negotiated  the  peace  with  the  British  had  completed  their 

work  they  gathered  on  the  beach  opposite  Montreal,  and 
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brandished  knives  and  hatchets  and  shrieked  their  war-cry, 
in  token  that  they  had  now  become  the  enemies  of  the 
French.  The  British  did  not  find  that  their  new  aUies 

mingled  well  with  their  own  savages.  While  Murray  was 

occupied,  apparently  at  Longueuil,  with  the  French  Indians, 

two  Mohawks  entered  the  room.  They  gazed  intently  at 

the  others  and  then  dashed  at  them  with  fury.  When 

separated  the  two  groups  continued  to  mutter  reproaches 

and  threats.  The  Mohawks  recalled  outrages  by  their  old 

enemies  and  swore  that  '  the  cowardly  dogs  '  should  pay 

for  it.  *  We  will  destroy  you  and  your  settlement,  root 
and  branch  ;  .  .  .  our  squaws  are  better  than  you ;  they  will 

stand  and  fight  like  men — but  ye  skulk  like  dogs.'  At  this 

the  French  chief  raised  what  Knox  calls  '  a  horrid  yell '. 
Murray  kept  the  peace  only  by  threats  of  stern  chastisement 

from  Amherst  if  any  violence  was  done. 

The  French  debacle  was  now  almost  complete.  Place 

after  place  near  Montreal  surrendered  to  the  British.  Levis 

could  not  hold  together  his  forces.  '  The  regulars  now  desert 

to  us  in  great  numbers,'  wrote  Knox  on  September  3,  '  and 

the  Canadian  militia  are  surrendering  by  hundreds.'  Those 
who  did  not  surrender  deserted  in  bands  and  ran  off  to  their 

homes.  Even  when  they  did  not  desert  they  refused  to 

obey  orders.  'I  gave  orders  to  M.  de  Bellecour',  says 

Roquemaure  on  September  3,  '  to  lead  his  mounted  men  to 
Longueuil,  but  not  one  would  follow  him.  The  militia 

attached  to  the  Royal  Roussillon  battalion  refused  to  march.' 
Even  the  regulars  went  off  half  a  dozen  at  a  time.  The 

officers  harangued  the  troops  and  appealed  to  their  honour, 

but  with  little  effect.  Everywhere  was  raised  the  cry  for 

'  Capitulation  '. 
Meanwhile  Murray  was  pressing  up  closer  to  Montreal. 

By  September  4  he  had  disembarked  most  of  his  troops  on 

the  island  of  Ste  Therese,  near  the  lower  part  of  the  greater 

island  on  which  Montreal  stands.   '  From  this  point  he  could 
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easily  land  in  force  on  either  the  north  or  the  south  side  of 

the  river.  Haviland  was  advancing  steadily  from  St.  Johns 

to  Longueuil,  immediately  opposite  Montreal,  and  news  had 

come  that  Amherst  was  near  on  the  upper  river.  The  word 

now  went  forth  on  the  French  side  that  all  the  regiments 
should  close  in  on  Montreal.  Their  forces  on  the  south  bank 

crossed  the  river  as  best  they  could,  and  by  September  3 

the  sadly  diminished  ranks  of  the  dispirited  army  had  been 

reunited  in  that  place. 

o  2 



CHAPTER  VII 

THE  FALL  OF  NEW  FRANCE 

The  complicated  plan  of  bringing  together  at  the  same  time 

and  at  the  same  place  three  armies,  each  faced  by  a  resolute, 

if  weak,  foe,  was  working  out  admirably.  Amherst's  move- 
ments had  been  the  slowest  and  the  most  protracted.  He 

had  arrived  at  Albany,  from  New  York,  early  in  May.  But, 

as  we  have  seen,  his  colonial  levies  came  in  only  slowly, 
and  a  long  two  months  passed  before  it  was  worth  while  for 

him  to  go  on  to  Oswego,  the  point  on  Lake  Ontario  where 

he  intended  to  embark  his  forces.  At  Oswego  Colonel 

Haldimand,  an  efficient  officer,  was  in  charge  of  the  prepara- 
tions. Even  after  Amherst  arrived,  it  was  still  another 

month  before  his  force  was  ready  to  set  out.  Far  up  near 

the  west  end  of  the  lake  the  British  held  Fort  Niagara,  and 

from  the  St.  Lawrence  to  the  Mississippi  they  were  masters. 
Detroit,  on  the  route  from  Lake  Erie  to  Lake  Huron,  still 

held  out  for  France.  The  posts  in  the  north-western  country 
France  also  retained.  If,  however,  Montreal  fell,  the  sources 

of  supplies  for  these  posts  would  be  cut  off  and  they  would 

fall  to  the  conqueror  without  a  further  blow. 

For  months  Colonel  Haldimand  had  waited  at  Oswego, 

making  ready  for  the  great  enterprise.  During  the  weary 

time  of  preparation,  General  Gage  at  Albany  had  sent  on 

to  his  brother  officers  what  news  he  could  glean  in  America 

and  also  welcome  supplies  of  magazines  from  Europe. 

While  Haldimand  waited,  winter  had  become  spring  and 

spring  summer  ;  and  now  summer  itself  was  wearing  away. 

Slowly  the  motley  battalions  of  regulars  and  provincials 
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came  in  and  made  the  little  fort  a  busy  scene.  On  July  23 

Sir  William  Johnson  arrived,  leading  some  hundreds  of 

Indians.  Their  knowledge  of  the  forest  might  have  made 

them  useful  as  scouts  in  this  wild  country,  but  the  informa- 
tion which  they  gathered  was  often  worthless.  For  weeks 

they  had  been  bringing  in  wild  rumours  of  the  arrival,  not 

of  a  French  but  of  a  Spanish  fleet  in  the  St.  Lawrence. 

Spain  was  still  at  peace  with  England,  but  a  general  in  a 
remote  wilderness  could  not  be  sure  of  this,  and  the  rumour 

caused  some  slight  disquiet. 

If  any  one  could  control  the  Indians  it  was  Sir  William 

Johnson.  He  had  lived  long  among  them  in  the  colony  of 

New  York  and  knew  thoroughly  the  half-childish  ways  of 
these  wild  sons  of  the  forest.  The  tribes  of  Iroquois,  with 

whom  he  came  chiefly  in  touch,  respected  him  and  usually 

obeyed  him.  But  the  remoter  tribes,  with  whom,  during 

the  past  months,  the  British  had  been  carrying  on  laborious 

negotiations,  were  less  easy  to  manage.  Amherst  himself 

loathed  the  practices  of  his  savage  allies.  When  they  had 

the  chance  they  would  sometimes  dig  up  even  buried  corpses 

in  order  to  scalp  them.  '  Firmness  with  these  gentry  is  very 

necessary,'  Amherst  wrote  at  this  time,  and,  in  spite  of  their 
sulks  and  threats  when  crossed,  he  held  them  in  check  and 

would  not  permit  any  of  the  outrages  that  the  French  ofhcers, 

from  Montcalm  downwards,  had  not  prevented. 

The  great  camp  on  Lake  Ontario  could  in  time  muster 

more  than  ten  thousand  men.  The  primaeval  forest  came 

down  to  the  shore  of  the  sparkling  lake,  spreading  away 

to  the  horizon,  seemingly  vast  as  Ocean  itself.  The  fort 

with  its  surrounding  clearings  formed  but  a  slight  break  in 

the  sombre  monotony  of  forest  that  hedged  it  in.  Food 

was  sometimes  scarce  and  bad,  and  insanitary  conditions 

caused  heavy  mortality.  While  there  was  no  corruption  on 

the  part  of  contractors  such  as  we  hear  of  on  the  French 

side,  we  get  an  occasional  hint  that  the  shrewd  colonial 
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traders  were  not  too  scrupulous  in  their  methods.  In  this 

isolated  spot  the  life  of  the  soldiers  was  tedious,  and  it  is 

not  to  be  wondered  at  that  some  should  plan  to  desert. 

The  provincial  troops  suffered  especially  from  home-sickness, 
and  a  good  many  of  them  tried  to  run  away.  It  was  not 

easy,  however.  Some  offenders  were  caught  and  brought  to 

trial,  and  the  penalty  of  desertion  was  death.  On  July  29 

we  have  a  grim  order  from  Amherst.  Eleven  men  are  con- 
demned to  be  hanged  for  desertion,  but  one  of  them,  John 

Jones,  is  to  be  pardoned  if  he  will  accept  the  alternative  of 

acting  as  executioner  to  the  other  ten.  These  are  to  prepare 

for  death,  and  when  they  have  gone  through  their  devotions 

one  of  them  is  to  be  hanged.  Amherst's  justice  was  tem- 
pered with  mercy,  for  he  ordered  that,  at  the  moment  when 

the  remaining  nine  thought  themselves  on  the  verge  of  the 

grave,  they  should  be  pardoned,  with  a  stern  warning  never 

to  desert  again.  It  was  a  mode  of  punishment  likely  to  be 

impressive  to  the  lines  of  soldiers  drawn  up  round  a  hollow 

square  to  see  the  majesty  of  the  law  vindicated. 

Perhaps  hardly  less  impressive  was  the  review  of  the 

troops  for  which  Amherst  issued  an  order  on  August  3.  For 

the  complex  manoeuvres  of  a  showy  parade  there  can  have 

been  little  space  on  the  stump-strewn  and  somewhat  hilly 

shore  of  Lake  Ontario.  The  main  thing  was  to  see  that  the 

men  were  well  equipped  for  their  uncertain  tasks  in  descend- 

ing the  river  to  meet  the  foe.  Along  the  shore  of  the  lake 

and  on  the  banks  were  lying  the  hundreds  of  '  batteaus  ' 

and  '  whale-boats  '  necessary  to  carry  ten  thousand  men  on 
the  long  journey  to  Montreal.  The  might  of  Britain  on  the 

sea  was  represented  by  a  fleet  of  two  ships  under  Captain 

Loring,  the  Onondaga  and  the  Mohawk,  three-masted  V^ 
merchant  vessels  of  the  type  known  as  '  snow  '.  They  were 
well  armed.  The  Onondaga  carried  four  nine-pounders, 

fourteen  six-pounders,  and  one  hundred  seamen  ;  the 

Mohawk,  sixteen  six-pounders  and  ninety  seamen.     Some 
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three  weeks  before  Amherst  himself  set  out  from  Oswego, 

he  had  sent  them  to  seek,  and,  if  possible,  to  destroy  two 

French  vessels  which  had  the  hardihood  to  appear  off 

Oswego  on  July  20.  But  for  some  time,  even  with  the  best 

pilots  to  be  procured,  the  vessels  could  not  find  a  channel, 

and  the  delay  was  such  that,  instead  of  going  down  the 

river  before  Amherst,  they  set  out  only  after  he  had  begun 
his  advance. 

Even  by  August  10  all  the  boats  were  not  ready.  Amherst, 

however,  determined  to  start  with  the  regulars  and  the 

artillery,  leaving  General  Gage  to  follow  with  the  colonial 

troops.  On  the  morning  of  the  loth,  therefore,  the  army 

embarked  at  daybreak.  The  route  was  at  first  along  the  shore 

of  the  open  lake.  These  vast  inland  waters  can  be  as  tempes- 
tuous as  the  sea  itself ;  this  day  the  lake  was  in  an  ugly  mood 

and  one  boat  was  lost.  On  the  whole,  however,  all  went  well. 

General  Gage  soon  followed  with  the  colonial  forces,  and  by 

the  I2th  all  were  in  the  comparatively  safe  waters  of  the 

St.  Lawrence  River,  on  that  flowing  tide  which  swept  for 

many  miles  past  forest-clad  banks  and  occasional  clearings 
on  to  Montreal  itself,  the  end  of  the  journey. 

In  all  the  world,  perhaps,  there  is  no  other  river  so  majes- 

tic. It  discharges  the  waters  of  half  a  dozen  mighty  lakes, 

and  its  broad  current  is  in  very  few  places  less  than  a  mile 

wide.  At  its  beginning  it  wanders  through  hundreds  of 

islands,  the  famous  '  Thousand  Islands  ',  at  the  present 
day  dotted  with  summer  residences.  Then  it  plunges  into 

swirling  rapids,  full  of  peril  for  small  boats.  At  the  foot  of 

the  last  of  these,  nearly  two  hundred  miles  from  the  head 

of  the  river,  the  little  town  of  Montreal  had  grown  up. 

The  task  of  Amherst  was  to  take  his  great  force  in  small 

boats  along  those  many  miles  of  river.  He  had  three 
problems  to  solve.  The  first  was  to  overcome  the  French 

force  which  he  should  find  barring  his  way  at  Fort  Levis, 

near  La  Presentation,  now  Ogdensburg,  some  seventy  miles 
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from  the  entrance  of  the  river.  As  his  second  task  he  would 

then  have  to  pass  through  the  rapids,  the  beginning  of  which 

Fort  Levis  guarded.  Last  of  all  he  must  crush  the  French 

army  awaiting  him  at  Montreal.  So  overwhelming  was  his 
force  that  the  military  tasks  were  really  easy.  Yet  there  were 
some  uncertainties.  The  two  armed  French  vessels  were 

hovering  near  Fort  Levis  and  they  might  work  havoc  in  the 
flotilla  of  small  boats  ;  moreover,  the  actual  strength  of  the 

French  force  barring  the  way  was  quite  unknown  to  the 

British,  though  it  could  not  be  formidable. 

Fortune  favoured  Amherst.  Just  at  the  time  when  he  was 

drawing  near  Fort  Levis,  one  of  the  French  vessels  ran  aground 

and  was  so  much  damaged  as  to  be  rendered  useless.  When 

an  Indian  brought  in  this  news  on  the  15th,  Amherst  hurried 

on  with  his  small  boats,  hoping  to  capture  the  other  ship 

while  her  companion  was  disabled.  He  met  her  at  daybreak 

on  the  17th,  trying  to  pass  up  the  river  towards  Oswego. 
The  British  attacked  her  with  five  rowing  galleys  armed  with  ̂  

artillery.  Since  it  was  calm,  the  small  boats  could  move 

freely,  while  the  large  ship  lay  motionless  and  almost  helpless. 

There  was  a  sharp  fight,  but  the  French  ship  soon  gave  in, 
and  she  and  her  hundred  men,  under  an  officer  named  La 

Broquerie,  were  taken  at  slight  cost. 

On  the  same  day  Amherst  occupied  La  Presentation, 

which  had  been  evacuated  and  practically  destroyed  by  the 

French.  It  commanded  not  merely  the  trade  by  the  St.  Law- 
rence from  Montreal,  but  was  also  convenient  of  access 

to  the  very  heart  of  the  colony  of  New  York.  Here  for 

some  ten  years  the  Abbe  Picquet  had  carried  on  a  flourishing 

mission,  chiefly  to  the  Iroquois  Indians.  The  Abbe,  half 

priest,  half  politician,  had  thrown  his  whole  heart  into  the 

work  and  had  dreamed  of  establishing  the  sway  both  of  the 

Church  and  of  France  over  all  the  lands  bordering  on  Lake 

Ontario.  With  a  statesman's  foresight  he  had  chosen  this 
important  strategic  point.     He  had  worked  zealously  among 
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the  Indians,  had  lived  Hke  one  of  themselves,  and  had  led 

hundreds  of  them  to  give  their  adhesion  to  the  Roman 

Catholic  faith.  He  had  not  changed  their  mode  of  warfare. 
The  British  found  in  the  Indian  habitations  at  La  Presenta- 

tion many  human  scalps.  This  sight  especially  incensed 

the  Mohawk  allies,  and  they  burned  the  chapel.  The  Indians 

at  La  Presentation  showed  a  disposition  to  make  terms  with 

Amherst,  and  the  Abbe  Picquet's  dreams  for  their  future  were 
doomed  to  complete  failure  by  the  British  occupation.  La 

Presentation  has  now  become  prosaic  Ogdensburg,  a  thriving 

American  town,  with  scarcely  a  memory  of  the  days  when 
it  was  a  cherished  outpost  of  France  in  North  America. 

Five  miles  down  the  river  from  La  Presentation  lay  Fort 

Levis.  Here,  during  the  previous  winter,  the  French 

engineer,  Desandroiiins,  amidst  manifold  discouragements 

that  nearly  drove  him  out  of  his  mind,  had  toiled  to  make 

a  strong  post.  In  the  end  he  had  asked  for  work  elsewhere. 

Then  hither  to  take  command  had  come  in  March  Pouchot, 

who  had  held  Niagara  until  it  fell  to  the  British.  We  have 

the  story  of  his  hardships  told  by  himself.  He  had  left 

Montreal  on  March  17  to  go  to  Fort  Levis.  In  the  earlier 

campaign  he  had  lost  his  personal  equipage  at  Niagara  and 
now  was  without  the  common  necessaries.  Yet,  as  he 

declares,  when  he  was  about  to  set  out  on  the  ice  to  go  to 

his  post,  the  Intendant  Bigot  refused  to  supply  him  with 

even  the  blanket  that  he  asked  for.  Obviously  he  was 

not  in  the  ring  that  was  working  with  Bigot,  and  all  that  he 

obtained  from  the  King's  supplies  for  his  own  needs  was 
a  keg  of  wine.  Nevertheless  he  was  now  resolved  to  make 

a  stern  fight.  Levis  had  indeed  a  dim  hope  that  Pouchot 

could  so  delay  Amherst  as  to  permit  the  main  French  army 

to  defeat  Haviland  and  Murray  in  turn  before  Amherst 
arrived. 

To  leave  Pouchot  serenely  alone  in  his  little  island  fort 

would  have  been  wise  policy  for  Amherst.     Murray  had 
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left  untouched  the  French  at  Jacques  Cartier  and  at  Three 
Rivers,  when  he  ascended  to  Montreal.  Amherst  could 

pass  down  the  river  by  the  north  and  south  channels 
unharmed  from  the  guns  of  the  fort,  leaving  Pouchot  to 
bombard  the  air  if  he  liked.  But  Amherst  would  leave  no 

unconquered  foe  in  his  rear.  Accordingly,  on  the  i8th,  when 

Murray  and  Haviland,  already  near  Montreal,  were  chafing 

at  the  delay  of  their  chief,  he  made  elaborate  plans  for 

assaulting  Fort  Levis.  The  captured  French  vessel  anchored 

within  range  of  the  fort.  One  British  column  rowed  down 

past  it  on  the  north  side  and  another  on  the  south  side.  On 

the  first  day  Pouchot  found  himself  completely  invested. 

On  the  second  day  Amherst  made  preparations  for  attack  as 

elaborate  as  if  he  had  been  besieging  a  vital  stronghold. 

He  began  to  construct  land  batteries  on  points  commanding 

the  fort.  His  two  vessels,  which  had  been  delayed  at 

Oswego,  now  appeared  at  last,  and  he  had  three  ships  at 

anchor  at  advantageous  points.  He  spent  day  after  day  in 

these  tasks,  and  not  until  August  23  was  he  ready  to  open  fire 
from  all  his  batteries  and  to  close  in  on  the  fort  with  his 

vessels.  Even  on  that  day  he  did  nothing  decisive,  for 

'  the  going  down  of  the  Vessells  to  the  Fort  ',  he  wrote  to 

Pitt,  '  was  not  effected  in  the  Manner  I  could  wish,  and 

I  determined  not  to  pursue  my  Plan  that  day  '}  For 
another  and  still  another  day  he  continued  his  bombardment, 

gradually  dismounting  the  French  guns  with  his  fire,  until 

at  last,  on  the  25th,  Pouchot,  caught  like  a  rat  in  a  trap, 
surrendered  at  discretion  with  his  three  hundred  men.  He 

had  made  a  brave  fight  and  had  inflicted  some  loss  on  his 

assailants.  Even  after  the  surrender,  Amherst  still  lingered 

at  the  fort  which  he  now  renamed  Fort  William  Henry. 
On  the  26th  he  took  time  to  write  an  elaborate  letter  to  Pitt 

describing  what  he  had  done  and  enclosing  lists  of  every- 
thing found  in  the  captured  stronghold.     Then  he  busied 

'  Amherst  to  Pitt,  Aug.  26,  1760. 
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himself  in  making  repairs  to  the  fort  and  to  his  boats.  Not 

until  the  31st  was  he  ready  again  to  set  out.  An  army  of 

ten  thousand  men  had  been  kept  occupied  for  two  weeks  in 

reducing  a  fort  containing  three  hundred. 

Amherst  sent  to  New  York  the  prisoners  taken  at  Fort 

Levis,  and  retained  only  the  pilots,  who  would  be  of  service 

in  meeting  the  dangers  of  the  river.  With  justice,  as  the 

event  proved,  he  dreaded  the  descent  of  the  rapids.  He 

questioned  the  captive  Pouchot  anxiously  about  the  perils, 

and  we  may  be  sure  learned  nothing  from  that  astute  officer 

which  would  be  very  reassuring.  On  the  morning  of  August 

31  the  army  was  once  more  afloat.  That  day  they  rowed 

twenty  miles  and  passed  through  two  rapids  which  Amherst 

thought  '  more  frightful  than  dangerous  '.  The  next  day 
he  was  not  so  fortunate.  As  his  boats  neared  the  Long  Sault 

Rapids,  a  little  above  the  present  Canadian  town  of  Corn- 
wall, he  put  ashore  covering  parties  to  save  his  force  from 

possible  ambush  by  the  enemy.  The  boats  passed  down 

the  rapids  in  single  file,  and  the  experience  was  exciting 

enough.  The  rapids  were  full  of  choppy  waves  which 

curled  over  the  edge  of  the  boats.  These  took  in  water 

so  freely  that  some  of  them  were  swamped,  and  a  corporal 

and  three  men  of  the  Royal  Highlanders  were  drowned. 

The  next  day,  September  2,  the  army  rowed  the  twenty- 
four  miles  across  Lake  St.  Francis,  an  expansion  of  the 

St.  Lawrence.  That  night  there  was  a  great  storm,  and  on  the 

next  day  the  weather  was  so  bad  that  the  army  remained 

in  camp.  Montreal  was  now  not  far  off.  In  it  the  French 

army  was  concentrated,  and  Murray  and  Haviland  were 

advancing  rapidly  to  meet  their  leader  before  its  walls. 

The  4th  of  September  was  fine  and  well  fitted  for  the  most 

ticklish  part  of  Amherst's  task,  the  passing  of  the  series  of 
rapids  which  include  the  Cedars  and  the  Cascades.  Disaster 

awaited  him.  He  had  the  pilots  from  Fort  Levis  ;  he  had 

also  some  Indians  expert  in  river  navigation.     But  these 
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pilots  were  not  sufficient  in  number  for  the  hundreds  of 

boats.  None  of  them  spoke  Enghsh,  and  the  British  steers- 
men hardly  understood  perhaps  the  directions  given  to 

them  in  a  strange  tongue.  At  any  rate  the  boats  did  not 

keep  at  a  proper  distance  from  each  other.  Some  of  the 

men  at  the  helm  lost  control,  and  the  tossing  boisterous 

waves  wrought  havoc  with  their  prey.  When  night  fell  the 

whole  force  had  not  yet  passed  down,  but  already  sixty-four 
boats  had  been  dashed  to  pieces,  among  them  seventeen 

laden  with  artillery,  and  no  less  than  eighty-four  men  had 
been  drowned.  The  long  row  of  dead  men  seemed  a  dire 

penalty  to  pay  for  lack  of  skill  in  meeting  the  dangers  of  the 

river.  The  next  day,  when  greater  care  was  shown,  the 

remainder  of  the  army  passed  down  with  ease. 

The  army  was  now  encamped  on  Isle  Perrot,  and  Amherst 

waited  the  whole  of  the  5th  to  repair  his  boats.  Looking 
across  Lake  St.  Louis,  the  British  could  see  the  houses  of 

Lachine,  and  Montreal  itself  was  now  not  twenty  miles 

distant.  Isle  Perrot  was  well  peopled,  but  the  inhabitants 
had  run  off  into  the  woods  and  abandoned  their  houses. 

Some  of  the  men  who  lived  on  the  island  had  served  with  the 

French  forces  up  the  river  and  they  were  now  in  great  fear 

of  retribution  from  Amherst  and  his  savage  allies.  But  he 

treated  kindly  those  who  were  captured  or  came  in,  and 

restored  them  to  their  houses,  when  once  they  had  taken 

the  oath  of  fidelity  to  King  George.  '  They  seemed  as 
much  surprised  with  their  treatment  as  they  were  happy 

with  it,'  says  Amherst.  They  had,  indeed,  been  told  by 
Vaudreuil  that  they  could  hope  for  no  mercy  from  the  cruel 

and  pitiless  English. 

Soon  after  daybreak  on  the  morning  of  the  6th  the  army 

was  again  afloat  for  the  last  stage  of  the  advance  on  Mon- 
treal. There  still  remained  the  terrific  Lachine  Rapids  before 

Montreal  could  be  reached  by  water.  These  were,  however, 

impassable   for   '  batteaus  '  and  whale-boats  ;     accordingly 
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Amherst  landed  at  Lacliine  and  marched  overland  the 

short  distance  from  that  point  to  Montreal.  Though  some 

mounted  French  volunteers  had  followed  him  along-shore, 
when  he  started  from  Isle  Perrot,  they  made  no  attempt  to 

oppose  his  landing.  In  fact  he  was  soon  pursuing  them. 

At  three  o'clock  on  the  afternoon  of  the  6th  the  head  of  his 
column  appeared  before  the  feeble  walls  of  Montreal.  That 

night  the  British  army  encamped  on  the  open  plain  before 

the  town,  and  the  general  was  busy  bringing  up  his  artillery 

with  a  view  to  a  speedy  bombardment.  A  powerful  British 

fleet  lay  in  the  river  near  by.  The  sight  of  a  man-of-war  with 

fifty  guns  was  one  of  the  sensations  of  the  day  at  Montreal ; 

nothing  of  the  kind  had  ever  been  seen  there  before.  Had 

it  alone  opened  fire  it  could  soon  have  ruined  the  town. 

Resistance  to  the  British  forces  was  hopeless.  On  the 

7th  Haviland  arrived  at  Longueuil  on  the  south  shore  of  the 

river,  and  the  French  officer  Malartic  looking  across  from 

Montreal  saw  numbers  of  the  inhabitants  hurrying  to  that 

village  in  order  to  take  the  oath  of  fidelity  required  by  the 

British  as  the  condition  of  leaving  the  people  undisturbed 

in  their  homes.  From  the  east,  too,  the  British  were  closing 

in.  Murray  landed  his  forces  on  the  island  of  Montreal,  also 

on  the  7th,  and  began  his  march  upon  the  town.  The 

country  people  seemed  delighted  to  welcome  him.  Crowds 

of  Canadians  flocked  to  the  British  camp,  and  they  brought 

horses  and  saddles  for  the  officers,  horses  for  the  artillery, 

and  carts  for  the  luggage.  As  the  army  marched  towards 

the  town,  the  people  lined  the  road,  offering  pails  of  milk 

and  of  water  to  the  soldiers  and  expressing  courteous  regrets 

that  they  had  no  better  liquor  for  the  officers.  The  priest 

and  nuns  of  a  convent  which  the  troops  passed  stood  at  their 

door  and  told  the  British  that  they  were  welcome.  Progress 

was  slow,  for  in  the  previous  night  the  last  of  the  French 

battalions  had  retired  into  Montreal,  destroying  the  bridges 

behind  them.     The  delay  was  such  that  before  Murray's 
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column  could   appear  in   front   of  the  walls   of  Montreal 

Amherst  was  already  treating  for  its  surrender. 

As  Murray  approached,  Vaudreuil  had  tried  a  little  ruse. 

Suspecting  that  Amherst  was  of  sterner  stuff  than  Murray, 

and  knowing  Murray's  love  of  glory,  the  Governor  had 
sounded  him  as  to  the  terms  of  surrender  which  he  would 

give,  and  thus  become  the  conqueror  of  Canada.  Murray, 
however,  answered  that,  since  Amherst  was  so  near,  it  was 

with  him  that  Vaudreuil  must  treat.  Each  side  had  seen 

the  inevitable  and  understood  pretty  well  what  terms  were 

possible.  On  the  night  of  the  6th-7th  Vaudreuil  summoned 

the  principal  French  officers  to  attend  a  meeting  at  his  quar- 
ters in  Montreal.  With  British  columns  in  sight,  the  tap 

of  the  British  drum  in  their  ears,  and  the  roar  of  British 

cannon  likely  to  begin  at  any  time,  the  business  was  urgent 

indeed.  The  Intendant,  Bigot,  read  a  memorandum  out- 
lining the  condition  of  affairs  in  the  colony.  The  inhabitants 

of  Montreal,  fearful  of  massacre  if  taken  fighting,  now  ^ 

refused  to  arm,  and  under  cover  of  night  they  had  already 

begun  to  cart  away  their  effects  by  wagon-loads.  The 
Indians  were  joining  the  English  ;  the  Canadians  had 

deserted  entirely  ;  so  also  had  many  of  the  French  regular 

troops  ;  and  those  now  in  the  ranks  numbered  only  about 

2,400.  The  situation  was  desperate.  Bombardment  might 

reduce  Montreal  to  ashes  in  a  single  night.  For  its  defence 

Levis  had  only  six  pieces  of  artillery.  Food  and  ammunition 

were  scarce.  The  disparity  in  numbers,  too,  was  over- 
whelming. Vaudreuil  believed,  or,  at  least,  said,  that  there 

were  thirty  thousand  of  the  enemy  to  face. 

In  such  a  situation  Vaudreuil  urged  that  capitulation  was 

necessary.  To  this  the  military  officers  agreed,  if  honourable 

terms  could  be  secured,  and  Colonel  de  Bougainville  was 

named  to  go  early  in  the  morning  of  the  7th  to  Amherst,  to 

propose  a  suspension  of  arms  until  October  i  ;  capitulation 

was  to  follow  at  that  date  should  news  of  peace  not  arrive  in 
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the  meantime.  If  Amherst  would  not  grant  this,  terms  of 

surrender  were  to  be  proposed.  Amherst  writes  that  on 

the  7th  '  in  the  morning  two  Officers  came  to  an  advanced 
Post  with  a  Letter  from  the  Marquis  de  Vaudreuil,  referring 

me  to  what  one  of  them,  Le  Colonel  Bougainville,  had  to 

say.  The  conversation  ended  with  a  Cessation  of  Arms 

'till  twelve  o'clock,  at  which  time  the  Proposals  came.'  ̂  
Amherst  would  not  listen  to  the  French  plan  to  suspend 

arms  until  October  1,  but  he  was  ready  to  discuss  terms  of 

surrender.  These  Vaudreuil  had  long  meditated  upon,  and 

he  now  had  ready  an  elaborate  paper  guarding  carefully  the 

civil  and  religious  interests  of  the  Canadians  and  also  pro- 
viding that  the  French  army  should  be  accorded  the  honours 

of  war. 

Political  and  religious  questions  Amherst  was  prepared 

to  treat  in  a  generous  spirit.  He  did  not  forget  that  already 

Canada  was  practically  British  territory.  Of  course  Vau- 
dreuil asked  for  more  than  he  expected  to  receive.  Amherst 

would  not  promise  that  the  Canadians  should  always  be 

governed  under  French  law  and  that  they  should  pay  no 

new  taxes.  Vaudreuil's  demand  that  the  vanquished  people 
should  remain  strictly  neutral  in  any  war  between  Great 

Britain  and  France  Amherst  brushed  aside  with  the  com- 

ment that  they  must  become  the  subjects  of  the  British 

King.  He  refused,  too,  the  absurd  demand  that,  even 

should  Canada  remain  British,  the  King  of  France  should 

have  the  perpetual  right  to  name  the  Bishop  of  Quebec. 

He  would  not  agree  that  the  Church  should  retain  its  right 

to  levy  the  tithe,  but  the  right  was  afterwards  yielded  by 

the  British  Parliament.  Though  he  gave  the  communities 

of  nuns  special  protection,  he  would  not  promise  to  the 

Jesuits,  Recollets,  and  Sulpitians,  the  three  orders  of  priests 

working  in  Canada,  anything  in  regard  to  their  privileges. 

They  must  await  the  pleasure  of  the  King.     Their,  and  all 

^  Amherst  to  Pitt,  September  8,  1760. 
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other  rights  of  property  were,  however,  to  be  respected. 

The  new  subjects  were  to  enjoy  equal  privileges  with  the 

incoming  British  in  respect  to  commerce.  They  were  to  be 
free  to  remain  in  Canada  or  to  withdraw,  and  if  they  chose 

to  withdraw  some  were  to  be  helped  to  go  to  France.  They 

were  to  enjoy  full  liberty  for  their  Roman  Catholic  faith. 
Vaudreuil  had  said  that  if  the  British  were  successful  the 

Canadians  would  be  deported  from  their  homes.  This 

poignant  fear  Amherst  removed  ;  they  were  never  to  suffer 

the  fate  of  the  Acadians  and  to  be  carried  away,  against  their 

will,  to  the  British  colonies  or  to  England.  The  Chevalier 

Johnstone,  lighting  on  the  French  side,  says  that  the  terms 

granted  by  Amherst  were  '  infinitely  more  favourable  than 

could  be  expected  in  our  circumstances  '. 
Amherst  was  resolved,  however,  that  the  French  army 

should  make  one  great  expiation.  It  was  the  general  belief 

in  the  British  army  that  the  French  had  allowed,  and  even 

encouraged,  outrages  by  their  Indians.  After  Braddock's 
defeat  in  1755  the  French  had  joined  the  Indians  in  scalping 

the  fallen  British.  After  Montcalm's  victory  at  Fort 
William  Henry,  in  1757,  scores  of  disarmed  British  prisoners 

had  been  massacred  by  the  savages,  and  some  of  the  French 

officers  had  been  slack  in  their  efforts  to  prevent  the  atroci- 
ties. A  few  days  later  some  British  prisoners  had  been 

brought  by  Indians  to  Montreal,  and  there,  as  Bougainville 

says, '  at  two  o'clock  in  the  afternoon  in  presence  of  the  whole 

town,'  one  of  them  had  been  boiled  and  eaten  by  the 
savages,  and  his  fellow  Englishmen  had  been  obliged  to 

partake  of  the  horrid  feast.^  While  high-minded  French 
officers  like  Montcalm  and  Bougainville  bitterly  denounced 

the  Indian  practice  of  scalping,  Vaudreuil,  no  doubt  because 

he  was  a  Canadian  long  familiar  with  savage  warfare,  was, 

as  we  have  seen,  not  greatly  shocked  at  it,  and  he  constantly 

reported  to  the  French  court  the  number  of  scalps  taken  in 
^  Kerallain,  p.  83. 

1641  p 
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the  border  struggles.  Levis,  too,  had  been  weak  in  checking 
the  Indians. 

There  is  no  doubt  that  on  the  British  side,  too,  guerrilla 
captains  like  Rogers  had  waged  war  exactly  as  their  Indian 
foes  waged  it.  Even  Wolfe  had  permitted  scalping  when 
the  enemy  were  Indians  or  Canadians  dressed  like  Indians. 
But,  in  the  regular  operations  of  war,  the  British  had  held 
the  Indians  sternly  in  check.  Amherst  disliked  them  and 

punished  them  with  something  like  avidity.  At  Montreal, 
when  he  caught  an  Indian  in  the  act  of  stealing,  he  promptly 

hanged  him.  Amherst  wrote  to  Pitt  that  '  not  a  Peasant, 
Woman  or  child  has  been  hurt  by  them  [the  Indians]  or 

a  house  burnt,  since  I  entered  what  was  the  Enemy's 
Country  '.  The  Indians  were  not  allowed  to  commit  '  one 

Single  act  of  Savage  barbarity  ',  writes  a  non-commissioned 
officer  triumphantly.^ 

Nothing  more  astonished  the  Canadians  who  saw  Amherst's 
army  at  Montreal  than  his  strict  control  of  the  Indians. 
Far  other  was  the  tale  on  the  French  side.  Vaudreuil  had 

been,  in  truth,  afraid  of  his  own  Indians,  and  he  still  showed 
fear  of  the  race.  Among  the  most  insistent  terms  which  he 

now  drew  up  were  those  by  which  the  British  were  to  guaran- 
tee protection  to  the  French  from  the  cruelties  and  insults 

of  the  savages.  In  regard  to  this  Amherst  wrote  on  the 

margin  of  the  proposals  :  '  There  never  have  been  any 
cruelties  committed  by  the  Indians  of  our  army  and  good 
order  shall  be  preserved.  .  .  .  Care  shall  be  taken  that  the 

Indians  do  not  insult  any  of  the  subjects  of  his  most  Christian 

majesty.'  -  Resolute  himself  against  savage  barbarities, 
Amherst  was  now  resolved  to  punish  the  French  for  their 
slackness.  He  would  not  yield  the  honours  of  war  to  the 
defeated  army.  They  must  simply  surrender  and  must  not 
serve  again  during  the  war. 

1  Amherst  to  Pitt,  September  8,  1760;  Quartermaster-Sergeant  John- 
son, in  Doughty,  v.  158.  "  Articles  9  and  51  of  the  Capitulation. 
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These  terms  were  hard  indeed.  It  was  the  custom  of  the 

time  to  grant  honours  of  war  to  a  garrison  which  surrendered 

before  an  assault  was  made.  Moreover,  the  provision  that 

the  French  officers  and  men  should  not  serve  again  during 

the  war  might  mean  that  for  years  they  should  have  no 

military  employment.  The  French  protested  vigorously. 

When  Vaudreuil  received  Amherst's  terms,  he  sent  Bougain- 
ville back  to  ask  for  some  mitigation.  Levis  declared  that 

the  terms  were  intolerable,  and  he  too  sent  Colonel  de  la  Pause 

to  make  representations  to  Amherst.  But,  though  La  Pause 

was  a  man  of  rank  and  reputation,  Amherst  would 

not  listen  to  his  attempt  to  justify  the  protest  of  Levis. 

He  sternly  ordered  him  to  be  silent  and  declared  that 

*  he  was  fully  resolved,  for  the  infamous  part  the  troops  of 
France  had  acted  in  exciting  the  savages  to  perpetrate 
the  most  horrid  and  unheard  of  barbarities  in  the  whole 

progress  of  the  war,  and  for  other  open  treacheries,  as  well 

as  flagrant  breaches  of  faith,  to  manifest  to  all  the  world, 

by  this  capitulation,  his  detestation  of  such  ungenerous 

practices,  and  disapprobation  of  their  conduct.'  ̂   '  I  cannot 
alter,  in  the  least,  the  conditions  which  I  have  offered  to  the 

Marquis  de  Vaudreuil,'  he  wrote  in  reply  to  Levis,  '  and 

I  expect  his  definite  answer  by  the  bearer  on  his  return.' 

That  night  at  7  o'clock  the  officers  of  the  French  army 
again  held  a  council  of  war.  There  was  clamorous  indignation 

at  Amherst's  stern  terms.  They  involved  for  these  unfor- 
tunate men  not  merely  military  disgrace  but  also  something 

like  starvation,  for  if  they  could  get  no  employment  they 

were  likely  to  become  idle  pensioners  when  they  returned 

to  France.  In  the  night  La  Pause  was  sent  back  to  ask 

that  at  least  the  prohibition  to  serve  might  apply  only  to 

America.  But  Amherst  would  not  yield  one  jot.  On  the 

receipt  of  the  last  peremptory  message  from  Amherst,  the 
officers   demanded   that    Vaudreuil   should   break   off   the 

'  Knox,  ii.  408. 
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negotiations.  It  was  unheard  of,  they  said,  that  an  army 

should  make  such  terms  before  the  place  it  was  defending 

had  been  assaulted ;  they  should  either  march  out  against  the 

British  as  Murray  had  done  at  Ste  Foy,  or  they  should  await 
an  assault  on  Montreal  and  fight  to  the  last.  If  either  of  these 

courses  should  prove  to  be  impossible  the  officers  asked 

permission  to  withdraw  to  St.  Helen's  Island,  in  the  river 
near  Montreal,  there  to  fight  until  at  least  honourable  terms 

could  be  secured.  '  We  have  still  enough  ammunition  to 
fight  if  the  enemy  wishes  to  attack  us  sword  in  hand,'  Levis 
wrote  to  Vaudreuil. 

It  is  not  easy  to  estimate  the  sincerity  of  these  protests. 

The  British  men-of-war  could  easily  have  destroyed  the 

defences  of  St.  Helen's  Island,  as  the  French  officers  must 
have  well  understood.  Levis  and  others  were  thinking  of 

their  future  military  careers  and  probably  hoped  that  this 

brave  talk  would  soften  the  disgrace  of  a  humiliating  sur- 

render. But  Vaudreuil  had  no  military  glory  in  view,  and 

he  had  to  listen  to  other  clamour  besides  that  of  the  military. 

The  multitude  of  refugees  in  Montreal  flocked  to  implore 

him  to  save  them  and  their  goods  by  quick  surrender  to 

the  British.  These,  and  these  only,  would  be  strong  enough 

to  check  the  danger  of  outrage  from  the  savages  whom  the 

weak  French  army  could  not  now  control.^  Vaudreuil 

admitted  the  inevitable.  Amherst's  terms  must,  he  said, 
be  accepted  ;  this  was  a  duty  he  owed  to  the  ruined  colony. 

The  British  general  had  named  six  o'clock  on  the  morning 
of  the  8th  as  the  time  for  the  final  answer,  and  soon  after 

that  hour  he  received  a  letter  from  Vaudreuil  complying 

with  his  stern  demands.  New  France  had  at  last  fallen,  and  y 
Britain  had  won  half  a  continent. 

Amherst  sat  up  late  on  the  night  of  the  surrender.     Major 

Barre  was  to  leave  at  once  for  England  with  dispatches,  and 

^  Letter  of  M.  Bernier,  Commissaire   des   Guerres,  to  M.  de   Crenille, 
Lieut.-Gen.,  September  12,  1760  ;   quoted  in  Malartic,  note,  p.  348. 
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there  was  much  to  report.  To  his  friend,  Major-General 
Joseph  Yorke,  Amherst  wrote,  in  spite  of  weariness,  a  brief 
account  of  his  work  : 

'  I  have  as  much  pleasure  in  telHng  you  Canada  belongs 
to  the  King  as  I  had  in  receiving  the  capitulation  of  it  this 
day,  from  the  satisfaction  I  know  it  will  give  you.  The  French 
troops  all  lay  down  their  arms,  and  are  not  to  serve  during 
the  war  ;  their  behaviour  in  carrying  on  a  cruel  and  barba- 

rous war  in  this  country,  I  thought  deserved  this  disgrace. 
I  have  suffered  by  the  Rapides  not  by  the  enemy.  I  entered 
the  inhabited  country  with  all  the  savages  and  I  have  not 
hurt  the  head  of  a  peasant,  his  wife  or  his  child,  not  a 
house  burnt,  or  a  disorder  committed  ;  the  country  people 

amazed ;  won't  believe  what  they  see  ;  the  notions  they had  of  our  cruelties  from  the  exercise  of  their  own 
savages,  drove  them  into  the  woods;  I  have  fetched  them 
out  and  put  them  quiet  in  their  habitations,  and  they  are 

vastly  happy.  I  can't  tell  you  how  much  I  am  obliged  to 
you  for  your  good  letter  to  me ;  but  tho'  'tis  three  in  the 
morning  of  the  9th,  [and]  I  have  not  slept  these  two  nights 
past,  I  would  not  let  Major  Barre  go  away  with  my  dispatches 

without  telling  this  news  to  you.'  ̂  
To  assert  possession  of  Montreal  on  behalf  of  the  British 

army,  Amherst  promptly  sent  Colonel  Haldimand,  a  Swiss 

by  birth,  an  officer  who  knew  the  French  language  thoroughly 
and  who  afterwards  was  Governor  of  Canada,  to  hold  one 

of  the  gates  of  the  town  and  to  repress  any  beginnings  of 

disorder.  Amherst  promptly  issued  to  his  troops  an  order 
in  which  he  said  : 

'  The  Marquis  of  Vaudreuil  has  capitulated  ;  the  troops  of 
France,  in  Canada,  have  laid  down  their  arms  ;  they  are 
not  free  to  serve  during  this  war  ;  and  the  whole  country  has 
submitted  to  the  dominion  of  Great  Britain.  The  three 

armies  are  all  entitled  to  the  General's  thanks  on  this  occa- 
sion, and  he  assures  them  he  will  take  the  first  opportunity 

of  acquainting  his  Majesty  with  the  zeal  and  bravery  which 
has  \sic\  always  been  exerted  by  the  Officers  and  soldiers  of 
the  regular  and  provincial  troops,  and  also  by  his  faithful 

Indian  allies.' 

*  Yorke,  Life  of  Lord  Chancellor  Hardwicke,  iii.  247. 
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He  added  a  note  of  warning  as  to  the  lawlessness  and  outrage 

likely  to  occur  at  such  a  time  : 

'  The  General  is  confident  that,  when  the  troops  are  in- 
formed this  country  is  the  King's,  they  will  not  disgrace 

themselves  by  the  least  appearance  of  inhumanity,  or  by 
any  unsoldierlike  behaviour  of  seeking  for  plunder  ;  but 
that,  as  the  Canadians  are  now  become  British  subjects, 

they  may  feel  the  good  effect  of  his  Majesty's  protection.' 
Amherst  meant  this  last  injunction  to  be  taken  seriously. 

A  British  soldier  caught  in  the  act  of  pillage  was  promptly 

hanged. 

On  the  day  after  the  surrender  the  inhabitants  of  Montreal 

saw  a  memorable  illustration  of  the  fortunes  of  war.  One  by 

one  the  French  battalions  marched  to  the  Place  d'Armes  and 
there  surrendered  to  the  custody  of  the  British  the  weapons 

used  in  the  long  struggle.  One  set  of  trophies  Levis  was 
resolved  that  the  victor  should  not  have,  and,  on  the  8th, 

when  he  saw  that  Amherst  intended  to  compel  a  humiliating 

surrender,  he  ordered  the  colours  of  the  French  regiments 

to  be  burned.  Amherst,  writing  to  Pitt  on  September  8, 

had  promised  to  send  him  soon  the  French  colours  as 

glorious  trophies.  Perhaps  he  did  not  realize  that  it  is 

one  of  the  strongest  traditions  of  the  French  army  that  flags 

must  not  be  given  up  to  the  enemy.  As  recently  as  in 

France's  last  great  war,  that  with  Germany  in  1870,  one  of 
the  most  indignant  charges  against  Bazaine,  who  surrendered 

at  Metz,  is  that  he  did  not  burn  his  flags  rather  than  let 
them  fall  into  the  hands  of  the  victors.  When  Amherst 

demanded  the  French  flags,  both  Vaudreuil  and  Levis 

declared  that,  owing  to  the  difficulties  of  a  country  where 
there  was  so  much  forest,  the  colours  had  become  useless 

and  had  been  destroyed.  Amherst  insisted  that  the  two 

leaders  should  give  him  their  word  of  honour  that  this  was  the 

case,  and  they  promptly  did  so.  It  was,  of  course,  true  that 

the  colours  had  been  destroyed,  but  the  French  leaders  were 

certainly  not  frank  in  their  reply  to  Amherst. 
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It  may  be  doubted  whether  the  French  officers  resented 

more  the  sternness  of  Amherst  or  what  they  considered  the 

too-ready  acquiescence  of  Vaudreuil  in  the  British  demands. 
Yet  he  had  acted  wisely.  By  surrendering  before  an  assault 

was  made  on  Montreal,  he  had  procured  favourable  terms 

for  the  Canadians,  whose  desolate  country,  after  further 

resistance  was  hopeless,  assuredly  deserved  some  considera- 
tion. They  might  return  to  their  homes  without  penalty, 

and  they  were  now  certain  of  protection  to  their  property 

and  of  the  free  exercise  of  their  religion.  But,  because 

Vaudreuil  was  himself  a  Canadian,  he  was  suspected  by  the 

French  officers  of  sacrificing  the  interests  of  the  army  to 

those  of  his  own  people.  When,  on  the  day  after  the  surren- 
der, he  gave  a  dinner  to  Amherst,  not  a  French  officer  would 

accept  his  hospitality.  Nor  would  they  accept  courtesies 

from  Amherst  himself.  Relations  between  old  acquaintances 

were  strained.  At  Quebec  Malartic  had  seen  much  of 

Murray,  but  now  he  could  accept  Murray's  hospitality  only 
after  securing  special  permission.  Murray,  he  says,  over- 

whelmed him  with  compliments  on  the  resourcefulness  of 

his  countrymen  ;  the  French,  Murray  said,  had  covered 

themselves  with  glory  in  defending  through  six  campaigns 

what  the  British  ought  to  have  taken  in  one. 

When,  on  September  9,  Levis  reviewed  his  little  army  for 

the  last  time,  there  were  present  1,953  soldiers  and  179 

officers  ;  in  the  hospitals  there  were  besides  241  sick  and 

wounded.  No  less  than  927  were  absent  from  their  regi- 
ments. Some,  indeed,  were  absent  on  service,  but  548  had 

deserted  or  disappeared.  It  was  a  somewhat  pitiable 

showing.  At  Jacques  Cartier  and  Three  Rivers  there  were 

still  small  garrisons,  and  a  handful  of  French  soldiers  re- 
mained at  Detroit  and  Michillimackinac,  distant  posts  in 

the  interior.  All  who  surrendered  were  to  be  sent  home 

at  once.  The  married  officers  and  private  soldiers  were  to 
have   accommodation    for  their   wives    and    families.      In 
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addition  to  the  military,  a  few  civilians,  chiefly  the  officials 

of  the  French  government  in  Canada,  had  the  right  of  carriage 

to  France.  These  French  subjects  were  not  numerous,  and 

allowing  for  women,  children,  and  servants,  probably  four 
thousand  would  be  a  liberal  estimate  of  the  number  now  to 

be  embarked  in  Canada  for  their  return  home. 

It  was  not  unnatural  that  the  defeated  army  should  desire 

to  get  away  as  quickly  as  possible.  In  the  terms  of  capitula- 
tion, Vaudreuil  had  stipulated  that  his  whole  force  should  be 

embarked  for  France  within  fifteen  days.  Though  this  was 

a  heavy  undertaking  it  was  possible  to  carry  it  out.  More 

than  fifty  transports  had  come  up  the  river  with  Murray's 
forces  and  were  now  available  for  this  new  task.  Moreover, 

there  were  other  transports  at  Quebec.  The  days  following 

the  capitulation  saw  busy  scenes.  The  British  had  wished 

to  send  some  of  the  French  regiments  to  New  York,  there  to 
be  embarked.  To  this,  however,  Levis  would  not  assent,  for 

he  was  sure  that  on  the  journey  to  that  distant  port  many 
of  his  soldiers  would  desert  and  be  lost  to  France.  He  now 

kept  his  disarmed  battalions  in  their  own  quarters  and  drew 

up  elaborate  regulations  for  their  governance  during  the 

voyage.  The  troops  embarked  at  Montreal  were  not  to  be 

allowed  to  go  ashore  at  Quebec  except  under  the  strictest 

regulations.  Levis  prescribed  the  measures  to  be  taken  on 

board  for  preserving  both  health  and  discipline  ;  and  he 

counselled  officers  and  men  to  study  great  reserve  in  their 

communications  with  the  British  who  were  to  carry  the 

army  back  to  France.  He  promised,  and  he  kept  his  word, 

that  he  would  spare  no  labour,  on  his  return  to  France,  to 

secure  for  these  brave  and  unfortunate  men  the  payment  of 

the  drafts  on  France  which  represented  their  hard-earned 
wages  during  the  many  months  of  war. 

Vaudreuil  had  stipulated  that,  until  he  embarked,  he 

should  continue  to  occupy  unmolested  his  own  excellent 

house  in  Montreal,  the  property  of  his  family.     He  also 
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arranged  that  the  most  comfortable  ship  available  should 

be  provided  for  himself,  his  wife,  servants,  and  suite,  and 

he  and  Bigot  took  special  care  that  they  should  be  allowed 

to  carry  away  their  papers  without  examination  by  the 

British.  Two  ships  were  to  be  provided  for  Levis,  his  chief 

officers,  and  their  suites  ;  and  they  too  were  to  carry  away 

their  papers  without  examination.^  It  was  also  provided 
that  Bigot,  the  Intendant,  should  have  a  ship  for  himself 

and  his  suite.  It  is  perhaps  significant  of  the  quantity  of 

luggage  and  of  papers  which  Vaudreuil  and  Bigot  were 

taking  away  that  three  flat-bottomed  boats  were  placed  at 
the  disposal  of  each  of  them  for  conveying  their  effects  to  the 

waiting  ships.  A  similar  courtesy  was  denied  to  Levis  and 

his  staff  until  they  explained  satisfactorily  the  disappearance 

of  the  colours.  Amherst  had  heard  gossip  that  the  flags  were 

still  in  existence,  and  he  threatened  to  search  all  the  baggage 

before  it  was  embarked  if  they  were  not  produced.  As  we 

have  seen,  however,  the  colours  had  really  been  destroyed. 

After  three  or  four  days  spent  in  the  preparation  of  the 

ships,  the  work  of  embarkation  began  on  September  14.  We 

can  picture  the  water-front  of  the  little  frontier  town  alive 
with  the  movement  now  going  on  ;  the  troops  of  France  in 

their  worn  and  faded  uniforms  marching  to  the  points 

assigned  to  them  to  enter  the  boats  ;  the  many  spectators,  in 

the  idle  days  of  transition,  eagerly  watching  the  dejection 

and  the  exultation  that  the  events  of  war  must  always  bring 

in  varying  degrees  to  its  votaries.  On  the  side  towards  the 

swift  river  five  gates  opened  through  the  wall.  The  quays 

were  inadequate  and  some  of  the  ships  could  not  be  brought 

*  Levis  preserved  carefully  a  mass  of  correspondence,  and  in  later  years, 
when  Governor-General  of  Artois,  he  occupied  himself  with  arranging  it. 

In  1888  his  great-grandson,  Comte  Raimond  de  Nicolay,  presented  copies 
of  these  papers  to  the  Government  of  the  Province  of  Quebec  on  condition 
that  they  should  be  printed.  This  Collection  des  Maniiscrits  dn  Marichal 

de  Ldvis  is  of  great  value  for  the  history  of  the  period.  Upon  the  Collection 
much  of  the  present  volume  is  based.  The  editorial  work  on  the 
documents  is  very  defective. 
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near  the  shore.  This  made  embarkation  difficult.  By  the 

i6th,  however,  nearly  the  whole  of  the  French  army  was 

afloat  and  on  its  way  down  the  river.  Rearrangements 

were  to  be  made  at  Quebec,  where  lay  other  transports. 

Colonel  de  Bougainville,  the  handy  man  of  the  French  army, 

had  been  sent  in  advance  to  Quebec  to  superintend  the 

work  at  that  point.  On  the  17th  Levis  himself  set  out  from 

Montreal  in  the  ship  assigned  to  him,  but  Vaudreuil  and 

Bigot  lingered  a  little  longer  to  complete  necessary  business. 

On  the  15th  a  crier  went  through  the  town  to  notify  all  who 

had  demands  for  payments  to  apply  to  the  Intendant  at 
once.  At  the  same  time  the  Governor  and  the  Intendant 

issued  a  joint  statement  assuring  the  Canadians  that  the 

King  of  France  would  not  fail,  in  time,  to  redeem  the  paper 

currency  now  worthless  in  their  hands.  The  business  affairs 

of  France  in  Canada  were,  as  far  as  possible,  closed,  and 

a  Commissary  was  left  behind  to  settle  what  was  still  left 

open.  On  the  20th  Vaudreuil  took  ship  for  his  troubled 

voyage  home,  and  on  the  21st  Bigot  did  the  same.  During 

three  weeks  some  twenty  or  more  British  transports  laden 

with  French  soldiers  were  making  their  way  down  the  river. 

Some  of  their  names — The  True  Briton,  The  Fanny,  The 
Mary  and  Jane,  The  Sally,  The  Hannah,  The  Abigail,  and 

The  Young  Isaac — must  have  sounded  strangely  in  French 
ears.  One  vessel  engaged  in  this  service  had  a  notable 

history.  It  was  La  Marie,  which  alone  had  escaped  from 

the  British  during  the  fight  with  Vauquelain.  She  had  now 

become  a  British  transport. 

A  few  weeks  earlier  Captain  Knox  had  delighted  in  the 

bright  sunshine  and  the  entrancing  beauty  of  the  river 

scenery  as  he  passed  up  to  Montreal.  Now,  however, 

nature  was  as  unkind  to  the  defeated  army  as  war  itself  had 

been.  We  have  a  detailed  narrative  by  Malartic  of  the 

journey,  and  his  experiences  were  similar  to  those  of  the 

French  army  as  a  whole.     It  was  on  September  16  that 
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Malartic  embarked  in  a  schooner  with  a  part  of  the  regiment 

of  Beam.  The  next  day  the  ship  ran  aground  in  Lake 

St.  Peter  and  lay  helpless  for  more  than  twenty-four  hours. 
She  had  set  out  without  good  pilots,  and  with  such  an 

inadequate  supply  of  provisions  that,  after  two  or  three  days, 

those  on  board  were  obliged  to  send  foraging  parties  ashore 

to  seek  bread  and  vegetables  among  the  inhabitants.  Soon 

after  passing  Three  Rivers,  on  the  19th,  the  ship  encountered 

a  heavy  storm  from  the  north-east,  which  made  progress 
almost  impossible.  On  the  22nd  she  ran  aground  again  and 

smashed  one  of  her  small  boats.  So  incomplete  was  the 

ship's  equipment  that  no  hammer  or  nails  could  be  found  on 
board  with  which  to  attempt  repairs.  The  soldiers  went 

ashore  freely  and  a  good  many  deserted.  The  ship  crept  on 

slowly  in  spite  of  the  storm  which  lasted  many  days.  Not 

until  October  5,  nearly  three  weeks  after  leaving  Montreal, 

did  she  reach  Quebec.  During  this  tempest  we  hear  a  plain- 
tive note  from  the  Intendant  Bigot,  storm-bound  at  Batiscan, 

near  Three  Rivers.  Madame  Pean,  the  Pompadour  of 

Canada,  is,  he  says,  bored  to  death  by  the  monotony  of  life 

on  the  small  ship,  and  is  moreover  sea-sick  ;  he  himself  is  also 

miserable  from  sea-sickness.  He  had  provided  luxuries  for 
his  own  party  on  the  journey,  but  he  complains  that  the 

company  is  half-starved,  in  defiance  of  the  sacred  obliga- 
tions which  Great  Britain  had  assumed  to  feed  the  French 

leaders  as  well  as  her  own  officers  were  fed.  Levis,  too,  was 

not  without  female  consolation  on  the  voyage,  and  he  also 

complains  of  straitened  quarters  and  hard  fare.  Vaudreuil 

had  an  even  more  serious  quarrel  with  fortune.  His  ship 

struck  a  rock  on  the  way  to  Quebec  and  he  was  obliged  to 
abandon  her. 

The  troubled  journey  to  Quebec  was  not  a  promising 

beginning  for  the  longer  voyage.  In  some  cases  there  was 
now  a  hurried  transhipment.  Malartic  was  given  only  one 

hour  to  get  himself  and  a  considerable  body  of  the  regiment 
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of  Beam  on  board  a  British  snow  and  to  be  afloat  again, 

Levis  pressed  the  British  to  give  the  French  army  adequate 
accommodation,  but  the  result  did  not  prove  satisfactory. 
A  number  of  vessels,  disabled  by  the  terrific  storm,  could 
not  go  to  sea  ;  and,  in  consequence,  the  remaining  ships 
were  somewhat  crowded.  Levis  declares,  however,  that  the 

English  were  rigorous  in  not  allowing  more  than  one  man 
for  each  ton  of  a  ship.  The  impoverished  French  officers 
had  no  money  to  buy  from  the  traders,  now  swarming  at 

Quebec,  any  luxuries  to  ease  the  hardships  of  the  voyage, 
and,  for  the  most  part,  they  could  secure  only  the  fare  of 
the  common  sailors.  The  season  was  far  advanced  and 

haste  was  necessary,  for,  in  the  late  autumn,  the  St.  Lawrence 
route  is  dangerous.  Obviously  there  was  no  time  for  niceties 
in  regard  either  to  the  equipment  of  the  ships  or  in  the  order 
of  sailing.  At  first  Levis  was  resolved  to  be  the  last  to  set 

out,  but  in  the  end  he  was  obliged  to  sail  when  his  ship  was 
ready  and  to  leave  Bourlamaque  in  charge. 

The  voyage  proved  tempestuous.  Off  Louisbourg  the 
storms  were  so  frightful  that  the  ship  of  Levis  lost  a  mast 
and,  for  two  hours,  it  seemed  certain  that  she  would  sink. 

Malartic  describes  the  way  in  which  his  ship  was  now  be- 
calmed, now  lost  in  fog,  on  the  St.  Lawrence.  At  one  time 

she  came  into  collision  with  a  larger  ship  and  nearly  sank. 
After  passing  out  into  the  Atlantic  between  Cape  Breton 
and  Newfoundland,  she  was  still  five  weeks  in  reaching  the 

shores  of  France.  Since  luxuries  were  wholly  wanting, 

there  was  joy  when  they  met  in  mid-ocean  a  great  Dutch 
vessel  from  Surinam.  Her  aged  captain  was  completing  his 
66th  year  of  voyaging,  but  he  was  still  acute  enough  to  sell 
them  rum,  sugar,  and  coffee  at  a  high  price.  We  may 
wonder  where  the  impoverished  French  officers,  returning 

to  France  almost  penniless,  secured  the  money  to  pay  for 
these  luxuries.  At  length,  late  in  November,  they  cast 
anchor  in  the  harbour  of  La  Rochelle.     Levis  arrived  next 
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day,  and  the  other  transports  came  stragghng  in.  Though 
the  weather  had  been  bad  and  the  ships,  in  some  cases, 

crowded,  the  health  of  the  whole  army  was  surprisingly  good 

on  the  voyage.  Levis  says  that  he  brought  back  only  1,500 
or  1,600  men.  The  rest  had  preferred  to  remain  in  the 

colony,  and  the  captive  French  leader  had  been  powerless 

to  check  this  desertion.  A  good  many  of  the  French- 
Canadians  of  the  present  day  must  have  in  their  veins  the 
blood  of  the  soldiers  of  Levis. 

Under  the  plea  of  needing  rest,  Levis  waited  at  La  Rochelle 

for  five  or  six  days.  '  I  have  disembarked  only  this  mo- 
ment,' he  wrote  to  the  Due  de  Belle-Isle  on  November  25 ; 

'  I  should  have  wished  to  be  able  to  leave  for  Versailles  at 
once,  but  the  fatigues  and  also  the  dangers  which  I  have 

undergone  in  the  voyage  just  completed  oblige  me  to  take 

five  or  six  days  for  the  recovery  of  my  health.'  The  real 
cause  of  delay  was,  perhaps,  the  lack  of  money  to  go  to 

Versailles.  He  was  soon  aided  by  his  powerful  connexions, 
but  other  French  officers  were  not  so  fortunate,  and  the  poor 

reward  of  some  of  the  grizzled  veterans  of  the  Canadian 

campaigns,  when  they  returned  home,  was  a  lapse  into 

hopeless  poverty.  Those  who  brought  the  paper  money 

with  which  they  had  been  paid  in  Canada  found  it  quite 

valueless  in  France.  When  they  demanded  rehef  they  were 

often  sent  unsatisfied  from  department  to  department.  Each 

department  said  that  it  was  the  business  of  another  :  the 

Controller-General  referred  the  matter  to  the  Department 

of  Marine,  and  M.  Berryer,  the  head  of  that  department,  said 

the  claims  must  go  to  the  Department  of  War  or  of  Finance. 

The  unfortunate  men  who  had  suffered  great  hardships  for 

their  country  may  well  have  thought  that  it  was  better  to 

starve  amid  the  perils  of  a  campaign  than  ingloriously  at 

home.  Doubtless  many  of  them  were  heart-sick  enough  in 
France  to  regret  the  life  in  the  Canadian  wilderness  where, 

though  half-naked  and  half-fed,  they  could  still  do  something 
for  the  honour  of  their  country. 
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For  the  defeated  leaders,  fate  had  varying  fortunes.  Since 

crimes  may  be  forgiven  only  to  success,  shame  was  in  store 

for  the  discredited  plunderers  of  the  colony.  In  the  France 

to  which  Bigot,  Cadet,  and  a  dozen  others  had  so  longed  to 

return  in  affluence,  they  found  a  stern  reception.  The  loss 

of  the  colony  had  caused  general  indignation,  and  the 

Government  was  only  too  glad  of  the  excuse  of  alleged  fraud 

to  find  scapegoats.  When  Bigot  presented  himself  at 

Versailles  before  Berryer,  the  Minister  of  Marine,  he  was 

greeted  angrily  with  the  charge  that  it  was  he  who  had  lost 

Canada  by  his  criminal  plundering  of  her  resources,  and  that 

the  rigours  of  justice  awaited  him.  Vaudreuil,  too,  met 

with  a  stormy  reception.  He  wrote  from  Brest  on  Decem- 

ber 10  a  plaintive  letter  to  excuse  his  conduct  and  to  explain 

the  loss  of  the  colony.  But  his  words  did  not  avail.  By 

the  King's  command  he  was  censured  for  surrendering 
Montreal,  in  spite  of  the  protests  of  Levis,  and  he  was  one 

of  the  many  persons  accused  of  fraud.  Twenty-three  were 
sent  to  the  Bastille,  among  them  Vaudreuil,  Bigot,  Cadet, 

and  Pean.  There  they  remained,  at  a  daily  cost  to  the  King 

of  a  hundred  and  sixty-four  livres,  for  about  three  years, 
until  final  judgement  was  rendered.  Durance  in  the  Bastille 

involved,  for  at  least  the  well-to-do  class,  less  rigour  than 
the  Paris  mob  supposed  when  it  destroyed  that  famous 

prison  some  twenty-five  years  later.  Vaudreuil  had  his 
negro  servant  with  him  and  a  supply  of  books,  and  he  was 

allowed  to  take  exercise  in  the  open  air.  We  get  glimpses 

of  Bigot  and  Pean  also  with  servants  in  attendance.  The 

prisoners  were  permitted  to  have  tobacco  and  wine.  A 

surgeon  attended  twice  a  day  upon  one  of  them  who  was  ill. 

Special  permission  was  accorded  to  Bigot,  Cadet,  and  others 

to  go  to  mass.     Assuredly  they  had  need  of  repentance. 

The  trial  was  not  begun  until  more  than  a  year  after  the 
fall  of  Canada.  The  case  came  before  the  Court  of  the 

Chatelet.     Twenty-seven  judges,  named  for  the  trial,  were 
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engaged  fifteen  months  in  the  examination  of  the  papers. 

The  proceedings  attracted  the  attention  of  Europe.  The 

accused  persons  numbered  fifty-five,  and  each  of  them  pre- 
pared a  Memoire  in  his  own  defence.  Tliat  of  Bigot  runs 

to  nearly  twelve  hundred  printed  quarto  pages.  He 

traversed  the  whole  ground  of  his  term  of  office  in  Canada, 

and  denied  boldly  that  he  had  been  a  party  to  any  fraud. 
He  attacked  Cadet  as  the  chief  criminal  in  the  affairs  of  New 

France.  He  declared  too  that  Vaudreuil,  his  superior  in 

rank,  was,  for  that  reason,  more  responsible  than  he  for  anv 

seeming  official  collusion  in  fraud.  Bigot  so  traduced  the 

memory  of  Montcalm  that  the  mother  and  the  widow  of  the 

dead  soldier  petitioned  the  Court  to  impose  a  fine  on  the 
former  Intendant  for  the  libel.  Vaudreuil  answered  the 

charges  with  dignity.  His  lineage  he  declared  should  have 

placed  him  above  the  suspicion  of  sordid  fraud  ;  he  had  been 

wholly  occupied  with  military  matters  ;  he  had  not  been 
concerned  with  finance  and  had  had  no  interest  in  contracts. 

He  defended  with  eloquence  the  officers  of  the  regular  army, 

dead  and  living,  who  lay  under  suspicion.  It  was  to  him, 

he  said,  that  these  poor  men,  who  had  shed  their  blood  for 

France,  had  the  right  to  look  for  defence.  They  were  now 

the  victims  of  base  calumny  and  he  should  himself  be  base 

if  he  did  not  stand  forth  as  a  witness  to  their  talents,  their 

virtues,  and  their  innocence. 

Judgement  was  rendered  in  December,  1763.  The  prosecu- 

tion asked  for  Bigot  a  punishment  truly  mediaeval — that, 
clad  only  in  his  shirt  and  placarded  as  a  thief,  he  should  be 

made  to  kneel  before  the  principal  gate  of  the  Tuileries,  with 

a  rope  round  his  neck,  and  to  proclaim  aloud  his  own  guilt, 
and  that,  after  this,  his  head  should  be  struck  off.  He  was, 

of  course,  found  guilty,  but  a  sentence  less  severe  was  im- 
posed upon  him.  He  was  to  pay  a  fine  of  1,500,000  livres 

and  to  suffer  the  loss  of  all  his  goods  by  confiscation.  It  is 

not  clear  how,  with  his  goods  confiscated,  he  was  to  pay  the 
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fine.  In  addition,  and  worst  of  all,  when  we  remember  his 

dream  of  a  life  of  luxury  in  France,  he  was  condemned  to 

perpetual  banishment.  Cadet  was  banished  for  nine  years 

from  Paris,  and,  since  his  stealings  were  on  a  colossal  scale, 

was  ordered  to  restore  six  millions  to  the  King's  Treasury. 
Varin  had  to  pay  back  1,600,000  livres,  and  he,  too,  was 

banished.  Pean  was  condemned  to  restore  600,000  livres 

and  to  remain  in  prison  until  he  did  so.  He  paid  the  money 

at  once  and  was  set  free.  Lesser  rascals  were  also  punished, 
but  two  of  the  worst,  Deschenaux  and  St.  Sauveur,  seem 

to  have  escaped  because  they  had  chosen  to  remain  in 
Canada. 

Fortune  seemed  to  treat  the  plunderers  of  Canada  with 

rigour.  The  Government  instructed  its  servants  to  hunt 

out  the  stolen  property  in  all  the  provinces  of  France. 

There  was  something  like  a  scramble  among  persons  of  rank 

to  secure  the  silver  plate  of  Bigot,  his  soup  and  entree  dishes, 

his  wine-coolers,  his  candlesticks,  and  dozens  of  other  objects 
of  luxury.  Some  of  the  criminals,  now  penniless,  and 

unable  to  pay  their  fines,  remained  in  jail,  and  we  hear  from 

their  destitute  families  piteous  appeals  to  the  King  for  help. 

The  way  of  transgressors  was  hard  for  some,  but  not  for  all. 

The  sentence  of  banishment  upon  Cadet  was  soon  cancelled. 

In  1764  he  was  granted  permission  to  go  to  Canada.  After 

his  return  he  purchased  extensive  lands  in  France.  He  had 
the  hardihood  to  claim  from  the  French  Government  no  less 

a  sum  than  9,000,000  livres,  as  due  to  him.  He  was  pros- 
perous for  a  time,  but  his  mania  for  speculation,  and  perhaps, 

too,  for  sport,  since  he  was  fond  of  good  horses,  in  the  end 

brought  ruin.  He  died  a  bankrupt  in  1781.  His  two 

daughters  married  into  two  of  the  oldest  families  of  France.^ 
For  Bigot  we  find  no  less  a  person  than  the  Bishop  of  Blois 

interceding  in  1774,  and,  though  we  know  little  of  his  later 

^  Un  Munitionnaire  dii  Rot  a  la  Nouvelle-France,  Joseph  Cadet,  1^56-81. 
Par  A.  Barbier.     Poitiers,  1900. 
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career,  it  seems  that  he  was  allowed  to  return  to  France  and 

to  end  his  days  there  with  some  appearance  of  prosperity. 

It  is  worth  noting  that  the  France  which  dealt  so  gently 

with  some  of  these  guilty  men,  was,  at  the  same  time, 
relentless  towards  an  innocent  man  who  had  tried  to  build 

up  her  empire.  After  a  brave  struggle,  the  Comte  de 

Lally  had  been  defeated  in  India  and  carried  a  prisoner 

to  England.  When  allowed  to  return  to  France  in  1761, 

he  was  sent  to  the  Bastille,  a  fellow  prisoner  of  the 

accused  men  from  Canada.  By  faults  of  temper  Lally  had 

made  enemies,  and  it  was  now  charged  that  he  had  sold 

Pondicherry  to  the  English.  There  was  no  real  evidence 

against  him,  but  he  was  sentenced  to  death.  This  brave 

and  innocent  Frenchman,  handcuffed  and  gagged,  was 

taken  in  a  dung-cart  to  the  scaffold  and  executed  with  every 

accompaniment  of  horror.  Cadet,  a  real  criminal,  became 

a  seigneur  in  France,  and  but  for  his  own  bad  judgement 

might  have  ended  his  days  in  luxury. 

Among  those  who  were  declared  guiltless  of  fraud  in 

Canada  we  are  glad  to  find  Vaudreuil.  He  was  liberated  in 

December,  1763.  Choiseul  wrote  to  him  in  the  following 

May  to  express  the  King's  pleasure  that  his  conduct  had 
been  found  without  reproach.  He  received  a  pension  of 

6,000  livres  ;  and  he  also  received  what  he  greatly  prized, 

the  Grand  Cross  of  St.  Louis,  which  carried  with  it  a  further 

pension  of  6,000  livres.  Drafts  on  the  French  Treasury 
which  he  held  had  not  been  honoured,  and  without  his 

pensions  he  would  have  been  poor.  His  later  years  were 

sad.  His  brother,  a  distinguished  admiral,  died  shortly 

before  the  verdict  of  acquittal ;  so  also  did  Madame  de 

Vaudreuil ;  and  he  was  left  a  lonely  old  man.  '  I  am  well 

convinced ',  he  wrote  to  a  friend  in  March,  1764,  '  of  the 
instability  of  human  affairs  and  should  be  indifferent  to  life 

but  for  the  kindness  of  relations  and  friends.'  ̂      He  lived  on 

1  To  M.  Duchesnay.     Manuscript  in  Canadian  Archives. 
1641  Q 
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until  1778.  Perhaps  posterity  has  been  a  little  unkind  to 

the  memory  of  the  fussy,  ineffective,  but  well-meaning 
Governor  who  loved  Canada  with  all  his  heart  and  spared 

himself  no  labour  in  the  interests  of  the  ruined  colony.^ 
The  lot  of  Levis  was  happier.  His  connexions  were  very 

influential,  and,  like  the  rest  of  the  French  world,  he  paid 

court  to  Madame  de  Pompadour.  His  friends  made  repre- 
sentations at  the  British  Court  in  order  to  remove  the 

prohibition  to  serve  in  the  French  army  before  peace  was 
made.  Levis  himself  protested  that  he  and  the  other 
French  officers  had  treated  generously  their  British  captives 
and  had  done  their  utmost  to  prevent  Indian  outrages  in 
America.  In  the  end  Pitt  cancelled  the  disability  placed 

on  Levis  to  serve  again  during  the  war.  The  action  was 

hardly  pleasing  to  Britain's  ally,  Frederick  the  Great,  who 
soon  found  Levis  taking  an  active  and  distinguished  part  on 
the  French  side  in  the  campaigns  in  Germany.  After  the 
war  closed  he  was  named  Governor  of  Artois.  He  became 

Marshal  of  France  and  Due  de  Levis,  and  died  at  the  age  of 

sixty-seven,  in  1787,  just  before  the  Revolution  began. 
Two  years  later,  in  1789,  when  the  Revolution  broke  out, 
his  body,  buried  at  Arras,  was  torn  from  the  grave  and  his 
bones  were  scattered.  The  Revolution  swallowed  up  many 

of  his  family.  He  had  married  a  wealthy  lady  after  his 
return  from  Canada,  and  his  widow  and  two  of  his  three 

daughters  perished  on  the  scaffold  during  the  Terror.     His 

^  The  family  of  Vaudreuil,  an  ancient  house  of  Languedoc,  preserved 

for  more  than  a  hundred  years  the  Governor's  papers  which  he  carried 
back  to  France  from  Canada.  Their  study  might  have  put  his  work  in 
a  better  light,  but  in  1871,  when  the  family  chateau  was  about  to  fall 

into  the  hands  of  the  Germans,  Vaudreuil's  papers  were  destroyed  to  save 
them  from  the  invaders.     There  is  a  mediaeval  rhyme  : 

Les  Hunauds,  les  Levis  et  les  Rigauds 
Ont  chasse  les  Visigoths  ; 

Les  Levis,  les  Rigauds  et  les  voisins 
Ont  chasse  les  Sarrasins. 

Rigaud  is  the  family  name  of  Vaudreuil.     The  association  of  his  family 
with  that  of  Levis  was  thus  very  ancient. 
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son,  a  deputy  for  the  noblesse  in  the  States-General  of  1789, 
fled  as  an  emigre  to  England  and  lost  his  property.  He 
returned  to  France  with  Louis  XVHI  on  the  fall  of  Napoleon 
and  had  the  honour  to  become  a  member  of  the  French 

Academy.  His  father  had  died  on  the  eve  of  the  first  fall 
of  the  Bourbons,  and  he  died  in  1830,  just  before  their 
second  fall.  His  son,  the  last  Due  de  Levis,  born  in  London 

in  1794,  died  without  issue  in  1869  in  the  arms  of  the  Comte 

de  Chambord,  the  Bourbon  claimant  to  the  French  throne.^ 
The  most  conspicuous  lieutenant  of  Levis,  Bougainville, 

was  extremely  fortunate  in  his  career.  He  was  born  in 
1729,  and  early  showed  a  varied  range  of  talents.  In  1754 

he  was  Secretary  of  the  French  Embassy  in  London.  Al- 
ready, when  he  went  to  Canada  in  1756,  he  had  published 

a  treatise  in  two  volumes  on  the  Integral  Calculus,  had  been 
made  a  Fellow  of  the  Royal  Society  of  England,  and,  to 

please  his  family,  had  become  also  an  advocate.  After  his 
return  from  Canada  in  1760,  he  secured  leave  from  the 
British  Government  to  serve  in  the  existing  war,  and  he 

took  an  active  part  in  the  campaign  on  the  Rhine  in  1761. 
He  was  offered  the  post  of  Governor  of  Cayenne,  but  declined 
it  because  he  had  another  project  in  mind.  Britain  with  her 

navy,  stronger  now  than  the  combined  navies  of  the  rest  of 
Europe,  needed  only,  it  was  said,  to  master  the  South  Seas 
in  order  to  establish  that  universal  monarchy  which  was 

supposed  to  have  been  also  the  ambition  of  Louis  XIV. 
Bougainville  planned  that  France  should  be  ahead  of  her 

in  the  South  Seas.  When  already  thirty- four  this  scholar 
and  soldier  began  the  life  of  a  sailor.  As  soon  as  peace 
was  concluded  in  1763,  he  set  out,  a  naval  captain,  on  an 
adventure  as  colonizer  and  discoverer.  He  founded  in  the 

Falkland  Islands  a  French  colony  which,  however,  the  pro- 
tests of  Spain  soon  obliged  France  to  withdraw.     But  in 

^  Hauteclocque,  Le  Marechal  de  Ldvis,  Goiwerneur-Gendral  de  I'Artois. 
Arras,  1901. 

Q  2 
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1766  Bougainville  set  out  again,  and  this  time  penetrated 

into  regions  more  remote  and  made  important  discoveries  of 

hitherto  unknown  regions  in  the  South  Seas.  By  1769  he 

had  completed  a  voyage  round  the  world,  two  years  before 
Captain  Cook,  who  had  also  served  in  Canada  at  the  time  of 

the  fall  of  Quebec,  returned  from  his  famous  voyage.  Bou- 
gainville commanded  the  first  French  squadron  to  go  round 

the  world.  His  Voyage  autour  du  Monde,  published  in  1771, 

showed  close  observation  of  nature  and  won  a  prodigious 

success.  He  had  a  share  in  the  crushing  defeat  of  the  British 

at  Yorktown  in  1781.  We  are  impressed  with  his  versa- 
tility when  we  find  him  commanding  a  naval  squadron  at 

Brest  in  1790.  He  soon  retired  from  scenes  of  war,  however, 

and  under  Napoleon  became  a  Senator  of  France.  He  died 

in  1811,  shortly  before  the  fall  of  the  Empire. 

There  are  not  wanting  indications  that,  next  to  Montcalm 
himself,  the  most  efficient  of  the  soldiers  who  served  on  the 

French  side  during  the  war  was  Bourlamaque.  He  was  the 

intimate  personal  friend  of  Montcalm,  who  unburdened  his 

mind  to  him  with  self-revealing  frankness.  Bourlamaque 
was  less  intimate  with  Levis,  and  it  is  quite  clear  that  the 

quiet,  painstaking,  hard-working  soldier  had  not  too  much 
confidence  in  the  military  genius  of  his  superior  officer. 

No  one  could  doubt  Bourlamaque's  courage  and  honesty  ; 
he  had  a  high  sense  of  dignity,  and  gossip  and  slander  left 

him  alone.  At  the  time  of  the  capitulation,  Bourlamaque, 

who  was  very  poor  and  had  no  other  means  of  Uvelihood, 

begged  Amherst  to  except  him  from  the  prohibition  to  serve 

again  during  the  war.  Both  he  and  Levis  declared  that 

they  had  given  no  countenance  to  the  outrages  by  the 

savages.  Bourlamaque  had,  indeed,  risked  his  life  more 

than  once  to  save  British  prisoners.  Amherst  proved 

inexorable,  but,  a  little  later,  the  British  Government 

removed  the  prohibition  from  Bourlamaque,  as  they  did 

from   Levis   and   Bougainville.     On   returning   to   France, 
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Bourlamaque,  with  other  officers,  was  invited  to  serve  in 

Malta,  menaced  at  that  time  by  the  Turk.  He  did  not  Hve 

long  enough  to  win  further  distinction.  He  was  sent  as 

Governor  to  Guadaloupe  and  died  there  in  1764. 

The  fate  of  the  brave  sailor,  Vauquelain,  was  tragic.  It 

is  said  that  even  when  a  certain  Duchess  begged  Berryer, 

the  Secretary  of  the  Navy,  to  do  something  for  the  heroic 
seaman,  the  minister  was  obdurate.  There  were  so  many 

people  of  good  birth,  he  said,  who  wanted  places  that  he 

had  nothing  to  spare  for  any  one  not  noble  ;  it  was  true 

that  Vauquelain  was  a  hero,  but  what  could  one  do  ?  Since 

Vauquelain  had  been  trained  in  the  merchant  service,  he 

should  now  go  back  to  it.  Better  counsels,  however,  soon 

prevailed.  In  1761,  Berryer  himself  retired  from  the  navy, 
much  to  the  advantage  of  that  service.  The  Due  de 

Choiseul  took  his  place  and  infused  new  life  into  French  naval 

policy.  In  1763  Vauquelain  was  sent  on  a  mission  to  India 
with  the  rank  of  an  officer  in  the  royal  navy.  Great  was 

the  tumult  among  the  officers  of  noble  birth  at  this  appoint- 
ment. There  is  much  obscurity  about  the  later  events. 

This,  however,  is  certain,  that  on  Vauquelain's  return  from 
India,  in  1763,  he  was  assassinated  when  only  thirty-seven 

years  old. 
We  get  glimpses  of  a  few  others  who  played  their  part  in 

the  war.  Ramezay  was  attacked  savagely  because  he  had 

surrendered  Quebec.  He  begged  for  leave  to  publish  a 

defence,  but  this  was  refused  on  the  ground  that  it  would 

only  cause  others  to  explain  themselves  and  perhaps  to 

contradict  him.  Only  a  hundred  years  later  was  the  defence 

of  Ramezay  published,  when  the  old  controversies  had  long 

been  dead.  Though  the  unfortunate  officer  was  miserably 

poor  he  was  allowed  a  pension  of  but  300  livres.  By  1771  he 

had  died,  apparently  while  serving  in  Cayenne,  and  his 

widow  was  then  petitioning  for  help  for  herself  and  her 
children. 
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Some  of  the  French  officers  lived  to  take  part  in  triumphs 
over  the  victor  who  had  humbled  them  in  Canada.  Desan- 
droiiins,  the  engineer  who  had  built  Fort  Levis,  was,  like 
Bougainville,  at  Yorktown  in  1781,  when  a  British  army 
under  General  Cornwallis,  many  times  more  numerous  than 
that  of  Levis  at  Montreal,  was  forced  to  surrender.  At 

Yorktown  the  French  fleet  had,  for  the  moment,  the  com- 
mand of  the  sea,  and  played  the  same  decisive  part  that  the 

British  fleet  had  played  in  the  St.  Lawrence.  It  is,  indeed, 
well  to  remember  that  the  victor  of  1760  was  the  vanquished 
in  1781,  France  had  proved  but  feeble  in  Canada  against 
a  foe  who  revealed  boundless  energy,  but  France  was  not 

exhausted.  Before  the  Seven  Years'  War  ended,  a  plan 
for  reviving  the  navy  was  making  great  progress  under  the 
energetic  lead  of  Choiseul.  The  agitation  resulted  in  an  active 

campaign  for  help  and  in  liberal  gifts  for  the  fleet.  The 
estates  of  Languedoc  offered  a  ship  ;  trade  guilds,  chambers 
of  commerce,  great  capitalists,  took  up  the  question.  Even 
the  clergy  voted  a  million.  In  all  14,000,000  livres  were 
contributed. 

Canada,  however,  France  had  lost  for  ever.  As  soon  as 

Montreal  fell  the  British  reached  out  to  grasp  what  was  to 
prove  in  the  end  more  important  than  the  territory  they  had 
actually  occupied.  At  points  of  vantage  on  or  near  the  great 

lakes  of  the  interior,  at  Detroit,  St.  Joseph,  and  Michili- 
mackinac,  the  French  flag  still  waved.  These  places  com- 

manded that  great  west,  destined  to  provide  homes  for  so 
many  millions.  Amherst  sent  Major  Rogers  at  once  with 
two  hundred  rangers  to  occupy  these  forts.  In  accordance 
with  the  terms  of  the  capitulation,  Vaudreuil  wtote  letters  to 

the  commandants  ordering  them  to  transfer  the  posts  to  the 
British.  It  was  at  these  places  that  the  corrupt  ring  in  New 
France  had  reaped  such  great  profits.  But,  in  spite  of  these 
evils,  the  French  had  attached  to  themselves  a  good  many 
of  the  Indian  tribes.     These  did  not  like  the  change  to  the 



THE  FALL  OF  NEW  FRANCE  247 

British,  and  mutterings  soon  began.  Did  the  victors,  they 
asked,  then  claim  that,  by  a  paper  signed  at  Montreal,  the 
whole  western  country,  the  country  owned  by  the  Indians 
themselves,  should  suddenly  become  British  ?  Naturally 
the  French  did  nothing  to  check  the  misgivings  of  the 
savages.  The  result,  two  or  three  years  later,  was  an 
outbreak  under  the  chief  Pontiac,  which  caused  a  barbarous 
frontier  war. 

It  was  in  accordance  with  the  methodical  accuracy  of 
Amherst  that,  as  soon  as  he  held  Montreal,  he  should  have 

set  to  work  at  once  to  find  out  how  many  people  lived  in 
the  country  which  he  had  conquered.  On  October  4  he  sent 
a  report  to  Pitt  on  this  subject.  There  were,  he  said,  108 

parishes,  inhabited  by  76,172  people,  of  whom  16,412,  or 
more  than  one  person  in  five,  were  enrolled  in  the  militia. 

It  is  not  possible  now  to  verify  these  figures.  They  do  not 
include  the  Indians  in  the  country  or  the  French  in  the 

interior.  On  the  other  hand,  they  probably  make  no 
allowance  for  the  wastage  of  the  war.  It  is,  on  the  whole, 
doubtful  whether  there  were  more  than  70,000  persons  of 
European  origin  dwelling  in  the  vast  regions  which  now  fell 
to  Britain.  Yet  only  after  six  severe  campaigns  had  their 
country  been  mastered.  At  this  time,  as  one  hundred  and 
forty  years  later  in  South  Africa,  it  was  made  clear  that 
a  people  reared  in  the  hardening  conditions  of  pioneer  life, 
accustomed  to  the  use  of  arms,  fighting  for  their  homes  on 
their  own  ground  and  scattered  over  a  great  area,  could 
hold  out  for  a  long  time  against  overwhelming  numbers. 

Not  many  of  the  Canadians  went  back  to  France.  The 
people  who  crowded  into  the  returning  ships  in  the  autumn 
of  1760  represented  chiefly  the  classes  whose  occupation 

was  gone  in  Canada — French  soldiers  and  officials  of  the 
French  Government.  It  is  true  that  some  of  the  landowners 

left  Canada.  In  the  first  pangs  of  defeat  there  were,  of 

course,  men  who  despaired  of  their  country  and  were  resolved 
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to  abandon  it.  In  all,  however,  little  more  than  a  hundred 

of  the  Canadian  seigneurs  left  the  country.  When  they 

knocked  at  official  doors  in  Paris  they  always  received 
smooth  words.  The  French  Government  showed  much 

sympathy  for  the  sufferers  and  continued  for  many  years  to 

bestow  largess  upon  needy  families.  But  men  accustomed 

to  be  masters  in  Canada  were  unwilling  to  fill  the  role  of 

beggars  in  France.  It  might,  after  all,  be  easier  to  gain 
a  livelihood  on  the  banks  of  the  St.  Lawrence  than  on  the 

banks  of  the  Seine,  and  some  of  them  recrossed  the  ocean. 

In  any  case,  whatever  a  few  seigneurs  may  have  done,  the 

farmer,  the  real  producer  in  Canada,  never  thought  of 

leaving  the  country,  and  remained  to  keep  strong  the  tradi- 
tions of  the  social  life  of  old  France. 

The  British  took  up  the  task  of  governing  Canada  with  their 

usual  energy.  As  soon  as  their  flag  was  raised  over  Montreal, 

they  sent  parties  to  survey  the  St.  Lawrence  from  Isle  Perrot 

downwards  to  Quebec.  The  French,  Amherst  says,  had 

made  little  use  of  the  river  for  water  carriage,  and,  until  the 

previous  year,  when  their  ships  had  been  forced  to  ascend 

it  to  escape  from  the  fleet  of  Saunders,  they  had  not  known 

that  large  vessels  could  come  up  to  Three  Rivers  and  Mon- 
treal. Amherst  sent  Colonel  Burton  to  be  Governor  at 

Three  Rivers  ;  General  Gage  was  to  stay  at  Montreal  ; 

Murray  was  to  remain  as  Governor  at  Quebec.  Sir  William 

Johnson  departed  with  his  Indians,  after  they  had  received 

such  trinkets  as  Johnson  thought  necessary  to  satisfy  their 
childish  tastes.  Amherst  ordered  the  works  at  Isle  aux 

Noix  to  be  completely  destroyed,  and  everything  of  value  in 
the  fort  was  taken  to  that  solid  fortress  which  he  had  built 

at  Crown  Point.  He  himself  soon  went  to  New  York. 

Three  weeks  after  Montreal  fell  he  wrote  to  Pitt  that  Canada 

was  as  quiet  and  secure  as  any  other  portion  of  the  King's 
dominions. 
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The  dispatch  sent  to  Pitt  by  Major  Barre  announcing  the 

surrender  of  Montreal  reached  England  on  October  3.  The 

news  was  received  with  joy,  but  the  public  had  expected 

it  and  did  not  go  into  the  transports  that  marked  the  unex- 

pected news  of  Wolfe's  victory  a  year  earlier.  Three  weeks 
passed  before,  on  October  24,  Pitt  wrote  to  congratulate 

Amherst  on  his  success.  With  a  great  display  of  capital 

letters  Pitt  expressed  '  the  universal  Applause  and  Admira- 

tion '  at  the  outcome  of  '  that  masterly  Plan,  which  you  had, 

with  such  unwearied  Application  and  Diligence,  formed  '. 

The  terms  of  the  '  Capitulation  of  Montreal  are  highly 
becoming  the  Humanity,  Magnanimity,  and  Wisdom  of  His 

Majesty  '.  By  this  time,  however,  Pitt  was  thinking  of  other 
plans.  Further  efforts  must  be  made  against  France,  and 

his  active  mind  was  already  occupied  with  the  problem  of 
a  renewed  attack  on  the  French  islands  in  the  West  Indies. 

France  still  retained,  too,  a  footing  in  the  North  American 

Continent,  for  the  lower  portions  of  the  Mississippi  remained 

in  her  possession.  Pitt  pressed  Amherst  to  secure  any 

information  that  might  aid  in  further  attacks  on  the  French. 

He  did  not  realize  that  a  crushing  blow  to  his  own  power  was 

about  to  fall.  On  October  25,  the  day  after  Pitt  wrote  the 

letter  to  Amherst,  King  George  II,  a  model  of  regularity, 

rose  as  usual  at  six  and  drank  his  chocolate.  At  a  quarter 

past  seven,  a  servant,  hearing  a  noise  in  the  King's  room, 
rushed  in  and  found  that  he  had  fallen  and  was  lying  dead 

on  the  floor.  His  death  meant  the  end  of  Pitt's  rule.  The 
new  king,  George  III,  meant  himself  to  rule  and  would  have 

no  servant  all-powerful,  and  the  end  of  the  sway  of  the  great 
minister  was  not  far  off. 

Pitt,  however,  was  still  minister  and  was  still  all  for  war. 
But  war  soon  wearies  those  who  bear  its  real  burden.  In 

the  spring  of  1761  the  new  military  levies,  on  which  Pitt  in- 

sisted, caused  at  Hexham  a  riot  so  serious  that  forty-two 
persons  were  killed.     One  obstacle  to  peace  was  that  Pitt 
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had  taught  the  nation  to  expect  the  complete  humiHation 

of  France.  '  Some  time  ago,'  he  said,  '  I  would  have  been 
content  to  bring  France  to  her  knees  ;  now  I  will  not  rest 

till  I  have  laid  her  on  her  back.'  Yet  France,  as  we  know, 
was  far  from  being  completely  exhausted.  The  young  king, 

George  III,  did  not  share  Pitt's  views,  and  showed  at  once 

another  temper.  In  the  draft  of  the  King's  speech  to  be 
read  at  the  opening  of  Parliament  in  November,  1760,  the 

war  was  spoken  of  as  '  bloody  and  expensive  '.  Owing  to 

Pitt's  protest,  the  war  was  called  instead  '  expensive,  but 

just  and  necessary  '.  To  attack  the  war  remained,  however, 
the  policy  of  the  King  and  his  friends.  Pitt  was  received 

coldly  at  court,  and  it  was  clear  that  he  was  no  longer  the 
real  master. 

Not  a  jot,  however,  did  Pitt  abate  in  his  ambitions  or 

resolve.  France  must  be  trampled  in  the  dust.  She  set 

great  store  by  the  Newfoundland  fishery,  largely  because  it 

was  a  nursery  for  her  seamen,  but  Pitt  declared  that  she 

must  give  up  any  share  in  it.  Duiing  negotiations  for  peace 

in  the  summer  of  1761,  Pitt,  who  had  recently  recovered  the 

use  of  his  right  hand,  said  that  he  should  regret  this  recovery 

if  he  should  use  the  hand  to  sign  any  document  that  left 

France  a  shadow  of  right  not  merely  in  Canada  and  Cape 

Breton  but  even  in  Newfoundland.  France  was  equally 
determined.  Choiseul  declared  that  he  would  be  stoned  in 

the  streets  of  Paris  if  he  gave  up  the  fishery,  and  he  simply 

refused  to  listen  when  the  question  was  broached.  France 

now  secured  a  new  ally,  for  in  August,  1761,  she  signed  a 

treaty  with  Spain  by  which  each  country  guaranteed  the 

possessions  of  the  other.  The  treaty  was  secret,  but  Pitt 

got  wind  of  it  and  urged  the  British  Cabinet  to  declare  war  on 
Spain  and  use  British  sea  power  to  occupy  Cuba  and  the 

Philippines  before  Spain  was  ready. 

Most  of  Pitt's  own  colleagues  were  alarmed  at  his  aggres- 
sive policy.     These  ambitions  for  world-wide  empire,  said 
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Hardwicke,  the  Lord  Chancellor,  would  alarm  other  nations 

and  cause  them  to  unite  against  the  ambitions  of  Britain 

as  they  had  united  against  those  of  Louis  XIV.  On  one 

occasion,  at  least,  a  meeting  of  the  King's  Council  to  debate 
the  problem  of  peace  lasted  for  six  hours.  Pitt  banged 

the  table  with  his  fist,  declared  that  he  would  not  be  respon- 
sible for  what  he  did  not  control,  and  threatened  to  resign 

if  his  will  was  not  done.  We  may  doubt  whether  the  peers 

who  then  governed  England  had  ever  before  been  addressed 

in  this  style.  Nearly  all  of  them,  including  Pitt's  own 
nominal  leader,  the  Duke  of  Newcastle,  were  opposed  to 

an  extreme  policy.  Newcastle  had  raised  the  money  for 

the  war,  while  Pitt  had  spent  it  with  a  lavish  hand.  In  the 

spring  of  1760,  when  Pitt  had  been  aiming  his  final  blow 
at  Canada,  Newcastle  had  declared  that  Britain  could  not 

stand  the  strain  for  another  year.  At  this  Pitt  had  flown 

into  a  violent  passion.  '  In  short,  there  was  no  talking  to 
him,'  wrote  Newcastle  at  the  time.  Now,  however,  some 

of  Pitt's  colleagues  talked  to  him.  Hardwicke  believed  that 
Pitt  was  trying  to  make  his  own  resignation  inevitable. 
He  had  led  the  nation  to  expect  so  much  that  now  he  could 

not  be  a  party  to  a  peace  that  was  reasonable  without  losing 

his  popularity.  When  his  colleagues  voted  against  him  in 
regard  to  the  proposed  attack  on  Spain,  he  carried  out  his 
threat  and  resigned  on  October  5,  1761.  Only  one  minister. 

Earl  Temple,  his  brother-in-law,  retired  with  him. 
Thus  ended  the  sway  of  the  minister  to  whom,  more  than 

to  any  one  else,  it  is  due  that  Canada  and  India  are  to-day 
British.  Even  a  hostile  king  did  what  honour  he  could  to 

the  great  minister.  He  was  offered  the  post  of  Governor 
of  Canada,  with  a  salary  of  £5,000  a  year.  We  must  not 

suppose  that  any  one  thought  Pitt  would  go  to  Canada  to 
govern  on  the  spot.  It  was  intended  that  he  should  remain 
in  England  and  be  Governor  only  in  name.  The  offer  to 
create  such  a  post  shows,  however,  that  Britain  was  resolved 
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to  retain  Canada.  Pitt  refused  this  honorary  post,  refused, 
indeed,  to  take  any  office  or  any  title.  But  he  accepted 
a  pension  of  £3,000  a  year,  and,  though  he  would  not  himself 
become  Lord  Chatham,  he  allowed  his  wife  to  be  made 
Baroness  Chatham.  The  acceptance  of  these  favours  tied 
his  hands.  It  was  a  very  mild  Pitt  who  criticized  the 

policy  of  the  new  ministers. 

Even  with  Pitt  out  of  office,  the  war  did  not  end  at  once. 

The  new  leader  was  the  Earl  of  Bute,  and  events  were  too 

strong  for  him  and  the  young  king.  They  found  themselves 

obliged  to  make  war  on  Spain,  the  new  ally  of  France.  Even 
with  this  added  enemy  to  meet,  the  matchless  weapon  for 
war  which  Pitt  had  forged  did  its  work.  Men  whom  he 

had  inspired  remained  in  the  Cabinet.  The  British  fleet 

continued  to  be  superior  to  all  the  other  fleets  of  Europe 
combined.  In  1762  Britain  took  both  Cuba  and  the 

Philippines  from  Spain.  She  took  Martinique  from  France, 

and  shattered  the  last  remnant  of  French  power  in  the  West 

Indies.  But  the  new  ministers  almost  regretted  these 

successes,  since  they  served  to  show  that  Pitt  had  been 

right.  This  is  not  the  place  to  pursue  the  story.  George  III 
and  Bute  wanted  peace,  peace  at  almost  any  price,  though 

Britain  was  the  victor.  Bute  tried  to  negotiate  peace  with 

Austria  behind  the  back  of  his  own  ally,  Frederick  the  Great. 

He  cut  off  from  Frederick  the  subsidy  which  had  supported 

60,000  Prussian  troops.  He  abandoned  the  war  in  Germany 

with  no  regard  to  the  safety  of  Hanover,  the  apple  of  the 

eye  of  George  II.  In  November,  1762,  the  King's  speech 

referred  to  the  '  bloody  and  expensive  war  ',  the  words 

rejected  two  years  earlier  through  Pitt's  urgency.  George  III 
bought  a  majority  in  the  House  of  Commons  who  would 

vote  for  peace  ;  in  a  single  morning  £25,000  was  paid  in 

bank-notes  to  members  of  the  House  of  Commons  to  secure 

their  support.  The  measure  of  the  King's  grasp  of  the  far- 
reaching  problem  of  peace,  as  it  affected  Canada,  is  perhaps 
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to  be  found  in  his  remark  that  in  North  America  France 

would  make  the  Mississippi  the  boundary  and  would 

demolish  all  the  forts  on  the  Ganges.^ 
It  is  not  impossible  that,  in  view  of  the  resolve  of  George  III 

to  have  peace  at  almost  any  price,  France  might  have  re- 
tained Canada.  The  British  had  conquered  Guadaloupe, 

one  of  the  French  West  India  islands,  before  they  had  con- 
quered Canada,  and  voices  were  now  raised  to  urge  that, 

if  some  of  the  conquests  must  be  given  up,  it  were  better 

to  yield  Canada  than  Guadaloupe.  With  a  much  larger 

population  than  Canada,  Guadaloupe  was  a  better  market 

for  British  goods.  '  Pray  what  can  Canada  yield  to  Britain 
.  .  .  but  a  little  extension  of  the  fur  trade  ?  Whereas  Guada- 

loupe can  furnish  as  much  sugar,  cotton,  rum,  and  coffee 

as  all  the  islands  we  have,  put  together.'  Britain  was  warned 
that  to  take  Canada  and  drive  France  from  North  America 

was  to  make  inevitable  the  loss  of  the  English  colonies. 

As  soon  as  these  had  no  need  of  the  support  of  the  mother- 

land against  a  foreign  neighbour  they  would  demand  indepen- 

dence.2  When,  in  the  summer  of  1762,  France  sent  a  naval 
force  to  Newfoundland  and  captured  St.  Johns,  the  French 

ministers  talked  as  if  that  island  now  belonged  to  France  and 

as  if  the  reconquest  of  Canada  was  not  impossible.  The 

navy  of  France  was  certainly  reviving  under  the  strong  lead 

of  Choiseul.  She  could  not,  however,  hold  St.  Johns  when 

the  British  realized  what  had  happened.  Nor  was  it  clear 
that  she  even  wished  to  recover  Canada.  The  frauds  of 

Bigot  and  Cadet  were  much  in  the  public  mind  in  1762,  and 

Canada  seemed  like  a  bottomless  pit  in  which  France  had 

already  lost  vast  sums  to  no  profit.  When  Berryer  had 
heard  of  the  loss  of  Canada  he  had  shown  satisfaction 

because  there  would  be  a  charge  the  less.     Voltaire,  the 

*  Yorke,  Life  of  Lord  Chancellor  Hardwicke,  iii.  414. 

*  Reasons  for  Keeping  Guadaloupe  at  a  Peace,  preferable  to  Canada, 
London,  1761  (Pamphlet  in  Canadian  Archives). 
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master-spirit  in  the  French  literary  world  of  the  time, 
declared  against  retaining  Canada,  which  would  only  be  an 
eternal  cause  of  war  and  of  humiliation.  When  the  public 

was  clamouring  for  peace  he  said, '  I  am  like  the  public ;  I  care 
more  for  peace  than  I  care  for  Canada,  and  I  think  France 

can  be  happy  without  Quebec.'  '  The  effect  of  colonies ',  said 

Montesquieu,  '  is  to  enfeeble  the  country  from  which  they 
are  drawn  without  peopling  those  where  they  are  sent.'  ̂  
France  was,  in  truth,  sick  of  colonial  adventure,  and,  with 

hardly  a  pang,  was  ready  to  give  up  Canada. 

The  Treaty  of  Paris  was  signed  on  February  lo,  1763. 
To  the  ministers  responsible  for  British  policy  for  the 
moment  it  hardly  mattered  that  the  Duke  of  Bedford,  who 

negotiated  the  Treaty  at  Paris,  went  much  beyond  his  instruc- 
tions in  admitting  the  French  to  a  share  in  the  fisheries  of 

North  America.  France  thus  obtained  what  Pitt  had  de- 

clared she  should  not  have  ;  she  continued  to  hold  the  rights 
in  Newfoundland  which  had  remained  to  her  under  the 

Treaty  of  Utrecht.  These  rights  were  interpreted  to  mean 
the  exclusive  use  of  the  west  shore  and  became  at  a  later  time 

the  source  of  angry  disputes.  France  secured  also  two 

islands  near  Newfoundland,  St.  Pierre  and  Miquelon, 

but  undertook  not  to  fortify  them.  Canada  '  with  all  its 

dependencies  ',  Cape  Breton  and  all  else  in  the  vast  region 
about  the  St.  Lawrence  and  the  Great  Lakes,  passed  to 

Britain.  The  Mississippi  River  was  to  be  the  western  boun- 
dary, and  Britain  was  to  have  everything  east  of  that  river 

except  the  land  about  the  town  of  New  Orleans.  The  peace 
was  such  that  neither  country  had  much  reason  to  be  pleased 

with  its  rulers.  In  France  it  was  not  the  King,  but  the  King's 
foe,  Frederick  the  Great,  who  was  praised  by  the  indignant 
populace.  When,  to  commemorate  the  peace,  an  equestrian 
statue  of  Louis  XV  was  put  up  with  four  allegorical  figures 
of  virtues  at  its  base,  a  wit  wrote  : 

^  Lacour-Gayet,  op.  cit.,  p.  14. 
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Grotesque  monument,  infame  piedestal  : 
Les  vertus  sont  a  pied,  le  vice  est  a  cheval. 

In  England,  too,  the  public  was  not  pleased.  The  storm  of 
anger  raised  by  the  Treaty  forced  Bute  to  retire.  But 

George  III  remained,  to  wreck  an  empire  in  the  years  to 
come. 

Of  the  leaders  on  the  British  side  during  the  struggle, 
Amherst,  as  was  perhaps  fitting,  had  the  most  prosperous 
career.  He  received  the  thanks  of  Parliament  and  became 

Governor-General  of  British  North  America,  a  term  which 
then  included  the  colonies  destined  soon  to  become  the 

United  States.  Amherst,  whose  chief  merit  was  his  quality 
of  slow  thoroughness,  found  himself  face  to  face  in  1763  with 
a  situation  requiring  skill  which  he  did  not  possess.  Then 
the  western  Indians,  who,  under  the  chief  Pontiac,  had 

formed  a  league  in  protest  against  the  British  claim  to  own 
their  country,  attacked  settlers  and  soldiers  and  committed 

many  brutal  outrages.  Amherst  had  always  despised  the 
Indians,  and  he  now  raged  against  what  he  called  their 
despicable  and  inhuman  villany.  In  his  savage  anger  at 
their  methods  he  himself  made  the  barbarous  proposal  to 
destroy  them  by  distributing  among  them  blankets  tainted 

with  small-pox.  The  victor  who  denounced  at  Montreal 
the  methods  of  the  French  had  assuredly  stepped  down 
from  his  pedestal.  Amherst  returned  to  England  in  1763, 
leaving  Gage  to  direct  the  war  against  Pontiac.  Amherst 
was  made  Governor  of  Virginia,  but  of  course  had  no  thought 

of  going  to  Virginia  to  govern.  When  the  Jesuit  order  was 
abolished,  George  III  granted  to  Amherst  their  great  estates 
in  Canada,  but  the  Chancellor  refused  to  sign  the  patent, 
on  the  ground  that,  since  Canada  had  been  bought  with  the 
blood  and  treasure  of  the  people,  the  Jesuit  estates  were  their 

property  and  not  that  of  the  sovereign  to  give  away.  Amherst 
long  treasured  a  grievance  over  his  failure  to  get  these  lands. 
He  became  Earl  Amherst  and  Commander-in-Chief  of  the 
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British  army.  The  seat  of  his  family  in  Kent  is  still  known 
as  Montreal. 

Mm^ray's  connexion  with  Canada  was  more  vital  than  that 
of  Amherst.  He  remained  as  Governor  at  Quebec  for  five 

or  six  years  and  played  a  considerable  part  in  the  early 

period  of  British  rule.  Though  he  wrote  to  Pitt  after  the 

fall  of  Canada  to  say  that  he  was  a  poor  soldier  of  fortune 

without  a  friend  at  Court,  he  yet  managed,  in  some  way,  to 

acquire  at  least  six  great  seigniories  in  Canada,  and  he  appears 

to  have  become  in  time  a  man  of  substance.  The  siege  of 

Quebec  was  not  the  only  one  which  he  had  to  endure  from 

a  French  army.  In  1781,  when  he  was  Governor  of  Minorca, 

the  French  laid  siege  to  the  island.  His  force  of  two  thou- 
sand men  was,  in  time,  terribly  reduced  by  scurvy  and  other 

diseases,  and,  when  almost  none  of  them  remained  fit  for 

duty,  he  was  obliged  to  surrender.  Levis,  who  was  still 

living,  must  have  noted  with  a  certain  satisfaction  this 

humiliation  of  the  enemy  who  had  baffled  his  own  attacks. 

Gage,  who  succeeded  Amherst  in  the  command  in  North 

America,  played  a  part  in  the  early  stages  of  the  revolt  of 

the  British  colonies.  He  had  returned  to  England,  but  he 

was  sent  out  to  Boston  in  1774  as  Governor-in-Chief.  His 
first  task  was  to  put  military  pressure  on  the  colonists  who 

had  recently  shown  their  anger  at  the  tax  on  tea  by  throwing 

cargoes  of  tea  into  Boston  harbour.  When  Gage  found  the 

colonists  arming,  in  fear,  as  they  said,  with  astute  humour,  of 
war  with  France,  and  sent  to  seize  their  arsenal  at  Concord 

in  Massachusetts,  they  attacked  his  force  at  Lexington  and 

thus  brought  on  the  first  battle  of  the  revolutionary  war. 

The  battle  of  Bunker  Hill  which  quickly  followed  was  the 

result  of  orders  from  Gage.  He  soon  returned  to  England, 

and  took  no  further  conspicuous  part  in  affairs. 

More  important  than  any  success  or  failure  of  individuals 

was  the  destiny  of  the  conquered  colony.  New  France  had 
fallen  and  it  had  deserved  to  fall.     The  cause  of  failure  was 
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not  that  the  French  had  no  genius  for  colonization.  On  the 

contrary  they  fitted  in  admirably  with  conditions  in  the 

New  World.  They  took  naturally  to  the  life  of  the  forest 

and  were  good  hunters  and  good  woodsmen.  They  were 

not  good  farmers,  in  the  sense  of  knowing  much  about  soils 

and  about  the  rotation  of  crops,  but  they  knew  how  to  wrest 
a  livelihood  from  mother  earth  in  the  hard  conditions  of 

pioneer  life.  It  is  still  true  that  the  tenacity  of  the  French- 
Canadian  to  hold  what  he  has  and  to  press  on  into  new  fields 

is  a  cause  of  jealous  alarm  to  his  rivals  of  British  origin  in 

Canada.  Not  because  of  his  lack  of  vigour,  but  because  of 

the  tyranny  and  corruption  of  those  who  ruled  did  the  life 

of  the  colony  languish.  The  author  of  the  pungent  Memoires 

sur  le  Canada  declares  that  posterity  would  not  believe  the 

tale  of  what  he  himself  saw.  Those  who  governed  showed 

slight  regard  for  law.  Patronage  did  everything  ;  merit  was 

persecuted  ;  so-called  justice  was  sold.  The  people  were 
under  a  stern  military  rule  and  had  no  shadow  of  political 

rights.  The  old  regime  in  the  mother-land  of  France  was, 
we  may  be  well  assured,  not  wholly  evil,  and  it  certainly 

meant  well  by  the  colonies.  The  ofiicials  in  old  France  took 

endless  pains  with  the  tangled  affairs  of  New  France.  They 

were  paternal  in  their  counsel  and  admonitions.  All  was 

dependent,  however,  not  on  them,  but  on  the  man  on  the 

spot  ;  and  the  man  on  the  spot,  named  by  favour  and  not 

by  merit,  ruined  the  colony.  When  a  clever  rascal  was  sent 

across  the  sea,  it  was  not  easy  to  know  that  he  was  doing 

evil.  Democracy  has  its  faults  ;  it  is  often  extravagant, 

inefhcient  and  corrupt  ;  but  those  who  appeal  to  it  must,  at 

least,  create  some  kind  of  public  opinion,  and  they  must 

profess  virtue,  however  much  they  may  disdain  to  practise 

it.  Democracy,  too,  is  many-eyed  to  see  and  many-mouthed 
to  denounce  what  it  dislikes.  It  is  incredible  that  if  the 

people  of  New  France  had  controlled  their  own  affairs  they 

would  have  borne  ills  which  involved  their  ruin  and  sapped 

all  devotion  to  the  mother-land. 
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The  Canadians  had  remained  densely  ignorant.  The 

coureurs  de  hois  who  ranged  the  forests,  the  hardy  men  of  the 

axe  who  cleared  the  ground  that  they  might  sow  and  reap, 

had  learned  much  of  the  cunning  of  nature,  but  they  knew 

nothing  of  books.  Probably  not  one  in  twenty  of  those  who 

served  in  the  one  hundred  and  seventy  companies  of  militia 

could  read  or  write.  Owing  to  the  work  of  the  convents  the 
women,  then  as  now,  in  French  Canada  were  better  educated 

than  the  men.  There  was  not  a  newspaper  in  the  land, 

and  outside  of  the  two  or  three  large  towns  there  were  prac- 
tically no  books  except  books  of  devotion.  Oddly  enough 

the  Canadians  were  freer  in  respect  to  the  conduct  of  the 

business  of  the  Church  than  of  the  State.  The  people  of 

the  parishes  had  a  real  voice  in  electing  those  who  adminis- 
tered the  temporalities  of  the  Church,  while  in  civil  affairs 

they  had  as  yet  no  shadow  of  political  liberty. 

For  a  time  it  was  expected  that  the  Canadians  would  become 

not  merely  British  in  political  allegiance  but  also  in  outlook 

and  spirit.  The  Bishop  of  Quebec,  Monsignor  Pontbriand, 

had  died  during  the  summer  of  1760,  those  last  dark  days 

of  New  France.  For  a  time  the  British  would  not  permit 

the  appointment  of  a  Roman  Catholic  bishop.  There  was 

to  be  a  Protestant  Bishop  of  Quebec,  and  sanguine  people 

were  sure  that  in  time  the  Canadians  would  accept  the 

Protestant  faith.  It  was  a  naive  hope  which  had  never 

even  the  beginnings  of  realization.  The  Canadians  had 

many  reasons  for  wavering  in  their  devotion  to  France,  for 

they  had  been  cruelly  harassed  by  the  secular  power.  The 
Church,  however,  had  been  their  steadfast  friend.  The 

priests  in  the  parishes  were  devoted  men,  mindful  of  the 

sacred  duties  committed  to  them.  They  had,  it  is  true,  no 

thought  of  religious  liberty.  It  is  almost  amusing  to  read  of 

the  excited  alarm  shown  by  the  cures  at  the  idea  that  a 

Protestant  might  appear  among  their  flocks  ;  that  would 

be  a  contagion  worse  than  any  plague  of  physical  disease.    No 
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Protestants,  however,  appeared.  New  France  had  remained 

CathoHc  to  a  man.  Her  people  had  not  the  education  or 

the  taste  for  rehgious  speculation,  and  the  Church  was  to 

them  the  universal  mother.  The  fall  of  French  power  only 

deepened  their  devotion.  In  the  days  of  adversity  the 

priests  had  words  of  consolation  for  an  afflicted  people. 

With  the  old  secular  authority  gone  and  the  new  one  not  yet 
known  or  trusted,  the  Church  was  the  one  institution  which 

remained  deeply  rooted  in  their  traditions.  Her  rulers 

wisely  accepted  the  new  regime.  Prayers  in  the  language 

of  France  for  '  our  most  gracious  sovereign  Lord  King 

George  '  were  offered  in  the  churches  from  the  first  days  of 
the  conquest,  as  they  are  offered  still.  The  British  soon 

found  that  the  Church  was  their  best  friend  in  securing  the 

allegiance  of  the  people.  Murray  had  not  long  been  Gover- 
nor at  Quebec  before  he  was  urging  the  British  Government 

to  rebuild  the  ruined  cathedral  at  Quebec  and  to  encourage 

the  religious  communities.  In  the  end  the  Church  regained 

her  old  privileges,  and  to  this  day  she  collects  the  tithe  from 
her  members  with  all  the  sanction  of  law  as  she  did  when 
Canada  was  under  the  Bourbons. 

On  the  civil  side,  too,  there  was  reason  for  the  Canadians 

to  be  content  with  British  rule.  No  longer  was  commerce 

in  the  control  of  corrupt  monopoly.  Traders  from  the 

British  colonies  arrived  at  Montreal  with  the  army  of 

Amherst.  As  soon  as  the  place  surrendered,  Amherst  sent 

notices  broadcast  inviting  the  colonial  merchants  to  occupy 
the  new  field  opened  to  their  enterprises.  They  were  quickly 
flocking  to  the  chief  centres,  and  the  Canadian  farmer 

benefited  by  the  wider  competition.  It  is  true  that  he  needed 

little  from  commerce,  for  he  built  his  own  house,  made  his 

own  wagon  and  most  of  the  other  things  which  he  used, 

while  his  wife  clothed  the  family  in  garments  home-woven 

and  home-made,  with  no  call  on  the  outside  world.  Still  he 

bought  something.     The  British  goods  were  cheaper  and 
R  2 
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better  than  the  French  had  been,  and  the  frugal  Canadian 

housewife  soon  had  the  potent  argument  for  British  rule 

that  under  it  a  scanty  store  of  money  would  go  much  further 

than  it  had  gone  in  the  days  of  the  old  regime.  There  was, 

moreover,  no  longer  a  Cadet  to  descend  upon  a  parish  and 

plunder  and  despoil  in  the  name  of  the  King.  The  British 

paid  for  what  they  needed  in  good  yellow  gold  coin  and  not 

in  the  worthless  paper  money  with  which  Cadet  had  paid 

when  he  paid  at  all.  Moreover,  the  shadow  of  war  was 

now  removed.  After  the  surrender  of  Montreal,  the  mili- 

tary levies  ceased,  and  the  farmer  could  remain  at  home,  to 

till  his  fields  and  harvest  his  crops.  The  former  rulers  had 

often  shown  little  regard  for  legal  rights.  Now  persons  with 

a  strong  sense  of  law  were  in  control.  There  were  doubts  for 
a  time  whether  Canada  was  under  French  or  under  British 

law,  but  the  victors  at  least  recognized  that  it  was  under 

law.  The  capitulation,  too,  gave  rights  which  the  vanquished 

claimed  and  the  victors  acknowledged.  Canada,  it  is  true, 

remained  under  military  rule  for  some  years,  but  it  had 

always  been  under  something  like  a  military  regime.  The 

British  military  courts  judged  in  accordance  with  the  laws 

and  customs  of  the  country  and  took  counsel  from  those  who 

were  versed  in  the  practices  of  New  France. 

The  shadow  of  Bigot's  finance  hung  long  over  Canada. 
Traders,  farmers,  even  officers  in  the  army  held  the  ordi- 

nances, the  equivalent  of  present-day  bank-notes,  which  he 
had  issued  in  his  own  name,  promising  to  pay  sums  ranging 

from  a  few  to  a  great  many  livres.  The  Court  of  France 

refused  to  pay  not  merely  this  fugitive  money  but  even  the 

drafts  which  he  had  drawn  on  France  during  the  latter  part 

of  his  administration.  Murray  estimated  in  1762  that 

80,000,000  livres  were  still  owing.  We  can  imagine  the 

anxiety  of  the  man  who  had  in  his  strong-box,  let  us  say, 
50,000  Hvres  of  this  money,  and  remained  in  doubt  whether 

it  might  not  be  worthless.     Everything  depended  on  what  -' 
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the  French  Government  would  do.  While  the  war  dragged 

on  it  delayed  and  did  nothing.  Holders  of  the  paper  money 

journeyed  to  France  from  Canada  in  order  to  present  their 

case.  They  were  sent  from  one  official  to  another,  but  could 

get  nothing  done.  Meanwhile  the  money  sold  sometimes 

for  one  per  cent,  of  its  face  value.  When  peace  was  concluded 

in  1763  the  question  had  not  been  settled.  In  1766  a  Con- 
vention was  concluded  between  the  British  and  the  French 

Governments  to  the  effect  that  British  holders  of  the  paper 

money  should  receive  up  to,  but  not  after,  October  i,  1766, 

50  per  cent,  of  the  face  value  of  their  bills  of  exchange  and 

25  per  cent,  of  the  face  value  of  their  ordinances.  This, 

however,  did  not  apply  to  the  French  holders.  We  find 

the  Marquise  de  Montcalm  begging  for  payment  of  money 

due  to  the  General,  and  for  years  we  get  glimpses  of  needy 

officers  urging  their  claims.  France's  promises  to  pay  were 
thus  not  fully  honoured  and  many  Canadians  suffered. 

The  Canadians  had  been  told  that  the  British  would 

inflict  upon  them  every  outrage  and  would  deport  them 

from  their  homes  as  they  had  deported  the  Acadians.  The 

vanquished  people  found  instead  a  security  and  a  justice  to 

which  they  had  long  been  unaccustomed.  The  kindliness  of 

the  new  rulers  astonished  the  Canadians.  During  the  war 

the  British  had  already  shown,  indeed,  a  most  creditable 

magnanimity.  In  the  autumn  of  1759  the  bankrupt  French 
Government  withdrew  its  accustomed  allowances  to  the 

French  prisoners  in  England,  who  numbered  about  twenty 

thousand.  A  public  subscription  was  taken  up  for  them,  and 

within  a  few  weeks  the  British  public  had  contributed  funds 

sufficient  to  reclothe  this  considerable  army.  '  It  was  ',  says 

Smollett,  '  one  of  the  noblest  triumphs  of  the  human  mind.' 
During  the  winter  after  the  surrender  of  Montreal,  when  a 

good  many  Canadians  were  in  a  half-starving  condition,  the 
British  soldiers  gave  cheerfully  from  their  scanty  means  a 

day's  pay  in  each  month  to  relieve  the  distress  of  their  former 



262  THE  FALL  OF  NEW  FRANCE 

enemies.  The  reconciliation  was  in  consequence  rapid.  It 

was  not  long  before  many  of  the  Canadian  militia  officers 

who  had  fought  against  the  British  were  proud  to  wear  the 

British  uniform.  In  1762,  as  we  have  seen,  a  French 

squadron  appeared  in  Newfoundland,  captured  St.  Johns, 

took  nearly  five  hundred  British  vessels  of  all  kinds,  and 

inflicted  damage  on  British  shipping  to  the  extent  of  a 

million  sterling.  An  advance  to  Canadian  waters  seemed 

possible.  General  Haldimand  says,  however,  that,  had  such 

a  squadron  appeared  in  the  St.  Lawrence  to  reassert  the 

claims  of  France,  it  would  have  caused  consternation  among 

the  French  inhabitants  of  Canada.  They  did  not  wish 

to  be  disturbed  in  their  new  allegiance.  '  Never  in  the 

history  of  nations ',  says  a  recent  observer, ^  '  did  a  province 
change  its  nationality  with  less  of  a  shock.  For  this  there 
are  various  reasons  ;  the  isolation  of  New  France  ;  the 

development  of  an  [independent]  colonial  spirit ;  but  above 

all  the  wisdom  and  tact  of  the  conquerors.'  The  war  in 
South  Africa,  one  hundred  and  forty  years  later,  was  fol- 

lowed by  a  reconciliation  equally  rapid.  Britain,  to  be  busy, 

soon  after  1760,  in  taxing  unwilling  colonists  and  forcing 
them  on  to  revolt,  was  Britain  at  her  worst.  She  was  at 

her  best  in  the  large  tolerance  shown  in  the  moment  of 

victory  in  Canada.  Her  conduct  at  such  a  crisis  goes  far  to 

explain  the  secret  of  her  dominion. 

*  The  anonymous  author  of  Milices  franQaises  et  anglaises  ati  Canada, 

P-  55. 
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172^-^2  ;  Guerre  du  Canada,  ijj6-6o  ;  Guerre  de  I' Independance 
americaine,  1780-82.     Verdun,  1887. 

The  above  are  the  chief  authorities,  but  the  list  is  not  exhaustive. 
The  following  represent  the  chief  authorities  for  each  chapter : 

Chapter  I.  The  manuscript  '  Collection  Moreau  St.  Mery  '  con- 
tains much  material  relating  to  the  fall  of  Quebec,  and  there  is  much 

scattered  material  in  the  various  Collections.  Johnstone  and  Malartic 
are  important  witnesses  on  the  French  side.  Knox  is  important  on 
the  British  side.  The  Journals  of  Major  Robert  Rogers  (London, 
1765  ;  reprint,  1883)  contain  his  own  account  of  the  expedition 
against  the  St.  Francis  Indians.  Amherst  (see  No.  5)  sent  to  Pitt 
an  account  of  events  on  Lake  Champlain.  On  these,  Mante,  History 
of  the  Late  War  in  North  America,  London,  1762,  has  some,  but  not 
much,  value. 

Chapter  II.  The  chief  authority  is  Knox.  Murray's  Journal, 
Fraser's  Journal,  and  the  many  papers  given  by  Doughty  are 
important.  On  the  Murray  family  the  Dictionary  of  National 
Biography  gives  many  references  to  authorities.  There  are  separate 
histories  of  the  religious  houses  at  Quebec  :  Histoire  des  Ursulines 

(4  vols.)  ;  Glimpses  of  the  Monastery  (also  of  the  Ursulines)  ;  Mgr. 

de  St.  Vallier  et  I'Hopital  general ;  Casgrain,  Histoire  de  I'Hotel- 
Dieu.  An  unpublished  manuscript  in  the  Canadian  Archives, 

'  Evenements  du  Canada  depuis  le  mois  d'octobre  ijjg  jusqu'au 
septembre  ij6o,'  has  a  few  particulars. 

Chapter  III.  On  Bigot  the  literature  is  extensive,  for  the  trial, 

L' Affaire  du  Canada,  attracted  wide  attention.  Under  this  title 
there  are  five  volumes  containing  the  judgement  against  Bigot  and 
others  and  their  defence  in  the  trial  (1763).  I  have  used  the  copy 
with  valuable  manuscript  additions  in  the  Library  of  the  Literary 
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and  Historical  Society  of  Quebec.  Other  authorities  are  noted  by 
Parkman  in  the  chapter  on  Bigot  in  his  Montcalm  and  Wolfe.  Some 
material  not  used  by  Parkman  is  in  the  Canadian  Archives.  Murray 
in  his  Report  in  1762  (printed  in  No.  5)  has  some  luminous  remarks 

on  the  frauds.  The  ]\'Iandeme'nts  des  Eveques  de  Quebec  (6  vols.) 
throw  some  light  on  Canadian  society.  The  other  chief  authorities 
for  the  chapter  are  No.  3  (a) ;  the  Tevis  MSS. ;  Knox  ;  Memoires  sur 

le  Canada,  ij4g—6o  ;    Johnstone  ;   and  Malartic. 
Chapter  IV.  There  are  many  narratives  of  the  battle  in  the 

various  Collections.  Johnstone  is  the  most  vivid  witness  on  the 
French  side.  Levis  also  describes  the  battle  and  Malartic  gives 
a  sober  record.  On  the  British  side  we  have  the  accounts  by  such 

eyewitnesses  as  Eraser,  Knox,  and  Quartermaster-Sergeant  Johnson. 

Murray's  Report  to  Pitt  on  the  battle  is  printed  in  No.  5. 
Chapter  V.  Knox,  Malartic,  Quartermaster-Sergeant  Johnson, 

Murray,  and  the  author  of  the  Memoires  sur  le  Canada,  ij4g-6o, 
are  among  the  chief  authorities.  The  T>ia.ry  of  Vauquelain  and  many 
other  fugitive  pieces  are  in  the  Levis  MSS.  The  late  Faucher  de 

Saint-Maurice  printed  an  excellent  sketch  of  Vauquelain,  '  Le  Capi- 
taine  de  Vaisseau,  Vauquelain  ',  in  the  Proceedings  and  Transactions 
of  the  Royal  Society  of  Canada,  vol.  iii,  1885.  Wood's  Logs  of  the 
Conquest  of  Canada  enables  us  to  follow  the  movements  of  the 
British  ships. 

Chapters  VI  and  VII.  The  general  authorities  are  the  same  as 

for  Chapter  V.  Waddington's  Renversement  des  Alliances  and  his 
Guerre  de  Sept  Ans  describe  the  political  situation  in  Europe.  The 
most  recent  life  of  William  Pitt,  Earl  of  Chatham,  is  that  by  Basil 

Williams  (191 3).  Yorke's  Life  of  Lord  Chancellor  Hardwicke  (3  vols., 
191 3)  contains  many  papers  hitherto  unpublished  relating  to  the 
fall  of  Pitt  and  to  the  negotiations  for  peace.  The  text  of  the 
capitulation  of  Montreal,  1760,  and  of  the  Treaty  of  Paris,  1763,  is 
in  the  volume  of  Documents  relating  to  the  Constitutional  History  of 

Canada,  ijjg-gi,  edited  by  A.  Shortt  and  A.  G.  Doughty  (published 

by  the  Canadian  Archivist,  1907).  Chagny,  L'Abbe  Picquet  (1913),  is 
an  exhaustive  study  of  the  French  priest's  work. 

Further  authorities,  not  mentioned  above,  are  referred  to  with 
sufficient  clearness  in  the  notes. 
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Abraham,  Cote  d',  141. 
Abraham,  Heights  and  Plains  of, 

II,  12,  14,  18,  19,  22,  23,  25,  31, 
32,  48,  54,  81,  113,  127,  136,  144, 
145,  154,  162,  176. 

Acadians,  the,  frauds  upon,  97,  98, 225. 

Aiguillon,  Duchesse  d',  74. 
Albany,  193,  194,  212. 
Amherst,  General  Geoffrey,  9,  10  ; 

on  Lake  Champlain,  38-45,  58, 
83,  120,  131,  154,  184,  190,  191  ; 
his  plan  of  campaign  in  1760, 
192-4,  210,  211  ;  his  expedition 
down  the  St.  Lawrence  to  Mon- 

treal, 212-22  ;  capture  of  Mon- 
treal and  terms  exacted,  222-31, 

248,  249,  254,  259. 
Anson,  Lord,  114. 
Arnold,  Benedict,  123. 
Arras,  242. 
Artois,  242. 
Atalante,  French  frigate,  134,  172, 

173,  174,  175. 
Avery,  Ensign,  42. 

Barre,  Major,  228,  229,  249. 
Bart,    Jean,   French   admiral,   171, 

176. 
Bastille,  the.  Bigot  and  others  in, 

238. 
Batiscan,  235. 
Bazaine,  Marshal,  230. 
Beam,  battalion  of,  15,  129. 
Beauport,  12,  14,  15,  17,  18,  20,  22, 

24,  26,  27,  144,  178. 
Beausejour,  Fort,  91. 
Bedford,  Duke  of,  254. 
Belle-Isle,   Due  de,   115,   116,   118, 

180,  237. 
Bellecombe,  M.,  196. 
Bellecour,  M.  de,  210. 
Bernetz,  Chevalier  de,  24,  30,  31. 
Bernier,  M.,  59-71,  104. 
Berry,  battalion  of,  129. 
Berryer,  M.,  Secretary  of  the  French 

navy,  117,  118,  180,  237,  238,  245, 
253- 

Bic,  Island  of,  166,  169. 
Bigot,  Fran9ois,  16,  22  ;   his  charac- 

ter, 86-8  ;    responsible  for  gross 

frauds,  88-98  ;  his  excessive 
drafts  on  the  French  Court,  99, 
100  ;  the  downfall  of  his  finance, 
101-2,  106,  107,  113,  135,  156, 
161,  168,  218,  223,  233,  234,  235  ; 

his  trial  and  condemnation,  238- 

40,  253,  260. Blois,  Bishop  of,  241. 
Boston  Harbour,  256. 
Bougainville,  Colonel  de,  12,  17,  18, 

19.  29,  33,  106,  136,  177,  181,  206, 
207-9,  223-7,  234  ;  later  career 
of,  243-4. 

Bourlamaque,  Chevalier  de,  33  ;  at 
Isle   aux   Noix,   40-5,    112,    130, 
133.  137,  138,  139.  141.  143.  144. 
147,  148,  150,  155,  171,  177,  186, 
194,  203-7,  236  ;    his  later  career, 
244-5- Breard,  Controller  of  Marine,  91. 

Brest,  238. 

Bunker  Hill,  Battle  of,  256. 
Burton,  Colonel,  49,  68,   160,   196, 

248. Bute,  Earl  of,  252,  255. 
Butler,  Lieutenant,  123. 
Buttes  a  Neveu,  144,  145,  147,  156, 

161. 

Byng,  Admiral,  117. 
Byron,  Captain,  114,  187-9. 

Cadet,    Joseph,    14 ;     a    leader    in 
fraud,  88-98,  105,  162,  164,  172  ; 
trial  and  condemnation,  238-41, 

253,  260. Calvaire,  the   (near   St.  Augustin), 122,  123. 

Cape  Ray,  169. 
Cap  Rouge,  12,  18,  33,  57,  58,  122, 

126,  127,  136,  137,  139,  140,  177. 
Cap  Rouge  River,  12,  126,  127,  137, 

139,  173- 
Cartier,  Jacques,  seaman,  176. 
Cascades,  Rapids,  220. 
Cayenne,  243,  245. 
Cedars,  Rapids,  220. 
Chaleur,  Bay  of,  186-9. 
Chambly,  82,  96,  123. 

Champlain,  Lake,  9,  39,  40-5,  136, 
194.  203. 

Champlain,  Samuel  de,  35,  176. 
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Charlesbourg,  18,  22,  57,  88,  178. 
Chatelet,  Court  of  the,  238. 
Chatham,  Baroness,  252. 
Chaudi^re  River,  58,  121,  123,  124. 
Choiseul,    Due   de,    241,    245,   246, 

250,  253. 
Colville,   Lord,   49,    114.    125,    166, 

169,  180. 
Concord,  Mass.,  256. 
Cook,  Captain,  244. 
Cormier,  Company  of,  205. 
Cornwall,  Canadian  town,  220. 
CornwaUis,  General,  246. 
Coudres,  Isle  aux,  200. 
Crecy,  Battle  of,  158. 
Crown  Point,  39,  43.  45-  75-  248. 
Cuba,  250,  252, 

Daine,  M.,  19. 
Bailing,  Major,  121. 
Dawson,  Rev.  Elie,  46. 
Deane,  Captain,  166,  202. 
Denos,  M.,  206. 
Desandroiiins,  French  engineer,  112, 

161,  218,  246. 
Deschambault,  181,  200,  201. 
Deschenaux,    Secretary    of    Bigot, 

and  a  leader  in  fraud,  89-98,  240. 
Detroit,  212,  231,  246. 
Diamond  Cape,   54,   121,   159,   164, 

165. 
Diana,  frigate,  174. 
Dumas,  Colonel,  108,  iii,  128,  182. 
Dumont's  Mill,  142,  143,  144,  147. 

148,  150,  151. 
Du  Quay-Trouin,  French  admiral, 

171. 
Duquesne,  Fort,  35,  36. 

Elibank,  Lord,  50,  51. 
Eliot,  Major,  121. 
Erie,  Lake,  35,  103,  212. 

Estrees,  Marechal  d',  87. 
Etchemin  River,  60,  121. 

Falkland  Islands,  243. 
Fame,  frigate,  188. 
Fiedmont,  Jacquot  de,  28,  29,  31. 
Foulon,  Anse  au  (Wolfe's  Cove),  12, 

23,  143,  144.  147.  156,  162.  172, 
173.  175.  176.  177- 

Eraser,  Colonel,  196. 
Eraser,  Lieutenant  Malcohn,  53,  58. 

Eraser's  Highlanders,  68. 
Frederick  the  Great,  114,  116,  242, 

253,  254. 
Frontenac,  Fort,  35,  30. 

Gage,     Lieutenant-Colonel,     after- 
wards General,  38,  112,  194,  212, 

216,  248,  255  ;    his  later  career, 

256. Ganges  River,  253. 
General  Hospital,  Quebec,   22,   26, 

69,  70-4,  104,  152,  164,  17s,  177, 
179. 

George  II,  death  of.  249. 
George  III,  249,  250,  252,  253. 
George,  Lake,  38,  39. 
Grant,  Lieutenant,  124. 
Guadaloupe,  245  ;  proposal  to  give 

up  Canada  for,  253. 
Guienne,  French  battalion  of,  129. 

Haldimand,  Colonel,  212,  229,  262. 
Halifax,  49,  67,  81,  125,  166,  169. 

180. 
Hanover,  252. 

Hardwicke,  Lord-Chancellor,  op- 
poses Pitt,  251. 

Haviland,  Colonel,  194,  203,  206, 
218,  219,  220,  222. 

Hawke,  Admiral,  117,  191. 
Hazen,  Captain,  122. 
Hertel,  M.,  French  officer,  iii. Hexham,  249. 

Holmes,  Admiral,  22. 
Hotel  Dieu,  Quebec.  69,  70.  74. 

122. 
Hudson  Bay,  176. 
Hudson  River,  193. 

Huron,  Lake,  212. 

I   Isle  aux  Noix,  33,  41,  43.  45-  "2, 
128,  133,  181,  194,  203,  206,  208, 
209,  248. 

Isle  Madame,  78. 

Jacques  Cartier,  Fort  and  River,  16, 
17.  20,  21,  24,  27,  29,  34,  35,  36, 

57,  III,  133,  178,  181,  198,  201, 
203,  219,  231. 

Jesuits,  64,  65,  109,  112,  200,  224. 255. 

Jesuits'  College,  48,  68. 
Joannfes,  Town-major  of  Quebec,  24, 

29,  31- 
Johnson,     Quartermaster-Sergeant, 

46,  S3,  145,  146,  151,  160,  166. 
Johnson,  Sir  Wilham,  9.  213,  248. 
Johnstone,  ChevaUer,  15,  16,  19.  47. 

85.  107,  108,  109,  139,  151,  208, 225. 

Jones,  John,  soldier,  214. '  Junius  ',  114. 

Kalm,  Swedish  traveller,  84. 
Kaunitz,  Austrian  minister,  116. 
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Kennebec  River,  40. 
Kennedy,  Captain,  40. 
Knox,  Captain  John,  49,  55,  61,  62, 

65,  67,  70,  71-4,  79,  80,  83,  84,  85, 
III,  138,  147,  151.  153,  155.  157. 
162,  165,  178,  179,  199,  200,  202, 
203,  204,  210,  234. 

La  Borgne,  M.,  208. 
Lachine,  98,  221,  222. 
Lachine  Rapids,  221. 
La  Fontaine,  148. 
La  Galette,  Fort,  38. 
La  Galissoni^re,  French  admiral, 

117. 

Lally,  Comte  de,  241. 
Languedoc,  French battahon  of,  129. 
La  Pause,  Colonel  de,  133,  176,  207, 

209,  227. 
La  Prairie,  209. 
La  Presentation,  38,  112,  216,  217, 

218. 
La  Reine,  French  battalion  of,  129. 
La  Rochelle,  236,  237. 
La  Salle,  Cavelier  de,  35. 
La  Sarre,  French  battalion  of,  129, 

184,  185. 
La  Suette,  marsh,  137,  140. 
Laubara,  M.  de,  44,  45. 
La  Verendrye,  Chevalier  de,  35,  95. 
Le  Mercier,  Colonel,  113,  114. 
Leslie,  Captain,  57. 
Levis,  Chevalier  de,  16,  17  ;  his 

character,  20-2,  32,  33,  34,  35, 
44.  45.  52,  55.  58,  77.  81.  86,  96, 
100,  102,  103,  104,  105,  106,  107, 
no,  113,  116,  117,  118,  123,  125, 
126,  127  ;  organization  of  his 
force  against  Montreal,  128-34  ; 
commands  expedition  against 
Quebec,  and  in  Battle  of  Ste  Foy, 
134-54  ;  his  siege  of  Quebec, 
155,  180;  organization  of  forces 
after  retreat  from  Quebec,  18 1-6, 
190,  191,  192,  218,  223,  227  ; 
question  of  French  colours,  230-1, 
232-8  ;  later  career,  242-3,  244, 
246. 

Levis,  Fort,  112,  181,  209,  217,  218, 
assaulted  and  captured  by  Am- 

herst, 219-20,  246. 
Levy,  Point  of,  47,  56,  63,  77,  83, 

120,  121,  122,  124,  139,  165,  190. 
Lexington,  Battle  of,  256. 
Long  Sault  Rapids,  220. 
Longueuil,  M.  de,  198,  202. 
Longueuil,  village,  210,  211,  222. 
Lorette,  18,  19,  22,  29,  57,  122,  126, 

136,  137.  139.  140. 
Loring,  Captain,  214. 

Lotbinifere,  M.  de,  French  engineer, 
133- 

Louisbourg,  36,  52,  81,  97,  171,  190, 
205,  236. 

Louisiana,  103. 

Lowestoffe,    frigate,    165,    166,    174, 
175- 

McDonald,  Captain  (of  Fraser's Highlanders),  122. 
Machault,  M.,  Secretary  of  the 

French  Navy,  117. 

Machault,  frigate,  119,  186-9. 
Mackellar,  Major  Patrick,  54,  159. 
Malartic,  Comte  de,  52,  108,  134, 

153.  165,  182,  190,  196,  222,  231, 
234.  235. 

Marie,  La,  French  ship,  175,  234. 
Martinique,  252. 
Maurepas,  M.  de,  71,  87. 
Maw,  Ensign,  158. 
Michillimackinac,  231,  246. 
Miller,  Captain,  60. 
Miquelon,  island,  254. 
Mirabeau,  Chevalier  de,  117. 
Mississippi  River,  35,  103,  176,  212, 

253.  254. 
Missisiquoi  Bay,  41,  44. 
Mohawk  Indians,  210,  218. 
Mohawk,  ship,  214. 
Mohawk  valley,  38,  217. 
Monckton,  Brigadier  Robert,  12. 
Montcalm,  the  Marquis  de,  12,  14, 

15,  17,  18,  20,  21,  23,  24,  25,  38, 
40,  43,  58,  87,  96,  103,  104,  105, 
115,  116,  129,  145,  171.  225,  239, 
244. 

Montcalm,  Marquise  de,  261. 
Montegrou,  guerrilla  leader,  134. 
Montesquieu,  254. 
Montmorency  River  and  Falls,  18. 
Montresor,  Captain  John,  49,  123. 
Montreuil,  Chevalier  de,  16,  21. 
Moras,  M.  de,  Secretary  of  the 

French  Navy,  171. 
Murray,  Alexander,  51. 
Murray,  General  James,  48,  49  ; 

his  ancestry  and  character,  50-3  ; 
his  defence  of  Quebec,  54-83, 
107,  108,  III,  113,  120,  123,  124, 
125,  126,  127,  132,  135,  136, 
137,  138  ;  at  the  Battle  of  Ste 
Foy,  139-54  ;  defence  of  Quebec 
against  Levis,  156-80,  182,  184, 
189-91,  192,  210,  218-23,  228, 
231,  232,  248  ;  his  later  career, 
256,  259. 

Murray,  Lieutenant-Colonel,  33. 
Murray,  Patrick,  Lord  Elibank,  51. 
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iNadeau,  Captain,  132,  189. 
liNewcastle,  Duke  of,  251. 
Kewfoundland  fishery,  250,  254. 
New  Orleans,  254. 
New  York,  197,  212,  220,  232. 
Niagara,  Fort  and  River,  9..  10,  35, 

36,  212,  218. 
NoguSres,  M.,  207. 

Ogdensburg,  216,  218. 
Oliio  River,  35,  36,  103. 
Onondaga,  ship,  214. 

Ontario",  Lake,  35,  36,  38,  103,  176, 194,  213,  214,  217. 
Orleans,  Island  of,  11,  47,  78,  138, 

157.  170.  173.  191- 
Oswego,  36,  194,  212-17. 

Palliser,  Captain,  33. 
Paris,  Treaty  of,  254. 
Pean,  Major,  89,  90,  93,  238. 
Pean,  Madame,  89,  90,  97,  235. 
Perrot,  Isle,  221,  222,  248. 
Philippine  Islands,  the,  250,  252. 
Picquet,  Abbe,  217,  218. 
Pillet,  his  frauds,  98. 
Pitt,  Fort,  36. 
Pitt,  William,  74,  114,  115,  118, 

ic"  168,  180,  182  ;  his  manage- 
ment of  the  war,  191-3,  205,  219, 

226,  230,  243,  247-9  ;  liis  pO.'iC'V 
and  retirement  from  office,  250- 
2,254. 

Pointe  aux  Trembles,  20,  133,  136, 
137'  177.  178.  181,  198. 

Pomone,   French  frigate,    134,    172, 
173.  175- 

Pompadour,   Madame   de,  90,   106, 
117,  235,  242. 

Pontbriand,  Mgr.,  Bishop  of  Quebec, 
61,  74,  84,  86,  109,  135,  136,  258. 

Pontiac,  Indian  chief,  247,  255. 
Pontleroy,    French    engineer,    no, 

168. 

Porcupine,  sloop,  49,  125. 
Pouchot,  Colonel,  218,  219,  220. 
Poulariez,  Colonel,  18,  19. 
Pownall,  Governor,  193. 
Puysieux,  Marquis  de,  87. 

Querdisien-Tremais,  M..  100,  107. 
Quiberon  Bay,  Battle  of,  117,  166, 

191. 

Racehorse,  sloop,  49,  125,  138,  159. 
Ramezay,    Chevalier    de,    17,    20  ; 

defence  and  surrender  of  Quebec, 
23-32,  48,  69,  130,  245. 

RecoUets,  the,  at  Quebec,  125,  224. 
Red  River,  36. 

Reine,  Regiment  de  la,  82. 
Repulse,  frigate,  188. 
Restigouche     River     and     Village, 

186-9. 
Richelieu,  Marechal  de,  87. 
Richelieu  Rapids,  201. 
Richelieu  River,  40,  96,.    129,    134. 

181,  203. 

Rigaud,  M.,  brother  of  Vaudreuil, 105. 

Rochebeaucour,  Captain  de  la,  32. 
Rocky  Mountains,  95. 
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